Parikalpana Volume-16 (1&11) | December - 2020

KIIT Journal of Management

In this issue

(EDITORIAL) Work From Home - lessons for future By Prof. S.K. Mahapatra

- Methodology for Service Quality Assessment of Social Programmes: A Framework
 By Koustubh Kanti Bay
- Digital Marketing: Disruption, Expansion and its Impact on Businesses
 By Bitech Dwivedi & Parth Nath*
- Employee Branding and its Influence on Private Life Insurance Companies with respect to Western region of Tamil Nadu
 Dested Research C. & Destellar H.

By Arul Senthilkumar: S & Punitha. N

- Determinants of Agricultural Exports of India: A Commodity Level Analysis
 By Baikunth Roy
- Personality Traits and Work Engagement: A Case Study on Female Bank Employees in Banking Sector
 Banking Bank

By Esha Bansal, Puneet Bhushan & Yashwant Gupta

- Socio-Demographic Factor and Selected Buying Behavioral Attributes of Purchasing Convenience Food: Multiple Correspondence Analyses to Explore the Relationship By Shantanu Raj* & B.B Mishra
- Business Excellence: Exploring Key Performance Indicators and Suitable Business Model By Ritesh Dwivedi
- Role of Primary Agricultural Credit Societies towards Upliftment of Scheduled Castes and Scheduled Tribe By Abhijit Sinha & Amitabha Bhattacharyya
- Manufacturing Excellence Model to Solve Operational Risks due to Product Demand Variations By Rohit Kenger & Zafar Khan
- Opportunities for Tribal Entrepreneurship Development in Jharkhand to Combat Post COVID -19 Challenges By Vinamrta & Utpal Kumar Chakraborty
- Social Inclusion of older adults During COVID 19 Pandemic By Rabi N Subudhi, SC Das & Sonalimayee Sahu
- Women Working from Home During Covid-19: An Analysis By Gargi Banerjee & Indrani Pati
- CASE SECTION: Boardroom Battle at Otsuka Kagu: The Shareholder's Dilemma By Debapratim Purkayastha
- Narrative Research in Entrepreneurship: Khirod Parida of Access Odisha By Brajaballay Kar





KALINGA INSTITUTE OF INDUSTRIAL TECHNOLOGY

Deemed to be University U/S 3 of the UGC Act, 1956 SCHOOL OF MANAGEMENT

Parikalpana

ISSN 0974-2808 | ISSN (E) - 2582-4821

KIIT Journal of Management

www.parikalpana.in

Board of Advisors

Prof. Ved Prakash Chancellor, KIIT Deemed to be University

Prof. Hrushikesha Mohanty Vice Chancellor, KIIT Deemed to be University

Prof. Saroj K Mahapatra Director, KIIT School of Management

Editor

R. N. Subudhi Professor, KIIT School of Management Email: editor@ksom.ac.in

Associate Editors

Prof. Sumita Mishra

Members of Journal Committee, KSOM

Prof. S. N. Misra (Dean), Prof. A. K. Sar Prof. K. K. Ray, Prof. Praveen Mohanty, Prof. B. Kar

Editorial Board

R. N. Subudhi, Editor, (Professor, KIIT School of Management) S. N. Misra (Dean, KIIT School of Management) Hrushikesha Mohanty, Vice Chancellor, KIIT Deemed to be University Artatrana Ratha, Professor, St Cloud State University, USA Ashish Dwivedi, Professor, Hull University Business School, Hull, UK B. K. Mohanty, Professor, IIM Lucknow, India Badar Alam Iqbal, Professor, Aligarh Muslim University, Aligarh, India Colin C Williams, Professor, Sheffield University Management School, University of Sheffield Damodar Suar, Professor, Indian Institute of Technology Kharagpur – India Rajen K Gupta, Professor, M.D.I. Gurgaon, India Saswata Narayana Biswas, Professor, Institute of Rural Management (IRMA), India Sushanta Mallick, Professor, School of Bus. & Management, Queen Mary, University of London Vinit Parida, Professor, Luleå University of Technology , Sweden Sumita Mishra, Asso. Professor, KIIT School of Management Sasmita Mishra, Asso. Professor, KIIT School of Management

KALLINGA INSTITUTE OF INDUSTRIAL TECHNOLOGY Deemed to be University U/S 3 of the UGC Act, 1956 SCHOOL OF MANAGEMENT

Published by Director, KIIT School of Management, KIIT Deemed to be University, Bhubaneswar. Printed at: Print-Tech Offset Pvt. Ltd.

Disclaimer: The publisher and or editors cannot be held responsible for errors or any consequences arising out from the use of information contained in this journal. The views and opinions expressed do not necessarily reflect those of the publisher and editors.

PARIKALPANA KIIT Journal of Management

December 2020, Vol. 16 (I & II)

ISSN (P) : 0974-2808 ISSN (E) : 2582-4821

Note : Annual rate (for two issues) is applicable for this special - double issue.

PARIKALPANA : KIIT Journal of Management December 2020, Volume-16 (I & II)

ISSN (P) : 0974-2808	ISSN (E)	: 2582-4821
----------------------	----------	-------------

CONTENTS

Editorial

Work From Home - lessons for future	5
S.K. Mahapatra	
Methodology for Service Quality Assessment of Social Programmes: A Framework	11
Koustubh Kanti Ray	
Digital Marketing: Disruption, Expansion and its Impact on Businesses <i>Ritesh Dwivedi & Parth Nath</i>	25
Employee Branding and its Influence on Private Life Insurance Companies with respect to Western region of Tamil Nadu <i>Arul Senthilkumar. S and Punitha. N</i>	44
Determinants of Agricultural Exports of India: A Commodity Level Analysis Baikunth Roy	58
Personality Traits and Work Engagement: A Case Study on Female Bank Employees in Banking Sector <i>Esha Bansal, Puneet Bhushan and Yashwant Gupta</i>	72
Socio-Demographic Factor and Selected Buying Behavioral Attributes of Purchasing Convenience Food: Multiple Correspondence Analyses to Explore the Relationship Shantanu Raj and B.B Mishra	84
Business Excellence: Exploring Key Performance Indicators and Suitable Business Model Ritesh Dwivedi	108

Role of Primary Agricultural Credit Societies towards upliftment of Scheduled Castes and Scheduled Tribes	126
Abhijit Sinha and Amitabha Bhattacharyya	120
Manufacturing Excellence Model To Solve Operational Risks Due To Product Demand Variations Rohit Kenge [*] & Zafar Khan	138
Opportunities for Tribal Entrepreneurship Development in Jharkhand to Combat Post COVID -19 Challenges <i>Vinamrta and Utpal Kumar Chakraborty</i>	150
Social Inclusion of older adults During COVID 19 pandemic Rabi N Subudhi, SC Das and Sonalimayee Sahu	164
Women working from home during COVID-19 : An Analysis Gargi Banerjee and Indrani Pati	173
Case Section	
Boardroom Battle at Otsuka Kagu: The Shareholder's Dilemma Debapratim Purkayastha	192
Narrative Research In Entrepreneurship: Khirod Parida of Access Odisha Brajaballav Kar	199

Editorial

Work From Home - lessons for future

S.K. Mahapatra

Director, School of Management, KIIT Bhubaneswar, India director@ksom.ac.in Dol: 10.23862/kiit-parikalpana/2020/v16/i1-2/204561

Prologue

The new corona virus, COVID-19, civilisation caught the human unprepared. The patient zero is still unidentified and the antidote to the infection is yet to be found. The first report came in Nov 17, 2019 from a hospital in Wuhan, China. Initially, the Chinese Government suppressed the highly infectious nature of the lethal virus until Dr Zhang Jixian decided to blow the whistle on 27th December 2019. China officially reported to the World Health Organisation on 31st Dec 2019 about the Virus. WHO could not initially assess the severity of the infection potential and took two months and 11 days watching the virus spread globally, before declaring it as a Pandemic on 11th of March 2020. By then, the horrific stories about the Virus has been flooding the internet especially in the social media creating a panic that gripped the minds of people all over the World, a phenomenon unprecedented in history of mankind.

The daily bulletins of the WHO have been a subject matter for political

comments and insinuations, causing the top global leadership forum like the United Nations, practically go on a holiday. The collective leadership of the world community has not been able to discuss the ramifications and find a uniform response. The UN security council has all but abandoned its role, unable to look beyond the conventional security concerns. The G-8 leaders have withdrawn from global stage to fight the virus in respective their home turfs, as the biggest threat to their leadership and power. All other issues that were considered important in the agenda of world leaders, before March 2020, have been relegated to 'Not Urgent' category.

The Lockdown

The corona virus has spread rapidly to 200 countries across all continents except the Antarctica. WHO advised 'social distancing' as the only way to contain the virus until the scientific cure or antidote is found. The war against Corona was formally declared by every National Government deciding to impose restriction on free movement or assembly of people.

5

6 Parikalpana - KIIT Journal of Management

A new phenomenon was born -"Lockdown". Governments of the World imposed various forms of lock down. The schools, colleges and offices were closed. Rail and Road transport except for movement of essential commodities and security personnel, have been suspended. Airports were shutdown and commercial flights were suspended. The laptop carrying, white collar employees across all sectors of employment switched over to "Work From Home" (WFH) officially, and the employers demonstrated generosity with their public affirmations not to lay off employees during the shutdown. The employers went a step forward by assuring continuity of salary payment to blue collar workers who had to stay at home due to the lockdown decree.

Work From Home - the emotions

These out-of-the-blue restrictions with the first announcement of lockdown amused the public. The Government of India's announcement, asking people to stay at home, and asking employees to work from home (WFH), and direction to employers for facilitating WFH and continuing salary payments, brought solace and positive vibes, all around, especially in India. There was hope that soon, all will be well, and normal life shall resume. Staying put at home for a period of three weeks was received very well by the people as it helped the family rediscover their emotional bond. Working from Home was new for most of the people who were used to work from office. WFH was a challenge for employees, as mastery of

the technology was key to maintain the aura of efficiency and merit, without the opportunity to walk in and explain. There were many ethical concerns at both ends. The employer was worried if the employees should be assessed based on time logged to computer or out put of work for a day, and wondered how to find a good measure of efficiency. The employee struggling with technology worried how to complete the work in time, and found himself over-stretched in time. The work-life balance has a different perspective in this context.

The continuity of WFH-the dilemmas

Emotional stress for WFH employees kept rising as lockdown extended, and there was no firm indication of getting back to work in office. After three months of lockdown, the global economy is hit by the worst recession ever, and the WFH employees' mind is gripped with fear of possible lay off and financial insecurity as news about joblosses around the world, have started trickling down all over the internet. The WFH employees working from home initially spent long hours, stretching up to 12 hours, to grapple with technology, and during the extended lockdown period they continue to overstretch with a mindset of fear and insecurity. Long working hours is not necessarily a reflection of higher productivity, and when it is induced by emotional insecurity, the quality of output could be questionable. There are no universally accepted, established norms to guide or regulate working hours in

WFH mode. Corporate America and Corporate Europe had been partially experimenting WFH with varied observations. The vast majority of people still have a blue collar shirt! The Society needed the services of mostly the blue collared workers, badly during the pandemic induced lockdown, and that is why the rest of the humanity kept glorifying them as Corona Warriors and cheered for them.

The rationale for WFH

The rationale of WFH is important. Human civilization has evolved as a community lifestyle. Work is only a small part of the whole Living experience. The context is all important - why dos one work from home? The schools could not discontinue education a few months before the annual examination. All factories could not abruptly close down as there is a elaborate operating procedure before shutting down or restarting. The mobilisation and demobilisation of men at work in the unorganised sector is a mammoth activity. While the Managers could sit at home the day after lockdown, the workers could not. They has to be maintained at temporary shelters with essential provisions and safely deported back to their native homes. The Government offices could close down the shutters but governance had to continue. Only few could work as they have had the wherewithal to continue in WFH mode. Therefore, in the context of a lockdown induced by a pandemic, the assessment of WFH can at best be limited to a small minority of employees around the world who could work from home. Some people, in the Government, Industry, Commerce, Education had to work from home, to ensure uninterrupted flow of essential services for people confined to their residences during lockdown, and maintain law and order, healthcare and sanitation services for the community during lockdown. The education sector has a huge role to play in WFH mode to extend the classroom to every home and maintain a positive psychology.

The utilitarian perspective of WFH

The utility of WFH can be assessed on two fronts. The WFH proved emphatically that in a situation of near-complete shutdown of all public activities in the World, the orderly governance of the society and minimum activities for healthy living, could be successfully carried out. WFH was tested globally as a solution to pandemic and found effective for survival. However, if WFH was efficient enough to maintain the health of economy, the answer would be different. The main reason of inadequacy was not that only a small fraction of people could work from home, commandeering a tiny force that was out in the filed to cover the ground, but because the world was not better prepared for WFH. For example there is no country on Earth which has a regulation in place for WFH though many a companies have been articulating their WFH policies for over a decade. Companies have been asking people to work from home long enough for regulators to notice and intervene. There was a loud alarm ringing for such a long time but no Government seemed to take notice of it. When the global lockdown happened as country after country started declaring emergency locking down practically everything except hospitals and policing, there was no guideline how to handle continuity of work.

WFH - a reaction or response?

Did we respond or react while switching over to WFH? Everyone took their own time & path. Not all organizations or self employed people have taken the same path. Some have reacted instantly and others have responded, taking a little longer. The availability of technology platform and confidence in handling of available technology, determined the speed of switch over from physical to virtual mode of working. Lets examine in the limited context the impact of WFH. The first comments that came from people was about a quixotic restoration of Work-Life balance. It turned out to be a privately held construct of emotion vs reality. Time with family increased but so did the working hours. Good relations sprouted in family as there was a veiled illusion of more time to meet and talk, though in reality, the television, internet and cellphones had long filled in that space called familytime. WFH women, have had more work as compared to the WFH men.

The positives from WFH

On the positive side, the Technology phobia seems to be gone. PC has become the real personal computer, not just a machine for office. People have realised that It is not all that difficult to learn the keyboard at any age. During lockdown induced WFH, people have got used to work without assistance of domestic help, driver, attendant, receptionist or secretary. People have found out how good and efficient are Alexa and Google, as personal secretaries. There is a new found respect for the blue-collar workers. Everyday people who WFH are learning something new. We see that 24/7 working schedule is possible and it can go with 24/7 commitment to family as well. Commuting time need not be wasted in traffic, and the telecommuting is just fine. COVID-19 enforced WFH has made working people smarter than ever before. Employees of all age groups have realised that Technology adaptation is not a choice but a compulsion, and a matter of survival. Jobs are getting reengineered around new technologies and rate of obsolescence is getting faster. The older people who ignored the technology earlier, are now adapting to ICT faster as midlife crisis is most acute in the job-sphere at the middle, under budgetary pressure to optimize costs. Lifelong learning is not a sermon for the next generation but reality for the existing employees, young or old, alike. Creativity, cyber-skills and agility are the three sought after core competencies in the new job-sphere.

The limitations

However as of now, the positive impact of WFH are limited. Starting from the emotional point, the charm of weekend holidays have completely faded. People are losing count of Saturdays and Sundays and its hard to tell the exact weekday without looking at the calendar. The limits of WFH have been tested. Every work necessary for human existence cannot be done in WFH mode. Robots are yet not ready for all physical work. E-commerce needs a physical supply chain. Amazon cannot deliver a thing without the carriers physically moving the merchandise from factory to doorstep of customer. Laboratories, Hospitals, Farms, Factories can be robot assisted but can't operate in WFH mode. Soldiering, policing, construction, sanitation, etc can't be done without a substantial presence in the field. The handling of logistics, production and distribution, still require physical work. Everything can't be done with a laptop, camera and internet. WFH cannot be efficient without some back up fieldwork. WFH is dependent upon efficiency of computer hardware, software, Internet connectivity and is extremely vulnerable to major power failures, cyber bugs and hacking. There has been concerns raised about security of data privacy.

The alienation

There is a new form of alienation taking shape. Karl Marx was right. New forms of work arrangements under industrial capitalism alienated people from Society, Work and Self. The root of alienation is Work time. The working class movements in the world during 18th and 19th centuries have been grounded upon large scale alienation of people due to long working hours. From 18 hours of indentured slavery to 8 hours a day, has been a long journey for working class of the World. For over a century working hour regulations have aimed to provide more free-time to labour. Free-time was essentially the Me-time for working people to indulge in pursuits for happiness out of freewill. WFH has shown early signs of annulling the work-time regulations, disguising compulsion as volunteering, and force as freewill. Sans regulation, WFH treads into dangerous consequence of a new form of alienation. Prolonged period of 'social distancing' might crystallise into a habit causing fundamental changes in long establish behavioral patterns in society, adding to alienation.

Education - the silver line

The impact of WFH in the Education Sector brings the most positive outcomes into light. Education usually leads the social change, and steers the society during crisis. On of the biggest challenges before the education system has been the population. This is the only sector which has 100% customer base. The limitation to reach every child and every adult living on earth at any corner of the World, has been a challenge of access or communication. The cause of failure was that either the teacher could not reach the student or the student could not reach the teacher. The resources to build as many schools and provide as many teachers,

as necessary were never there. Distance learning systems and practices was there but as exception, as a supplement and as the least preferred option to get a child educated. WFH has placed distance learning centerstage. The goals of achieving 100% literacy is no longer a dream. Going way beyond, providing skill education to 100% people, looks a real possibility now, from the limited testing of Teaching from Home(TFH) and Learning from Home (LFH). The Virtual class room is as real as Real, in a perfected technological environment powered by Internet and softwares like Zoom and Google Meet. The test run during the Lockdown has been a great learning for the Governments of the World. Education can reach the people, who were unreachable earlier.

Epilogue

Work from Home (WFH) has a contextual relevance. It will always have. Not many research studies have gone into this emerging pattern of deployment. The conventional wisdom for advocating WFH, has been to save on administrative costs per employee attending office, but studies on productivity gains from WFH, has been limited. Stanford Economics Professor Nicholas Bloom mentioned in an interview published in HBR Jan-Feb 2014, about a study conducted at the Chinese Travel Company, Ctrip, over a 9-month period, on productivity of employees who voluntarily opted

to work from home. Among other findings, established the study positive effect employee on а productivity while working from home, apart from the savings on office costs and travel costs. The study was conducted by Prof Bloom along with the co-founder of Ctrip, James Liang. But it emphasised that the productivity is associated with the nature of work. The exceptional pandemic situation under which the WFH flourished should be seen like the response of a rapid action force, nothing more. WFH during the pandemic proved a point or two quite clear. First, its going to comeback, prepared for a long stay. Second, the on-field operations which had to be carried out by some people during lockdown, risking their lives, will have to be replaced by robots as early as possible. Third, all blue collar jobs must be converted to white collar jobs, before the next pandemic breaks out, as the world cannot afford another meltdown of the global economy. Life expectancy of human beings have been rising continuously since the end of the second world war. During the last fifty years, the world has seen more peace and prosperity than ever before in history of mankind but new threats to human existence with potential to wipe out the entire race has been also lurking around in the form of rouge terrorists and rouge viruses with their amazing ability to mutate and grow even after complete annihilation.

Methodology for Service Quality Assessment of Social Programmes: A Framework

Koustubh Kanti Ray

Professor, School of Management, KIIT Deemed to be University (IoE) Bhubaneswar, India Email: kkray@ksom.ac.in DoI:10.23862/kiit-parikalpana/2020/v16/i1-2/204555

Abstract

The planning and implementation of welfare schemes is the central theme to attend inclusive growth of an economy. The social welfare programmes eventually protect the poor and allow them to participate in the process of economic development. The present article is a part of a project and discusses the methodology adopted to evaluate the government sponsored social welfare schemes from slum dwellers prospective. The study has adopted a multi-dimensional service quality model to assess the perception and satisfaction of service quality of social service schemes. The service quality models used in prior studies focused only on functional qualities (service delivery process). However, the present study extended the service quality model beyond the delivery process and included the technical process (service outcome) that derives the end users' perception and satisfaction. The extended model is more realistic and provides a better result.

Keywords: service quality models, social welfare schemes, multi-dimensional model

Introduction:

After independence, the Indian policymakers have acknowledged the importance of promoting equitable economic development in the country. The balancing economic growth has targeted with reduction in inequalities in the society and to provide social protection to unprivileged people. In recent times this growth strategy of the government is called the "inclusive growth". The inclusive growth approach has been highlighted in many official documents including the latest action plan of the government. The planning and implementation of welfare schemes is the central theme to attend inclusive growth in the economy. Both the high economic growth and inclusive growth are strongly interconnected. The high growth in the economy brings up the people from poverty and generates maximum resources and prosperity. This in turn supports in financing the welfare programmes and thus provides social protection and wellbeing. The welfare schemes ultimately protect the

11

poor and allow them to participate in the process of economic acceleration. The social protection, social assistance and social welfare are exchangeable terms used in the literature to highlight the activities sponsored by any public authorities to safeguard the life of weaker communities in the society. (1996) According to Coatsworth welfare is described as "the efforts of modern governments to improve the living standards of individuals or family groups whose incomes would otherwise fall below a level deemed minimal by policymakers and their constituents". The living standard encompasses satisfaction fundamental the of human needs such as food, clothes, accommodation, physical and mental health, recreational capability and active pleasurable social participation. The term 'social welfare' includes government intervention programs directed into the areas of health, shelter, education, employment guarantee etc.

Most of the social problems revolve around under-privileged group of children, women, old people, and unemployed youth of the society. These communities face challenges for better healthcare, education, maternity, child welfare, employment and working conditions. Some of these problems can be dealt at the community level but other issues like accommodation; health; education; vocational training and assistance to the physically disabled; increased participation in cultural and social life etc. require welfare programs through legislation.

The promotion of social welfare programs is common in every country in the world for the upliftment of the under privileged class of the society. The developing countries in Asia, Africa and Latin America connect social welfare with other social disciplines to address their mass poverty alleviation by using community development programmes. As a welfare state, India is making an uninterrupted attempt to elevate the people belong to the below poverty line. Not only in principles but also through economic planning, India is aiming to meet the vision by ensuring social, economic and political justice to its citizens. India has various social schemes particularly for the deprived section of the society. The target groups of the schemes include- women. children, minorities, senior citizens, unorganized sector, differently-abled, slum dwellers and others. The social welfare programs are outlined in all action plans as a matter of priority. It has offered a constructive approach to social change and equality. In order to provide better standard of living, Government of India has launched several social schemes covering all requirements like affordable housing; subsidized transportation; food; cooking gas; drinking water; sanitation; banking and insurance facilities.

Under the above background, this paper is a part of a project that focused on evaluating the social welfare programmes (PMUY and PMJDY) sponsored by the government of India from slum dwellers prospective.

The new government at the centre (Narendra Modi government came to power in 2014) has launched many popular welfare programme for the wellbeing of the disadvantage group of the society. There are two significant social schemes initiated in order to provide ease and better standard of living of the underprivileged section of the society, i.e. Pradhan Mantri Ujjwala Yojana (PMUY) and Pradhan Mantri Jan-Dhan Yojana (PMJDY). These two social programmes are meant for the below poverty line families those who face hardship in maintaining a comfortable life. The below poverty line families usually use solid fuel like cow dung, fire wood etc. for cooking purposes. These fuel sources create polluting environments in the households and develop chronic respiratory health issues among women members in the family. In order to protect the health disorders among women members, the PMUY scheme was introduced by the government, where free LPG cylinders are given for domestic cooking purpose. As per the latest information, the LPG connections under PMUY have crossed more than 8 crore beneficiaries and the LPG penetration has reached 97.5 percent in the country by April, 1, 2020. Similarly the PMIDY scheme was launched under financial inclusion initiative. Many families in the disadvantage section in the country are not connected with the banking network for their financial transactions. These group of people are not availing the banking and financial benefits meant for citizens. In order to

provide easy banking and associated facilities, PMJDY scheme was initiated by the government during 2014. Under the scheme the families in the weaker section are facilitated to open zero balance bank accounts in any banks in the country. These bank accounts help them to receive direct benefits from the government including subsidies and many more loan and insurance related opportunities.

Literature Review:

There are many studies have been conducted on the performance of social welfare programmes. Saxena (2001) provides an early review of the problems associated with the social welfare schemes in India particularly in the rural sector. El-Zein et al. (2014) also provide an analysis of government spending patterns in the social sector in the 1990s. They emphasize, in particular, the broadening of the conceptualization of poverty reduction from provision of employment and income programs to include a variety of human development outcomes. Nevertheless, there is no commensurate broadening of inputs into the planning and implementation phases of social programs. The social programmes main focus is for a sustainable development of the weaker section of the society those who are to an extent deprived. The sustainable development programmes are characterized as advancement that improves the quality of life. This also enables individuals to live in a healthy and safe environment and heighten the social, economic and

environmental aspect of the present and future generations. This is also described as a harmony between the accessible technologies, procedures of development and the approaches of governments (Volenbroek, 2002). In the same way, (Fricker, 1998) describes it as the non-material aspect of life- the impulsive, emotional, inventive and spiritual that drives the satisfaction among the needv. Sustainable development was described as a dynamic state of equilibrium which can be attained by balancing a long-term environmental, economic and social health (Dempsey et al., 2011).

There is a worldwide experience of urbanization of poverty. The poverty is shifting to the cities and aggravating the socio economic crisis. The rapidly informal settlements growing in the cities are creating insufficient infrastructure and public facilities for the inhabitants. In the developing countries, this condition is acute and forcing economically backward people into poverty and neglect (United Nations, 2006). In Indian cities this informal settlements or slums occupy large land area and showing fast population growth. These а slums accommodate large number of inhabitants in shanty houses without any proper sanitation and infrastructure facilities. The inhabitants of these shanty communities are one of the social groups with a higher need for government sponsored aid programs. They are in a situation of multiple deprivations as well (Clarke, 2006).

The people in these communities face social exclusion and combines with various problems in fields such as employment, education, sanitation, health and the spatial and relational segregations. The prior literature that studied the performance of cooking gas & sanitation and financial inclusion programmes are reviewed in the following section.

According to WHO (2016), almost 60% of Indian population i.e. 789 million people, primarily use conventional cooking fuels such as wood, kerosene, charcoal and coal for cooking. As a matter of fact, these traditional methods of cooking are the main sources of household air pollution (HAP). As per report, there are 481,700 deaths per year caused by household air pollution. The use of fossil fuels and conventional fuel like cow dung, coal, kerosene, firewood etc. causes serious health hazards in women and children. Moreover an enormous amount of time is spent by women in collecting firewood which can otherwise be utilized in some productive activity to generate extra household income. Also, involvement of children in firewood collection poses higher risks. Therefore using Liquefied Petroleum Gas (LPG) for cooking purposes address these health hazards those are occurring from using traditional cooking fuels.

LPG is one of the most clean cooking fuel options available today. It is environment friendly in comparison to other biomass fuels like coal, firewood, crop residue etc. The carbon footprint

of LPG is negligible in comparison to biomass and other fuels and LPG emits negligible amount of black carbon that contribute to global warming (Grieshop, Marshall, and Kandlika 2011). LPG is recognized as a low-carbon, low-polluting fuel by the governments around the world as it improves indoor and outdoor air quality and reduces greenhouse gas emissions. That is why providing clean cooking fuel to all became one of the sustainable development goals by the United Nations. A gradual transition from using less efficient biomass fuel to cleaner and more efficient type of fuel is essential to overcome the adverse effects of conventional energy on human health and the environment. Developed countries already abandoned the use of conventional energy resources and switched to cleaner fuel options like LPG, Solar Power, Electric stoves etc. But in developing countries the transition is going on in a very slow pace due to socio- economic factors.

Many studies have shown the adverse effect of traditional fuel on health of women, children (Holdren et al., 2000; Jerneck and Olsson, 2013; McMichael et al., 2000). Burning of solid and low quality fuels in traditional stoves emits carbon and other harmful gasses and particulate matters which are the primary source of Household Air Pollution (HAP) (Smith & Sagar, 2014). It is shocking that smoke inhaled by women while cooking on unclean fuel is equivalent to burning of 400 cigarettes in an hour (Ahmad et al. 2018). It is important to understand the household fuel choices and fuel switching behavior in order to frame policies to enhance the transition process. Some research found adoption of LPG is affected affordability, accessibility by and awareness (Kumar et. al, 2016; Ahmad et. al. 2015). However measures are being taken by the governments across the world to reduce HAP and provide clean cooking fuel such as subsidized LPG to the unprivileged section of the society. Developing countries like India, Bangladesh, Cameroon, Nigeria etc. are providing clean cooking fuel at a subsidized rate to promote consumption of clean fuel and better health and environment. Though India is witnessing gradual increase in domestic LPG consumption due to its massive LPG distribution policy, problem of adoption still prevails due to lack of awareness, accessibility (Kumar et al., 2016). Higher level of education and higher level of income were directly associated with adoption of LPG (Ozoh et al. 2018).

Financial exclusion has close а relationship with a series of socioeconomic problems like poverty, unemployment, slum settlements with poor housing condition, poor health, high crime rates etc. (Kenworthy, 1999). According to United Nations, "Financial exclusion hampers people's ability to earn, protect themselves in times of crisis, and build for the future". Exclusion from the financial system often results into rising costs which are borne by financially vulnerable people (Aduda & Kalunda 2012). Several studies have shown that lack of financial inclusion will lead to inequality and an increased poverty level and can trap people into a perpetual cycle of poverty (Banerjee & Newman, 1993; Ackah and Asiamah, 2016). Recent data from UN (2019) shows that 1.7 billion adults remain excluded from access to financial services. Further research asserts that 80% of African household remains financially excluded (Dalal et al. 2009).

Financial inclusion (FI) has the capacity of imparting social transformation and improving standard of living of the people. Several studies have found that financial services are competent in distributing opportunities evenly among the economically backward classes. Therefore, an effective way to eradicate poverty is developing a financial system and making it available and accessible to all the sections of the society. FI is an indispensable element of economic growth and development of the society. Availability and accessibility of a structured financial system will help the less privileged to come above the poverty line and merge in the mainstream. FI has been identified as one of the modern strategies for the development and growth of the economy (Rastogi and Ragabiruntha, 2018; Beck and Demirguc-kunt, 2012; Cull, 2005).

FI not only helps in poverty reduction but also assist in growth, development and prosperity of the economy (Toindepi, 2016; Bongomin et al., 2016; Rastogi and Ragabiruntha, 2018; Kim, 2016). Therefore, the importance of an inclusive financial system has been widely recognized by several developing countries and seen in their policy circle as a matter of priority. The correlation between financial inclusion and economic growth in developing countries (like India, Bangladesh, Philippines etc.) is found to be positive (Nataliya and Mylenko, 2011; Swamy, 2014). Due to the wide spread impact on society, over 60% of banking regulators of 143 countries are promoting financial inclusion vigorously (Cihak et. al., 2012; Demirgüç-Kunt et. al. 2013).

Many researchers have developed multiple techniques and models to evaluate the customer satisfaction level of various services at different spatial contexts. Quite a few types of service quality models have been derived to measure the satisfaction level of customers of different kind of services. Nordic Model (Grönroos, 1984), SERVQUAL (Parasuraman et. al. 1988), SERVPERF (Cronin & Tylor, 1992), DINESERVE (Stevens, Knutson & Patton, 1995), RENTQUAL (Ekiz, Bavik, & Arasli, 2009) are some of the popular service quality models. An assessment tool namely Service Quality Scorecard (SQSC) has been developed by Swart (2013) to classify the variables which affect service excellence in the business tourism industry (Swart, 2018). Among all the models, SERVOUAL is well accepted and popular model used one in fields like healthcare, education, banking and insurances, hotels, transports, e-government services, logistics etc.

Due to the multi-dimensional nature of SERVQUAL, it has been constituted with various other decision making approaches such as fuzzy linguistic-SERVQUAL model, Quality function Development (QFD)- SERVQUAL, Analytical Hierarchy Process (AHP)-SERVQUAL and Techniques for order of preference by similarity to ideal solution (TOPSIS) - SERVQUAL for better understanding and analysis of subject matter (Ocampo et. al., 2017). To evaluate service quality of employment related government agencies and to establish critical dimension attributes. Ocampo et. al. (2017) applied a modified SERVQUAL model integrated with AHP-TOPSIS method in Philippines. Similarly Alam and Haque (2018) applied AHP-SERVQUAL model to assess the quality of sanitation services provide by the local authority to facilitate safe, sustainable, environment friendly and hygienic sanitation to the inhabitants in urban slums of Khulna city, Bangladesh.

Paper Objective:

The present paper aims to highlight the methodology adopted to evaluate the service quality dimensions of social welfare programmes like PMUY and PMJDY from slum dwellers' prospective. The households in slum areas are below poverty line people and live in miserable conditions without proper sanitation and infrastructure. It is the service quality that provides them adequate support and satisfaction. The project was conducted in slum areas of Bhubaneswar, the capital city of Odisha and undertakes several service quality dimensions i.e. functional qualities (delivery process) and technical qualities (service outcome) for evaluation of the social schemes.

Research Methodology:

The existing literature includes numerous studies that evaluate social programmes in different research settings & locations. Parasuraman et al. (1985) developed SERVQUAL model is widely used to examine the service quality of a variety of services. The overall focus of the project is to evaluate the perception/image and the level of satisfaction of social schemes from the prospective of the slum dwellers.

The service quality models (SERVQUAL in particular) used in prior studies focused only on the service delivery process. The model includes five dimensions; reliability, assurance, tangibility, empathy and responsiveness.

- Reliability: the ability of service providers to perform services accurately
- Assurance: the knowledge & courtesy of the service provider, their ability to convey trust & confidence
- Tangibility: the physical appearance of the infrastructure, product & equipment

- Empathy: entails the personalized attention & care towards the consumers
- Responsiveness: the promptness with which services are provided

However, the service quality passes through functional quality (delivery process) as well as the technical quality (outcome) that determines the perception/image of a service and provides some degree of satisfaction to the beneficiaries. Therefore the present study extended the service quality model beyond the delivery process and included the technical process that derives the outcome to the end user. The delivery process targets the service provider whereas the technical process focuses the outcomes to the users. The technical process includes three dimensions; convenience, social connect and economic connect.

- Convenience: the scheme makes consumer convenience
- Social connect: the social impact of the social scheme
- Economic connect: the scheme provides economic benefits

The study therefore incorporates a multi-dimensional model to evaluate the social service programmes. The

below mentioned table includes the different dimensions of the model adopted in the study.

Functional Qualities (Process)

Functional qualities are the delivery process dimensions of the service. It is defined from the service provider's perspective. These include the factors those are important for delivering the service to the customers. The dimensions of functional qualities as per the SERQUAL model are: Reliability, assurance, tangibility, empathy, and responsiveness.

Technical Qualities (outcome)

Technical quality of a service is essentially the service outcomes. It is the end result of any service delivered to the customer. It includes customer's service experience while getting the service and defined as the leftover experience of the end users following the consumption of services (Fassnacht Koese, 2006; Gronroos, 1984). & In accordance to the social service programmes, these qualities include convenience. social connect and economic connect.

These two qualities determine the customer preference towards a service and his/her level of satisfaction. Table-1 summarizes the different dimensions

of the two qualities undertaken in the study. The figure-1 gives the framework of the multi-dimensional model used in the research.

Table No. 1: Multi-Dimensional Service Quality Model

Service Quality Dimensions	Definition	
Functional Service Quality Dimensions		
Reliability	The ability to perform the promised service dependably and accurately within the stipulated time period	
Assurance	The ability of the service provider to convey trust and confidence through their knowledge, skill and courtesy	
Tangibility	The appearance of the physical facilities, equipments, personnel and communication materials	
Empathy	The caring attitude of the service provider with personalized individual attention to the customers	
Responsiveness	The willingness of the service provider to provide prompt services and always ready to help and address the issues of the customers	
Technical Service Qu	echnical Service QualityDimensions	
Convenience	Reduction of physical effort and time to avail the service. The easily accessible service with seamless transaction	
Social Connect	ect Creating social image in the community and improving status and engagement	
Economic Connect	Provide better economic opportunities and potential to extend better standard of living	

Source: Compiled by the Researcher



Figure No-1.1: Conceptual Framework of Multi-Dimensional Service Quality Model

Source: Compiled by the Researcher

The multi-dimensional model adopted in the study includes both the functional qualities (delivery process) and technical qualities (outcome process). The figure-1 depicts that the functional and technical quality dimensions determine the perception or image of the social schemes. The functional quality includes 18 questions covering 5 dimensions and there are 21 questions comprise 3 dimensions under technical qualities. The questionnaire designed to collect the primary response from the slum dwellers include these questions and measured with 5-point Likert-scale across multiple quality dimensions. functional The and technical

qualities establish a perception/image towards the social schemes. There are seven different questions put to the respondents to capture their perception towards the social schemes. These questions are also measured with 5-point Likert-scale. The set of questions are different for different social schemes undertaken.

In order to assess the perception towards the scheme, a regression model is applied, where the perception is the dependent variable and the all the dimensions are the independent variable. The dependent variable, the perception is the average score of each respondent to the set of questions covering perception measured in 5-point scale. Similarly the average score of each respondent to the set of questions associated with each

$Y = \alpha + \beta_1 X_1 + \beta_2 X_2 + \beta_3 X_3 + \beta_4 X_4 + \beta_5 X_5 + \beta_6 X_6 + \beta_7 X_7 + \beta_8 X_8 \dots (2)$	
Where,	
Y	: dependent variable, i.e. perception of respondents towards a particular social scheme
α	: the intercept in the model
X ₁ , X ₂ , X ₈	: the independent variables, the eight dimensions including both the functional and technical qualities
$\beta_1, \beta_2 \dots \beta_8$: the coefficient of the independent variables

dimension form the independent variable. The regression model equation (1) includes the dependent and independent variables.

Figure-1 gives the conceptual framework of the service quality dimensions

and the customer satisfaction. Like the perception or image of the social scheme, the functional and technical dimensions are also the determinants of customer satisfaction. However, the social schemes are not like any other service (banking/insurance) where the customers' level of satisfaction decides the success or failure of the service. The difference lies with the mission of the government to lunch social programmes for the target group of the society for their wellbeing. Therefore, irrespective of customer satisfaction, the social programmes will continue to be there for the people. The mission of the government is always to provide basic services to the deprived class in the society in order to maintain harmony and equitable development. The social programmes undertaken in the study have similar objective for the target group. The PMUY aims to provide subsidized cooking gas to the under privileged section of the society to prevent them of using other hazardous alternative sources of fuel, that causes chronic disease. Similarly the objective of launching PMJDY is to bring the under privileged people into the banking net and to provide them financial security.

Since the level of acceptance of the beneficiaries not deciding the continuity/success/failure of the social programme, therefore the final outcome of the social scheme cannot be in a binary form (either satisfied dissatisfied). The beneficiaries' or response towards the acceptance of the social programme may either be low or high or neutral. Therefore the outcome or the dependent variable (acceptance or level of satisfaction) is categorical in nature (low or high or neutral). In order to find the impact of explanatory functional variables (both and technical quality dimensions) on these categorical variables, multinomial logistic model is applied.

The simplest approach to multinomial data is to nominate one of the response categories as a baseline or reference group, calculate log-odds for all other $\eta_{ij} = \log \frac{\pi_{ij}}{\pi_{i,j}} = \alpha_j + \boldsymbol{x}'_i \boldsymbol{\beta}_j$, ie, and not not the predictors. In the multinomial logistic model it is assume that the log-odds of each response follow a linear model like equation (2).

21

Where, α_j is a constant and β_j is a vector of regression for j=1, 2..., J-1. This model is equivalent to a logistic regression model, except that the probability distribution of the response is multinomial instead of binomial and there are J-1 equations instead of 1. The J-1in the multinomial logistic regression equations contrast each of categories 1, 2....,J-1 with category J, whereas the single logistic regression equation is a contrast between success and failure. If J=2, the multinomial logistic regression.

In the study the beneficiaries' level of satisfaction is measured from the three questions asked related to the social schemes. All these questions are measured with 5 point likert scale. The average score of each respondent to all three questions are summarized, where the minimum and maximum scores are ranged between 1 and 5 respectively. The scores within the range of 1.0 to 2.5 are considered as low category and

denoted with 1. The scores within the range more than 2.5 to 3.5 are taken as neutral category and designated as 2. Similarly the higher scores from 3.5 to 5 are categorized as high and symbolized 3. These three categories i.e. 1, 2 and 3 represent the level of satisfaction and adopted as the dependent variable for the multinomial logit model. The independent variables are the same as taken for earlier perception analysis. The independent variables includereliability; assurance; tangibility; empathy; responsiveness; convenience; social connect and economic connect.

Conclusion:

The social welfare schemes ultimately protect the deprived group of people and drive them to better participate in the process of economic acceleration. The welfare schemes provide all types of assistance to the economically weaker section of the society to fulfill their basic requirements and improve their standard of living. The study is a part of the project that focused on evaluating two social schemes (PMUY & PMJDY) from the Bhubaneswar slum dwellers' prospective. The study undertakes several service quality dimensions i.e. functional qualities (delivery process) technical and qualities (service outcome) for evaluation of these social schemes. The service quality models used in prior studies focused only on service delivery process. However, the service quality passes through functional quality as well as the technical quality that determines the perception/image of a service and

provides some degree of satisfaction to the beneficiaries. Therefore the present study extended the service quality model beyond the delivery process and included the technical process that derives the outcome to the end user. The extended model is more realistic and provides a better result.

Acknowledgements:

This study is a part of the sponsored research project funded by ICSSR New Delhi under Impactful Policy Research in Social Science (IMPRESS) scheme.

References:

- Ackah, C., & Asiamah, J. P. (2016). Financial regulation in Ghana: Balancing inclusive growth with financial stability. In Achieving financial stability and growth in Africa (pp. 123-137). Routledge.
- 2 Aduda, J., & Kalunda, E. (2012). Financial inclusion and financial sector stability with reference to Kenya: A review of literature. *Journal of Applied Finance and Banking*, 2(6), 95.
- 3 Ahmad, S., & de Oliveira, J. A. P. (2015). Fuel switching in slum and non-slum households in urban India. *Journal of Cleaner Production*, *94*, 130-136.
- 4 Alam, M., & Haque, S. (2018). Assessment of urban physical seismic vulnerability using the combination of AHP and TOPSIS models: A case study of residential neighborhoods of Mymensingh city, Bangladesh. Journal of Geoscience and Environment Protection, 6, 165–183.
- 5 Banerjee, A. V., & Newman, A. F. (1993). Occupational choice and the process of development. *Journal of political economy*, 101(2), 274-298.

- 6 Bongomin, G. O. C., Ntayi, J. M., Munene, J. C., & Nabeta, I. N. (2016). Social capital: mediator of financial literacy and financial inclusion in rural Uganda. *Review of International Business and Strategy*.
- 7 Cihak, M., Demirgüç-Kunt, A., Feyen, E., & Levine, R. (2012). Benchmarking financial systems around the world.
- 8 Clarke, C. (2006), "From slum to ghetto – social deprivation in Kingston, Jamaica", International Development Planning Review, Vol. 28 No. 1, pp. 1-34.
- 9 Cronin Jr, J. J., & Taylor, S. A. (1994). SERVPERF versus SERVQUAL: reconciling performance-based and perceptions-minus-expectations measurement of service quality. *Journal of marketing*, 58(1), 125-131.
- 10 Cull, R., Demirgüç-Kunt, A., & Lyman, T. (2012). Financial inclusion and stability: What does research show?.
- 11 Dalal, A., Morduch, J., Chaia, A., Goland, T., Gonzalez, M. J., & Schiff, R. (2009). Half the World is Unbanked. *Financial Access Initiative Framing Note*, 1-16.
- 12 Demirgüç-Kunt, A., & Klapper, L. (2012). *Financial inclusion in Africa: an overview*. The World Bank.
- 13 Demirgüç-Kunt, A., & Klapper, L. (2013). Measuring financial inclusion: Explaining variation in use of financial services across and within countries. Brookings Papers on Economic Activity, 2013(1), 279-340.
- 14 Dempsey, N., Bramley, G., Power, S., & Brown, C. (2011). The social dimension of sustainable development: Defining urban social sustainability. Sustainable development, 19(5), 289-300.

- 15 Ekiz Erdogan H., Ali Bavik; Huseyin Arasli. (2009) RENTQUAL: a new measurement scale for car rental services, Tourism: An International Interdisciplinary Journal, Vol. 57 No. 2
- 16 El-Zein, A., Jabbour, S., Tekce, B., Zurayk, H., Nuwayhid, I., Khawaja, M., ...& Hogan, D. (2014). Health and ecological sustainability in the Arab world: a matter of survival. *The Lancet*, 383(9915), 458-476.
- 17 Fassnacht, M. and Koese, I. 2006. Quality of electronic services: Conceptualizing and testing a hierarchical model, Journal of Service Research, 9(1), 19-31.
- 18 Fricker, A. (1998). Measuring up to sustainability. *Futures*, 30(4), 367-375.
- 19 Grieshop, Andrew P., Julian D. Marshall, and Milind Kandlika. (2011). "Health and Climate Benefits of Cookstove Replacement Options." Energy Policy 12 (12): 7530-42.
- 20 Grönroos, C. (1984), "A Service Quality Model and its Marketing Implications", *European Journal of Marketing*, Vol. 18 No. 4, pp. 36-44.
- Holdren, J. P., Smith, K. R., Kjellstrom, T., Streets, D., Wang, X., & Fischer, S. (2000). Energy, the environment and health. *New York: United Nations Development Programme*.
- 22 Jerneck, A., & Olsson, L. (2013). A smoke-free kitchen: initiating community based co-production for cleaner cooking and cuts in carbon emissions. *Journal of cleaner production*, 60, 208-215.
- 23 Kenworthy, L. (1999). Do Social-Welfare Policies Reduce Poverty? A Cross-National Assessment.

23

Social Forces, 77(3), 1119. doi: 10.2307/ 3005973

- 24 Kim, J. H. (2016). A study on the effect of financial inclusion on the relationship between income inequality and economic growth. *Emerging Markets Finance and Trade*, 52(2), 498-512.
- 25 Kumar, P., Rao, R. K., & Reddy, N. H. (2016). Sustained uptake of LPG as cleaner cooking fuel in rural India: Role of affordability, accessibility, and awareness. *World Development Perspectives*, *4*, 33-37.
- 26 McMichael, A. J. (2000). The urban environment and health in a world of increasing globalization: issues for developing countries. *Bulletin of the world Health Organization*, *78*, 1117-1126.
- 27 Nataliya, O. P. A. M. H. Mylenko.(2011). Access to Financial Services and the Financial Inclusion Agenda Around the World, The World Bank, 1-17.
- 28 Ocampo, L., Alinsub, J., Casul, R. A., Enquig, G., Luar, M., Panuncillon, N., (2017). Public service quality evaluation with SERVQUAL and AHP-TOPSIS: A case of Philippine government agencies. Socio-Economic Planning Sciences. https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.seps.2017.12.002
- 29 Ozoh, O. B., Okwor, T. J., Adetona, O., Akinkugbe, A. O., Amadi, C. E., Esezobor, C., ... & Mortimer, K. (2018). Cooking fuels in Lagos, Nigeria: Factors associated with household choice of kerosene or Liquefied Petroleum Gas (LPG). International journal of environmental research and public health, 15(4), 641.
- 30 Parasuraman, A., Berry, L. L., & Zeithaml, V. A. (1991). Refinement

and reassessment of the SERVQUAL scale. *Journal of retailing*, 67(4), 420.

- 31 Parasuraman, A., Zeithaml, V. A., & Berry, L. L. (1985). A conceptual model of service quality and its implications for future research. *Journal of marketing*, 49(4), 41-50.
- 32 Rastogi, S., & Ragabiruntha, E. (2018). Financial inclusion and socioeconomic development: gaps and solution. *International Journal of Social Economics*.
- 33 Saxena, R. R. (2001). Changing Role of Indian Women in Society. *SOCIAL WELFARE-DELHI-*, 48(5), 25-30.
- 34 Smith, K. R., & Sagar, A. (2014). Making the clean available: escaping India's Chulha Trap. *Energy Policy*, *75*, 410-414.
- 35 Stevens, P., Knutson, B., & Patton, M. (1995). DINESERV: A tool for measuring service quality in restaurants. *The Cornell Hotel and Restaurant Administration Quarterly*, 36(2), 5-60.
- 36 Swamy, V. (2014). Financial inclusion, gender dimension, and economic impact on poor households. *World development*, 56, 1-15.
- 37 Swart, M.P. (2013). A business Tourist Service Quality Scorecard for predicting business tourist retention , DCom thesis, University of Johannesburg, South Africa
- 38 Toindepi, J. (2016). Investigating a best practice model of microfinance for poverty alleviation. *International Journal of Social Economics*.
- 39 Vollenbroek, F. (2002), 'Sustainable development and the challenge of innovation', *Journal of Cleaner Production*, 10, 215-223

Digital Marketing: Disruption, Expansion and its Impact on Businesses

Ritesh Dwivedi & Parth Nath^{*}

Amity Business School Amity University Uttar Pradesh Sector 125, NOIDA - 201303, Uttar Pradesh, India (* Corresponding author): parthnath101@gmail.com DoI: 10.23862/kiit-parikalpana/2020/v16/i1-2/204554

Abstract

The research paper is about Digital marketing: disruption, expansion, and its impact on businesses. In this research paper I will discuss about the various types of digital marketing tools used by companies. I will take three tools of the digital marketing and how they help the companies to attract more audiences. I have focused on SEM (Search Engine Marketing), use of websites and use of keywords. As digital marketing has become a useful tool for the companies and help then to lower down their cost of marketing activities therefore correct use of the tools like SEM is necessary for the companies to target the potential audience similarly properly use of websites is necessary to give useful information to the audience and with good content help the companies to draw more traffic, further how keywords are an important tool to increase the ranking of the websites in the search engine result page (SERP). Further I have discussed about the current trends followed by companies during covid-19 pandemic and to know whether digital marketing is a helpful tool to generate revenues for companies during this crisis. For my research I have focused on both primary and secondary data to find out how these digital marketing tools helps the companies in their business.

Keywords: Search Engine Marketing, website, use of keywords.

I. Introduction

As we all know marketing is a very wide term which is being used by many companies or say is used in every small or large business. We can also say that marketing refers to the activities used by the companies to promote their products and services. Marketing basically includes advertising of products, selling of products and delivering of the end product to the consumer and to other businesses.

Professionals those who are involved in a corporate world of marketing and promotion departments in the organization try to seek their key potential audiences via advertising. Promotional activities are mainly used by the businesses and companies to boost their sale for which they even take the help of celebrities, use phrases and even catchy slogans, take the help of graphic designers to design different and catchy packaging for their products and even utilize the help of all media platforms.

- In marketing there is a term called "marketing mix" which is also known as 4P's – product, price, place, promotion.
- The main objective of marketing sell the products and services of the company or businesses and try to identify its ideal customers, helps to draw the attention of their customers to the various products and services available for them.

Marketing as a term also means attracting the customers and building a relationship with them, and try to offer them the exact products and services they are looking for and converting their potential customers into permanent, marketing also helps in making their customers a loyal one towards their products and services.

When the company is able to match its products and services with that of its customers wants and needs it make the sale of goods and services and hence increase in the profitability for the company and business.

The four P's of marketing are- Product, Price, Place and Promotion, collectively they are called marketing mix.

Let's talk about them a bit.

1. Product

Product generally refers to the first stage and also the first "P" of marketing

mix. It offers the items, goods, and services which the business have for its customers. The product offered the company should be good enough to capture the market and offer what the customer is actually looking for and should also have some distinct features so that it can be differentiated form the other competitors in the market. Before launching the actual product into the market the marketers should properly study the market as to what products are being sold in the market and what the customers have to offer, whether there is a substitute product of the same or not so that a proper marketing companying can be done.

2. Price

Then comes the second p of the marketing mix "Price", it generally refers to for how much the company is ready to sell its product for. Before finalizing the actual price of the product there are some things which the company should keep in mind like the cost per unit price, its marketing cost and the distribution expenses. The companies should also keep in mind that the prices set by their competitors selling the alternative products so that it's easy for the customers to switch between the two.

3. Place

Third "P" refers to the place where the final distribution of the product has to be done. For this the company decides various distribution channels like whether to sell the product via physical store, online or both. What should be sold in a storefront, and which type of product placement should be done? And when it's sold online which digital product placement should be done?

4. Promotion

When we talk about promotion it's the last "P" of marketing mix it involves various marketing campaigns which include activities like advertising, selling, sales promotion, public relations, direct marketing, sponsorships, etc. before promotion the company finalizes the other 3 "P's" and depending on that it promotes the product to the target customers.

Keeping 4P's in mind every organization plans their marketing strategies which can help them to grow their business and create their brand image in the market. Marketing is an important tool for every business organization as with the help of proper marketing they can showcase their products and services in the market and get a suitable position in the market.

different When we talk about marketing methods there are two main forms of marketing that comes in our mind, traditional marketing and digital marketing. As we all know traditional marketing is the oldest form of marketing which is still used by many companies use of newspapers hoardings etc. are some of the traditional marketing techniques used by companies to make people aware about their existence in the market and to attract customers but with the changing scenario and changing techniques companies have changes their marketing techniques and shifted from traditional to digital marketing, digital marketing is a common term which is used now a days by every other business men of organizations, as this is the tool that helps the organizations to reach a wide amount of audience within a less span of time, its comparatively cheaper than traditional marketing therefore all the small companies try to take full advantage of this marketing technique. Talking further digital marketing give companies a platform to present their products and services on a digital/ online platform as now a days use of internet is very common and every other person has a mobile phone with an active internet connection, this allows companies to advertise their products and services online and target large market.

Digital marketing tools like website, SEO,SEM, etc allows companies to know more about their customers taste and preferences and allow them to offer exactly the same product or service which their targeted audience is looking for. in this research we have mainly focused on digital marketing and some of its tools like use of website in attracting audience's attention, use of keywords that can help companies to attract more traffic and help to show their website on higher level in the Search Engine Result Page(SERP), further we talked about the use of SEM in overall growth of digital marketing.

SEM a great tool in order to boost the company's performances in the digital channels

Further we have also collected the data from which we would be able to identify how much budget does the companies set for their different marketing activities, from which social media platform does companies get more traffic and from which platforms they are able to earn more revenues. In addition to this considering the current situation of Covid19 pandemic, how companies are adapting the changes and is there any change in their marketing techniques or not. Is digital marketing a better option in this time of crisis to generate revenues for their businesses? And to know which digital marketing trends do they follow.

2.1 Traditional marketing

Traditional marketing is the oldest and very common form of marketing which also encompassing the advertisement that we see and hear every day and can be categorized into four types:- print, broadcast, direct mail ,and telephone.

It is also a conventional mode of marketing that helps the companies to reach out semi-targeted audiences with various types of offline advertising and promotional methods.

Traditional marketing is a type of marketing which is very hard to ignore and includes the traditional ads we encounter on a daily basis. Many of the common and most tried offline marketing are as follows:

- 1. Print which include -magazines, newspapers, etc.
- 2. Broadcast which include TV, radio, etc.
- 3. Direct Mail which includecatalogues, postcards, etc.
- 4. Telephone which include -telemarketing, sms marketing, etc.
- 5. Outdoor which include-billboards, fliers, etc.

2.2 History of digital marketing

1990s was the year when digital marketing was first introduced. This was the time when internet was introduced and development of Web 1.0 was under process. Web 1.0 use to allow users to find the information they are looking for but it didn't allow them to share that information over the web. As at that point of time the use of internet was not that much popular as people were still unaware of this term and considering this the marketers were still unsure of the use of digital platform.

The digital era started in the yr 1993 when the first clickable banner went live, and this was then purchased by HotWired for their advertising. By this gradual shift in the marketing methods in the yr 1994 and Yahoo was launched and various companies come up with different technologies for their digital marketing.

In the year 1996 when World Wide Web came into existence on the very first year Yahoo received about 1 million hits. Looking at this companies stated to optimize their websites as they see a lot of change in the digital market space and to increase their search engine rankings. Many other search engines and tools were also launched in the same yr like the HotBot, LookSmart and Alexa.

It was the year 1998 when Google was launched. To compete in the digital market Microsoft launched the MSN search engine and Yahoo come up with Yahoo web search. After the launch of all these two year down the line all the small search engines were wiped out or left behind and all the control was taken over by these big companies. It was the year 2006 when digital marketing saw it's largest rise as the search engine traffic was reported to have grown to about 6.4 billion in a single month. Seeing this to compete with Google and Yahoo Microsoft launched Live Search.

In 2007, Tumblr was launched. Also web streaming service Hulu was also

found in this year. Mobile giant Apple launched its iPhone in the same year.

Spotify launched in the year 2008 and Groupon also went live in the same yr.

Google also launched real-time search engine in the year 2009. With this Google also come up with products like Google Ad Words which helped the companies to show their 3 line ads on the top of the search engine and to get cost-per-click advertisement Ad Sense was introduced. To target its customers Google come up with this technique to show ads to the customers as per their interest and it became a helpful tool in digital business.

Soon Web 2.0 was introduced which allow the people to interact with other users as well as other businesses, people were becoming active users and started to contribute in the digital platform. Internet was also know was 'super information highway' by this information volume also increased and use of digital marketing also increased and internet advertising also increased.



Fig.1 Web 2.0

Then came the social networking sites. MySpace was the first social networking site to arrive in the digital marketing world which was then followed by Facebook. After the launch of all these sites companies realized that the beginning of new era of business has started, as companies found out new ways to promote their product and brand. With the help of new resources they try to utilize the most form the social networking platforms.

2012 was year of social media, around this yr companies have increased their social media budget up to 65% and Google has also launched it's Google knowledge Graph. As MySpace and Facebook was the most popular social media sites companies thought that it will help them in expanding their business all over the net and promote their products and brand on various channels

The introduction of cookie was also a plus point for digital marketing industries. The first cookie was designed to record user habits which means to track the browsing habits and patterns of users how frequently they use internet so that the companies can promote their products to the users as per user preference. Since then the use of cookies have been altered by the time as of now cookies are used to collect the literal user data.

As we see in the current scenario digital marketing has shown more growth opportunities which can help the business to grow. As we see now a day's more than 180 million people have smartphones and have access to internet are all are active on social media platform therefore it's a huge tasks for the digital marketers to understand the behavior of their customers.

As we all know the main work of digital marketing is very helpful tool used by companies in order to promote their products and brands with the help of various online channels to reach to their targeted and potential customers. As we all know how the buying behavior of the consumers have changed from the past decades as people have started to move to online and digital markets. This shift of customers from traditional to digital has made the companies to shift their businesses to a digital platform and adapt with the changing scenario.

It is very necessary for the businesses to understand and know how the digital marketing works so that they can form their own marketing strategies and use different digital tools for their marketing campaigns to capture its targeted audiences.

2.3 What is digital marketing?

So when we talk about digital marketing the first thing to know is what is digital marketing?

Digital marketing is nothing but the buying and selling of product and services and promoting brands using different digital channels. Digital marketing helps the businesses to find their target audience and attract customers with the help of internet and other digital platforms.

When we talk about digital marketing there are various technologies used by the companies in order to get their marketing message to the target audiences. When we talk about current scenario it's important for every company to have their own website as we all they need to invest on PPC and display ads, email marketing, use of mobile technology like smart phones, social media, and various other digital mediums to attract their target audiences.

In the current time internet plays a significant role as it affects the buying

behavior of the customers and it's important for the businesses to have a digital platform which also help them to boost their visibility as much as possible.

2.4 How Digital Marketing works?

For the businesses to work the owners need to understand how the digital marketing works so that they make a appropriate marketing decision and helps in making their digital marketing campaigns for all these to work they should understand how it all works and help in reaching their marketing goals.

Website Marketing?

Website can be said as the cornerstone of digital marketing strategy. This is the face of the company where the targeted customers first land and find the useful information which they are seeking for, as this is the place where our potential customers will become the paying one. The main goal of digital marketing is to attract, engage and convert the potential leads into making purchases and for this an attractive website is very necessary.

There is a great saying that "First Impression Is the Last Impression" so according to this companies also try to make their first impression the best one with the help of a website as it's the only platform where the targeted audience will first encounter when looking for goods and services. Keeping this thing in mind the company should pay proper attention in the layout of the site and use of proper design, graphics and colors. According to the data about 8% of the people will stop engaging with the website they find unattractive. Not only the appearance but your website should be easy to navigate and gives proper guidance for the next step that consumers need to take. And also the website should be fully optimized for mobile devices which help in improving the site experience when using from a mobile device.

Search Engine Optimization

Search engine optimization another big term in digital marketing that helps that helps companies to reach and convert their consumers in this digital age. Investing in SEO and optimizing your site's content so that it appears to the search engines like Google and help's to reach more customers and make more leads. The ultimate goal of the company is to rank higher on the Search Engine Result Page (SERP) so that your website is more visible to your targeted audience and drive more organic traffic.

SEO helps to bring more traffic but also helps in ensuring that the leads that your company is generating are of higher quality, it helps the company to target the right audience who are actively looking for your product and services. By wisely choosing correct keywords and giving proper content in your website you can reach a wide amount audience who are interested in your products and services.

Content Marketing

Another important tool of digital marketing is content marketing, it helps to create and promote content helps to engage people and targeted audience who are interacting with you. It can also be used to create brand awareness of the product and services, increasing leads, retaining loyal customers.

Whichever digital marketing tool you use content is always useful to support your tool as content is used to provide smallest and detailed piece of information to your customer like a "Thank You" mail to your potential customers or a E-Book that describes the challenges faced by the customers when searching online.

Social Media Marketing

As we now days with the use of social media platforms companies try to reach their target audiences it can be used as effective digital marketing tool used by companies. It includes popular channels like Facebook, Instagram, LinkedIn and many more. Social media help companies to increase their brand awareness, help in generating more leads, and even improve customer engagement.

2.5 Difference between traditional marketing and digital marketing

Traditional Marketing	Digital Marketing
1. Traditional marketing is a one way communication.	1. Digital marketing is a two way communication.
2. Traditional marketing is an expensive form of marketing.	2. Digital marketing involves less cost than traditional marketing.
 Print, TV Ads, Direct mail, and telephone are some examples of traditional marketing. 	3. Online advertisement, social media, email marketing and text messaging are some examples of digital marketing.

4. Slow results.	4. Fast results.
5. With the help of traditional marketing it's easy to reach local audience.	5. With the help of digital marketing its easy to reach targeted audience.
6. Traditional marketing is a personal approach.	6. In digital marketing physical presence is not required.
7. In traditional marketing a hard copy of products and services is provided.	7. Digital marketing use all the digital platforms like website videos to provide information.

Table 1. difference between traditional marketing and digital marketing

3.1 Literature review

Digital Marketing industry in India has spread to almost all the business sectors. Some of the important applications of E-Marketing are shopping and order tracking, online banking, payment systems and content management. How digital marketing has changed the total retail and retail E-commerce sales in India (2013-2018), Indians having active internet connections and where digital marketing has the greatest commercial impact, (M. Suginraj) has come up with all these points in his research (Growth of online marketing in India). Further to know more about digital marketing (Hima Vamanan Nair) come up with the research (Digital marketing: a phenomenon that rules the modern world) in which he talked about the meaning of digital marketing its scope for the companies significance and its functioning. Digital marketing not only helps the people in their businesses and corporate sectors but also help in the education sector as well.Digital Marketing has expanded the boundaries of education. In this era of digitalization where every industry is focusing on becoming digital, educational institutions from all over the world are no longer finding

it difficult to market themselves to their audience or suffer from a lack of brand awareness. Due to the big spread of information, educational institutions have the chance to show the opportunities that students could get from the service they provide, not only in the country but in a worldwide market (PATRUTIU BALTES, 2015). To illustrate the impact of digital marketing in Big Choice Group, the researcher (Isidro Fierro) used a case study (Digital marketing: a new tool for international education) in which she compares the digital innovations within the structure of the company. Digital marketing has not only affected the sectors but the people and their buying behavior as well. In the research (Digital Marketing and Its Impact on Buying Behavior of Youth) by(Dr. S. Sivasankaran) has talked about the same how digital marketing has affected Indian markets and the youth. To understand more about digital marketing and to know the difference between traditional marketing and digital marketing and how it has impacted on the sales of a firm (Afrina Yasmin, Sadia Tasneem, Kaniz Fatema) have done the research (Effectiveness of Digital Marketing in the Challenging Age: An Empirical Study) using different statistical tools to draw the conclusion for the same moving on from sales and difference between different marketing another important point is to built a good customer relation, (Marko Merisavo) in his research(The Effects of Digital Marketing on Customer Relationships) talked about the same. In order to sell more products and services the companies should know the purchase behavior of the people which factors affect them and which attracts them (Mrs. K.R. Mahalaxmi, P.Ranjith) in their research (A Study on Impact of Digital Marketing in Customer Purchase Decision in Trichy) paper talked about the same using different statistical tools and prove the hypothesis by using chi-square test.

With the use of smart phones and active internet connection people are more likely to spend more time with their phone and here comes the role of social media according to (Lindsey Julian) in his research (Using Social Media to Increase Consumer Loyalty to a Brand) companies try to make best use of this opportunity, moreover to see how social media changed the way brands act toward customers and how customers gained power in their relationships with brands (Charles Rupin) in his research (Social media as a new engaging channel in brands' relationship marketing). Use of digital marketing is an important tool for companies to know more about digital marketing and tools involved in it like SEM (Search Engine Marketing) and SEO (Search Engine Optimization) use of website etc. (Achmad Nizar Hidayanto, Moch. Sidhki Adha. Meganingrum Arista Jiwanggi, and Tisha Melia) in their study (Utilization

of Google Tools and Social Network Websites to Improve Performance of Search Engine Marketing (SEM)) talked about the same in their research. To know more about SEO (Search Engine Optimization), its algorithms and how it helps companies to grow their business (Patil Swati P, Pawar B.V and Patil Ajay S) in their study (Search Engine Optimization: A Study) talks about the same. Moreover to get more insights about SEO and SEM and how they work and help companies in making strategy for their business (Achmad Nizar Hidavanto, Moch. Sidhki Adha, Meganingrum Arista Jiwanggi and Tisha Melia) in their research (A study of impact of search optimisation to engine internet marketing strategy) explained the wavs how companies can use internet and different web tools to drive more traffic to their sites. SEO techniques are discussed that enterprises, web developers and bloggers can use to increase their site's visibility in SERP's (Raza ul Mustafai, M. Sagib Nawazi, M. IkramUllah Lali) in their research (SEARCH ENGINE OPTIMIZATION TECHNIQUES TO GET HIGH SCORE IN SERP'S USING RECOMMENDED GUIDELINES) talked about the use of SEO and use of proper keywords which can then help the active customers to get what they are looking for another important point that comes here is how SEO helps in the ranking of the pages testing different theories in their research (Karthikeyan, K & Sangeetha, M) talked about and discussed that search engine marketing can contribute remarkably to a web site's search engine visibility, which in turn can bring great value to a web site. (Page Rank based

Design and Implementation of Search Engine Optimization). To know more about SEM and its (Chris Barry and Debbie Charleton) done their research on SEM (In Search of Search Engine Marketing Strategy Amongst SME's in Ireland)and talked about SEM strategies SEO strategies and challenges in SEM. To get a great and healthy traffic it is necessary for your website to be on top with a higher ranking (

Khalil ur Rehman and Muhammad Naeem Ahmed Khan) talked about methods that can help to increase the ranking of their website in their research (The Foremost Guidelines for Achieving Higher Ranking in Search Results through Search Engine Optimization).

4.1 RESEARCH METHODOLOGY

Methodology is a very important part of research as it consists of different steps and concepts which need to be considered before starting the research. The main structure of research is research design which is important to give right direction and angle to the research, it's like a work plan or blueprint which help the research to move in a right path. It is used to answer the initial questions of the problem and also helps in answering the logical questions. It also helps in identifying whether to go for a qualitative research or quantitative and also helps in determining the sample size and whether it will be descriptive or explanatory. Overall it's all about choosing the best way to do the research. In my research I have done data collection and then analyzed the data collected. Analysis of the collected data is important to get the actual

result of the research and to clarify the objectives and to conclude the research.

4.2 **Purpose of the study**

To know the use of digital marketing by different organizations and tools of digital marketing which can help in the growth of the organization. To know if SEM is a great tool to boot the performance of the company, to know the use of website and is it a great way to capture large amount of people and to know the use of keywords and how they are helpful in targeting a large market. Further to know how companies are using digital marketing in covid-19 pandemic.

The following analysis have been done:

- Correlation
- Regression
- Cross tabulation

Analysis

1) Correlation

Correlation can be described as a tool that helps to indicate the degree of relationship between two variables and also helps in making predictions about future behavior.

Correlation has following values-

- a) 1 means a perfect positive correlation
- b) o means no correlation
- c) -1 means perfect negative correlation
- 2) Regression

Hypothesis is defined as an assumption about something. Hypothesis testing is done to check the plausibility of the given data from a set of population and to check whether the stated hypothesis
is acceptable or not. In the process of testing hypothesis we try to gather as much data as possible to prove our hypothesis.

- Null Hypothesis: this is generally denoted by Ho.
- Alternative Hypothesis: this is generally denoted by Ha.

P-value is used to test a hypothesis test and help to accept or reject the null hypothesis.

- A smaller p (<0.05), then we reject the Null Hypothesis .This indicates that null Hypothesis is invalid.
- A larger p (>0.05), then we reject the Alternate Hypothesis. This indicates that Null Hypothesis is valid.

R-square is a statistical tool which helps to measure how close the data is to the fitted regression line. It can also be termed as coefficient of determination, or the coefficient of multiple determinations for multiple regressions.

R-square always lies between o and 100%

The problem identified in this research was to know since when the companies are using digital marketing and is SEM a great tool for companies to boost their business, moreover use of websites and keywords are also taken in consideration. In order to understand the use of digital marketing and its tools, questionnaire was prepared in order to know more insights from the companies containing questions about the use of digital marketing and SEM. The demographics were also taken into consideration as controlled variable. The results of the 105 participants are as follows:

Digital marketing has changed the way of marketing for the companies, switching from traditional to digital



Pie diagram.1Demographic

is a big change by the companies. Still many companies still prefer to choose traditional marketing then for digital maybe because they feel it is more convenient and easy to use. As we see from the above pie chart maximum number of respondents are employed (77%) working in a corporate firm using digital marketing for their day to day marketing activities and to expand their business, then comes self employed (14%) who use digital marketing to expand their business and to generate more revenue. Use of different tools and use of SEM(Search Engine Marketing) help the companies to boost their sales using different SEM companies try to target more potential customers. Using websites can help to target more audience and providing them the information they are looking for, with the proper use of keywords can help to increase the visibility if the website and reach wider audience.

Research objective-1

Use of Digital marketing helps to lower down the overall cost of

35

marketing and helps in generating revenues.

1. Correlation between use of digital marketing when launching a new product through digital marketing platform.

ducts with the help of digital marketing helps to target your company is using digi		
Launching new products w	1	-0.156396841
Since how long your comp:	-0.156396841	1

Table 2.CorrelationBetweendigitalmarketing and launch of new products

As we can see form the above table there is a weak negative correlation between the two statements. Which indicate that though the companies are using digital marketing for the betterment of their companies marketing activities and for growth but still they don't prefer to launch their products via online mode, companies still believe that to lunch their new products they should go for some traditional methods like TV, newspapers etc. so that people get aware of the product or service and the go on the digital platforms to look for them.

2. Research Hypothesis 1: To test the use of digital marketing helps in lower down the overall cost of marketing activities or not?

Ho- digital marketing doesn't helps to lower down the overall cost of marketing of the companies.

Ha- digital marketing helps to lower down the overall cost of marketing of the companies.

P-value	0.038025918
R Square	0.041118411

Table 3 Research Hypothesis 1

As we can see form the above (0.03<0.05) which means that Alternative Hypothesis (Ha) is accepted and Null Hypothesis is rejected (Ho) this indicates that digital marketing helps the companies in reducing their overall marketing cost.

Moreover R Square value is 4% which is still not more but can be taken into consideration as there are many other factors which affect the marketing activities of the company and should be taken into consideration.

• Since how long your company is using Digital Marketing?

Row Labels	Since how long your company is using Digital Marketing?
o-3 yr	48
3-5 yr	30
5-7 yr	8
7 yr and more	19
Grand Total	105

Table 4. Time period of companies using digital markeitng

Form the above table we can see that there are total 105 numbers of respondents using digital marketing who have responded to the given questionnaire. Digital marketing is seen as an important tool for companies to grow their business with everything becoming digital companies also try to take their marketing practices digitally. By understanding the importance of digital marketing we can see most of the companies have opted to digital marketing on the span of o-3 and 3-5 years. Moreover others are using it since a quite long time.



Fig 2.Revenue generated from different sources.

As we see form the above bar diagram we see that the max revenue that is generated from social media channels and website which means that in the changing scenario digital marketing helps the companies to generate more revenue via online channels and promote their goods and services

Research objective 2:

- Using SEM (Search Engine Marketing) to increase sales and bringing healthy traffic to the company.
- Correlation between uses of SEM (Search Engine Marketing) and SEO (Search Engine Optimization) is a helpful tool for business and it helps to target the right audience at the right time and right place.

SEO are useful for the com	panies to gain mo	right time and at the
SEM and SEO are use	1	0.603
SEM allows you to rea	0.603	1

Table 5. Correlation use of SEM and getting right audience.

As we can see from the above table there is a strong positive correlation between the two which means companies prefer to use SEM and SEO to target more potential audiences. SEM and SEO are the important tools when we talk about digital marketing so use of them can help companies to promote their goods and services and target their potential customers who are looking for the same. And it also helps to increase the visibility of the websites so that they can be ranked higher in the SERP (Search Engine Result Page). Use of different type of SEM can helps to boost the digital marketing activities of the companies.

• SEM is an important tool to increase visibility of website?

Row Labels	SEM is an important tool to increase visibility of website?
Agree	63
Disagree	3
Neutral	23
Strongly Agree	15
Strongly Disagree	1
Grand Total	105

Table 6. Use of SEM to increase visibility of website

Form the above table we can see that there are total 105 numbers of respondents digital marketing who have responded to the given questionnaire using. It consists of both employed and self-employed people, out of which about 15 people Strongly Agrees that Search Engine Marketing (SEM) is an important tool to increase the visibility of their website, whereas 63 people agrees to it and about 23 people responded neutral. On the other hand only 3 people disagree towards this and only 1 respondent feels that SEM is not a helpful tool to increase the visibility of their website.

• Which type of Search Engine Marketing does your company uses?

Row Labels	Which type of Search Engine Marketing does your company uses?
All of the above	50
Local (Maps)	7
None	12
Organic (Unpaid)	14
Organic (Unpaid), Local (Maps)	5
PPC (Pay-Per-Click)	11
PPC (Pay-Per-Click), Local (Maps)	2
PPC (Pay-Per-Click), Organic (Unpaid)	4
Grand Total	105

Table 7. Types of Search Engine Marketing.

Form the above table we can see that there are total 105 numbers of respondents using digital marketing who have responded to the given questionnaire. When using Search Engine Marketing there are various type of SEM which companies uses in order to increase their visibility and attract their potential customers. As we see 50 respondents said that they involve all the 3 type of SEM in their marketing strategy, they are as following PPC (Pay-Per-Click), Organic (Unpaid), and Local (Maps), whereas 14 respondents go for Organic(Unpaid). Moreover there are some other ways also which companies and business use to improve their marketing, as we can see 12 respondents have selected None which means they must be using some other techniques or tools for their marketing.

Research objective -3

- Using website is an important tool to gain more audience and to promote goods and services.
- 3. Correlation between use of website to expand business and timely update in website help to gain more audience.

vebsite is an import	ant tool for	date your conte
website is an ii	1	0.190
How often do y	0.190	1

Table 8. Correlation between website andupdate in website

As we can see form the above table we see there is a weak positive correlation between the two. As website is an important tool for expanding businesses as it is the first thing which people look and if the website is attractive enough they'll spend more time in the website and explore different features, and it may help in converting them into a potential customers of the company. Timely update and changing strategies with the changing market is also an important factor. Use of proper keywords also helps to increase the visibility of the website.

1. Research hypothesis 2- To test whether keyword is a helpful tool for websites in increasing their visibility or not?

Ho- keywords are not a helpful tool for websites in order to increase their visibility. Ha- keywords are a helpful tool for websites in order to increase their visibility

P-value	0.003219894
R Square	0.081179206

Table 9. Research Hypothesis 2

As we can see form the above table p-value is (0.003 < 0.05) therefore Alternative Hypothesis (Ha) is accepted and Null Hypothesis (Ho) is rejected, which means keywords are a helpful tool when it comes to increase the visibility of the websites.

Moreover R Square value is 8% which is not more but can be taken into consideration as there are other factors also which effect in the visibility of the website and add into companies digital marketing activities.



Fig 3. Types of keywords

As we can from above column diagram we see that companies usually focuses on Product defining Keywords and Customer Defining keywords to get the targeted audience and to know to know their potential customers. Then comes the short-tail keywords and Geo-targeting keywords, shorttail keywords are the small search phrases which consists of only one word whereas geo- targeting focuses on the geographical location it helps the searches to reach to a particular outlet or place which they have searched for.

Website is an important tool for business?

Row Labels	Website is an important tool for business?
Maybe	12
No	3
Yes	90
Grand Total	105

Table 10. Website is an important tool for business

Form the above table we can see that there are total 105 numbers of respondents using digital marketing who have responded to the given questionnaire. About 90 respondents agrees to the fact that website is an important tool for a business and said yes on the other hand only 3 respondent said no for the use of website for their business, moreover 12 respondents said maybe for the use of website.

How often do you update content on your website?

Row Labels	How often do you update content on your website?
Daily	22
Monthly	25
Quarterly	6
weekly	50
Yearly	2
Grand Total	105

Table 11. How often do you update content on your website

39

Form the above table we can see that there are total 105 numbers of respondents using digital marketing who have responded to the given 50 people questionnaire. About responded that they update their website weekly as compared to 25 respondents who update it monthly and 22 respondents who update daily. On the other had people updating their websites quarterly are 6 and yearly are 2. Different companies have different strategies which they use for their business therefore updating website timely can also be considered as a strategy used by companies.

3. Research Hypothesis 3- To test whether Digital marketing helps to lower down the overall cost of marketing for the companies and helps in generating revenues for the same during covid-19 pandemic or not.

Ho- Digital marketing does not helps to lower down the cost and don't help in generating revenues during covid-19 pandemic.

Ha- Digital marketing helps to lower down the cost and help in generating revenues during covid-19 pandemic.

P-value	0.007441953
R Square	0.067495067

Table 12. Research Hypothesis 3

As we can see form the above data we see that the p-value is less than 0.05(0.007<0.05) which means that we'll reject the Null Hypothesis (Ho) and accept the Alternate Hypothesis (Ha).

This means there is a relation between the two and digital marketing is helps lower down the overall cost of marketing which then helps the companies to properly allocate the amount for different activities and it also helps in generating revenues for the companies during this world crisis and help the companies to do their marketing activities by staying safe and generating revenues.

Moreover R Square value is 6% is not more but can be taken into consideration as there are many other factors which affect the marketing activities of the companies and companies allocate the revenues by considering all factors.

• Companies have changed their way of marketing techniques during Covid-19 pandemic?

Row Labels	Companies have changed their way of marketing techniques during Covid-19 pandemic?
Employed	81
Others	9
Self Employed	15
Grand Total	105

Table .13. Use of Digital Marketing during Covid-19

Form the above table we can see that there are total 105 numbers of respondents using digital marketing who have responded to the given questionnaire. As we can see in the changing scenario whole world is facing problems due to Covid-19 therefore to keep their business to run smoothly all the companies and businesses have changed their way of marketing techniques in order to maintain that stability and can generate revenues in this situation as we can see from above 81 employed respondents agree to the fact that their companies have changed their way of marketing in this situation similarly 15 self-employed respondents also agreed to this fact and 9 other respondents working as a intern as agrees with this fact.



Fig 4 Digital Marketing trends followed by companies during Covid-19

The above bar diagram shows the different Digital Marketing trends which are being followed by the companies during Covid-19 pandemic. As we can see from above companies mainly focuses on Social commerce and Interactive content this means giving more information to the people via website and all the social media channels. Then comes the smart bidding and new breed SEO this means that use of proper keywords in attracting more audiences and increasing the website ranking in the search engine result page.

Findings

Use of Digital Marketing - it was found out that many companies have changed their marketing techniques and have shifted from traditional to digital whereas there are still many companies or firms who are still using the old methods of marketing and find it more reliable and productive than the digital one.

Use of SEM (Search Engine Marketing) - it was found that SEM is a great tool to be used by companies in order to boost their marketing, it also helps and supports other marketing activities of the companies and helps to reach the right customer at the right time and at right place.

Use of Website - it was found that website is an important tool when it comes to promotion of goods and services as it is the face of the company and it proper and timely update in the website is necessary to hold customers for a longer duration in the website and guide them in becoming a potential customer.

Use of Keywords - it was found that the use of keywords is important to support the marketing activities and help in creating the visibility of the website of the companies. Selection of proper keywords and biding on right keywords which matches the relevance of the content in the website helps the website to get a higher ranking in the search engine result page (SERP)

Use of Digital Marketing during covid-19 - it was found out that during this time of crisis digital marketing is helping companies to generate more revenues and to run their business with the help of digital marketing. We also found out the current trends which the companies a following during this Covid-19 pandemic.

Conclusion

From the above research it was observed that SEM (Search Engine Marketing) is an important tool to be used in digital marketing which help the companies to target the right audiences, moreover use of website can be said as a beneficial tool for the companies to expand their product and services by reaching wide number of audiences, and use of correct keywords can help to increase the visibility of the website and helps to get a higher ranking in the search engine ranking page (SERP).

Although use of SEM and other tools are necessary in digital marketing, companies are able to earn more revenues via digital medium (website, social media). But still there are firms who are not fully converted into digital they still prefer traditional marketing methods in order to launch their products and reach their audience.

The data from the above research clearly suggest that use of SEM is beneficial for the companies as it supports all the other marketing activities as well and give a clear picture to what steps to be taken next, it also give proper insights of the different marketing activities and helps in allocating budgets to different activities. Similarly it goes for the use of websites and how they have helped companies to increase their brand image and how important it is to timely update the content on the website to attain the customers. Moreover use of correct keywords is also an important tool that can help companies to outlook their competitors and help in driving more traffic to the websites.

As from the above data we say that 0.60 is a strong positive correlation between the use of SEM to target more audience

at the right time and right place. Therefore use of SEM is beneficial for companies to expand their businesses in the right direction and giving the customer the exact thing which he is looking for.

Moreover we have also discovered that digital marketing is a helpful tool for the companies during the Covid-19 pandemic. Using digital marketing to sell products and services, for improving brand image, and helping companies to generate revenues through digital channels. Further we found out different digital marketing trends which companies follow during this pandemic.

Limitations

Due to Covid-19 pandemic the collection of primary data was restricted to some companies only as there were no personal meeting because visiting companies was not possible. Due to covid-19 only some data has been collected of 105 respondents which is the analysed for further study. Due to few numbers of respondents it was difficult to find out the exact situation of the markets and how digital marketing has impacted the markets.

More over internet connectivity was a problem in gathering more information regarding the research, analysis of data has been done using excel and using excel tools as use of other analysis tools was not possible.

Bibliography

Achmad Nizar Hidayanto, Moch. Sidhki Adha, Meganingrum Arista Jiwanggi, and Tisha Melia. (2011). Utilization of Google Tools and Social Network Websites to Improve Performance of Search Engine Marketing (SEM). Achmad Nizar Hidayanto, Moch. Sidhki Adha, Meganingrum Arista Jiwanggi and Tisha Melia (2012). A study of impact of search engine optimisation to internet marketing strategy. Int. J. Services, Economics and Management.

Afrina Yasmin, Sadia Tasneem, Kaniz Fatema. Effectiveness of Digital Marketing in the Challenging Age: An Empirical Study.

Chris Barry and Debbie Charleton, (2009).In Search of Search Engine Marketing Strategy Amongst SME's in Ireland.

Customer Purchase Decision in Trichy. International Journal for Innovative Research in Science & Technology

Dr. S. Sivasankaran.(2017). Digital Marketing and Its Impact on Buying Behaviour of Youth. International Journal of Research in Management &Business Studies

Hima Vamanan Nair (2016).Digital marketing: a phenomenon that rules the modern world. Reflections Journal of Management (RJOM).

Isidro fierro (2017). Digital marketing: a new tool for international education.

Karthikeyan, K & Sangeetha, M (2012). Page Rank based Design and Implementation of Search Engine Optimization. International Journal of Computer Applications. Khalil ur Rehman and Muhammad Naeem Ahmed Khan. (2013). The Foremost Guidelines for Achieving Higher Ranking in Search Results through Search Engine Optimization. International Journal of Advanced Science and Technology.

M. Suginraj (2017). Growth of Online Marketing in India- A Study. International Journal of Research in Management & Business Studies.

Marko Merisavo. The Effects of Digital Marketing on Customer Relationships.

Mrs. K.R. Mahalaxmi, P. Ranjith (2016). A Study on Impact of Digital Marketing in Patil Swati P, Pawar B.V. and Patil Ajay S.(2013) Search Engine Optimization: A Study. Research Journal of Computer and Information Technology Sciences.

Raza ul Mustafa, M. Saqib Nawaz, M. IkramUllah Lali2 (2016). SEARCH ENGINE OPTIMIZATION TECHNIQUES TO GET HIGH SCORE IN SERP'S USING RECOMMENDED GUIDELINES.

[Structure questionnaire, not appended here to save space, can be made available by publisher or author to interested readers.]

43

Employee Branding and its Influence on Private Life Insurance Companies with respect to Western region of Tamil Nadu

Arul Senthilkumar. S,

Assistant Professor, Ramaiah Institute of Management, Bangalore. India.

Punitha. N,

Assistant Professor, Ramaiah College of Law, Bangalore, India asksivam@gmail.com DoI:10.23862/kiit-parikalpana/2020/v16/i1-2/204552

Abstract

In this world, human life is more important than anything else. Human life is "priceless", though it is priceless, difficult to save every human life from uncertainties. To save human life from uncertainties, some trade-off was made which is called life insurance. This study discussed the concept of emplovee branding in private life insurance companies. Generally, employee branding is how the employees spread the brand image of their respective companies to the market. Here, the employee played a major role as a "brand promoters". This study covered the Western region of Tamil Nadu as a geographical area, which includes seven different districts. The total sample size is 750 Employees.

The objective of this study is to find out the employees' perception towards the value proposition and employees' satisfaction level towards the employee branding components among the private Life Insurance companies. The present study is based on both primary and secondary data. Special care was given to design the interview schedule to collect the primary data. The proportionate Stratified Random sampling technique is used for the study. Data analyzed by using the Chi-square test, Garrett Ranking, Independent-Sample T-Test, Analysis of Variance (ANOVA). This study revealed that employees were working like a rolling stone instead of brand ambassadors. Hence, private life insurance companies have to implement employee branding components. These components could help the industry to create the right opinion about their organization to employees, control the attrition, and improve the employee attraction as well as retention.

Keywords: Employee branding, Employee value proposition, Employee retention, Employee attrition, Life insurance.

Introduction

Indian's are very inclined towards savings and investments. Life Insurance is also one of the financial products, which help and satisfy the needs of the people. With increasing levels of income, higher cost of living and longer life expectancy, the Indian consumer will require innovative financial investment products that will cater to wealth management, protection and retirement solutions. Therefore, Life Insurance is imperative and inevitable. Insurance companies will have to gear up with robust solutions to cater to the need of customers. Today's customers are expecting proper financial advice and services from the companies. It is possible only through the employees of the companies. Employees are the brand ambassadors and first customer for any organization; therefore. employee's needs must be fulfilled by the company. So that employees will forward the company's brand image in the market. Employees who are working in Life Insurance companies are the primary source of a financial advisor for the customers, they need to be trained and satisfied in all terms. Therefore, the employee can transform their organization's brand into the market whole-heartedly. Eventually, the Company-Employee relationship needs to be deepened by satisfying the employee's needs.

Review of Literature

Klayman, Robin (Aug 2000), This study revealed the information related to employee Branding, motivated employees could produce memorable projects yielding desirable results. Employees with a brand deliver inspired performance while aligning with their organization's brand identity. Branding inside, supports an environment of distinctiveness, inspired performance, and unparalleled contribution. It makes the most of each person's contribution, encourages people to make a difference, and ignites their passions. Branding inside will help organizations win the talent wars because it does not only offer a path of personal growth but also helps organizations achieve their strategic goals more readily and enhance internal and external relationships.

Fram, Eugene H, McCarthy, Michael **S** (2003), This study revealed internal marketing helps generate higher levels of employee brand loyalty that can translate into incremental boosts in sales and profits. Besides, higher levels of employee brand loyalty may be related to higher levels of employee job satisfaction. The results of the study are discussed that were initiated to address the following things: 1. to the extent employees generally exhibit brand-loyal purchase behavior to their firms and products 2. Loyalty factors are really important and it's related to higher levels of employee's brand 3. Brand-loyal employees are likely to act as brand champions to other firms.

Nicholas ind (2003), This study revealed that the idea of brands being about people is true, it also made clear that the attitude and behavior of employees will be a significant determinant of brand value. If employees want to be executed, clear strategies must be communicated to them, reinforce those values in everything the company does, allow people the freedom to act and trust that they execute consistently with the values. This review suggested that

45

'living the brand' is about ensuring the linkage of the employee attitudes, behavior and overall business goals. This is the responsibility of management too often an internal focus leads to indulgences that create happy employees but ultimately deliver high for the organization.

Sandra Jeanquart Miles, Glvnn Mangold .W (2005), This article discussed regarding the employee branding, prospective employees are carefully screened during the recruiting and selection process to ensure their attitudes and personal values are consistent with the organization's values and desired brand image. Training and development efforts are designed to clarify and reinforce the behaviors and values of the organization. Extensive job training occurring in the employees' departments emphasizes leadership, personal development, and the delivery of positively outrageous service. Compensation is also a powerful tool for sending messages that reinforce the desired brand image. Employees must understand the organization's mission and values, as well as the underlying principles of integrity and care for staff. The feedback loop is a critical component of the employee branding process.

Christine Leslie Vallaster, de Chernatony (2005), This study revealed that employees are a critically important constituent of the service brand and is ultimately responsible for delivering its promise. Employee building process becomes brand more challenging as brands expand internationally; it argued that the success of employee brand building depends on the ability to leverage cognitive, affective, and communicative

differences amongst culturally-diverse employees. Leadership has been identified as a crucial mechanism that mediated between people who differ in the way they think and interpret the environment and how they feel and communicate with each other. The process of employee brand building is people should work together to reduce the gap and employees must be motivated by such role models and become committed; transcending their self-interests.

Jason Ferrara(2005), This article discussed that to beat employee turnover, businesses were creating employee brands designed to attract the right workers the first time around and qualified employees who are a good fit for the company culture. Creating the right employee brand message that will lure quality candidates starts with focusing on what employees look for in ideal work experience, good pay and benefits, a manageable workload, good work-life balance, promising career development and advancement opportunities.

Khanyapuss Punjaisri, Alan Wilson (2007), The objective of this study is to ensure that employees transform espoused brand messages into brand reality for customers and other stakeholders. Successful employee branding engendered employee's commitment and loyalty to the brand. The important role done by the HR department began with selecting and recruiting the right prospects and persons to fit for the organization. To maintain brand standards, an organization should reward employees accordingly. Effective reward and recognition schemes can enhance employee motivation and commitment. Employee empowerment and employee engagement programs would help the employees to participate more effectively inside the organization.

Ceridwyn King, Debra Grace (2007), This study revealed that employees are better equipped to fulfill the explicit and implicit promises inherent in the brand. This is because the desired brand values; practices and behaviors are clarified and defined, providing a clear direction for all organizational efforts. Without such internationalization. the ability of employees to deliver the appropriate customer experience is unlikely. Without such brand knowledge, employees were unable to transform the brand vision into brand reality.

Kai F. Mahnert, Ann M. Torres(2007), This study revealed that internal branding seeks to achieve consistency with the external brand and encourage brand commitment and the possibility of the brand championship among employees, it is the concerted, interdepartmental and multi-directional internal communications effort carried out to create and maintain an internal brand. Thus, internal branding can be identified as a specific tool and placed in the wider context of internal marketing.

Mike Phibbs (2008), This study revealed, employee branding is essential to keep a competitive workforce and to reduce turnover. Employee branding began at the top level of the organization. The command structure has a responsibility to ensure that employees clearly understand the mission and vision of their organization. To ensure this, frequent, open forums should be held, where questions can be asked, rumors laid to rest, and the vision continued to be reinforced in the minds of the employees. At mid-level, leaders also have the responsibility to be clear on the mission and vision of the organization. Through organizational and employee branding, organizations would recruit and retain people who more closely fit the culture of their organizations. Recruiters should not be only concerned with filling today's vacancies but be proactive in cultivating the branding image for future recruiting cycles.

Khanyapuss Punjaisri, Heiner Evanschitzky, Alan Wilson (2009), This study revealed employee branding is found to have a positive impact on attitudinal and behavioral aspects of employees in their delivery of the brand promise. The study showed that brand identification is a driver of brand commitment, which precedes brand loyalty of employees. It empirically showed the relationship between internal branding and the behavioral outcome as well as the meditational effects of employees' brand identification, commitment and loyalty. Employee branding has emerged to assist an organization in promoting the brand inside. It aims at inducing employee's behavioral changes to support the delivery of the brand promise.

Khanyapuss Punjaisri, Alan Wilson, Heiner Evanschitzky (2009), This main study is on the employee branding enabled employees to deliver the brand promise during service encounters because it engendered a shared understanding of a brand across the entire organization. In short, employee branding is argued to be instrumental in influencing employee's attitudes and shaping their behaviors to be aligned with a brand, by creating employees' understanding of brand values and engaging them in living brand reality. The use of internal communication techniques and training programmes are to educate employees about the brand promise. In short, the brand must be so powerfully appealing that not only the organization but individuals within it find self-fulfillment in aligning themselves, and their behavior, towards it. But on one hand, management can use employee branding to directly shape their employee's behaviors. So that, they are in line with the brand values. Therefore, internal communications and training programmes should also be used together to enhance their understanding and knowledge about their important role in the brand delivery

Daniel Wentzel (2009), This study suggested that consumers considered an employee as an exemplar of the brand's workforce or as a relatively unique individual, it may be impossible to predict how brand personality impressions are affected by the employee's behavior. Such, "branding tools" based on social cues, such as an employee's behavior in customer interaction, may differ in important respects from branding tools based on non-social cues, such as advertising messages. As such, the behavior of a frontline employee may be an important driver of consumers' brand personality impressions. That is, before being able to generalize the meaning of an employee's behavior, consumers may first need to decide how to categorize the employee. Hence the studies indicated that managers need to pay close attention to interactions

with employees to develop them and promote the brand in an effective way

Sandra Jeanguart Miles, Glynn Mangold. W, Susita Asree, Jennifer (2011), This study revealed that the purpose of the employee branding process is to manage the brand image of employees' projects to their customers. The internal message systems both formal and informal contributed both to employees' knowledge of the desired brand image and to the upholding of their psychological contracts with their employer. It relied heavily on word of mouth and direct contact between customers and employees as its primary promotional mechanisms. Therefore, employees may have observed few formal messages that were targeted to customers, thereby contributing to the insignificant path between the external formal message systems and employees' psychological contracts.

Sunit Lakra , Susmita sarkar (2011), This study revealed that regardingemployee branding is a new twist on identity regulation. Employee branding shaped employees' behavior so that they project the brand identity of their organization's products through their everyday work behavior. Employee branding could influence the perception of the employment experience offered to current and future employees. The command structure has a responsibility to ensure that employees clearly understand the mission and vision of their organization. Messages emanate from various organizational sources such as the systems of organizational staffing, performance management, compensation, effective training programmes, and work culture. Once employees understand brand and objectives, they will be in better positions to act as ambassadors for the brand. Thus, it could be concluded that employee branding is becoming the concept or mantra of today's business world. Employee branding helps the companies to have a better perspective of their consumers and motivate the employees as well.

Statement of the Problem

It has often been said that the most important asset of any business is its employees. Indeed, people and managing people are key elements of any organization. The importance of people management is a vital source of a competitive global marketplace. Organizations are therefore seeking to understand how their human resources can be managed for sustainable competitive advantage and to make their brand to be strong competition in the market.

Life Insurance is one of the industries. which has been very constant and indispensable. This industry strongly supports for country's economic growth. In the well-developed countries insurance penetration and awareness are good whereas, in India, life Insurance industry awareness and insured people were very low. In the life insurance industry, some issues were prevalence such as Employee retention, Employee attrition. Insurance awareness, Employee stress, Employee job satisfaction level and Employee empowerment. Due to these problems, the life insurance industry is in the shaky stage and the growth is not as expected.

These problems could be solved by an organization by focusing on employee's needs and their growth. Employees will carry forward the organization when

they are satisfied in the workplace. The organization has to understand how to promote their brand through their employees and sustain in the market. Consequently, this employee branding concept has arrived. This concept helps employees to satisfy their needs and organization to reduce employee turnover and improve the productivity of employees. The research of this study revealed that employees issues and to know whether the employees are brand ambassadors of their organization or rolling stones.

The employee's perspective on how they deliver the brand's values externally is very vital. This study will answer to which extent the employee branding would help to the life insurance industry and affirmative action would be recommended to the industry to solve the issues. Employee's satisfaction is not at par with other industry and the attrition level is very high and Employees were feeling that industry is stressful. Finally, this study aims to find whether employees are inspired, motivated, recognized and satisfied their respective organizations. bv This study revealed that how the Life Insurance companies improve the satisfaction level of their employees and make their employees become brand ambassadors of their respective organizations through which the company can improve their brand image in the market.

Objectives of the Study

- 1. To identify the employees' perceptions about Private Life Insurance companies.
- 2. To identify the employees' satisfaction level towards the employee branding components

among the private Life Insurance companies.

3. To find out the means and ways for better employee branding among private Life Insurance companies.

Research Methodology

The research methodology includes sampling framework, collection of data, Variables, the framework of analysis and limitation.

Sampling Framework of the Study

The investigator has chosen the Western region of Tamilnadu, which consist of the districts of Coimbatore, Salem. Nilgris, Tirupur, Erode. Namakkal, and Dharmapuri districts. To consider both representations of men and women employees' opinions in all districts, in the Western region of Tamilnadu, the present study has applied the proportionate Stratified Random sampling technique. In statistics. stratified random sampling is a method of sampling the among total population. In statistical surveys, when subpopulations within an overall population vary, it is advantageous to sample each subpopulation (stratum) independently. Stratification is the process of dividing members of the population into homogeneous subgroups before sampling.

Here, the Western region of Tamilnadu has been taken as a geographical area, which includes seven different districts where we have used a proportionate stratified random sampling method. From that, the sample size has been chosen. The total sample size includes for the present study is 750 Employees, 608 men and 142 women percentage wise 81.07 are men 18.93 are Women. Sample size calculation from the District wise in the Western region of Tamilnadu

S. NO	DISTRICTS	SAMPLE SIZE
1	Coimbatore	250
2	Tirupur	69
3	Erode	135
4	Salem	160
5	Namakkal	53
6	Dharmapuri	45
7	Nilgris	38

Collection of Data

The present study is based on both primary and secondary data. The secondary data related to the Life Insurance Industry collected from various websites. The majority of the data were collected from the primary source. Special care was given to design the Interview schedule to collect the primary data. A pre-test was conducted among 50 employees in Coimbatore, 25 employees in Tirupur. Based on the feedback of the pre-test, certain modifications, additions and deletions were carried out. The final draft of the schedule was prepared to collect the primary data.

Framework of Analysis

The collected primary data were processed with the help of appropriate statistical tools. The selection of statistical tools rests on the nature of the scale of data and objectives of the study focused. The details of statistical tools and their usage in this study are summarized below.

Chi-square test Garrett Ranking ANOVA Independent-Sample T-Test **Variables:** Employee branding is considered as a Dependent Variable. Independent Variables are Employee perception, Leadership, Organizational culture, Employee retention, Employee engagement and employee attrition.

Hypotheses

The following hypotheses have been formulated to study the impact of Employee branding through independent variables.

H1: There is a significant influence on employee perception on employee branding H₂: There is a significant influence of leadership on employee branding

H₃: There is a significant influence of organizational culture on employee branding

H4: There is a significant influence of employee retention on employee branding

H₅: There is a significant influence of employee engagement on employee branding

H6: There is a significant influence of employee attrition on employee branding

Results & Discussions

Table 1 -	- Demogra	phic wis	e opinion	regarding	Employee	e Perception
	8	r	r			

		Mean	SD	Mean %	F/t	р
Gender	Male	19.61	2.03	78.45	1.36	0.173
	Female	19.36	1.80	77.44		
Age	< 30	19.85	2.05	79.42	5.11	0.002**
	30-35	19.40	1.92	77.60		
	35-40	19.13	1.81	76.54		
	> 40	19.81	2.21	79.23		
Department	Training	20.86	2.46	83.43	11.12	< 0.001**
	Operation	20.03	2.36	80.10		
	Sales	19.41	1.85	77.66		

Table 2 - Demographic wise opinion regarding Leadership

		Mean	SD	Mean %	F/t	р
Gender	Male	21.57	4.39	61.63	2.31	0.021*
	Female	20.67	3.20	59.05		
Age	< 30	22.27	4.98	63.63	9.15	< 0.001**
	30-35	20.95	3.68	59.86		
	35-40	20.24	2.51	57.82		
	> 40	21.19	3.71	60.55		
Department	Training	25.14	5.39	71.84	42.51	< 0.001**
	Operation	23.84	6.12	68.11		
	Sales	20.75	3.34	59.28		

		Mean	SD	Mean %	F/t	р
Gender	Male	24.41	9.22	48.83	2.24	0.025*
	Female	22.58	6.68	45.15		
Age	< 30	25.60	10.36	51.20	5.78	0.001**
	30-35	23.03	7.74	46.06		
	35-40	22.58	6.21	45.17		
	> 40	23.68	7.66	47.35		
Department	Training	33.93	10.89	67.86	57.76	< 0.001**
	Operation	29.63	11.47	59.25		
	Sales	22.52	7.27	45.05		

Table 3 - Demographic wise opinion regarding Employee Retention

Table 4 - Demographic wise opinion regarding Organization Culture

		Mean	SD	Mean %	F/t	р
Gender	Male	19.40	6.00	55.42	2.25	0.025*
	Female	18.18	4.73	51.95		
Age	< 30	20.07	6.77	57.35	4.81	0.003**
	30-35	18.60	5.08	53.14		
	35-40	18.16	4.31	51.88		
	> 40	19.10	5.27	54.56		
Department	Training	24.43	6.41	69.80	51.71	< 0.001**
	Operation	22.97	7.84	65.62		
	Sales	18.18	4.79	51.95		

Table 5 - Demographic wise opinion regarding Employee Empowerment

		Mean	SD	Mean %	F/t	р
Gender	Male	14.16	3.53	56.64	2.11	0.035*
	Female	13.49	2.74	53.97		
Age	< 30	14.59	4.03	58.37	5.42	0.001**
	30-35	13.70	2.93	54.79		
	35-40	13.38	2.37	53.51		
	> 40	14.00	2.98	56.00		
Department	Training	18.29	4.49	73.14	51.53	< 0.001**
	Operation	15.80	4.64	63.19		
	Sales	13.49	2.75	53.97		

0 1 7						
Factors	Mean	Garrett Score	Garrett Rank			
Heavy pressure	1.33	78.53	1			
Poor organization culture	3.65	59.47	4			
Industry in downtrend	6.88	42.50	7			
Respect low in society	3.52	60.15	3			
Lacking in Company strategy & Planning	7.48	38.89	8			
Employee poaching	9.18	24.85	10			
Poor leadership	6.00	46.89	6			
Mentally frustrated	2.86	64.65	2			
Nepotism	8.93	27.95	9			
Work-life balance	5.14	51.22	5			

Table 6 - Influencing Factors on Employee Attrition

From Table 1, it could be noted from the table 1 that to study the effect of Gender regarding the employee perception mean value of male is 19.61 with mean% of 78.45 and mean value of female is 19.36 with the mean% of 77.44. Above the table, there is no significant relationship between Gender and Employee Perception. Hence, the null hypothesis is accepted.

To study the effect of Age, mean value of <30 yrs is 19.85 with the mean% of 79.42, mean value of 30-35 yrs is 19.40 with the mean% of 77.60, mean value of 35-40 yrs is 19.13 with the mean% of 76.54 and mean value of >40 yrs is 19.81 with the mean% of 79.23. Above the table, there is a significant relationship between Age and Employee Perception. Hence, the null hypothesis is rejected.

To study the effect of the Department, the mean value of the training department is 20.86 with the mean% of 83.43, the mean value of the Operation department is 20.03 with the mean% of 80.10 and mean value of sales department is 19.41 with the mean% of 77.66. Above the table, there is a significant relationship between the Department and Employee Perception. Hence, the null hypothesis is rejected.

From Table 2, it could be noted from table 1 that to study the effect of Gender regarding the leadership mean value of males is 21.57 with a mean% of 61.63 and the mean value of females is 20.67 with the mean% of 59.05. Above the table, there is a significant relationship between Gender and Leadership. Hence, the null hypothesis is rejected.

To study the effect of Age, mean value of <30 yrs is 22.27 with the mean% of 63.63, mean value of 30-35 yrs is 20.95 with the mean% of 59.86, mean value of 35-40 yrs is 20.24 with the mean% of 57.82 and mean value of >40 yrs is 21.19 with the mean% of 60.55. Above the table, there is a significant relationship between Age and Leadership. Hence, the null hypothesis is rejected.

To study the effect of the Department, the mean value of the training department is 25.14 with the mean% of 71.84, the mean value of Operation department is 23.84 with the mean% of 68.11 and mean value of sales department is 20.75 with the mean% of 59.28. Above the table, there is a significant relationship between the Department and Leadership. Hence, the null hypothesis is rejected.

From Table 3, it could be noted from the table 3 that to study the effect of Gender regarding the leadership mean value of male is 24.41 with mean% of 48.83 and mean value of female is 22.58 with the mean% of 45.15 Above the table, there is a significant relationship between the Gender and Employee retention. Hence, the null hypothesis is rejected.

To study the effect of Age, mean value of <30 yrs is 25.60 with the mean% of 51.20, mean value of 30-35 yrs is 23.03 with the mean% of 46.06, mean value of 35-40 yrs is 22.58 with the mean% of 45.17 and mean value of >40 yrs is 23.68 with the mean% of 47.35. Above the table, there is a significant relationship between Age and Employee retention. Hence, the null hypothesis is rejected.

To study the effect of the Department, the mean value of the training department is 33.93 with the mean% of 67.86, the mean value of the Operation department is 29.63 with the mean% of 59.25 and mean value of sales department is 22.52 with the mean% of 45.05. Above the table, there is a significant relationship between the Department and Employee retention. Hence, the null hypothesis is rejected.

From Table 4, it could be noted from the table 4 that to study the effect of Gender regarding the organization culture mean value of male is 19.40 with mean% of 55.42 and mean value of female is 18.18 with the mean% of 51.95 above the table, there is a significant relationship between the Gender and Organization culture. Hence, the null hypothesis is rejected.

To study the effect of Age, mean value of <30 yrs is 20.07 with the mean% of 57.35, mean value of 30-35 yrs is 18.60 with the mean% of 53.14, mean value of 35-40 yrs is 18.16 with the mean% of 51.88 and mean value of >40 yrs is 19.10 with the mean% of 54.56. Above the table, there is a significant relationship between the Age and Organization culture. Hence, the null hypothesis is rejected

To study the effect of the Department, the mean value of the training department is 24.43 with the mean% of 69.80, the mean value of the Operation department is 22.97 with the mean% of 65.62 and mean value of sales department is 18.18 with the mean% of 51.95. Above the table, there is a significant relationship between the Department and Organization culture. Hence, the null hypothesis is rejected.

From Table 5, it could be noted from the table 5 that to study the effect of Gender regarding the employee empowerment mean value of male is 14.16 with mean% of 56.64 and mean value of female is 13.49 with the mean% of 53.97 Above the table, there is a significant relationship between the Gender and Employee empowerment. Hence, the null hypothesis is rejected.

To study the effect of Age, mean value of <30 yrs is 14.59 with the mean% of 58.37, mean value of 30-35 yrs is 13.70 with the mean% of 54.79, mean value of 35-40 yrs is 13.38 with the mean% of 53.51 and mean value of >40 yrs is 14.00 with the mean% of 56.00. Above the table, there is a significant relationship between Age and Employee empowerment. Hence, the null hypothesis is rejected.

To study the effect of the Department, the mean value of the training department is 18.29 with a mean% of 73.14, the mean value of the Operation department is 15.80 with the mean% of 63.19and mean value of sales department is 13.49 with the mean% of 53.97. Above the table, there is a significant relationship between the Department and Employee empowerment. Hence, the null hypothesis is rejected.

From Table 6, it could be noted from the above table that among the ten factors pertain to employee attrition "Heavy pressure" was ranked first. It is followed by the "Mentally frustrated". "Respect low in society" was ranked third.

Discussion

Based on the above results, the study confirmed that the following variables such as Employee perception, Leadership, Organization culture. Employee retention, Employee engagement and Employee attrition are significantly influencing the employee branding variable in the private life insurance companies. Based on the aforementioned framed hypotheses, Employee perception is significantly influencing the employee branding, which means hypothesis (H1) is supported. Leadership is significantly influencing employee branding, which means hypothesis (H₂) is supported. Organization culture is significantly influencing employee branding, which means hypothesis (H₃) is supported. Employee retention is significantly influencing employee branding, which means hypothesis (H4) is supported.

Employee engagement is significantly influencing employee branding, which means the hypothesis (H₅) is supported. According to the employee attrition variable, among the ten factors "Heavy pressure", "Mentally frustrated" and "Respect low in society" secured the first, second and third rank respectively, which employee means attrition is also influencing the employee branding. Therefore, Hypothesis (H6) is supported. Eventually, the study has proved that variables such as Employee perception, Leadership, Organization culture, Employee retention, Employee engagement and employee attrition are significantly influencing the employee branding variable.

Managerial Implications

This research observed that employee branding is an essential component for each organization. In the workplace, employees are the first customer. Hence, employees' needs and wants should be considered and they must be fully satisfied by the organization. So that, those employees can contribute more to the organization.

Now, the Life insurance market is emerging in India. Hence, the Life insurance industry has to implement good human resource practices, which include well planned strong talent acquisition process, very effective training programs, good employee career growth and implement well leadership practices to the employees. In India, employees were feeling that the work environment in the life insurance industry is highly stressful. Hence, employee retention is very difficult and attrition also very high. So, the life insurance industry has to concentrate more on employee value

55

proposition like monetary and nonmonetary rewards, good employee engagement programmes, and give more empowerment to the employees. Organization culture must be kept on monitoring and industry has to create a stress-free work environment. Eventually, the organization has to implement the employee branding components which would help the organization to perform smoothly and effectively and also to improve the business in a better way.

Limitations and future research

the According to study, some limitations have been brought for future research. First, the study focused only a few districts in Tamil Nadu, not the entire state or country; so, the future researcher can focus on a broad perspective. Second, the study only on private life insurance companies with respect to western region of Tamil Nadu. Therefore, whatever results were identified may not apply to other industries. Hence, further study can concentrate on some other sector as well. Moreover, the results are only applicable to the Indian context not from a global perspective. Therefore, it can't be generalized. Hence, I would like to recommend, further study can be done from a global perspective.

Reference

Aurand, Timothy W; Gorchels, Linda; Bishop, Terrence R (2005). Human resource management role in internal branding: An opportunity for cross functional brand message synergy, The Journal of Product and Brand Management, Vol 14, Issue 2/3, pp 163-169. Babita Singh Yadav, Varsha Rokade (2013). Managing attrition in life insurance sector: with special focus on employees of Hdfc Standard Life Insurance Company, Indian Journal of Applied Research, Vol 3, Issue 4, pp 236 – 237.

Balachander. G, Panchanatham. N, Subramanian. K (2010). Impact of job satisfaction on the motivation of insurance companies officers: А developmental perspective, International Iournal of Trade. Economics and Finance, Vol 1. pp 349 - 352.

Banutu Gomez Michael ba, Coyle Patrick T, Ebenhosech Sandy J, Fallucca Kevin A, Minetti Chris M. International branding effectiveness: The global image of nestle's brand name and employee perceptions of strategies and brands", Journal of Global Business Issues, Vol 3, Issue 2, pp 17 – 24.

Ceridwyn King, Debra Grace (2007). Internal Branding, Exploring the Employee's Perspective, Journal of Brand Management, Vol 15, Issue 5, pp 358–372.

Ceridwyn, Debra Grace, Daniel C Funk (2012). Employee Brand Equity: Scale development and validation, Journal of brand Management, Vol 19, Issue 4, pp 268-288.

Daniel Wentzel (2009). The Effect of Employee behavior on Brand personality impressions and brand attitudes, Academy of Marketing Science, Vol 37, pp 359 – 374.

Fram, Eugene H, McCarthy, Michael S (2003). From employee to brand champion, Marketing Management, Vol 12, Issue 1, pp 24-29.

Jason Ferrara(2005). Employee Branding: Savvy job postings key to Attracting the Right Staff, Business Review.

Jim M. Knight, (2009). Employee Branding That Rocks, Vol 1, Article 88, www.chart.org.

Kai F. Mahnert, Ann M. Torres(2007). The Brand Inside: The Factors of Success and Failure in Internal Branding, Irish Marketing Review, Vol 19, Issue 1 & 2, pp 54- 63.

Khanyapuss Punjaisri, Alan Wilson, (2007). The Role of Internal Branding in the delivery of Employee Brand Promise, Brand Management, Vol 15, Issue 1, pp 57–70.

Khanyapuss Punjaisri, Alan Wilson, Heiner Evanschitzky (2009). Internal Branding to influence Employee's Brand promise delivery, A case study in Thailand, Journal of Service Management, Vol 20, Issue 5, pp 561-579.

Klayman, Robin (2000). Inside branding, Leadership Excellence, 17.8, 13.

Meera Singh (2012). Employee Branding through Talent Management for Customer Satisfaction. IOSR Journal of Business and Management, Vol 2, Issue 3, pp 01-03. Mike Phibbs (2008).The Role of HR in Employee Branding in the Public Sector, leadershiprva.wordpress.com.

Nicholas Ind (2003). How employees build value, brand management, Vol 10, Issue 6, pp 393–402.

Rohit Agrawal (2012). Importance of Employee Branding In the Modern Corporate World And Its Implementation In UAE, EzineArticles. com.

Sandra Jeanquart Miles, Glynn Mangold. W (2005). Positioning Southwest Airlines through Employee Branding, Business Horizons, Vol 48, Issue 6, pp 535-545.

Sandra Jeanquart Miles, Glynn Mangold W, Susita Asree Jennifer (2011). Assessing the employee Brand, Revell Journal Of Managerial Issues, Vol 23, Issue 4, P 491 – 507.

Somen Mitra, Anup Kumar Ghosh (2012). A Study on Effect of Attrition over Financial Performance of the Companies in Life Insurance Sector in India, National Conference on Emerging Challenges for Sustainable Business, pp 51.

Determinants of Agricultural Exports of India: A Commodity Level Analysis

Baikunth Roy

Assistant Professor, PG Department of Economics College of Commerce, Arts and Science Patliputra University, Patna-800020 baikunthroy@gmail.com DoI:10.23862/kiit-parikalpana/2020/v16/i1-2/204558

Abstract

The export opportunity allows the agricultural sector to expand productive capacity to the full extent. An attempt is made in the present study to specify and estimate the factors affecting agricultural exports of India at the commodity level. The major exportable crops used in the study are rice, wheat, tea, coffee, sugar, cotton lint and tobacco. The literature surveyed clearly shows that Indian exports are influenced by a number of factors. A double log-linear regression analysis has been carried out to understand the role of different factors in affecting agricultural exports across commodities from 1980-2010. Examining determinants of agricultural exports at commodity level is critical for proper allocation and effective utilisation of resources.

The findings of the study validate the hypothesis that the impact of various factors on agricultural exports may not be the same for all commodities. The export determination models suggest that agricultural exports of India are affected by a number of demand and supply side factors. In a nutshell, the empirical findings reveal the predominance of factors like lagged export, production and world income in determining agricultural exports of India. For rice and wheat rather than production, stock with the government influences export to a large extent. Because of semi government interventions in cereal market, actively for mandatory PDS, exports are not allowed on regular basis for many tradable commodities like wheat, therefore, much depends on demand and supply. The findings of the study are relevant to design public policies in the external sector.

Keywords: Agricultural Exports, OLS Regression, Determinants, Trade Liberalisation, WTO.

Contribution/Originality: This research paper is one of only few studies that have investigated the determinants of agricultural exports of India at a commodity level. The empirical findings of the study may be used as important inputs for designing agricultural export policies in India. There is fundamental evidence of originality in the work; therefore, its authenticity, credibility and novelty are not in doubt.

1. Introduction

Theorieson international tradesupports that trade plays an important role in the development of a country. Nayyar (1976) examined that international trade leads to development of a country. Balassa (1982) suggested that countries applying outward oriented development strategies had a better performance in terms of exports, economic growth and employment whereas countries with continued inward orientation lead to increasing economic difficulties. Duru and Siyan (2019) argued that exports have potential to boost economic growth. They stressed on the need for diversifications in order to sustain growth strategies.The export-led importance of international trade deals with the proper allocation and efficient use of resources. World Development Reports have also shown that outward-oriented trade policies have been more successful in promoting economic growth compared to inward oriented trade policies. The importance of international trade is also explained at the sectoral level in many studies. In the context of agricultural trade, important literature shows that exports can be of much potential benefit to the rural sector, as it removes the restriction on productive output imposed by the low domestic demand for food. It also provides the economic incentives to establish and improve the infrastructure in the rural areas (Sachdev, 2000). The export opportunity allows the agricultural sector to expand productive capacity to the full extent.

Over the last seven decades of Indian planning and trade policies, the perception about the importance of external trade in economic development has gone through several changes. During the 1950s, the period of First and Second Five-Year plans, foreign trade in agriculture was considered to be almost irrelevant for economic development in India. During the next two decades, i.e., until the mid-1970s, limited export capacity was seen as a constraint on growth and India followed a moderately-outwardlooking economic policy (Bhattacharya, 2004). The external sector was therefore given importance from the early 1980s. India initiated liberalization measures from the mid 1980s but it was only from 1991 that reforms gathered pace. The Uruguay Round Agreements, which came into effect from January, 1995 guickened the process of India's integration with the global economy. Since then, considerable changes have been made in the export-import policy in consonance with the provisions of the WTO. Tariff rates and Non-Tariff Barriers (NTBs) have been reduced for several commodities. Export promotion measures have been initiated through notification of agri-export zones in major states along with a removal of restrictions with respect to licensing and other regulations. Attempts have also been made to reform domestic trade by abolishing and simplifying physical and regulatory measures on private trade under the aegis of price, legislative and institutional measures (Bathla, 2011).

There has been a substantial increase in agricultural exports in the era of economic liberalization. Today India is a major supplier of several agricultural commodities like tea, coffee, rice, spices, cashew, oil meals, fresh fruits, fresh vegetables, meat and its preparations and marine products to the international market. Indian agricultural export basket has also become diversified. India is observed to have exported about three dozen principal agricultural commodities. India has emerged as a leading producer of agricultural commodities, endowed with rich natural resources and favourable soil and climatic conditions. India has huge potentiality in agricultural exports but overall potentiality has not been exploited. However, in the era of trade liberalization, agricultural export has been increasing but share of agricultural exports in total exports has steadily declined over the years. In addition, agricultural exports are quite volatile and there is large year to year fluctuations in export growth. This has damaged India's image as a stable exporter (Bhalla, 2004).

As far as global competitiveness of agricultural commodities is concerned, there are a number of commodities where India has lost market share substantially. These are mainly cashew kernels, fruits and vegetables, pulses, spices, sugar, tea and tobacco. Loss in market shares reflects reduced global competitiveness, which include both price and non-price factors. The country faces fierce competition from other major players in the field, both the existing and new entrants. Ironically, the major challenge is from within Asia itself where countries like China, Malaysia, Philippines, Thailand, Singapore and Indonesia among others pose a big threat to

Indian agricultural products (Shinoj and Mathur, 2008).

Literature suggests that there is buoyancy in the exports of agricultural products in the post-liberalisation era. Although, there is an increase in the absolute quantum of agricultural exports, there is persistent decline in the percentage share of primary products in total export from about 30 per cent in 1980 to about 10 percent in 2010. This indicates a slow rise in agricultural exports in comparison to national exports. Despite considerable increase in agricultural exports, India is still a marginal player in the world agricultural trade. India's share of agricultural exports in world agricultural exports was about 1.20 percent in 1980. In the post-WTO regime, share of agricultural exports in world agricultural exports increased to 1.70 percent in 2010. In the wake of global slowdown and growing protectionism, agricultural exports of India have also declined. Further, weak global demands have further added volatility to the export basket. These issues pose considerable challenges before the government to take necessary steps to augment agricultural exports. In this context, an examination of determinants of agricultural exports at the commodity level is crucial for designing public policies while dealing with challenges of the external sector.

2. Review of Literature

Riedel (1984) emphatically argued that the typical demand function of exports yields biased estimates of the parameters if the supply side variables are not taken into account. Therefore, in the literature, an economic analysis of export performance entails both demand and supply factors to be considered as determining variables in the export function. The important literature on the subject suggests that agricultural exports in India are influenced by multiple factors which vary across the commodities. Kumar and Mittal (1995) examined factors affecting tea exports and found that tea exports are insensitive to price incentives and to changes in the world demand and decrease with increasing share of domestic consumption. Kumar (2004) analysed export performance of Indian fisheries. World export and exchange rate were found to be positively associated with fishery exports of India. Domestic prices have theoretically consistent sign of coefficient. However, world prices do not play an important role in explaining exports of fisheries products from India. Kumar et al. (2007) examined the determinants of livestock exports. Ratio of production to consumption, ratio of world export to world output, exchange rate and removal of quantitative restrictions positively affected livestock have exports. However, relative prices did not play important role in influencing overall livestock exports.

Kumar and Rai (2007) examined determinants of tomato exports of World export and relative India. prices have positive impact on tomato exports. However, domestic production had a negative impact on tomato exports from the country. In this context, the authors put forth the arguments that increase in domestic production had coincided with the increased international production, causing depressed international prices and hence lower exports from India.

Gulati and Kelly (2001) and Bathla (2011) found that exports of agricultural commodities are determined by a host of factors, varying from commodity to commodity. In the case of wheat and rice, production, stock and government policies matter.

Examining determinants of agricultural exports at commodity level is critical for proper allocation and effective utilisation of resources. The present study aims to examine the factors that explain variations in exports of major agricultural commodities.

Objective

To examine the factors that affect exports of major agricultural commodities in India from 1980-2010.

Hypothesis

The impact of various factors on agricultural exports may not be the same for all commodities.

3. Data and Methodology

Geographically, the investigations were carried out at the all-India level and separately for seven important tradable commodities, viz., rice, wheat, tea, coffee, cotton lint, sugar, tobacco. The choice of these crops was determined by their increasing share in external trade. The analysis covered a time span of three decades from 1980-2010, broadly representing the pre-WTO period from 1980-1995 and post-WTO period from 1995-2010.

Data were collected from secondary sources and converted at 2004-2005 prices. Data on agricultural exports and production were taken from Food and Agricultural Oragnisation of the United Nations (FAO) trade database. Data on world income/GDP was taken from World Bank database. Rice and wheat stock data were taken from RBI database on Handbook of Statistics on Indian Economy. The data on domestic and international prices of agricultural commodities were taken from various sources. Domestic wholesale prices have been taken from FAO database. International price data has been taken from World Bank pink sheet database, UNCTAD database and IMF's International Financial Statistics. Real Exchange Rate was calculated from the Report on Currency and Finance, RBI. Wholesale price index for all commodities at 2004-05 prices was extracted from the website of ministry of economic advisor, Government of India.

3.1. Specification of the Model

Exports from any country are influenced by both demand and supply factors. A traditional export demand function at the aggregate level is expressed as X = f(P, Y) where X is export demand, P is relative export price and Y is real income of importing countries. The relative export price is measured as the ratio of home country's export unit value index to a weighted average of competing countries unit value indices, the weights being the relative export shares. The income variable Y is often represented by world demand or world exports to explain export performance. The export function is generally specified in a log-linear form and estimated applying the ordinary least squares (OLS) technique.

To identify the factors that affect agricultural exports, double log-linear regression analysis was carried out in the study. The agricultural export function was specified as follows:

Ln Export = $\beta_0 + \beta_1 Ln$ Export (-1) + $\beta_2 Ln$ Production + $\beta_2 Ln$ WP/DP + $\beta_2 Ln$ REER + $\beta_2 Ln$ World Income + $\beta_2^4 Ln$ Openness +Ei

Where,

Ln Export = Natural logarithm of export of ith commodity in thousand tonnes

Ln Export (-1) = Natural logarithm of export of i^{th} commodity in thousand tonnes (one year lagged)

Ln Production = Natural logarithm of production of ithcommodity in thousand tonnes (one year lagged)

Ln WP/DP = Natural logarithm of ratio of world price to domestic price of ith commodity in rupees per ton at 2004-05 prices

Ln REER = Natural logarithm of real effective exchange rate (REER) at 2004-05 prices

Ln World Income = Natural logarithm of world income in thousand rupees at 2004-05 prices

Ln Openness = Natural logarithm of percentage of domestic agricultural exports to world agricultural exports (values in thousand rupees at 2004-05 prices)

While explaining factors affecting agricultural exports, alternative equations have been tried, also to avoid the problem of multicollinearity. In case of rice and wheat stocks with the government has been taken into consideration.

4. Empirical Results and Discussion

The empirical literature surveyed on export determination model shows that agricultural exports in India are mainly determined by production,

lagged export, relative prices, exchange rate, world export, world income, openness and policy variables like removal of quantitative restrictions. Theoretically, all these variables are expected to have a positive sign. If external price is higher than domestic price i.e., relative price ratio is greater than one and is increasing, it will positively influence the level of exports and hence, bears a positive sign. It also indicates competitiveness of a commodity in the world markets. On the contrary, if external world price is less than the domestic price i.e., the relative price ratio is less than one, then there is no incentive to export and the variable may be insignificant with positive or negative sign (Bathla, 2009). Beside relative price movement, production can also explain exports because with an increase in output more marketable surplus can be utilized for export purposes. Exchange

rate depreciation is expected to increase exports. Economic literature suggests that an increase in the world income also leads to an increase in exports. In addition, sometimes export also depends on its lagged exports. Further, a greater openness of economy through reduction in export barriers is likely to create a positive environment for export growth. The impact of this variable is captured to the positive openness made to world trade, indirectly captured through India's share of agricultural exports in total world agricultural exports. Dummy variable was used to capture differences in agricultural exports during pre and post-WTO periods. However, it was dropped due to errors in estimation.

The determinants of seven major agricultural exports namely rice, wheat, tea, coffee, sugar, cotton and tobacco are provided as follows:

Outcome Variable: Rice Export					
	Equation 1	Equation 2			
Explanatory Variables	Coefficients	Coefficients			
Constant	-1.33	-22.20**			
Export (-1)	0.59***	0.51***			
Govt. Stock (-1)	0.75**	0.67**			
WP/DP	10	0.13			
REER	58				
World Income		0.69*			
R-squared	0.84	0.86			
D-W	2.19	2.20			
Note: ***, ** and * denote 1, 5 an	Note: ***, ** and * denote 1, 5 and 10 percent level of significance respectively.				

Table 1: Determinants of Rice Exports

Table 1 shows that the explanatory variables in the equation 1 and equation 2 could explain 84 percent and 86 percent respectively of the

total variation in the exports of rice. The coefficients for most of variables indicate that different factors influence the exports of rice differently. The export function (equation 1) shows rice exports to be positively influenced by lagged export and lagged stock. These variables bear the expected signs and are statistically significant. Ratio of world price to domestic price and real exchange rate have negative signs, however these are statistically insignificant. Therefore, it could be concluded that real exchange rate and ratio of world price to domestic price have not played any significant role in the exports of rice from India during 1980 to 2010. In equation 2, instead of REER world income was added in the model because of the problem of multicollinearity. The coefficient of the world income is statistically significant. It shows 1 percent increase in world income leads to 0.69 percent increase in rice exports. The coefficients of lagged export and lagged stock are also positive and significant. Ratio of world price to domestic price has positive sign, however insignificant.

Outcome Variable: Wheat Export					
	Equation 1	Equation 2			
Explanatory Variables	Coefficients	Coefficients			
Constant	-10.53	-90.48			
Export (-1)	0.37**	·35 [*]			
Govt. Stock (-1)	2.48**	2.63**			
WP/DP	1.70	3.53			
REER	-2.21				
World Income		2.42			
R-squared	0.27	0.28			
D-W	2.23	2.19			
Note: ** and * denote 5 and 10 p	Note: ** and * denote 5 and 10 percent level of significance respectively.				

Table 2: Determinants of Wheat Exports

In table 2, estimates of equation 1 shows that like rice lagged export and lagged stock are positively and significantly associated with wheat exports. A 1 percent increase in lagged stock leads to 2.48 percent increase in wheat export. Ratio of world price to domestic price does not play any role in affecting wheat export, as the coefficient is insignificant. Because, domestic price of wheat is higher than the world price so increases in world prices do not play important role in increasing wheat export of India. A negative sign of coefficient was expected; however, it is positive but insignificant. Real exchange rate is negative but insignificant. In equation 2 of the model, real exchange rate has been dropped and world income was added, because real exchange rate and world income are highly correlated to each other. The coefficient of world income is positive but insignificant. Lagged export and lagged stock have major role in affecting wheat export of India.

Outcome Variable: Cotton Lint Export					
	Equation 1	Equation 2	Equation 3		
Explanatory Variables	Coefficients	Coefficients	Coefficients		
Constant	-20.49***	-25.19**	-24.20***		
Export (-1)	0.32*	0.33*	0.26		
Production	3.02***	2.17***	3.45***		
WP/DP	.83*				
REER		2.54*			
Openness (share)			1.90**		
R-squared	0.51	0.51	0.56		
D-W	2.15	2.02	2.09		
Note: ***, ** and * denote 1,	Note: ***, ** and * denote 1, 5 and 10 percent level of significance respectively.				

Table 3: Determinants	of Cotton	Lint Exports
-----------------------	-----------	--------------

From table 3 of equation 1 it is obvious that cotton lint export is determined by lagged export, production and ratio of world price to domestic price. All the variables have positive and significant signs of coefficients as expected. In equation 2, real exchange rate was added, which is also positive and significant. It shows that 1 percent increase in exchange rate leads to 2.54 percent increase in cotton lint exports of India. Therefore, exchange rate adjustments have major impact on cotton lint export. In equation 3,

openness was included in the model to see the integration of domestic economy into the world economy. The value of the coefficient is positive and statistically significant. One percent increase in openness leads to 1.90 percent increase in cotton export. This shows economic liberalization and post-WTO agreements have positively affected cotton exports of India. The included explanatory variables could explain 51 percent to 56 percent of the total variation in cotton lint exports.

Outcome Variable: Sugar Export				
	Equation 1	Equation 2	Equation 3	
Explanatory Variables	Coefficients	Coefficients	Coefficients	
Constant	-25.28	-25.39**	0.78	
Export (-1)	0.64***	0.66***	o.68***	
Production	2.12**	2.83**	2.37*	
WP/DP	0.80	0.40	0.60	

Table 4: Determinants of Sugar Exports

REER	1.70		
Openness (share)		1.57	
World Income			75
R-squared	0.47	0.49	0.46
D-W	1.71	1.70	1.72
Note: ***, ** and * denote 1, 5 and 10 percent level of significance respectively.			

Table 4 shows that sugar export mainly depends on lagged export and production as it is visible in the estimates of the equations. Both the variables are positive and statistically significant. Ratio of world price to domestic price is insignificant in all the three equations. A negative or insignificant value of WP/ DP was expected, as is the case, because domestic wholesale prices have been higher than the international prices. Therefore, international prices of sugar do not influence Indian sugar exports. Bathla (2009) analyzed that wholesale price of sugar was higher than the world price from 1980/81 to 1988/89 and then from 1997/98 to 2002-03. Exchange rate and openness also do not seem to affect exports of sugar. World income also does not play any role in influencing sugar export. The value of the coefficient is negative however insignificant. The value of the R-Squared varies between 46 and 49 percent.

Outcome Variable: Tobacco Export			
	Equation 1	Equation 2	Equation 3
Explanatory Variables	Coefficients	Coefficients	Coefficients
Constant	-2.38	70	-31.53***
Export (-1)	0.42***	0.45***	0.26
Production	0.65*	0.64**	0.68***
WP/DP	39***	51***	
REER	0.36		1.79***
Openness (share)		0.28	
World Income			0.80***
R-squared	0.72	0.74	0.75
D-W	2.52	2.59	2.30
Note: ***, ** and * denote 1, 5 and 10 percent level of significance respectively.			

Table 5: Determinants of Tobacco Exports

Results for tobacco are presented in table 5. Equation 1 of the model shows that export of tobacco is determined primarily by lagged export and production. The values of the coefficients are 0.42 and 0.65 respectively. The coefficient of ratio of world price to domestic price is negative. This shows that prices do not play important role in increasing tobacco exports. The possible reason may be that the products like tobacco are price insensitive and demand for such products are inelastic in nature with respect to price. The coefficient of real exchange rate has positive sign but insignificant. The explanatory variables explain 47 percent of variations in tobacco exports.

In equation 2 also relative prices negatively affect domestic tobacco exports. Openness was included in the model. The sign of the coefficient is positive but insignificant. The dependent variables together could explain 74 percent of variation of total tobacco export. In equation 3, real exchange rate positively and significantly affects tobacco exports. It shows 1 percent increase in exchange rate leads to 1.79 percent increase in tobacco exports. Production is an important determinant with expected positive sign of coefficient. World income was included in the model. It shows that Indian tobacco export is very much guided by changes in the world income. The value of the coefficient of world income is positive and significant at 1 percent level. 1 percent increase in world income leads to 0.80 percent increase in Indian tobacco export. The explanatory variables together could explain 75 percent of total variations in tobacco exports.

Outcome Variable: Tea Export			
	Equation 1	Equation 2	
Explanatory Variables	Coefficients	Coefficients	
Constant	22	0.26	
Export (-1)	0.35**	0.36**	
Production	0.51*		
Openness (share)	0.23**		
WP/DP		0.25	
REER		0.27**	
R-squared	0.39	0.38	
D-W	2.08	1.99	
Note: ** and * denote 5 and 10 percent level of significance respectively.			

Table 6: Determinants of Tea Exports

From the statistical evidence furnished in table 4.6 of equation 1, it is quite clear that Indian tea exports are influenced by lagged export, production and openness. A 1 percent increase in production leads to 0.51 percent increase in tea exports. Tea export is positively influenced by openness. The value of the coefficient of openness is 0.23. It is positive and significant at 5 percent level. Given a relatively higher world price of tea than the domestic price, one would expect export to positively respond to price incentives. In equation 2, the analysis reveals elasticity estimate of exports to relative price is positive, however insignificant. Tea export also depends on its lag. The value of the coefficient of lagged export is 0.36, which is significant at 5 percent level. Real exchange rate is another determinant of tea exports. Therefore, exchange rate adjustments have important role to play in determining tea exports. A 1 percent increase in exchange rate leads to 0.27 percent

increase in tea exports of India. The included explanatory variables could

explain around 39 percent of the total variation in the exports tea.

Outcome Variable: Coffee Export			
	Equation 1	Equation 2	Equation 3
Explanatory Variables	Coefficients	Coefficients	Coefficients
Constant	1.36	2.12	-8.67
Export (-1)	0.38***	0.30***	
Production	0.73***	0.65***	0.66***
WP/DP	0.11		0.12
REER	53***	50**	11
Openness (share)		0.07	_
World Income			0.37**
R-squared	0.91	0.90	0.88
D-W	1.97	1.74	1.41
Note: *** and ** denote 1 and 5 percent level of significance respectively.			

Table 7: Determinants of Coffee Exports

Table 7 shows estimates of coffee exports function. Three equations have been specified and estimated. From the estimates of equation it is clear that coffee exports depend on lagged export, production and exchange rate adjustments. A 1 percent increase in production leads to 0.73 percent increase in coffee exports. The sign of coefficient of relative price is positive but insignificant. It shows that relative prices have not played important role in influencing coffee exports. The real exchange rate did not have theoretically correct signs. It shows that 1 percent increase in exchange rate leads to 0.53 percent fall in coffee exports. The possible reasons may be that exchange rate anticipation is quite common. Therefore, the export decisions also depend on possibilities of exchange rate changes in near future. Secondly, other countries in the world have also devalued their currencies frequently in the last three decades, thirdly, frequent occurrence of financial and economic

crisis in the world over. Fourthly, tea has also emerged as an important substitute to coffee and changes in the prices of substitute products have important implications on export decisions. Fifthly, till 1987, India did not import any coffee, however from 1988 onwards India has been continuously importing coffee and it has gone up tremendously in recent years. In this context, Bhalla (2004) found that exchange rate adjustment does not necessarily lead to higher exports. In equation 2, openness is included which is positive however, it does not play important role in influencing coffee exports. The value of the coefficient of world income is positive and significant in equation 3. It shows that a 1 percent increase in world income leads to 0.37 percent increase in domestic exports of coffee. R-squared is quite robust. The included explanatory variables could explain 88 to 91 percent of the total variation in the exports of coffee.

5. Conclusions

An attempt is made in the present study to specify and estimate the factors affecting agricultural exports at a disaggregated level from India. The literature surveyed clearly shows that Indian exports are influenced by a number of factors. A double log-linear regression analysis has been carried out to understand the role of different factors from 1980 to 2010. The major exportable crops used in the model are rice, wheat, tea, coffee, sugar, cotton lint and tobacco. For each commodity, various equations are specified to examine their influence on exports. Alternative equations have been tried in the model mainly to avoid estimation error and multicollinearity.

The estimated equations for rice shows that lagged export lagged stock and world income played a predominant role. In the case of wheat, as India does not export much of wheat and there is wide year to year fluctuations, it is mainly affected by lagged export and lagged stock with the government. Like wheat, sugar export is also influenced mainly by lagged export and production. The estimates of cotton lint reveal that it is affected by a number of factors like lagged export, production, relative prices, openness and exchange rate. However, world income does not play important role in affecting cotton exports. Factors like, lagged export, production, world income and exchange rate affect tobacco export positively and significantly. Tea export is influenced by lagged export, production, openness and exchange rate. In case of coffee, lagged export, production and world income play the dominant role in affecting coffee exports of India and the coefficients have theoretically consistent signs.

Hence, the findings of the study validate the hypotheses that the impact of various factors on agricultural exports may not be the same for all commodities. In a nutshell, the empirical findings reveal the predominance of factors like lagged export, production and world income in determining agricultural exports of India. For rice and wheat rather than production, stock with the government influences export to a large extent. Because of semi government interventions in cereal market, actively for mandatory PDS, exports are not allowed on regular basis for many tradeable commodities like wheat. therefore, much depends on demand and supply.

References

Balassa B (1982). Development Strategies and Economic Performance: A Comparative Analysis of eleven Semi Industrial Economies. *World Bank*, Washington

Bathla S. (2009). Macroeconomic Policies and Agriculture Supply Response in India: A Commodity Level Analysis. *The Indian Economic Journal*, Volume 57 (2)

Bathla S. (2011). Trade Liberalisation and Indian Agriculture. *Rawat Publications*, New Delhi

Bhalla G.S. (2004). State of the Indian Farmer: Globalisation and Indian agriculture. *Ministry of Agriculture*, Government of India, Vol. 19

Bhattacharya, B. (2004). State of the Indian Farmer: Agricultural Exports, *Ministry of Agriculture*, Government of India, Vol. 18 Food and Agricultural Organisation of the United Nations (FAOSTAT): Trade Database

Duru, Innocent U. and Siyan, Peter (2019). Empirical Investigations of Exports And Economic Growth: Evidence from SANE Countries, Asian Development Policy Review, Vol. 7, No. 4, PP. 318-354.

Gulati A. and Kelley T. (2001). Trade Liberalization and Indian Agriculture: Cropping Pattern Changes and Efficiency Gains in Semi-Arid Tropics. Oxford University Press

Kumar, A. (2004). Export performance of Indian Fisheries: Strengths and Challenges ahead. *Economic and Political Weekly*, Vol. 39, No. 38, PP. 4264-4270

Kumar K.T. and Mittal A. (1995). On Liberalising Agricultural Trade: A Note of Caution from India's Experience with Tea Trade. *Economic and Political Weekly* Kumar, N.R. and Rai M. (2007). Performances, Competitiveness and Determinants of Tomato Export from India, *Agricultural Economics Research Review*, Vol. 20, PP. 551-562

Nayyar, D. (1976). India's Exports and Export Policies in 1960s. *Cambridge University Press*

Riedel J, Hall C. and Grawe R. (1984). Determinants of Indian Exports Performance in the 1970s, *Review of World Economics, Weltwirtschaftliches Archive* 120:1, PP.40–63

Sachdev, Santosh (2000). Agricultural Export of India: Lessons from East Asia. *New Century Publications*, New Delhi

Shinoj P. and Mathur, V.C. (2008). Comparative Advantage of Indian Agricultural Exports vis-à-vis Asia: A Post-Reforms Analysis, *Agricultural Economics Research Review*, Vol. 21, pp. 60-66
Variables	Brief Description of Data	Data Sources
Agricultural Exports (All Commodities)	To estimate the determinants of agricultural exports, export quantities taken in thousand tonnes.	Food and Agricultural Oragnisation of the United Nations (FAO) trade database
Agricultural Production	Agricultural production taken in thousand tonnes.	FAO Trade Database
Value of Agricultural Production	Value of agricultural production in thousand rupees	National Accounts Statistics (NAS), India
Wholesale Price Index	Ministry of Economic Advisor, Go	overnment of India.
Government Stock	Rice and Wheat stock in thousand tonnes	Handbook of Statistics on Indian Economy, RBI
World Income/GDP	Converted in thousand rupees	World Bank database
Openness	India's share of agricultural expor exports (values) is taken as a prox	
Real Exchange Rate	Exchange rate is given in Rs/US \$ series is extracted from the Repor RBI. Nominal exchange rate is con using 36-currency basket REER ir method of deflator at 2004-05 bas	t on Currency and Finance, werted in real exchange rate adex prepared by RBI by the
Domestic Prices	Domestic wholesale prices	FAO
Unit Value Index	As a proxy of domestic prices for 7 production value to production q	, , ,
International Prices	Price unit is in rupees per ton at 2	004-05 prices.
Rice, Wheat, Tobacco Unmanufactured	United Nations Conference on Tra (UNCTAD) Statistics.	ade and Development
Tea	International Financial statistics,	IMF Data.
Coffee, Cotton, Sugar	World Bank, The Pink Sheet.	

Annexure A.1: Detailed Data Description and Sources

Note: All the variables are converted at 2004-05 prices.

Acknowledgement: This study is based around a small part of the author's M.Phil. thesis under the able supervision of Professor Seema Bathla at "The Centre for the Study of Regional Development" (CSRD), Jawaharlal Nehru University, New Delhi. The author is grateful to her for providing valuable inputs and guidance.

Personality Traits and Work Engagement: A Case Study on Female Bank Employees in Banking Sector

Esha Bansal

Research Scholar, HP University Business School, Himachal Pradesh University, Summerhill, Shimla

Puneet Bhushan

Assistant Professor, HP University Business School, Himachal Pradesh University, Summerhill, Shimla

Yashwant Gupta

Professor, HP University Business School, Himachal Pradesh University, Summerhill, Shimla India guptayashwantı@gmail.com DoI:10.23862/kiit-parikalpana/2020/v16/i1-2/204557

Abstract

The purpose of the present study is to explore whether there is any qualifying relationship between personality traits and work engagement, also, the level of work engagement and big five personality traits among female employees in Himachal Pradesh. Relevant data through questionnaire was collected from 150 female employees working in 3 different Public sector banks namely State Bank of India, Punjab National Bank and UCO Bank in the state of Himachal Pradesh. The results of the study specified that there was a significant positive relationship between work engagement and big five personality traits. Extraversion, Agreeableness, conscientiousness, and openness were significantly related to work engagement and its dimensions namely vigor, dedication and absorption whereas neuroticism was found to be negatively related to the work engagement and the three dimensions of it. The level of work engagement was high in public sector whereas extraversion, conscientiousness, neuroticism and openness were average except the agreeableness trait of personality was high

Keywords: Personality traits, work engagement, vigor, dedication and absorption

1. Introduction

Organizational agility is continuously looking out for the employees who bubble, sparkle or effervesce with dynamism, enthusiasm, energy, employees who believe in themselves and their abilities Bakker and Schaufeli, (2008). This implies that in order to achieve competitive edge organization need to have engaged employees who are willing to put in that little bit extra for business. Bleeker & Roodt, (2002); Schaufeli & Bakker, (2004) stated the importance for managers of fostering the growth of work engagement as disengagement or alienation is the central problem of workers' lack of commitment. Literature highlighted that research on work engagement has been done in various professions like nursing (Montgomery et al., 2015) police officers (Storm K. & Rothmann S. (2003) & Louw G.J 2014), school principals, teachers (Hakanen et al., (2006); Zaidi et al., 2013 and Manikandan K. & Sarath P (2014), including banking personnel (Koyuncu et al., 2006).

The issues in work engagement among banking personnel specially the female employees has received important responses these days because of the economic pressure of inflation, the acts upon of other women's movement and the psychological need to spring up one's self identity.. This brings us to a very important question as to why certain female employees show signs of work engagement while others exhibit no signs of work engagement. Personality plays a significant role in the engagement process and it can be considered as an important variable to affect the engagement level because individuals enter the workplace with their own sets of personality characteristics. Therefore, it becomes important to study the relationship between personality traits and work engagement.

1.1 Work Engagement

Engagement is an important concept to study and analyze because it is associated with the positive individual and work related outcome as focussed by Maslach et al., (2001). Engaged employees confirm themselves quickly to changes in their surroundings, and pass easily from one activity to the other as compared to their counterparts Laangelaan et al., (2006). It is defined as a "positive, fulfilling work related state of mind that is characterised by vigor, dedication and absorption" (Schaufeli, Salanova, Gonzalez-Roma & Bakker, 2002, p. 74). Vigor pertains to high levels of vim, dynamism, zip and mental exuberance while actively engaged in work. Vigor perhaps, is delineated as a pool of energy possessed by the employees and that could be used when dealing with demanding and stimulating situations (Shirom 2007 p. 86). Dedication refers to an intense work involvement and comprehends feeling of self-respect and personal worth, pride, enthusiasm, significance and challenge. Absorption, which is the last variable of work engagement is characterised as being totally focused on one's work as the time appears to pass quickly and one finds it increasingly hard to detach oneself from work. In short, engaged employees work hard; they are passionate about their work; and are fully plunged in their work activities (Bakker and Demerouti, 2008).

1.1.2 Personality Traits

Personality refers to cognition and perceptual structure of behaviour that depicts constancy or stability throughout time and across situations (e.g. Cattell 1965)

Extraversion is a personality trait, which is characterized by warmth, assertiveness, gregariousness, talkative, enthusiastic, active, energetic, expressive etc. (Costa & McCrae, 1992). This variable consists of two components, Ambition (initiative, surgency, ambition and impetuous) and Sociability (social, exhibitionist and expressive) (Hogan 1986).

Neuroticism represents individual differences indicating general tendency to be anxious, tense, hostile, impulsive, vulnerable, self-consciousness etc. (Costa & McCrae, 1992). Any individual who scores high on Neuroticism indicates that a person is prone to have irrational ideas, being less able to control impulses, and is grappling badly with stress Rothmann et al., (2003).

Agreeableness is the propensity to be sympathetic, kind, generous, modest, compliant, altruism, considerate etc. (Costa & McCrae, 1992). Agreeableness is required to work in peace and to conclusively settle the conflicts. (Ozgur Ongore, 2014).

individuals Conscientiousness are efficient, responsible, self-disciplined, compliant, organized, and reliable (Costa & McCrae, 1992). Hence, individuals who scores high on conscientiousness should report more engagement in their work due to their sense of duty towards every role they take on. Openness to Experience is qualified by being artistic, introspective, and curious and values and intellectual matters. (Costa & McCrae, 1992). It includes traits such as imagination, curiosity, and creativity (Goldberg, 1993).

2. Literature

2.1 Work Engagement: Several research studies have been conducted by

various research groups who provided thorough insight for understanding work engagement in conceptual terms.

Enumerate research has been done to examined the potential antecedents and consequences of work engagement Koyuncu et al., (2006), Oliver (2007) and Burke et al., (2010 & 2013. Only one variable of work engagement i.e. vigor has been focussed by Shirom (2004, 2010), Sonnentag et al., (2008). Someone who's suffering from burnout have less mitigating resources like social support than those who execute their duties vigorously Geritt J. Louw G.J. (2014). The creativity and charisma among female leaders and the role of resources and work engagement among 84 female school principals and 190 teachers were examined by Bakker et al., (2013).Job resources facilitate employees' sense of self-efficacy and resiliency, and consequently foster work engagement Bakker et al., (2013).

2.2 Big Five Personality Traits:

Managers who are emotionally stable, open to experience and agreeable tend to perform better than those who measured lower on these dimensions Rothmann et al., (2003). Bakker et al., (2006), examined the relationship betweenburnoutandbigfivepersonality traits: extraversion, agreeableness, conscientiousness, emotional stability, and intellect/autonomy whereas openness to experience was not included in the study. A large number of studies have been done on personality traits and burnout Kim et al., (2007); Kaja et al., (2015); Alarcon et al., (2009); Zellar (2000); Joseph et al., (2011). The relationship among conscientiousness, neuroticism and burnout in healthcare staff of private hospitals was examined, leaving out the remaining three personality traits (extraversion, agreeableness, openness to experience) which was not included in the study Azeem S. M. (2013).

2.3 Work Engagement and Personality traits:

Ongore (2014) investigated the relationship between personality traits and job engagement. Rantanen (2008) explored the relations between personality, role engagement and four dimensional typology of work life balance. Woods et al., (2013) examined the association of personality traits with work engagement. Relevance of the variables of big five taxonomy when studied in relation with engagement is vet to be determined.

For Instance Langelaan et al., (2006) considered only two of those whereas for Kim et al., (2009) considered conscientiousness to be significant.

Inceoglu & Warr (2011). Langelaan et al., (2006) studied whether burnout and work engagement could have been differentiated based on Eysenck's two-dimensional model of personality which included extraversion and neuroticism whereas agreeableness, conscientiousness and openness to experience have not been included. Kim et al., (2009) focused on the relationship between job burnout, job engagement and the big five personality dimensions, which included Extraversion, Agreeableness, Conscientiousness, Neuroticism and openness to experience. Bozionelos (2004) explored the relationship between the big five personality and work involvement. Individuals suffering from burnout have less mitigating resources like social support that those who execute their duties vigorously (Louw G J. 2014).

Neha &Venkatesh (2015) investigated the relationship between personality and work engagement. The interactive effect of personality and employee engagement on organizational citizenship behavior has been investigated.

3. Objectives

- 1. To measure the level of work engagement and personality trait among women employees in banking sector.
- 2. To find out the relationship between personality traits and work engagemen

3.1 Hypothesis

Ho1: There is no relationship between work engagement and extraversion.

Ho2: There is no relationship between work engagement and neuroticism.

Ho3: There is no relationship between work engagement and agreeableness.

Ho4: There is no relationship between work engagement and conscientiousness.

Ho5: There is no relationship between work engagement and openness to experience.

4. Method

4.1 Respondents

A survey was conducted to collect the data from 150 female employees working in three different public sector banks in the state of Himachal Pradesh namely State Bank of India, Punjab National Bank and UCO bank. The respondents were given standard based questionnaires comprising questions related to personality traits and work engagement.

4.3 Measures:

Respondents filled out the questionnaires containing statements related to work engagement and big five personality traits respectively. Work Engagement was assessed with the validated 17-item Utrecht Work Engagement Scale (UWES), whereas the big five personality traits was evaluated with the Big five Inventory (BFI). The scale characterizes big five personality traits i.e. Extraversion, Agreeableness, conscientiousness, neuroticism and openness to experience, it included total of 44 statements. Demographic attributes such as name, age, marital status, job experience, designation, salary and total work experience were measured in the first section of the questionnaire.

4.3 Cronbach's alpha: To measure the validity and reliability of the variables of work engagement cronbach's alpha were used. The cronbach's alpha for work engagement and big five personality traits lies between $\alpha = .84$ to .61

4.4 Statistical analysis:

Firstly, mean and standard deviation were calculated for work engagement and personality. These measurement tools helped in finding the level of the work engagement and its three dimensions namely vigor, dedication and absorption, and also of the big five personality traits namely extraversion, agreeableness, conscientiousness, neuroticism and openness. Further, Pearson correlation method was used to explore the relationship between the work engagement and its three variables namely vigor, dedication and absorption with the big five personality traits.

5. Results:

Results of the present study suggest that five factor model can be used as an important tool to find out the levels of work engagement. The hypotheses were tested with the help of bivariate correlation method.

5.1 Descriptive statistics

Table 1 depicts the descriptive statistics vigor, dedication, of absorption, work engagement, extraversion. agreeableness, conscientiousness, neuroticism, openness and personality traits of women employees of public banks. The above table explicit that for public banks, average value of vigor is 22.75 with standard deviation 3.92, average value of dedication is 20.64 with standard deviation 3.68 and average value of absorption is 23.63 with standard deviation 3.78. Whereas mean of work engagement for public banks is 67.02 with standard deviation 10.10. While for public banks, average value of extraversion is 28.07 with standard deviation 4.60, average value of agreeableness is 36.58 with standard deviation 4.21, average value of conscientiousness is 35.83 with standard deviation 5.33, average value of neuroticism is 20.24 with standard deviation 5.63 and average value of openness is 38.97 with standard deviation 4.36.

However, mean and standard deviation of personality traits for public banks are 159.69 and 11.57, respectively. Table 2 depicts the descriptive statistics giving information about level of work engagement, personality traits and its variables among women employees of public banks. From table 2, we can conclude that majority of women employees of private banks i.e. 35.3%, are highly vigorous. Similarly, majority of 41.3% women employees of public banks are highly dedicated. Whereas 37.3% women employees of public banks, averagely absorbed in their work in banking sector and 36.7% women employees had high level of work engagement in banking sector. However level of extraversion in banking sector is average, according to 42.7% women employees of public banks. According to 35.3% women employees their level of agreeableness in banking sector is high. Although according to 37.3% women employees of public banks their level of conscientiousness in banking sector is average. Similarly, level of neuroticism in banking sector is average; according to majority of 36.7% women employees. Likewise, according to majority of 42.7% women employees of public banks, level of openness in banking sector is average. Level of personality traits in banking sector is average; according to majority of 36% women employees of public banks. Thus, it implies that overall level of work engagement is high and personality traits in public sector bank are average.

5.2 Hypothesis Testing: Correlation between Personality Traits and Work Engagement: The Pearson correlation method is used to find out the correlation between the work engagement and the various personality traits using SPSS statistics 23.

5.2.1 Work engagement and Extraversion.

The above table signifies the correlation values between the variables of work engagement (vigor, dedication, and absorption) with one of the variable of big five personality traits namely extraversion of public sector banks. Vigor is significantly positively correlated with dedication, absorption, work engagement and extraversion with coefficient of correlation 0.746, 0.680, 0.914 and 0.395, respectively i.e. (p<0.001). Similarly, dedication has positive relationship with absorption (0.621, p<0.001), work engagement (0.886, p<0.001) and extraversion (0.425, p<0.001).

There is a significant positive relationship between extraversion and work engagement with correlation coefficient 0.447, p<0.001). Absorption is positively correlated with extraversion and work engagement as the correlation of coefficient is found to be 0.864 and 0.373, respectively i.e. (p<0.001).

5.2.2 Work engagement and agreeableness.

The correlation values between the variables of vigor, dedication, absorption, work engagement and agreeableness of public banks. Agreeableness is positively correlated with vigor (0.368, p<0.001), dedication (0.260, p<0.001), absorption (0.398, p<0.001)p<0.001) and work engagement (0.386, p<0.001). Absorption had a significant positive relation with both dedication and vigor as their coefficient of correlations was found to be 0.621 and 0.680 respectively i.e. (p<0.001). There is a significant positive relationship between dedication and vigor with correlation coefficient 0.746, p<0.001).

However work engagement is positively correlated with vigor, dedication and absorption with coefficient of correlation 0.914, 0.886 and 0.864, respectively i.e. (p<0.001).

5.2.3 Work engagement and conscientiousness.

The correlation values between the variables of vigor, dedication, absorption, workout engagement and conscientiousnessof public banks. Vigor is significantly positively correlated with dedication, absorption, work engagement and conscientiousness with coefficient of correlation 0.746, 0.680, 0.914 and 0.369, respectively i.e. (p<0.001). Similarly, dedication has positive relationship with absorption (0.621, p<0.001), work engagement (0.886, p<0.001) and conscientiousness (0.363, p<0.001). There is a significant positive relationship between conscientiousness work and engagement with correlation coefficient 0.400, p<0.001). Absorption is positively correlated with conscientiousness and work engagement as the correlation coefficient is 0.335 and 0.864, respectively i.e. (p<0.001).

Work engagement and Neuroticism.

The correlation values between the variables of vigor, dedication, absorption, work engagement and neuroticism of public banks. Neuroticism has negative relationship vigor (-0.342), dedication with absorption (-0.215) and (-0.303),work engagement (-0.323). On the contrary work engagement has a significant positive correlation with vigor, dedication and absorption with coefficient of correlation 0.914, 0.886 and 0.864, respectively. There is a significant positive relationship between dedication and vigor with correlation coefficient 0.746. Absorption has significantly positive relationship with dedication and vigor with coefficient of correlation 0.621 and 0.680, respectively.

5.2.4 Work Engagement and Openness to experience.

The correlation values between the variables of vigor, dedication, workout absorption, engagement and openness of public banks. Vigor is significantly positively correlated with dedication, absorption, work engagement and openness with coefficient of correlation 0.746, 0.680, 0.914 and 0.385, respectively i.e. (p<0.001). Similarly, dedication relationship has positive with absorption (0.621, p<0.001), work engagement (0.886) and openness (0.389). There is a significant positive relationship between openness and work engagement with correlation coefficient 0.424, p<0.001). Absorption is positively correlated with openness and work engagement as correlation 0.864. coefficient is 0.355 and respectively i.e. (p<0.001).

5.2.5 Work Engagement and Personality Traits.

The correlation values between the variables of vigor, dedication, absorption, workout engagement and personality traits of public banks are presented by table 3. Personality traits had a positive relationship with vigor (0.439, p<0.001), dedication (0.430, p<0.001), absorption (0.476, p<0.001) and work engagement (0.505, p<0.001). Likewise Absorption is significantly positively correlated with dedication and vigor with coefficient of correlation 0.621 and o.68o, respectively i.e. (p<0.001). Work engagement has positive relationship with vigor, dedication and absorption with coefficient of correlation 0.914, o.886 and 0.864, respectively i.e. (p<0.001). There is a significant positive relationship between dedication and vigor with correlation coefficient 0.746, p<0.001).

Conclusion:

The present study was conducted in banking sector which is one of the emerging and an impressive sector for the youth of country especially the females but the tremendous change in the sector has developed a need to study work engagement and the role played by the big five personality traits. The result of the present study suggests that there is a significant positive relation between work engagement and big five personality traits. The level of work engagement was found to be high in the banking sector which implies that the female employees working in this sector are satisfied with their job and are fully vigorous, dedicated and are absorbed. Though the level of personality traits were average but agreeableness was found to be high which implies that the respondents are more motivated and positive towards resolving the conflicts. Thus, the present study may help in future reviews and this study in other institutes need to be done.

References

Alarcon G, Eschleman KJ, Bowling NA. 2009. Relationships between personality variables and burnout: a meta-analysis. Work Stress 23 (3):244–263.

Azeem S. M. (2007). Conscientiousness, Neuroticism and Burnout among Healthcare Employees. International Journal of Academic Research in Business and Social Sciences. 3(7)1-11.

Bakker A.B and Demerouti E. (2008). Towards a model of work engagement. Career Development International. 13 (3): 209-223.

Bakker A.B, Zee K.I, Lewig K.A and Dollard M.F. (2006). The Relationship between the Big Five Personality Factors and Burnout: A study Among Volunteer Counselors. The Journal of Social Psychology. 146(1): 31-50.

Bakker, A.B., and Schaufeli, W.B. (2008), "Positive organizational behaviour: engaged employees in flourishing organizations", Journal of Organizational Behavior, Vol. 29, pp. 147-54.

Bakker AB, Xanthopoulou D. 2013. Creativity and charisma among female leaders: the role of resources andwork engagement. Int. J. Hum. Resour. Manag. 24:2760–79.

Barrick M.R and Mount M.K. (1991). The big five personality dimensions and Job Performance: A Meta-Analysis. Personnel Psychology. 44 (1): 1-26.

Bleeker, M. M. E., & Roodt, G. (2002). Die verband tussen werkbetrokkenheid en werkprestasie. SA Journal of Industrial Psychology, 28(1), 22-32.

Bozionelos N. (2004). The big five of personality and work involvement. Journal of Managerial Psychology. 19 (1) : 69-81.

Burke, R. J., & El-Kot, G. (2010). Work engagement among managers and professionals in Egypt: Potential antecedents and consequences. African Journal of Economic and Management Studies, 1(1), 42-60. Burke, R. J., Koyuncu, M., Fiksenbaum, L., & Tekin, Y. (2013). Antecedents and consequences of work engagement among frontline employees in Turkish hotels. Journal of Transnational Management, 18(3), 191-203.

Cattell, R. B. 1965. The Scientific Analysis of Personality. London: Penguin

Chughtai A. A and Buckley F, (2011). Work engagement antecedents, the mediating role of learning goal orientation and job performance. Career Development International, 16(7) 684 -705.

Costa, P.T., Jr., & McCrae, R.R. (1992). Normal personality assessment in clinical practice: The NEO Personality Inventory. Psychological Assessment. 4, 5-13.

Goldberg, L. R. (1993). The structure of phenotypic personality traits. American Psychologist, 48, 26-34.

Hogan, R. 1986. Hogan Personality Inventory. Minneapolis, MN: National Computer System.

Inceoglu, I., & Warr, P. (2011). Personality and job engagement. Journal of Personnel.

John, O. P., & Srivastava, S. (1999). The Big Five trait taxonomy: History, measurement, and theoretical perspectives. In L. A. Pervin, & O. P. John (Eds.), Handbook of personality: Theory and research (pp.102–138). New York: Guilford Press.

Joseph, E.N, Luyten P., Corveleyn J. &witte H.D. (2011). The Relationship between Personality, Burnout, and Engagement among the Indian Clergy. The International Journal for the Psychology of Religion, 21:276–288. Kaja J. M., Golonka K., Marek T. (2015). Job Burnout and Engagement among teachers- work life areas and personality traits as predictors of relationships at work. International Journal of Occupational Medicine and Environmental Health. 28 (1): 102-119.

Karatepe, O.M, Aga M. (2012) Work Engagement as a mediator of the effects of Personality traits on job Outcomes: A Study of Frontline Employees. Services Marketing Quarterly. 33: 343-363.

Kim H.J, Shin K.H, Swanger N. (2009) Burnout and engagement: A comparative analysis using the Big Five personality dimensions. International Journal of Hospitality Management 28: 96–104.

Kim H.J, Shin K.H, Umbreit W.T. (2007) Hotel job burnout: The role of personality characteristics .International Journal of Hospitality Management. 26:421-434.

Koyuncu M, Burke R.J, Fiksenbaum L. (2006) Work engagement among women managers and professionals in a Turkish Bank. Equal Opportunities Internationals.25 (4): 299-310.

Langelaan, S., Bakker, A.B., Doornen, L.J.P., and Schaufeli, W.B. (2006). Burnout and work engagement: Do individual differences make a difference? Personality and Individual Differences. 40:521-532.

Louw J. G. (2014). Burnout, vigour, big five personality traits and social support in a sample of police officers. SA Journal of Industrial Psychology, 40 (1), 1-13.

Maslach, C., Schaufeli, W.B., & Leiter, M.P. (2001). Job Burnout. Annual Review of Psychology, 52, 397–422. Montgomery, A., Spânu, F., Băban, A., & Panagopoulou, E. (2015). Job demands, burnout, and engagement among nurses: A multi-level analysis of ORCAB data investigating the moderating effect of teamwork. Burnout research, 2(2-3), 71-79.

Neha A, Ventatesh K.G. (2015) Work Engagement and Personality. Indian Journal of Applied Research. 5(11): 1-5.

Olivier, A.L, Rothmann, S. (2007). Antecedents of Work Engagement in a Multinational Oil Company. SA Journal of Industrial Psychology33 (3): 49-56.

Ongore, O. (2014). A study of relationship between Personality Traits and Job engagement. Procedia - Social and Behavioral Sciences 141:1315-1319Psychology, 10 (4): 177–181.

Rantanen, J., Kinnunen, U., and Pulkkinen, L. (2008). The role of personality and role engagement in work-family balance. Horizons of Psychology. 22: 14-26.

Rothmann, S., Coetzer E. P. (2003). The Big Five personality Dimensions and Job performance. SA Journal of Industrial Psychology. 29(1): 68-74.

Sarath, P., & Manikandan, K. (2014). Work engagement and Work related wellbeing of School teachers. Selp Journal of Social Science, 5(22), 93-100.

Schaufeli, W. B. & Bakker, A. B. (2004). Job demands, job esources and their relationship with burnout and engagement: A multi-sample study. Journal of Organisational Behaviour, 25, 293–315.

Schaufeli, W. B., Salanova, M., Gonza' lez-Roma', V., & Bakker, A. B. (2002). The measurement of engagement and burnout: A two sample confirmatory factor analytic approach. Journal of Happiness Studies, 3, 71–92.

Shirom, A. (2004). Feeling vigorous at work? The construct of vigor and the study of positive affect inorganizations. In D. Ganster & P. L. Perrewe (Eds.), Research in organizational stress and well-being (Vol.3, pp. 135–165). Greenwich, CT: JAI Press.

Shirom A. (2007). Explaining vigor: On the antecedents and consequences of vigor as a positive affect at work. Positive organizational behaviour. 86-100.

Shirom, A. (2010). Feeling energetic at work: On vigor's antecedents1, 2. Work engagement: A handbook of essential theory and research, 69.

Sonnentag, S.and Niessen, C. (2008). Staying vigorous until work is over: The role of trait vigour, day-specific work experiences and recovery. Journal of occupational and Organizational Psychology. 81: 435-458.

Storm, K., & Rothmann, S. (2003). A psychometric analysis of the Utrecht Work Engagement Scale in the South African police service. SA Journal of Industrial Psychology, 29(4), 62-70.

Sulea, C., Virga, D., Maricutoiu, L.P, Schaufeli, W., Dumitru, C. Z., and Sava, F.A. (2012). Work engagement as mediator between job characteristics and positive and negative extrarole behaviors. Career Development International. 17: 188-207.

Wolff, H. G and Kim, S. (2011). The relationship between networking and the big five personality dimension. Career Development International. 17(1): 43-66.

Woods, S. A, Sofat, J.A. (2013) Personality and engagement at work: the mediating role of psychological meaningfulness. Journal of Applied Social Psychology. 43: 2203-2210.

Yalabik, Z.Y, Popaitoon P, Chowne J.A and Rayton B. A. (2013). Work engagement as a mediator between attitudes and outcomes. The International Journal of Human Resource Management.

Zaidi, N.R, Wajid R.A, Zaidi F.B, Zaidi G.B, Zaidi M.T. (2013).The big five personality traits and their relationship with work engagement among public sector university teachers of Lahore. African Journal of Business Management. 7(15): 1344-1353.

Zellars, K.L., Perrewé, P.L., & Hochwater, W.A. (2000). Burnout in health care: The role of the five factors of personality. Journal of Applied Social Psychology, 30(8):1570–1598.

	N	Mean	Std. Deviation	Minimum	Maximum
Vigor	150	22.75	3.92	12.00	30.00
Dedication	150	20.64	3.68	10.00	25.00
Absorption	150	23.63	3.78	13.00	30.00
Work Engagement	150	67.02	10.10	38.00	85.00
Extraversion	150	28.07	4.60	16.00	39.00
Agreeableness	150	36.58	4.21	25.00	45.00
Conscientiousness	150	35.83	5.33	14.00	45.00
Neuroticism	150	20.24	5.63	8.00	34.00
Openness	150	38.97	4.36	29.00	50.00
Personality Traits	150	159.69	11.57	129.00	184.00

Table 1: Mean and Standard Deviation

Table 2: Level of Work Engagement & Personality Traits

Variable	s	Frequency	Percentage	Normal Range
Vigor	Low	45	30.0%	Below 20
	Average	52	34.7%	21-22
	High	53	35.3%	Above 23
Dedication	Low	41	27.3%	Below 19
	Average	47	31.3%	20-21
	High	62	41.3%	Above 22
Absorption	Low	43	28.7%	Below 22
	Average	56	37.3%	23-25
	High	51	34.0%	Above 26
Work Engagement	Low	46	30.7%	Below 62
	Average	49	32.7%	63-71
	High	55	36.7%	Above 72

Extraversion	Low	41	27.3%	Below 26
	Average	64	42.7%	27-29
	High	45	30.0%	Above 30
Agreeableness	Low	49	32.7%	Below 34
	Average	48	32.0%	35-38
	High	53	35.3%	Above 39
Conscientiousness	Low	46	30.7%	Below 33
	Average	56	37.3%	34-37
	High	48	32.0%	Above 38
Neuroticism	Low	52	34.7%	Below 17
	Average	55	36.7%	18-22
	High	43	28.7%	Above 23
Openness	Low	42	28.0%	Below 37
	Average	64	42.7%	38-41
	High	44	29.3%	Above 41
Personality Traits	Low	47	31.3%	Below 154
	Average	54	36.0%	155-161
	High	49	32.7%	Above 162

Table 3: Correlation between Work Engagement & Personality Traits

	Vigor	Dedication	Absorption	Work engagement	Extraversion	Agreeableness	Conscientiousness	Neuroticism	Openness	Personality
Vigor	1	.746**	.680**	.914**	·395 ^{**}	.368**	.369**	342***	.385**	·439 ^{**}
Dedication		1	.621**	.886**	.425**	.260**	.363**	303**	.389**	.430**
Absorption			1	.864**	·373 ^{**}	.398**	·335 ^{**}	215***	·355 ^{**}	.476**
Work engagement				1	·447 ^{**}	.386**	.400**	323**	.424**	.505**
Extraversion					1	.266**	.461**	475 ^{**}	.306**	.591**
Agreeableness						1	.560**	295**	.346**	.714**
Conscientiousness							1	593**	.405**	.711**
Neuroticism								1	238**	172 [*]
Openness									1	.695"
Personality		1		1 (1						1

*. Correlation is significant at the 0.05 level (2-tailed).

**. Correlation is significant at the 0.01 level (2-tailed).

Socio-Demographic Factor and Selected Buying Behavioral Attributes of Purchasing Convenience Food: Multiple Correspondence Analyses to Explore the Relationship

Shantanu Raj* and B.B Mishra Dept. of Business Administration, Utkal University 1st & corresponding author^{*}: Email: shantanurajo22@gmail.com DoI:10.23862/kiit-parikalpana/2020/v16/i1-2/204559

Abstract

The objective of the study is to establish the relationship between socio demographic factors and buying behavior attributes towards convenience food. The present study is cross sectional in nature. Correspondence analysis method has been used to explore the relationship between socio-demographic factor and attribute associated with packaged food buying behavior. The correspondence analysis helps in evaluating the consumer preference of numerous qualitative parameters. The socio- demographic characteristics includes education, occupation, household size, age and income. The study was conducted in Bhubaneswar and the primary data was extracted from 711 respondents. The data is nominal in nature. The respondents are student, service people, businessmen and few housewives. The entire data was collected through Google form. The results of correspondence analysis suggest that there is significant relationship between socio-demographic factor and food preference attributes towards convenience food depicted through correspondence map. The young and less educated people prefer taste n flavor, variants, convenience, affordability, quick preparation and higher shelf life in packaged food item. On the contrary people with high age and in high income bracket prefer healthiness, food safety and strictly observe food labeling while purchasing. Such people prefer home cooked meal.

Keywords: Convenience food, Multiple Correspondence analysis, buying behavior, Socio-demographic, Active margin

1. Introduction to Convenience food

The convenience food was first coined in the 1950 by Charles Mortimer, president and CEO of General food. It refers to foods that were easy to buy. store, open, prepare and eat (Moss 2013). Some researcher defined the term by the amount of preparation outsourced to food processor (Harrison, 1997), while others focus on different methods of processing (Parks & Capps 1997; Costa et al, 2001). They have categorized the convenience food into four groups with non ready to eat required more effort to cook, restaurant meal being a little more convenience but not as convenient as ready to eat or fast food (Iiya Rahkovsky, Young Jo & Andrea Carlson, 2018). The ready to eat defined as food that can be consumed cold, at room temperature or heated in microwave. RTE food does not include food that required a sharp knife to prepare. This definition can also be combined with Okrent & Kumcu (2016) ready to eat (e.g. canned fruits, yogurt, soda, candy etc) and ready to cook (e.g. frozen meals & instant mix) and ready to serve categories (e.g. beverage, juice). The convenience food are fully prepared or partially prepared food item, where some of the culinary skill get transferred to food processor (Capps, Tedford & Havlicek, 1983). Forbairt (1998) defined them as product undergone into secondary processing including ready to eat, processed meat, pizza pie, savoury product, ice-cream & confectionary product, desserts, soup & other prepared consumer ready products. According to Traub & Odland (1979) convenience food are fully or partially prepared processed food in which a great deal of work, time, energy & culinary skills transferred from the home kitchen to the processor. The manufacturer & marketers added certain convenience features to the food which have not been added at home by home makers. Paulus (1978) clearly categorized the food into five phase 1) ready to process 2) ready to kitchen process 3) ready to cook food 4) ready to heat 5) ready to eat foods. Some study also segregated convenience foods into five different categories are canned, ambient, frozen, chilled & dry (Newman, Henchion & Mathews, 2001). Convenience food also called as processed food where high level of culinary preparation help to save time & effort compared to less processed product (Makala 2013; Babiez- Zielinska 2011). Convenience food along with genetically modified food, organic food, ethnic food and functional/fortified food belongs to the category denominated as novel food (Dabrowska, Babicz-Zielinska, 2011). They categorized convenience food into three groups

- a) Traditional food- Meals prepared from fresh product that is already prepared (e.g, pre-packaged salad ingredient).
- b) Semi- Convenience food- Prepared from pre processed product (Delight chicken of Reliance brand)
- c) Convenience food ready to eat, ready to cook and ready to serve and it also include food taken in restaurant, pub and fast food outlet (Soup, noodles, chips & snacks, fruit juice, desserts etc).

Martine de Boer et al (2004) argue that convenience food encapsulate all product undergone into secondary & terrtiary processing including readymade meal, processed meat, pizzas, soups etc. These food products obtained as a result of processed raw material through sophisticated technologies practices. According to KS Premavalli (2000) convenience are a class of foods which impart convenience to the consumer by way of little or no requirement of major processing or cooking before their consumption. It requires minimum handling, mild heating, warming for ready to eat or rehydration in hot and cold water for dehydrated foods. The complexity of convenience food depends upon composition, shape, size and degree of processing. The additional features of convenience food include other features like shelf life, good quality, reduction in weight, availability. The study classified convenience food are classified into two groups

- a) Ready to eat The Convenience form of processed food under ready to eat. It has generally the shelf life of one year and can be extended to 3-4 months by the adding of antioxidants. The fried products have the shelf life of 1 to 2 days and undergo into microbial spoilage due to the high moisture in the product e.g. chips, wafers, snacks, soups desserts etc
- b) Ready to cook It is generally in dry form need to mix with water before consumption. These are pre cooked & dehydrated foods which need rehydration later to bring them into cooked forms, ready to be eaten e.g. instant mix, juice etc.

The convenience food not only saves time, energy and effort but also defined by degree of processing. Thus in this study the convenience food are taken in terms of the degree of processing hence includes ready to eat, ready to cook and ready to serve.

2. Socio-Demographic influence on Convenience food

Sociological influences on food choice or eating behavior are important. The notion of social influence on human's food choice behavior suggests such behavior is a collective characteristic of society, the expression of culture and religion, or the influence from family members and peers (M. Nestle et al., 1998; Patricia Pliner & Mann, 2004; Rozin, Fallon, & Mandell, 1984). For example, family play an important role of developing human's eating pattern as it is a basic part of the social environment (Taylor, Evers. McKenna, 2005). Other peoples eating behavior can influence our dieting preference and food choice (Birch, 1980). Food choice behavior and food consumption may also be influenced by other social attributes such as gender, age, educational level, and income (Ares & Gámbaro, 2007; Verbeke & Lopez, 2005). As a result, researchers have found out how differences in attitudes toward food and purchase intention are related to sociodemographics. One study reveals there are significant differences in attitude towards fruit consumption depending on the participant's gender and age. This study also concluded that age and gender also have significant effects on the consumption of sweets, chocolate, fruit, and chips (Dennison & Shepherd, 1995). Another study investigated customers' attitudes toward organic food and revealed that educational levels affect buying behavior (Maria, Anne, Ulla- Kaisa Koivisto, Lars, & PerOlow, 2001). However, Grogan, Bell, and Conner (1997) claimed that there was not a significant difference in sweet snacks consumption behavior between genders. Further, Meulenberg and Viaene (1998) corroborated that there was not a strong correlation between education and food consumption behavior. Some studies suggested that the important attributes which trigger the demand of convenience food are a) Individualistic lifestyle b) increase in disposable income led to higher expenditure on time saving and effort less food products c) women active participation in labor market (Senaver, Asp & Kinsey 1998; Newman, Henchion The Mathews 2001). 8 socio demographic attributes plays very vital role in food choices. The age, gender, income and occupation impact the buying behavior. The actual proliferation of dual income family spurred the demand of convenience food apart from taste, lifestyle, modernization etc (Ahuja 2011). The gender plays very important role in food choices. The male and female have different perception, motive, cognitive ability and consideration which make them totally different (Hernandez et al 2011). Previously shopping was generally done by female consumers which have been changed now. Currently male are also actively engaged in food purchasing (Otnes and Mc grath 2001; Buttle 1992). The behavior of the people changes with age. Young people tend to consume more convenience food than older people. For young they seek fun, pleasure and taste in food item but for mature people seek health benefits in food item. In the previous study it has been found that female consumers with age 30-45 having children and high income are willing to spend on quality food item (Chambers et al 2008, Dettmann and Dimitri 2009). Young people splurge on more lifestyle food item than aged people. In some studies it was found that aged people prefer less energy dense food like sweets and fast food and consume more value added food product which is made up of like vegetables and fruits etc (Drewnowski and Shultz 2001). An aging population in Great Britain and decrease in average household size triggers the demand of smaller packaged food items (IGD, 2001). The people who live alone often require such packaged foods that require very minimal clearing time hence time is imperative attributes for very convenience food definition (IGD 1998). The impact of psycho-social, sociodemographic, lifestyle, nutritional knowledge, employment status, marital status and indeed the stages of life cycle are some of the plausible attributes which impact the growth of convenience food (Veenma et al 1995). Occupation of male and female plays major role in buying food item. The choice behavior of the people is based on occupation. Housewife, service holder, businessmen and people engaged in different profession have different opinion towards food item. The surging demand of convenience food is mainly due to the women actively participating in labor market (Ahuja 2011). The demand of packaged food item growing at the break neck speed due to changes in socio- economic patterns, increase in urbanization, buying power & awareness about health food, changes in meal pattern and desire to taste new food (Manohar 2005). The active participation of female workers in Great Britain spur the demand of packaged food item (Senauer et al 1991,

Somogyi, 1990) and long working hours (Geest 2001). The study found a very weak correlation between the meal preparers working status and convenience food consumption and this was due to that convenience food offering enough convenience not (Candel 2001). The demand of convenience food is increasing due to the increment of salary, education and also due to globalization & worldwide trade. Consumers with higher income buy more convenience food than less income consumer (Louriero et al 2001: Govindaswamy and Itlia 1999). Educated consumer purchases more convenience food than less educated consumer (Dettmann and Dimitri 2009). Marital status also play critical role in purchasing food item. In previous study it is found that student spend 45% of their money in buying convenience food (Sen and Antara 2018). The study revealed that the burgeoning of nuclear family, impact of media, increase in foreign destination, fusion of ethnic foods with the local food habit and desire to get quality food led to the demand of convenience food (Manohar 2005). The other attributes which contributes to the demand of convenience food is the proliferation of aspiration middle class family which is rising consumption community of the country. They are newly educated and expose to global lifestyle (Ramaswamy 2003). Extensive surveys were conducted to establish the relationship between family characteristics and expenditure of convenience food. The outcome of research state that the age, education of family head, number of children under age 6, wife active participation in labor market and area of living are some of the salient attributes determined the demand of convenience food (Jae et al 2000). The food pattern of unmarried, segregated, widowed and divorced is varied with respect to those male and female who live with their family. The single living male and female prefer ready to eat food because of their own personal reason or they don't have zeal to cook food or might be they are saddled with huge work pressure in life and so forth (Muktawat and Varma 2013). The social impact has great influence on human food choice behavior and behavior is a collective characteristic of society, the expression of culture & religion and keen influence from family member peers (M. Nestle et al 1998; Patricia Pliner & Mann, 2004). One study revealed that age & gender played occupation role on the consumption of sweets, chocolates, fruits & chips (Dennison & Sphepherd 1995). The consumer attitude towards organic food product is very much impacted by the education level of the people (Maria, Anne, Ulla-Kaisa Koivisto 1999). A study examined the importance the influence of demographic of attributes on sensation seeking & food neophobia. The age and gender and nationality have significant impact on sensation seeking on food neophobia Donohew, (Lorch 2002). & The disguisition of social influence on food choice behavior above highlights the potential interaction between social attributes and other variables in this study like gender; age, income, educational level, and nationality are selected to examine their influence on food choice. The present aimed to identify the relationship between demographic variable socioand attributes influencing the buying of convenience food

3. Buying behavior of Convenience food

According to Blackwell, Miniard & Angel (2019) elucidated that buying behavior of consumer is very intricate and often changes with the time. The consumer buying behavior as an act involved when an individual extract information, uses & disposes economic goods, services that comes before buying behavior and . Consumer behavior is the holistic process which entails stimuli, action undertaken by consumer in buying & using a product or a service including those who connect them (Goodhope, 2013. Dullaert et al 2016).. The consumer choice behavior is the conscious & sub conscious state in the mind of consumer while buying any product (Fitzsimons and Shiv, 2001). Bora & Kulshrestha (2015) find out that nutritional valuation is a pertinent consideration for selection of foods, as it is implying that rich fiber products are good for nutritional value and to be a good source of minerals. Horst, Brunner, & Siegrist (2010) conclude that cooking skills was an important predictor for healthy eating as well as buying for ready-meal products, as it possible cooking skill will gradually waning in future. Moreover, Jana et al. (2015) research found that sometimes previous buying experience of a customer influence the brand value. One studies categorically stated the role of retailers in influencing the consumer behavior. The retailers can trigger the impulse buying in consumer. Retailer assisted the buyers to find the right products by using focused merchandising, store lay out, design and other visual effect on merchandising (Baker, Levy and Grewal 1992). To

understand consumer buying behavior will help the manufactures to gain competitive advantages over their rival firms and they can apply this information to bring some innovation in their products to satisfy consumer need and want (Kotler & Keller 2016). Consumer all over the world are more educated, sophisticated and besides price they consider other attributes such as service, location, experience, ambience, aesthetic etc when making decision to purchase from a particular store (Diallo 2015; Hinson , Anning-Dorson & Kastner, 2012, Pandey et al 2015). The most vital attributes which enhances the demand of convenience food is time and proximity (Heider & Modeller, Zairis & Evangelis 2014), quality of product, shopping hours, bulk purchasing benefit (Han, ye, fu & chen 2014) and an ample opportunity to interact & socialize with people (Pandey et al 2015). Hence focusing on consumer behavior is very onerous and onus for company to perform in competitive market (Furajii, Latuszynska 2012). One study refers that consumer buying behavior are rational, passionate & physical activities undertaken by consumer while making a decision to acquire, use & dispose products and services that meet their need needs and wants (Priest, Carter & Stat 2013). Some studies also defined consumer behavior as the extensive search for information, choosing a product and post experience (de leeuw &Dullaert, 2016). The consumer buying behavior hover around three elements user, payer & purchase (Furajii et al 2012). In numerous marketing literature there are four major dimension associated with consumer behavior i.e. psychological, economic, social and cultural. The economic attributes include household income, price & quality and psychological attributes include attitude, perception, image and previous experience and socio- cultural includes education, social class (Diallo et al 2013). The study examined that store Attributes, price and brand image influence consumer intention to purchase and in some cases the store environment spur impulse buying behavior among consumer (Ergil, & Wu, Yeh & Hasio 2011). The study also argued that price & store image impact consumer attitude and buying behavior towards store brand (Diallo 2015). In food industry a strong and significant correlation exist between economic attributes & consumer buying behavior of food products (Shashikiran & Madhavaiah 2015). The social aspect plays major role in buying behavior of food products. This attributes includes reference group, family size & composition, social value of the product, friends or social groups and its leader (Joshi & Rehman 2015). The strong affection of people towards each other and acknowledge of its existence among them impacts consumer buying behavior (Burnaz 2014). Some study emphasized that social team leader's impact the buying behavior of their group members towards new food products (Kwon & Song 2015). While in convenience food industry social attributes leaves indelible impact on the consumer (Shashikiran 2015). Earlier consumer preferred fresh and non convenience food over convenience food & packaged food, however the drastic changes in the consumption pattern of middle and high income groups open ample opportunity for convenience food segment in country (Ling et al 2004, Chengappa et al 2005, Deninger & Sur, 2007). Over the last few year consumer on both developed and developing nation broached the importance of food safety issues which keenly impacts the consumer buying behavior towards food products (Umali Deininger and Sur 2007). Consumer buying behavior for food is very much influenced by good taste, convenience and health enhancing properties of food and also due to fast mushrooming of food retail supermarket which is the most preferred destination of consumer while buying packaged food item (Narhinen et al 1999; Hansen, 2005; Jones et al 2006; Bruhn, 2008; Hudson 2012). Due to rapid proliferation of food borne disease and increasing problem of cardiac attack, diabetes & obesity the consumer are becoming more health conscious about their food intake. Hence increasing health consciousness & changes in lifestyle among people coupled with awareness about the functional benefit linked with wellness food products beget significant changes in the consumer behavior towards health food product consumption (Quah & Tan 2009; Gofton et al 2013, Goetzke & Spiller 2014). The other important attributes which influence the consumer buying behavior of packaged food products are rapid urbanization, rise in disposable income, and globalization of food market, changes in family structure and changes in lifestyle (Yun & Pysarchik 2010). In today's scenario consumer prefer health & wellness food product because it has psychological benefit which bolster health, prevent a disease, or ameliorate physical or mental performance via an added functional ingredient, processing modification or biotechnology (Solan, 2000; Divine and Lepisto, 2005; Green, 2006). Perceived health benefits are vital attributes in consumer mind while buying convenience food (Urala and Lahteenmaki 2007). Consumer attitude and preference towards healthy convenience food have strong nexus to demographic variable such as age and gender (Tuorila et al 1998; Roininan et al 2001). In many studies it has been expatiated that women comply with strict dietary guidelines compared to man while buying convenience food (Bogue et al 2005). The older consumer groups are very diet conscious and keenly scout for healthy convenience food compared to younger adults who are more oriented towards unhealthy food items (Wansink et al 2003). For behavior consumer buying the should understand the marketers nutritional needs and preferences of different consumer groups and tailoring products to meet these needs would increase products concept effectiveness & lead to increase acceptability and probability success of the final products (Grunert & Valli, 2001, 2010). In food products people don't show credibility of health claim which are major barriers to buying behavior (Grey et al 2003). Consumer purchase food products until unless they deliver the health benefit claimed (Siegrist et al 2008). A study unveiled that Finnish and German consumer intend to buy health food products as they exhibit strong preference towards health claim on the product claim (Saba et al 2010). The pertinent attributes of convenience food considered for this study after going through the literature review based on the consumer buying behavior towards convenience food are. affordable price, convenience, taste and flavor, variant, brand image, product labeling, offers & promotion, advertisement, quick preparation, shelf life, healthiness and food safety.

4. Material and Method

4.1. Research Approach

The present study is cross sectional in nature and it used the multivariate technique i.e. correspondence analysis to explain the relationship between socio demographic attributes and salient attributes responsible for the buying behavior of convenience food.

4.2. Sampling method and size of the study

The purposive sampling method is used because of the unavailability of sample frame. The total sample size is 711 and all the information were gathered from Bhubaneswar city.The majority of sample unit comprised of adult participant between the ages of 25 to 40 years. Most of the respondents are graduated and they are belonged to student category.

4.3. Data collection

The data is primary in nature. The entire survey was done through online Google forms and the survey started on March 2020 and ended on June 2020. Generally the questionnaire took ten minutes to complete. During data cleaning process there were certain missing data or improper responses were omitted which resulted response to 711 usable questionnaire. The survey introduced the participant to a definition of convenience food based on Martin De Boer (2004), stating that this term implies to product food obtained through sophisticated technological advances and can be quickly prepared alone or in the combination with other processed component of safe meals. A respondent acquainted with convenience not food term were omitted. The overall

91

structure of the survey instrument was based on nominal responses which are categorical in nature.

4.4. Data analysis

Data is analyzed through SPSS 20 software package for windows. The

correspondence analysis technique was used to examine the relationship between socio demographic variable and salient attributes responsible for the buying of convenience food.

4.5. Socio demographic profile of the respondent (N= 711)

Socio demographic data	Туре	Frequency	Percentage
Gender	Male	465	65.4
Gender	Female	246	34.6
Marital status	Married	290	40.8
Marital status	Unmarried	421	59.2
т. (г. ·1	Joint	273	38.4
Types of Family	Nuclear	438	61.6
	Up to 3	148	20.8
Household members	3-5 members	376	52.9
	More than 5	187	26.3
	Up to 30 years	441	62.0
Age	30 - 40 years	192	27.0
	More than 40 years	78	11.0
	Up to 5 lakhs	442	62.2
Income	5 to 10 lakhs	195	27.4
	More than 10 lakhs	78	10.4
	High school	7	1.0
	Graduate	192	27.0
Education	Post graduate	476	66.9
	Ph.D	36	5.1

Table 1

	Services	361	50.8
	Housewives	40	5.6
Occupation	Business	27	3.8
	Students	252	35.4
	Others	31	4.4
	Daily	129	18.1
	Weekly	199	28.0
	Twice in a week	104	14.6
Purchase frequency	Monthly	94	13.2
	Twice in a month	140	19.7
	More than twice in a month	45	6.3
	Organized	166	23.3
Preferred Outlet	Un organized	46	6.5
	Both	499	70.2
	Up to Rs 2000	342	48.1
Monthly expenditure on convenience food	Rs 2000 – 4000	261	36.7
	More than Rs 4000	108	15.2

From the table it is evident that male respondent is 65.4% and female respondent is only 34.6%. About 59.2% respondents are unmarried and 40.8% are married and most of the respondent belonged to joint family which account to 61.6% and the 38.4% belonged to nuclear family. Majority of respondent 62% were up to 30 years of age, 27% belonged to 30-40 years of age and 11% of respondent were more than 40 years of age. In terms of education 66.9% of respondent were post graduated, 27.4%

were graduated and only 5.1% belonged to higher education. In terms of income 62.2% of respondent earned up to 5 lakh rupees and they prefer convenience food, 27.4% earned 5-10 lakh rupees and 10.4% earned more than 10 lakhs. About 50.8% of respondent belonged to service class, 5.6% housewives, 3.8% businessmen and 35.4% student. Additionally 18.1% but convenience food daily, 28% buy weekly, 18% buy daily, 13.2% buy monthly and 19.7% buy twice in a month. About 48% of respondent splurge up to Rs. 2000 on buying convenience food , 36.7% spend Rs 2000-4000 and 15.2% spend more than Rs. 4000 on buying packaged food.

5. Results Analysis & Discussion

5.1. Correspondence Analysis

The correspondence analyses were conducted to delve the relationship between socio-demographic attributes and the attributes responsible for buying of convenience food. the Thecorrespondence analysis is an data explorative reduction and compositional method that looks for pattern in categorical data using two way or multi-way table with each row & column becoming a point on multidimensional graphical map or biplot (Hair & Anderson, 2010, Greenacre, 1984: Hoffman & Franke 1986). The output of correspondence analysis are shown graphically in a two - dimension map where the similar object are plotted close together and different object are plotted farther (Bendixen, 1986). It is also attributed based approach where respondent have to rate the object based on the combination of attributes. The main objective of correspondence analysis (CA) is to explain the variance in the data (inertia) using the smallest number of dimension. Many marketing & tourism studies have applied correspondence analysis to understand the relationship between product, brand or destination and their correspondence features or attributes (Arimond & Elfessi, 2001: Kaciak & Louviere 1990). The correspondence analysis has three best advantages. Firstly it is used as data reduction method. Secondly method is very flexible regarding data requirement, where input data is dichotomous in nature and very feasible to obtain when many variable are inducted in study. Thirdly it reveals a map very useful and insightful consumer preference. The technical discussions regarding correspondence analysis are mention in article by (Canol, Green & Schaffer, 1987; Greenacre, 1984, 1986).

5.2. Correspondence Table between education and attributes responsible for the buying of convenience food.

Attributes			Educatior	l	
Attributes	high school	Graduate	PG	Ph.D	Active Margin
Affordable price	6	138	303	20	467
Convenience	2	90	225	12	329
Taste/flavor	6	173	419	25	623
Variant	4	102	209	9	324
Brand image	6	153	362	16	537
Product labeling	2	50	117	4	173
Offer/promotion	1	87	196	12	296
Advertisement	1	55	117	5	178

Table 2

Quick preparation	1	70	150	9	230
Shelf life	2	91	104	8	205
Healthiness	5	137	363	25	530
Food safety	2	144	321	19	486
Active Margin	38	1290	2886	164	4378

The first statistically significant correspondence analysis explored relationship between education of respondent and different buying attributes of convenience food $(\chi_{2} = 58.48, df = 33, p = .023)$. The relationship education between and different buying attributes of convenience food are shown in figure 1

Figure 1: Two dimensional biplot relationship between education and buying attributes for convenience food. The figure 1 shows as people climbed to higher level of education their propensity to purchase convenience food dwindle. The respondent with Ph.D background gave more preference to food safety, healthiness and offer/promotion. However post graduated respondent seek for brand image, affordable price, taste n flavor, variant and convenience attribute. While the graduate students look for quick preparation, taste n flavor and persuaded by product advertisement while buying convenience food.



Fig 1: two dimensional biplot relationships between education and buying attributes for convenience food

5.3. Correspondence Table between Occupation and attributes responsible for the buying of convenience food

			Occupa	tion		
Attributes	Service	House- wives	Business- men	student	others	Active Margin
affordable price	222	23	18	182	22	467
Convenience	169	17	13	119	13	331
Taste/flavor	313	35	26	219	30	623
Variant	162	20	14	117	11	324
Brand image	277	33	18	184	23	535
Product labeling	87	8	6	65	7	173
Offer/promotion	133	6	9	129	19	296
Advertisement	82	14	4	73	5	178
Quick preparation	119	14	5	86	8	232
Shelf life	129	17	11	101	7	265
Healthiness	287	30	19	175	19	530
Food safety	260	30	21	163	19	493
Active Margin	2240	247	164	1613	183	4447

Table 3

The second statistically significant correspondence analysis explored the relationship between occupation of respondent and different buying Attributes of convenience food

(χ_{2} = 59.14, df = 44, p = .027). The relationship between occupation and different buying Attributes of convenience food are shown in figure 2



Fig 2: two dimensional biplot relationships between occupation and buying attributes for convenience food

The figure 2 shows that people hailing from service and business side look for brand image, healthiness, food safety and taste n flavor in their food product. The major segment which consume food product is student. They prefer affordable price and quick preparation.

Both student and housewives equally look for higher shelf life in their food products.

5.4. Correspondence table between household size and attributes responsible for buying convenience food

A 44	Householdsize				
Attributes	up to 3	3-5	more than 5	Active Margin	
Affordable price	88	251	128	467	
Convenience	56	187	88	331	
Taste/flavor	123	328	172	623	
Variant	62	181	81	324	
Brand image	110	289	138	537	
Product labeling	35	92	46	173	
Offer/promotion	62	165	69	296	
Advertisement	26	94	58	178	
Quick preparation	37	126	69	232	
Shelf life	61	138	66	265	
Healthiness	107	279	144	530	
Food safety	98	270	125	493	
Active Margin	865	2400	1184	4449	

Table 4

The third statistically significant correspondence analysis explored the relationship between household size of respondent and different attributes of convenience buying

food (χ_2 = 44.84, df = 22, p = .048). The relationship between household size and different buying Attributes of convenience food are shown in figure 3

97



Fig 3: Two dimensional biplot relationships between household size and buying attributes for convenience food

The figure 3 shows that family comprised of 3 to 5 member purchase food product with high food safety norms, coming in different variant and keenly observe offers and promotion. The family which has more than five members look for certain attributes like taste n flavor, healthiness and affordable price. Both the family with 3 to 5 member and more than 5 members

were not interested with the brand image of the food product. The family up to 3 members keenly interested in only one attribute i.e. higher shelf of the product.

5.5. Correspondence table between age and attributes responsible for buying convenience food

	AGE				
ATTRIBUTES	up to 30 year	30-40 years	More than 40 years	Active Margin	
Affordable price	312	103	52	467	
Convenience	214	85	30	329	
Taste/flavor	392	160	71	623	
Variant	200	92	31	323	
Brand image	334	145	58	537	
Product labeling	113	46	14	173	
Offer & promotion	207	63	23	293	
Advertisement	116	50	12	178	

Table 5

Quick promotion	151	55	21	227
Shelf life	173	66	26	265
Healthiness	315	158	57	530
Safety	306	133	51	490
Active Margin	2833	1156	446	4435

The fourth statistically significant correspondence analysis explored the relationship between age of the respondent and different buying attributes of convenience food

(χ 2= 49.328, df = 22, p = .035). The relationship between age and different buying Attributes of convenience food are shown in figure 4



Fig 4: two dimensional biplot relationships between age and buying attributes for convenience food

The figure 4 shows that as the age advances the proclivity to consume convenience food products decreases. The young age people who are in up to 30 years of age consume a lot of convenience food. They intensely look for quick preparation, higher shelf life, different taste n flavor, convenience and offers n promotion while buying. The people who are in middle age like 30-40 years seek for specific attribute like healthiness, food safety, and various variant and also observe food labeling while buying. The mid age and young age people equally notice the brand image of the food product. The higher age people i.e. more than 40 years deter taking packaged food product because of health reason.

5.6. Correspondence table between monthly expenditure on convenience food and attributes responsible for buying convenience food.

	Monthly expenditure on convenience food					
Attributes	up to Rs. 2000	Rs. 2000-4000	Rs. more than 4000	Active Margin		
Affordable price	225	168	84	477		
Convenience	144	135	52	331		
Taste/flavor	294	234	95	623		
variant	147	140	37	324		
Brand image	256	201	80	537		
Product labeling	77	70	26	173		
Offer/promotion	126	112	58	296		
Advertisement	82	77	19	178		
Quick preparation	104	88	39	231		
Shelf life	119	111	39	269		
Healthiness	257	192	81	530		
Food safety	230	190	73	493		
Active Margin	2061	1718	683	4462		

Table 6:

The fifth was not statistically significant correspondence analysis which explored the relationship between monthly expenditure on convenience food and different attributes related to buying of convenience food ($\chi 2= 25.95$, df = 22, p = .528). The relationship between monthly expenditure and different buying Attributes of convenience food are shown in figure 5



Fig 5: two dimensional biplot relationships between monthly expenditure and buying attributes for convenience food

The figure 5 reveals that the results are not significant relationship between monthly expenditure and buying attributes for convenience. This is due to almost no variation observed in the monthly expenditure on buying of processed food. This indicates the stable pattern of consumption of convenience food in the sample household in Bhubaneswar.

5.7. Correspondencetablebetween income of the respondent and attributes affecting buying of convenience food

	Income				
Attributes	up to 5 lakh	5-10 lakh	more than 5 lakhs	Active Margin	
Affordable price	319	107	41	467	
Convenience	211	91	27	329	
Taste/flavor	389	172	62	623	
Variant	216	72	36	324	
Brand image	334	143	60	537	
Product labeling	115	50	8	173	
Offer/promotion	190	80	26	296	
Advertisement	118	40	20	178	
Quick preparation	160	51	19	230	
Shelf life	179	64	22	265	
Healthiness	319	160	51	530	
Food safety	311	140	71	522	
Active Margin	2861	1170	443	4474	

Table 7

The sixth statistically significant correspondence analysis explored the relationship between income of the respondent and different attributes related to buying of convenience food (χ 2= 1004.95, df = 22, p = .000). The relationship between income of the respondent and different buying Attributes of convenience food are shown in figure 6

The figure 6 show that people belonged to higher income bracket look for only one attribute i.e. food with high safety norms. The people belong to 5 to 10 lakh income bracket look for healthiness, taste n flavor, product labeling, convenience and strong brand image. However, people with low income bracket i.e. up to 5 lakh prefer higher shelf life, affordable price, quick preparation, offer n promotion and variant and advertisement while purchasing.



Fig 6: Two dimensional biplot relationships between income and buying attributes for convenience food

6. **Conclusion and Future direction**

In summary the research explored the relationship between sociodemographic factor & buying behavioral attributes responsible for the buying of convenience food. The graduate and post graduate student are very fond of packaged food. As the level education increases the consumption level of packaged food decreases because people are acquainted with the side effect of food products. The student prefer convenience food due to myriad of reason like tasty than home cook meals, comes in various variant, low price point and very accessible and affordable. The service and business class people are mild consumer of processed food but they consider specific attribute in food product while purchasing. These attributes are healthiness, strong brand image, food safety norms and carefully observe food labeling. The families with large member size also consider the same

attributes enumerated above. The family with two or three member gave more importance to the shelf life of the food product because for them cooking is grueling task hence it saves time and effort. Generally food product company target young people especially student & young working professional who is bachelor because for them consuming packaged food item is new experience, fun and pleasure and suit in their hectic lifestyle. The high income people never compromised with their health so they prefer low sugar n fat packaged food item. They critically observe the food labeling and food safety norms emblazoned on the food packet while purchasing.

The limitation of this research suggests directions for future research. The study can also be extended to other categories of complex convenience food product like functional/fortified food, proprietary food, energy drinks etc. We can also extend this study to other growing city of Odisha. Besides the use of structured questionnaire, focus group or depth interview can also be conducted which provides depth insights about the relationship between socio-demographic factors and buying behavior attributes of convenience food.

References:

Ares, G., & Gámbaro, A. (2007). Influence of gender, age and motives underlying food choice on perceived healthiness and willingness to try functional foods

Arimond, G., & Elfessi, A. (2001). A clustering method for categorical data in tourism market segmentation research. *Journal of Travel Research*, 39(4), 391–397

Bajaj, C. (2019). Consumer Perception on Branding: A study on processed food.

Baker, J., Levy, M., & Grewal, D. (1992). An experimental approach to making retail store environmental decisions. *Journal of retailing*, 68(4), 445.

Bendixen, M. (1996). A practical guide to the use of correspondence analysis in marketing research. Marketing Bulletin Online, 14, Technical Note 2, 16-38.

Bruhn, C.M,(2008), "Consumer acceptance of food innovation", Innovation: Management, Policy & Practice:, Food related innovation: Technology, Genetics and Consumer Impacts, Vol.10 No. 1,pp.91-95

Brunner, T.A., Vander Horst, K., & Siegrist, M. (2010). Convenience food products. Drivers for consumption. *Appetite*, *55*(3), 498-506.

Capps, O. H. (1983). Impact of household composition on convenience and nonconvenience food expenditure in the south. Southern Journal of Agricultural Economics , 111-118.

Chengappa, P.G, "Food Retail Chain and Supermarket Evolution in India", Vice Chancellor, USA.

Dabrowska A., B.-z. E. (2011). zachowania Konsumentow w stosunku do Zywnosci nowej generacji. *Hygeia Public Health*, 39-46.

De Boer, M., McCarthy, M., Cowan, C., Ryan, I. (2003): The individual of lifestyle characteristics and beliefs about convenience food on the demand for convenience foods in the Irish market. Food Quality and Preference, 15(2004): 155-165

Dennison, C. M., & Shepherd, R. (1995). Adolescent food choice: An application of the Theory of Planned Behaviour. *Journal of Human Nutrition and Dietetics*, 8(1), 9-23.

Dettmann, R. L., & Dimitri, C. (2009). Who's buying organic vegetables? Demographic characteristics of US consumers. *Journal of Food Products Marketing*, 16(1), 79-91.

Diallo, M. F. (2015). Drivers of Store Brands Usage in an Asian Emerging Market: Evidence Vietnam. International Journal of Retail & Distribution Management, 43(12), 1144-1161. http:// dx.doi. org/10.1108/IJRDM-07-2014-0086

Divine, R. L., & Lepisto, L. (2005). Analysis of the healthy lifestyle consumer. *Journal of Consumer marketing*.

Engel, J. F., Blackwell, R. D., & Miniard, P. W. (2006). Consumer Behavior. Mason, OH: Thomson Business and Economics

Ferreira, M., Hall, T. K., & Bennett, G. (2008). Exploring brand positioning in a sponsorship context: A correspondence analysis of the Dew Action Sports

Tour. Journal of Sport Management, 22(6), 734-761.

Fitzsimons, G. J., Hutchinson, J. W., Williams, P., Alba, J. W., Chartrand, T. L., Huber, J.,& Shiv, B. (2002). Nonconscious influences on consumer choice. *Marketing Letters*, 13(3), 269-279.

Forbairt/Enterprise Ireland. (1998). The devlopment of the prepared consumer food sector post 1999. *Dublin Enterprise Ireland*.

Furaiji, F., Łatuszyńska, M., & Wawrzyniak, A. (2012). An Empirical Study of the Factors Influencing Consumer Behavior in the Electric Appliances Market. Contemporary Economics, 6(3), 76-86. https://doi. org/10.5709/ ce.1897-9254.52

Geest (2001). Market trends, (www. geest.co.uk/html/profile/markets/ market_trends.htm), retrieved on 18th September, 2001.

Goetzke, B. I., & Spiller, A. (2014). Health-improving lifestyles of organic and functional food consumers. *British Food Journal*.

Gofton, L. (1995). Convenience and the moral status of consumer practices.

Gordon, A., Finlay, K. and Watts, T. (1994), "The psychological effects of colour in consumer product packaging", Canadian Journal of Marketing Research, Vol. 13, pp. 3-11

Govindasamy, R., and J. Italia (1999). Predicting willingness-to-pay a premium for organically grown fresh produce. Journal of Food Distribution Research 30 (2): 44–53.

Greenacre, M.J. (1984). Theory and Application of Correspondence Analysis. London: Academic Press. Grogan, S. C., Bell, R., & Conner, M. (1997). Eating sweet snacks: Gender differences in attitudes and behaviour. *Appetite*, 28(1), 19-31.

Grunert, K. G., & Valli, C. (2001). Designermade meat and dairy products: consumerled product development. *Livestock Production Science*, 72(1-2), 83-98.

H., M. (2013). Trendy w produkcji Zywnosci wygodnej i przyklady jej zastosowania w tutrystyce - wybrane aspekty. *zeszyty Naukowe Turystyka i Rekreacja*, 105-118.

Han, S., Ye, Y., Fu, X., & Chen, Z. (2014). Category Role Aided Market Segmentation Approach to Convenience Store Chain Category Management. Decision Support Systems, 57, 296-308. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j. dss.2013.09.017

Hansen, T 2005, 'Understanding consumer perception of food quality: the cases of shrimps and cheese', *British Food Journal*, vol. 107, no. 7, pp. 500-525

Harrison, A. (1979). Towards the Systematic Evaluation of Convenience Food. *HICMA Journal* 94(10), 27-32.

Heider, R., & Moeller, S. (2012). Outlet Patronage in On-the-go 314-318

Hernandez,B.,Jimenez, J.,& Jose Martin, M.(2011). Age, gender, income: Do they really moderate online shopping behaviour? Online information review, 35(1),113-133

Hoffman, D.L., & Franke, G.R. (1986). Correspondence Analysis: Graphical representation of categorical data in marketing research. JMR, Journal of Marketing Research, 23(3), 213–227

Hoyle, Stephenson, M. T., Palmgreen, P., Lorch, E. P., & Donohew, R. L. (2002). Reliability and validity of a brief measure of sensation seeking. *Personality and Individual Differences*, 32(3), 401-414.

IGD (2001). Meal solution UK: Institute of grocery distribution business publication.

Ilya Rahkovsky, Y. J. (2018). Consumer Balanced Time & Money in Purchasing Convenience Food. *Economic Research Services*.

Jae, M. K., Ryu, J. S. and Abdel- Ghany, M. (2000). Family characteristics and convenience food expenditure in urban Korea. Journal of Consumer Studies and Home Economics, 24 (4), 252-256.

Joshi, Y., & Rahman, Z. (2015). Factors Affecting Green Purchase Behavior and Future Research Directions. International Strategic Management Review, 3(1-2), 128143. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j. ism.2015.04.001

K.S.Premavalli. (2000). Convenience Food for Defence Forcesbbased on Traditional Indian Foods. *Defence Science Journal*, 361-369.

Kaciak, E., & Louviere, J. (1990). Multiple correspondence analyses of multiple choice experiment data. JMR, Journal of Marketing Research, 27, 455–465

Kinsey, J., & Senauer, B. (1996). Consumer trends and changing food retailing formats. *American Journal of Agricultural Economics*, 78(5), 1187-1191.

Kotler, P., Keller, K. L., Koshy, A., & Jha, M. (2013). Marketing management: A South Asian perspective (14th ed.). New York, NY: Pearson Education, Inc

Kwon, Y. S., & Song, H. R. (2015). The Role of Opinion Leaders in Influencing Consumer Behaviors with a Focus on Market Mavens: A Meta-analysis. Athens Journal of Mass Media and Communications, 43-54. http://dx.doi. org/10.30958/ ajmmc.1-1-3

Lähteenmäki, L., & Tuorila, H. (1998). Predicting the intention to use juice or milk in three contexts. Food quality and preference, 9(4), 231-236.

Maria, K. M., Anne, A., Ulla-Kaisa Koivisto, H., Lars, Å. & Per-Olow, S. (2001). Attitudes towards organic foods among Swedish consumers. *British Food Journal*, 103(3), 209-227.

Martin de Boer, M. M. (2004). The influence of lifestyle characterstics and belief about convenience food on the demand for convenience food in the Irish Market. *Elsevier*, 155-165.

McCarthy, M., de Boer, M., O'Reilly, S., & Cotter, L. (2003). Factors influencing intention to purchase beef in the Irish market. *Meat Science*, 65(3), 1071-1083

Meulenberg, M., & Viaene, J. (1998). Changing food marketing systems in western countries. In W. M. F. Jongen & M. Meulenberg (Eds.), *Innovation of food production systems:*

Moss,M. (2013). Salt Sugar Fat:How the Food Giant Hooked Us. *New York : Random House*.

Muktawat, P., Muktawat, N. and Varma, N. (2013), "Impact of ready to eat food taken by single living male and female", International Journal of Scientific and Research Publications, Vol. 3 No. 11, pp. 1-3.

Närhinen, M., Nissinen, A., & Puska, P. (1999). Healthier choices in a supermarket. *British food journal*.

Newman, C, M. Henchion and A. Mathews.2001. "A double Hurdle model of Irish Household Expenditure on prepared meals." Economics Paper 200119, Trinity College Dublin, 814-24. Nguyen, D. H., de Leeuw, S., & Dullaert, W. E. H. (2016). Consumer Behavior and Order Fulfilment in Online Retailing: A Systematic Review. International Journal of Management Reviews, 1-22. https://doi.org/10.1111/ijmr.12129

Orji, O. (2013). Major Classic Consumer Buying Behavior Models: Implications for Marketing Decision-Making. *Journal of Economics and Sustainable Development*, 4(4), 164-172.

Pandey, S., Khare, A., & Bhardwaj, P. (2015). Antecedents to Local Store Loyalty: Influence of Culture, Cosmopolitanism and Price. International Journal of Retail & Distribution Management, 43(1), 5-25, https://doi.org/10.1108/ IJRDM-08-2013-0156

Park, J. O. (1997). Demand for Prepared Meals by U.S. Household. *American journal of Agricultural Economics*, 814-24.

Paulus, K. (1978). "Ready-to-serve food: Defination, application, Quality requirements: How Ready Are Ready-touse Foods.". 6-14.

Pliner, P., & Mann, N. (2004). Influence of social norms and palatability on amount consumed and food choice. *Appetite*, 42(2), 227-237.

Priest, J., Carter, S., & Stat, D. (2013). Consumer Behavior. United Kingdom: Edinburgh Business School Press.

Quah, S. H., & Tan, A. K. (2009). Consumer purchase decisions of organic food products: An ethnic analysis. *Journal of International Consumer Marketing*, 22(1), 47-58.

Roosen, J., Bruhn, M., Mecking, R. A., & Drescher, L. S. (2008). Consumer demand for personalized nutrition and functional food. *International journal*

for vitamin and nutrition research, 78(6), 269-274.

Rozin, P., Fallon, A., & Mandell, R. (1984). Family resemblance in attitudes to foods. *Developmental Psychology*, 20(2), 309-314.

S.S Manohar, BV Balasubramanyam and Sheshachala, Convenience Foods - Growth & Prospects, Indian food Industry, Vol.24, No. 4, (July-Aug) 2005.

Saba, A., Vassallo, M., Shepherd, R., Lampila, P., Arvola, A., Dean, M., & Lähteenmäki, L. (2010). Country-wise differences in perception of healthrelated messages in cereal-based food products. *Food Quality and Preference*, 21(4), 385-393.

Šánová, P., Svobodová, J., & Laputková, A. (2017). Using Multiple Correspondence Analysis to Evaluate Selected Aspects of Behaviour of Consumers Purchasing Local Food Products. *Acta Universitatis Agriculturae et Silviculturae Mendelianae Brunensis*, 65(6), 2083-2093.

Sen, S., Antara, N., & Sen, S. (2019). Factors influencing consumers' to Take Ready-made Frozen Food. *Current Psychology*, 1-10.

Senauer B., E. Asp, and J. Kinsey. 1998. Food Trends and the changing consumer. Minnesota : Egan Press

Shashikiran, L., & Madhavaiah, C. (2015). Impact of Socio Economic Factors on Purchase Behaviour of Organic Food Products. *International Journal of Economics and Business Administration*, 1(2), 82-86.

Sorenson, D., & Bogue, J. (2005). A conjoint-based approach to concept optimization: probiotic beverages. *British Food Journal*.
Soto-Méndez, M. J., Campos, R., Hernández, L., Orozco, M., Vossenaar, M., & Solomons, N. W. (2011). Food variety, dietary diversity, and food characteristics among convenience samples of Guatemalan women. *salud pública de méxico*, 53(4), 288-298.

Stoddard, J. E., Dotson, M., & Das, N. (2016). Using focus groups and correspondence analysis to explore the relationship between millennials' online behavior and their opinions of online reviews. *Atlantic Marketing Journal*, *5*(2), 4.

Taylor, J. P., Evers, S., & McKenna, M. (2005). Determinants of Healthy Eating in Children and Youth. *Canadian Journal of Public Health / Revue Canadienne de Sante'e Publique, 96*(Journal Article), S20-S26.

Traub, L. a. (1979). Convenience foods and Home Prepared Foods. USDA/ERS AER No.429.

Umali-Deininger, D., & Sur, M. (2007). Food safety in a globalizing world: opportunities and challenges for India. *Agricultural Economics*, *37*, 135-147.

Urala, N., & Lähteenmäki, L. (2007). Consumers' changing attitudes towards functional foods. *Food Quality and Preference*, 18(1), 1-12.

Valaskova, K., Kliestikova, J., & Krizanova, A. (2018). Consumer perception of private label products: An empirical research. *Journal of Competitiveness*, 10(3), 149.

Van der Horst, K., Brunner, T. A., & Siegrist, M. (2011). Ready-meal consumption: associations with weight status and cooking skills. *Public health nutrition*, 14(2), 239-245.

Veenma, K. S., Kistemaker, C., & Lowik, M. R. H. (1995). Socio-demographic, psycho-social and life-style factors affecting consumption of convenience food. *ACR European Advances*.

Verbeke, W., & Lopez, G. P. (2005). Ethnic food attitudes and behaviour among Belgians and Hispanics living in Belgium. *British Food Journal*, 107(10/11), 823.

Verlegh, P.W.J., & Candel, M.J.J.M (1999). The consumption of convenience food: reference group & eating situation. Food quality & Preference, 10(6), 457-464

Wansink, B., & Ittersum, K. V. (2003). Special Session Summary Weight and Height and Shape and Size: When Do Peripheral Cues Drive Evaluation and Consumption?. ACR North American Advances.

Wu, P. C., Yeh, G. Y. Y., & Hsiao, C. R. (2011). The effect of store image and service quality on brand image and purchase intention for private label brands. *Australasian Marketing Journal* (*AMJ*), 19(1), 30-39.

Yun, Z. S., & Pysarchik, D. T. (2010). Indian consumers' value-based new food product adoption. *Journal of Food Products Marketing*, *16*(4), 398-417.

Zhao, X, Chambers, E, Matta, Z, Loughin, T & Carey, E 2007, 'Consumer sensory analysis

Business Excellence: Exploring Key Performance Indicators and Suitable Business Model

Ritesh Dwivedi

Assistant Professor- Rural Development & Social Entrepreneurship, Amity Business School, Amity University NOIDA, Uttar Pradesh, ritesh hariom@rediffmail.com

DoI:10.23862/kiit-parikalpana/2020/v16/i1-2/204560

Abstract

Business excellence or BE is a path to success for any enterprise that has started its new journey in this era of highly competitive market for almost any industry. It is a way to achieve a certain level of competitive advantage over other organisations. But what could be done in times of economic crisis. Some of the industry experts believe that if the organisation stopped considering a time of recession as a crisis and instead as an exploiting opportunity, it not only helps the organisation to survive but also strengthen their position in the industry. The crux of the matter would be to somehow come up with an effective improvement in the strategic plan that would not only help in satisfying the customer and stakeholders but will also help the organisation in overcoming the economic crisis factor. And to work towards this target there should be high involvement of the management and optimum level of use of all the human resources.

The business community or the top management can use the results of this research to achieve business excellence through strategic planning improvements and can withhold their stand in the industry. There has been not much research before connecting the strategic operational planning during the time of economic crisis.

The main takeaway of the study is to somehow save on the extra costs, improve business processes, sustain quality, and improve the level of performance of the staff and management. All of these could be easily achieved if the enterprise can effectively implement these operational business concepts in their own business: Total Quality Management (TQM), Six Sigma and Lean manufacturing system.

Keywords: Business Excellence, Total Quality Management (TQM), Six sigma, Lean manufacturing.

1. Introduction

The environment in which organisations operate is can be characterized into 2 major elements, intense competitiveness and periodic advent of recession cycles.

It is clear that the operations are the main revenue model of almost any Without operations, organization. there will be no revenue. So, improving the business process and making strategic operational changes in the organisation at the time of economic crisis. It will help the organisation in achieving business excellence. It can not only just save the organisation but also strengthen the position of the company in the industry. An exertion is made to uncover the significant components that add to development and soundness in times of monetary emergency, the correct way toward this objective and the activities and duties all things considered. To check these presumptions, an overview is directed among undertakings that display solid duty to the standards of Total Quality The board and business greatness, as a survey comprising of 11 various decision and two elucidating questions. The factual investigation of the finished test demonstrated solid intelligence between the members' thoughts and the hypothetical edge of established researchers.

Quality management has for quite some time been set up as a significant procedure for accomplishing upper hand. The point of the organizations may contrast, yet the significance of clients involves regular intrigue. The capacity of the associations to adjust to new client necessities in a globalized showcase is of indispensable significance for long haul achievement. Conventional quality activities, for example, measurable quality control, zero deformities, and all out-quality administration, have been key activities for a long time. In most recent two decades, Six Sigma developed as another quality management activity and now numerous associations are progressing in the direction of its execution.

2. Literature Review

In this era of competitive advancements, and multidimensional environment, organisations sometimes faces a lot of challenges in terms of achieving their goals and strategic significances. Most of the organisations sooner or later reach onto a stage of financial instability and unknown financial conditions, in which conditions, the organisation should either make changes and transform in order to survive the condition or to just decline to change and disappear (Dervitsiotis, 2005). In order to achieve prosperity and business excellence, there are some major parameters on which the organisation should target their focus, like to aim at innovation, empower and optimum use of the human resources, improve on all their procedures, services or products, customer focus and trying to exceeding the customer expectations. In short, Business excellence is nothing just the flexibility to make changes and innovate and to provide better outcomes than their competition, in regard of their stakeholders, customers and the company itself (Mele and Calurcio, 2006).

Before creating a plan of action, firstly, it is essential to understand what conditions could be considered as economic crisis. So, it is crucial to determine the impact of the economic crisis before determining the strategy. Setting a plan of action before determining the influence of the crisis will probably have a question able result. According to the previously conducted research, the following significant conclusions about the implications of economic crisis can be drawn:

- A. Macroeconomic environment:
 - a. Stock market downfall(Sakbani, 2010, p. 94)
 - b. Unemployment (International Monetary Fund, 2012)
 - c. Shrinkage of GDP (International Monetary Fund, 2012)
- B. Micro economic environment:
 - a. Significant amount of decrease in profitability and net turnover (Toporowski, 2009)
 - b. Reduction and capital funding through banking system (financialreview, Alpha Bank, 2009)
 - c. Reduction of FDI
 - d. investment plans getting postponed (Campello et al., 2009)

It is very much important that under critical economic conditions. The organisationsneed to evaluate their strategic plan in order to achieve their targets.A study proved that TQM is one of the most important criteria for Business Excellence (Ghicajanu, Irimie, Marica, & Munteanu, 2015). Analysing the conditions and determining the necessary strategy needed to achieve BE is a task of higher management and proper leadership is necessary to achieve those targets and effectively implement the new strategic plan and operational changes.

Most of the organisations aim for cost saving policies, to make changes in investment plans and to restructure the business through cost cutting techniques. This may have an immediate impact on the organisation but may not be able to help in the long term (Haluk Koksaland Ozgul, 2007). Because interrupting the investment cycles and restructuring the business will affect the operations of the business, which is the main revenue model for the organisation. So, the ideal path for long term results and securing the future of the organisation is to make changes to the operations of the organisation. For some, recession may be an opportunity to consider and applying these necessary changes in order to achieve business excellence.

The first step most of the organisations take is to secure adequate amount of resources, especially liquid assets. But this defensive strategy is proven to be just prolonging the inevitable and

Constructs	Related constructs
Quality leadership (QL)	The role of top management leadership (Saraph et al., 1989), top management support (Flynn et al., 1994), top management commitment (Ahire et al., 1996), management leadership (Yusof & Aspinwall, 2000), leadership (Sila, 2007)
Customer focus and satisfaction (CFS)	The role of quality department (Saraph et al., 1989), customer involvement (Flynn et al., 1994), customer focus (Ahire et al., 1996), customer orientation (Rao et al., 1999)
Quality information and analysis (QIA)	Quality data and reporting (Saraph et al., 1989), quality information (Flynn et al., 1994), quality information and availability (Ahire et al., 1996), information and analysis (Sila, 2007)
Human resource development (HRD)	Workforce management (Flynn et al., 1994), employee training (Ahire et al., 1996), education and training (Reed et al., 2000), support for human resource development (Sila, 2007), human resource management (Parast et al., 2006)
Strategic planning management (SPM)	Process design management (Saraph et al., 1989), process management (Flynn et al., 1994), design quality management (Ahire et al., 1996), strategic planning process of quality management (Parast et al., 2006)
Supplier quality management (SQM)	Supplier involvement (Flynn et al., 1994), supplier quality management (Ahire et al., 1996), supplier quality (Parast et al., 2006; Rao et al., 1999), supplier quality assurance (Yusof & Aspinwall, 2000), supplier management (Sila, 2007)

Table 2.1: Constructs Proposed in previous literatures

will not necessarily bring satisfactory results (Reeves and Deimler, 2009). Sooner or later, either the organisation will have to dissolve or make necessary changes to sustain in the market.

Some of the basic strategies discussed in previous research that were adopted by various organisations during an economic crisis:

2.1. Introduction to new products or services

Introducing new products and services during an economic crisis might be a right choice even if the resources are scarce only if you have proper data and surveys on the consumer behaviour proving the fact to be true. This might be a success if the product or the service have great utility for customers according to Schafter and Roper, 2007.

2.2. Marketing and differentiation strategy

During an economic crisis. It is not the only the businesses that are being affected. Individuals are also being affected at these critical times. So as the income of the individuals and consumers decreases, it is very much essential to keep the hold of the existing customers and maintain as much of the market share as possible. This can only be achieved by differentiating the policies of your organisation from the competitions (Young, 2009), by increasing the marketing funds.

2.3. Pricing, Placement and Promotion policies

It is proven that a good pricing strategy could be a beneficial strategic plan (Reeves and Deimler, 2009), but reducing the prices during an economic crisis is very difficult especially with reduction in the resources and we are not sure when the recession will be over. Revoking the reduction in price after the exit from the crisis is also not very helpful neither very easy (Haluk Koksaland Ozgul, 2007).

In terms of placement, it is conclusive that the organisation should withdraw from the markets where the organisation are not the primary players and should focus their effort and resources on the markets which are competitive and the organisation holds the primary market share (Haluk Koksal and Ozgul, 2007).

An organisation can only cut down on its advertisement budget only if there is a corresponding reduction in the pricing policy of the product or service. Then only the organisation might have a positive effect. And the limitation here is that the organisation can only reduce their promotions and advertisement fund if the other competitive organisations are not increasing their promotional activities, otherwise the organisation cannot reduce their promotional activities advertisement budgets.

2.4. Strategies related to Research and Development (R&D)

According to the study conducted by Bigelow and Chan (1992), there could

be two major strategies that could be implemented in terms of R&D during an economic crisis:

- Reduce the funds on specific projects related to R&D and discontinue all the projects which had the least or very less chances of success. This strategy should only be applied after proper analysis of all the projects
- Increase the funds for R&D. This is a very aggressive strategy to be adopted only by the organisations in highly competitive environment with a lot of competition in the market.

2.5. Financial Planning

The financial structure of any organisation is the main reason of welfare of any organisation. Its proper planning also is very essential. It is very crucial that the organisation has necessary funds to finance their investment plans and maintain the operations and working of the organisation. In the survey of the most recent 2008 crisis conducted, shows that most of the organisations reserve significant amount of liquidity (Wilson and Eilertsen, 2010). The organisation may make a profit even during an economic crisis, but it is more important to maintain a good level of liquidity and collateral funding.

2.6. Cost reducing policies

• Reducing the stocks of the company: Sometimes for survival during very harsh times, the

company starts selling its stocks and to reduce their stocks through sales. This would contribute to liquidity. Organisations may also adopt to methods of stock reducing through JIT (Young, 2009).

Cutting the expenses: Securing the viability of the organisation is the first outlook for any management. And the first the organisation take step toward this goal is to reduce the human resource, reduction in overall costs, transform all the procedures and improve all business aspects. This could and should only be done in the business sectors which does not influence the market share or the competitive edge of organisation (Bigelow and Chan, 1992).

2.7. Collaborations

Once the organisations understand the criticality of these harsh environment, the organisation follow policies of collaborations and try to decrease the costs of procurement and transactional processes (Reeves and Deimler, 2009). In order to shape the environment according to their best interests, obtain a collaborative style, organisations find various ways of cooperation like joining on some social networks and asking their customers on how to reduce their costs (Looking forward in recession, 2009)

2.8. Investment policies

One of the biggest opportunities during a time of economic crisis is that it gives us

opportunity to explore our investment options (Business as usual, 2010). The main objective of the organisations should be to have adequate investment plans for advertisements, marketing Research and and Development, which contributes some value addition to the organisations. Although the organisations should focus on various defensive policies, it could be an opportunity to position themselves in better market position, introduce new and innovative products/services, recruiting new talents, mergers and acquisitions, etc. (DeWaal and Mollema, 2010). According to the survey by Kambil, 2008, of Fortune 500 companies, the organisations which somehow accelerated or retained their investment plans would thrive even further.

There has been various research of small and middle level organisations if what strategies could be adopted by these organisations in order to maintain their position in the market or accelerate in times of economic crisis.

But almost all the research fails to be adopted in upper level organisations or are too specific to be applied in all kind of businesses. It is evident that in modern era of high competition in all industries, various challenges faced by the organisations, most of the organisations can somehow withstand thecrisis. Butallofthat is very dependent upon the people running those organisations, especially the higher management and leadership executives (Faustenhammer and Gossler, 2011). It is similarly important the dedication and quality of work being delivered by the remaining human resources. Most of the researches also neglect this fact, whereas it is also evident that if we can make proper and optimum use of the human resources, the organisation attains a level of competitive advantage, also giving significant profits for the organisation (Rao, 2009).

Just like TQM, Lean and six sigma also has proven to be enhancing operational performance of the organisation through various strategies (Laureani & Antony, 2017). So simply putting it, successful implementation of a strategic plan to accelerate in times of economic crisis requires the top management to be effectively take decisions and it is crucial to be fully committed to the goals of leadership. Customer satisfaction is also should be kept in mind and it is evident that TQM also contributes to increased level of customer satisfaction (Anil & Satish. 2019). So, always try to think from the perspective of customers.

3. Research Methodology

3.1. Research objectives

The main objectives of the study are:

- To identify the Key Performance Indicators for achieving business
- To propose a business model consisting of strategic and operational changes to achieve business excellence.

3.2. Methodology adopted

Below mentioned steps have been used in research work:

- Extended Literature review to conduct a qualitative research study. Various research papers, articles, company research reports have been reviewed and a combined strategic approach has been proposed through the study.
- Company data analysis to prove the efficiency of Lean process management

A few small cases have also been analysed and discussed to validate the objectives.

4. Business Excellence Cases

Business excellence issues can be understood well through these cases listed below:

4.1. Case Study: Dell

Dell is an American multinational computer technology company that develops, sells, repairs, and supports computers and related products and services. The major reason of Dell's success has been because of its correct and highly effective implementation Lean manufacturing and its of principles throughout their operations. Within a year of lean manufacturing implementation, company's share price rose from \$20 to \$148.75, a spiking increase of 643.8%. In just 6 months, Dell created a highly popular image in PC retailer on the web. Just like other lean

manufacturers, the company expanded the lean manufacturing concepts to its supply chain. The organisation keep all computer components are just minutes away from their manufacturing site and it is the job of company's suppliers to keep them stocked. The company started working on the concept in 1993 and adopted the strategy completed in year 1995-1996, from which year the growth has been shown in the Fig. 4.1. It can be clearly seen that the growth of the organisation has increased significantly ever since.



Fig 4.1: Dell Net revenue from year 1996-2020 *Source: Statista Dell Technologies' net revenue from 1996 to 2020 <https://www.statista.com/statistics/264911/

dells-net-revenue-since-1996/>

Until 1995, Dell used to carry over 13 weeks of inventory, which reduced to just 1 week of inventory by the year 2001. The strategy has proved very beneficial for the organisation, of which the proof is that the organisation is still using the same strategy ever since, with just a few minor changes.

4.2. Case Study: Production System at Toyota

The automobile giant, Toyota was perhaps the first major player to adopt this lean system in their manufacturing processes, initially calling the method the Toyota Production System. According to the company's own prospectus, "Toyota not only have the organisation eliminated waste, but the organisation has also mastered the techniques required to minimize faulty products that do not meet customer needs. Toyota works with two primary processes that allow these goals to be reached. The first is a process called Jidoka, which translates roughly to "mechanization with the help of humans." This means that although some aspects of the job are automated, humans are continually checking the quality of the product. There are also programs built into the system that allows the machines to shut themselves down if someone spots a problem. The second part is known as the Just In Time or JIT model. This ensures that the next step of a process is only started once the previous phase is completed. This way, if there is a flaw in the assembly line, no extra and unnecessary work will be completed. This lean manufacturing technique has paved the way for dozens of other companies to follow in their footsteps". Toyota has been working on the concept of Just in Time and lean manufacturing since 1953, but was able to successfully implement and was able to notice a significant growth after the year 1970. The Fig. 4.2 clearly shows

how Toyota grew in net revenue after the year 1970. The growth is very clear and significant.



Fig 4.2: Toyota net revenue showing history from 1937-2016

*Source: Toyota Global Website, Toyota motor corporation unconsolidated data

<https://www.toyota-global.com/company/ history_of_toyota/75years/data/company_ information/management_and_finances/ finances/income/1937.html>

4.3. Case Study: John Deere

John Deere has also adopted a lean manufacturing approach to their business. Many of their quality control mechanisms are fully automated meaning that more parts can be checked for defects in a shorter period.

The world's largest manufacturer of agricultural machinery in 2003 spent \$100 million on transforming its Iowa, US, operation from mass production to lean manufacturing. Project Manager said: Kallin Kurtz "This project transformed manufacturing our engineering mindset. We have put a great deal of effort into identifying nonvalue-added activities and eliminating them where possible." The Fig. 4.3 shows the sales and net revenue of John

Deere from year 2001, and it can be clearly seen that the growth after 2003, when the organisation implemented the Lean management, the growth is very significant.



Fig 4.3: John Deere Net revenue based on sales from year 2001-2019

*Source: Statista Global net sales and revenues of John Deere from 2001 to 2019

<https://www.statista.com/statistics/271865/ john-deere-net-sales-and-revenues-since-2001/#:~:text=John%20Deere%2C%20the%20 agricultural%20equipment,sales%20and%20 revenue%20in%202019>

4.4. Case Study: Nike

The acclaimed shoe and garments mammoth have also adopted lean manufacturing practices. Lean manufacturing was shown to reduce poor labour practices in their foreign manufacturing plant by up to 15%. This was mostly because of lean manufacturing esteeming the labourer more than past work rehearses. It gave increasingly critical incentive to a representative and thus higher incentive to the organization

Nike's lean approach experienced defect rate 50% lower than facilities that didn't adopted to lean manufacturing.

Delivery lead times from lean factories were about 40% shorter. Lean factory productivity increased 10%-20%, and the time to introduce a new product to a factory was reduced by 30%.



Fig 4.4: Nike Net revenue from year 2005-2019 *Source: Statista Nike's net income worldwide from 2005 to 2019

<https://www.statista.com/statistics/241685/ net-profit-of-nike-since-2005/>

4.5. Case Study: Intel Corporation

Known for their PC processors, Intel embraced the lean manufacturing practices to give a better item to an industry that requests zero mistakes. This way of thinking has decreased an opportunity to make a microchip to the industrial facility from over 3 months in the past to under 10 days. With things so careful and specialized, Intel immediately understood that delivering a higher amount of lower quality was not the best approach to improve benefits and increment consumer loyalty. Rather, by executing quality control factors and waste decrease strategies, the two gatherings' advantage. This is considerably more so obvious in the tech business where

items are changing and being updated so often. Joe Foley, factory manager at Intel Fab Operations in Leixlip, Ireland, said: "Five years ago, it took us 14 weeks to introduce a new chip to our factory; now it takes 10 days. We were the first Intel factory to achieve these times using Lean principles."

Intel, in order to bring more value started working on lean-agile practices on 2005 and were able to completely adapt to it by 2012. In the **Fig. 4.5** the growth after successful implementation of lean in intel is very much significant.



Fig 4.5: Intel corporation Net revenue from year 1999-2019

*Source: Statista Intel's net revenue 1999-2019

<https://www.statista.com/ statistics/263559/intels-net-revenue-since-1999/#:~:text=This%20statistic%20shows%20 the%20net,approximately%2072%20billion%20 U.S.%20dollars>

5. Analysis and Discussion

Author	Factor	Findings	Focus area
Kanji (1998)	 Leadership Teamwork People make quality Continuous improvement Prevention 	A structural model has been used for the measurement of business excellence where 14 interrelated latent variables are introduced	Business excellence
Liker et al. (1998)	 Component characteristic Supplier technical Buyer-suppler relationship Use of CAD 	Involving supplier at early design stage is associated with greater contributions of cost reduction and higher quality	Automotive design
Ahire and Dreyfus (2000)	 Design management Quality training Product design process quality External, internal quality 	Design and process management have positive impact on TQM	TQM
Narasimhan and Nair (2005)	 Quality expectations from supplier Information sharing and trust with supplier 	Quality expectations and information sharing and trust between buyer and suppliers have a positive influence on supply chain	Supply chain
Hemsworth et al. (2005)	 Supplier quality Personnel management Cross-functional coordination Management commitment Benchmarking 	Quality management has a direct impact on information system and purchasing performance	Information system in purchasing
Rohani et al. (2006)	 Commitment Management System and Procedure Culture Training Deployment Recognition Team 	Propose theoretical model between SPC and improvement in quality performance	Statistical Process Control (SPC)
Grobler and Grubner (2006)	• Quality • Delivery • Flexibility • Cost	Finds mostly cumulative effects between the manufacturing capabilities	Manufacturing strategy
Suradi et al. (2007)	 Commitment from top Customer focus Campus facility Communication Course delivery Learning environment Continual assessment 	There is a direct effect between some of education services in quality technical education	Quality in education

After in depth literature study, some evident key takeaways are:

Table 5.1: Key takeaways and findings based on literature study and analysis

Taking a clear look at the **Table no 5.1**, the last column clearly describes all the key focus areas which should be focussed upon for the acceleration of the business during an economic crisis.

Author(s)	Measure	Variables
Lin et al. (2005)	Organisational performance	Satisfaction levelBusiness result
Prajogo and Sohal (2004)	Organisational performance	 Quality performance Innovation performance
Jun et al. (2006)	Human resource performance measure	Employee satisfactionEmployee loyalty
Sila (2007)	Performance measure	 Organisational effectiveness Financial results Market results
Lakhal et al. (2006)	Organisational performance	Financial performanceOperational performanceProduct quality

Table 5.2: Key variables to be focussed upon in order to achieve BE during economic crisis

In the above **Table no 5.2**, key variables are shown which should be focussed in order to achieve business excellence during a crisis time.

So, according to the help of extended literature study, and surveys conducted and discussions with the industry experts, through the research, 7 Key Performance Indicators of Business Excellence during a time of economic crisis can be identified:

- Customer loyalty & satisfaction
- Market share
- Efficiency
- Time-to-deliver
- Cost
- Quality of product/service
- Financial benefits

Until now, the research has successfully established these things:

- It is clearly possible to achieve business excellence during an economic crisis.
- TQM and six sigma play an important role during an economic crisis
- Lean manufacturing has proved to be very beneficial strategic and operational system which has proved to have brought significant growth in manufacturing industry.
- Key performance indicators of business excellence during the time of economic crisis.

Now, integration of all these 3 concepts and bring upon a new strategic and operational plan, that could be followed during an economic crisis to bring about the changes needed to achieve business excellence.

The **Fig. 5.1** describes the integrated business strategic model of TQM, six sigma and Lean process management.

This describes all the key elements and main processes involved in the business model. It also explains that it contributes to the Organisational performance acceleration through improving these 7 specific key indicators.



Fig 5.1: Proposed Integrated Business Excellence model

In the proposed strategic model, 3 major operational practices have been chosen and based on previously established 7 KPIs, an integrated model has been created that would focus on these 7 operational and Strategic changes:

- Quality Leadership: Decisive, problem-solvers, passionate, humble, accountable, give credits where due, helps people grow, communicate effectively, confident, not-afraid of unknown and challenges, trustworthy.
- Customer focus & satisfaction: If we can improve on the 7 KPIs,

the customers will be satisfied automatically. We just need to always try to exceed the expectations of the customers. All competitors are meeting the customer expectations, but exceeding the expectations is what brings trust and value to the organisation.

 Quality Info & Analysis: It is essential to not only have a proper and effective Quality Control but also the proper information and it's analysis. There are many statistical tools, software, dashboards which can be used to analyse the quality data. The organisation should make proper use of them to have best of the efficiency.

- Human Resource development: • Without proper HR department, policies and practices, employees the maximum have cannot throughput and will lack motivation to work. It is the task of HR department to ensure maximum performance of employees, create healthy environment and provide quality leadership and ensure motivation in the employees. Here are a few best of the HR practices:
 - Safe and Healthy workplace
 - Open book management style
 - Performance linked bonuses
 - 360 degree performance management feedback
 - Knowledge sharing
 - Rewards
 - Training and Development programs
- Lean Process Management: This is one of the most important factor in this strategic model. Because it enhances a lot of performance and focuses the most on **Cost reduction**
- Supplier Relations and Quality management: If the organisation wants to effectively implement Lean manufacturing and process management, Raw material supplier relations and Quality management are two most major factors. The organisation needs to build proper relationships with their suppliers

and work on an effective Just-intime manufacturing or inventory management system. Here the best thing that the organisation can do is, the organisation can create a warehouse of raw materials within minutes distance of the manufacturing site, and they should build relations with suppliers that keeping the warehouse stocked up is suppliers' job. This is one of the best Lean manufacturing implementations suitable for large automotive industry organisations.

Quality Assurance: We all • understand how critical quality assurance is. It ensures that each product leaving the factory is of the highest quality and the same as all those items that came before it. It keeps costs down, for starters. Investing in high-quality products might seem like an expensive move, but it can save you money in the long run. A product that's lacking in quality control, especially in the automotive industry, can trigger expensive recalls. Products that are dangerous can cause car accidents and be hazardous to drivers.

6. Conclusion

The research study conducted using the extended literature review, expert survey and company data analysis proves that it is very much possible to accelerate during the time of economic crisis. And not only that, some industry experts believe that it might be an opportunity to consider to some strategic and operational changes in order to improve the organisational performance as an economic crisis gives the organisation an opportunity to gain some competitive advantage if the organisation can retain their position and especially if the organisation can thrive during this harsh environment.

Theresearch makes use of three evidently proven business and strategic concepts and analyse the key performance indicators in order to analyse what new business model should be beneficial to the organisations during the economic crisis. Using these KPIs as the basis, the research also proposed an integrated business model, if can be adopted and implemented in the organisation during an economic crisis would prove to be helpful in achieving Business Excellence.

Although some of these strategies might seem that would require a huge amount of funds and cost to be implemented, but in the long run these would provide most cost benefits and overall cost reduction.

The major working and revenue model of automotive manufacturing organisations is their Operations, so if we can improve on the Operations process and transform the essential parts of the Process into the Lean process management. In the long run, these would help in most effective cost reduction and would reap most of the benefits.

References

Ahire, S. L. and Dreyfus, P. 2000. The impact of design management and process management on quality: An empirical investigation. *Journal of Operations Management*, 18: 549–575

Ahire, S. L., Golhar, D. Y. and Waller, M. A. 1996. Development and validation of TQM implementation constructs. *Decision Sciences*, 27: 23–56

Alpha Bank (2009), "Causes of the world financial crisis and prospects of exit for the globaleconomy", financial issue 108, (accessed May 1, 2012)

Anil, A. P., & Satish, K. P. (2019). Enhancing customer satisfaction through total quality management practices – an empirical examination. *Total Quality Management & Business Excellence Vol.* 30 No. 13, 1528-1548

Bigelow, R. and Chan, S.P. (1992), "Managing in difficult times: lessons from the most recentrecession", Management Decision, Vol. 30 No. 8, pp. 34-40

Business as usual (2010), "Business as usual: how to survive an economic downturn", StrategicDirection, Vol. 26 No. 6, pp. 11-14

Campello, M., Graham, J.R. and Harvey, C.R. (2009), "The real effects of financial constraints:evidence from a financial crisis", Journal of Financial Economics (JFE), pp. 1-32

De Waal, A. and Mollema, E. (2010), "Six courses of action to survive and thrive in a crisis",Business Strategy Series, Vol. 11 No. 5, pp. 333-338 Dervitsiotis, N.K. (2005), "Navigating in turbulent environmental conditions for sustainable business excellence", Total Quality Management & Business Excellence, Vol. 15

Faustenhammer, A. and Gossler, M. (2011), "Preparing for the next crisis: what can organizationsdo to prepare managers for an uncertain future?", Business StrategySeries, Vol. 12 No. 2, pp. 51-55

Flynn, B. B., Schroeder, R. G. and Sakakibara, S. 1994. A framework for quality management research and an associated measurement instrument. *Journal of Operations Management*, 11: 339–366

Ghicajanu, M., Irimie, S., Marica, L., & Munteanu, R. (2015). Criteria for Excellence in Business. *Procedia Economics and Finance*, 445-452

Grobler, A. and Grubner, A. 2006. An empirical model of the relationships between manufacturing capabilities. International Journal of Operations & Production Management, 26: 458–485

HalukKoksal, M. and Ozgul, E. (2007), "The relationship between marketing strategies andperformance in an economic crisis", Marketing Intelligence & Planning, Vol. 25 No. 4,pp. 326-340

Hemsworth,D.,Sanchez-Rodriguez,C. and Bidgood,B. 2005.Determining the impact of qualitymanagementpracticespurchasing-relatedinformationsystems on purchasingperformance.JournalofEnterpriseInformationManagement, 18: 169–194

International Monetary Fund (2012), "Slowing growth, rising risks", World Economic Outlook,available at: www. imf.org/external/pubs/ft/weo/2012/01/ pdf/tblpartb.pdf (accessed May 1,2012)

Jun, M., Cai, S. and Shin, H. 200 6. TQM practice in maquiladora: Antecedents of employee satisfaction and loyalty. *Journal of Operations Management*, 24: 791–812

Kambil, A. (2008), "What is your recession playbook?", Journal of Business Strategy, Vol. 29 No. 5, pp. 50-52

Kanji, G. K. (1998). Measurement of business excellence. *Total Quality Management*, 9: 633–643

Lakhal, L., Pasin, F. and Limam, M. 2006. Quality management practices and their impact on performance. *International Journal of Quality & Reliability Management*, 23: 625–646

Laureani, A., & Antony, J. (2017). Leadership and Lean Six Sigma: a systematic literature review. *Total Quality Management & Business Excellence*, 53-81

Liker, J. K., Kamath, R. R. and Wasti. (1998). S. N. Supplier involvement in design: А comparative survey of automotive suppliers in the USA, UK andJapan. International Journal of Quality Science, 3: 214–238

Lin, C., Chow, W. S., Madu, C. N., Kuei, C. H. and Yu, P. P. 2005. A structural equation model of supply chain quality management and organizational performance. International Journal of Production Economics, 96: 355–365

Looking forward in recession (2009), "Looking forward in recession: turning threat into opportunity",Strategic Direction, Vol. 25 No. 10, pp. 12-15

Mele, C. and Colurcio, M. (2006), "The evolving path of TQM: towards business excellence andstakeholder value", International Journal of Quality & ReliabilityManagement, Vol. 23No. 5, pp. 464-489.

Narasimhan, R. and Nair, A. 2005. The antecedent role of quality, information sharing and supply chain proximity on strategic alliance formation and performance. *International Journal of Production Economics*, 96: 301–313

Parast, M. M., Adams, S. G., Jones, E. C., Rao, S. S. and Raghunathan, T. S. 2006. Comparing quality management practices between the United States and Mexico. *Quality Management Journal*, 13: 36–49

Prajogo, D. I. and Sohal, A. S. 2004. The multidimensionality of TQM practices in determining quality and innovation performance: An empirical examination. *Technovation*, 24: 443–453

Rao, S. S., Solis, L. E. and Raghunathan, T. S. 1999. A framework for international quality management research: Development and validation of a measurement. *Total Quality Management*, 10: 1047–1075

Rao,M.S. (2009), "Is cutting development and training in a recession a good idea? Looking at the ITand ITeS sector in India", Development and Learning in Organizations, Vol. 23 No. 5, pp. 7-9

Reed, R., Lemak, D. J. and Mero, N. P. 2000. Total quality management and sustainable competitive advantage. *Journal of Quality Management*, 5: 5–26

Reeves, M. and Deimler, S.M. (2009), "Strategies for winning in the current and post-recession environment", Strategy & Leadership, Vol. 37 No. 6, pp. 10-17

Rohani, J. M., Yusof, S. M. and Mohamad, I. (2006). A relationship between statistical process control practices and improving quality performance: A theoretical framework/model. Proceedings of the International Conference on Manufacturing Science and Technology (ICOMAST). August28–30, Malaysia. pp.557–560

Sakbani, M. (2010), "The global recession: analysis, evaluation, and implications of the policy response and some reform proposals", Studies in Economics and Finance, Vol. 27 No. 2, pp. 91-106

Saraph, J. V., Benson, P. G. and Schroeder, R. G. 1989. An instrument for measuring the critical factors of quality management. *Decision Science*, 20: 810–829

Schafter, U. and Roper, M.T. (2007), "Aspects of price policy, product policy and costs in a recession", European Journal of Marketing, Vol. 19 No. 1, pp. 12-19

Sila, I. 2007. Examining the effects of contextual factors on TQM and performance through the lens of or-

ganizational theories: An empirical study. *Journal of Operations Management*, 25: 83–109

Suradi, N. R.M., Wan, N. N. and Mohamed, W. N. Modeling of quality technical education using path analysis. Proceedings of the 2nd International Engineering Convention (INTEC2007). Marchio–14, Saudi Arabia. pp.298–303

Toporowski, J. (2009), "International business and the crisis", Critical Perspectives onInternational Business, Vol. 5 Nos 1/2, pp. 162-164 Wilson, W.J. and Eilertsen, S. (2010), "How did strategic planning help during the economiccrisis?", Strategy & Leadership, Vol. 38 No. 2, pp. 5-14

Young, P. 2009, "How to survive a recession", Strategic Direction, Vol. 25 No. 1, pp. 3-4

Yusof, S. M. and Aspinwall, E. 2000. Critical success factors for total quality management implementation in small and medium enterprises. *Total Quality Management*, 10: 803–809

Role of Primary Agricultural Credit Societies towards upliftment of Scheduled Castes and Scheduled Tribes

Abhijit Sinha

Associate Professor of Commerce, Vidyasagar University, West Bengal abhijitsinha_091279@rediffmail.com

Amitabha Bhattacharyya

Assistant Professor of Commerce, Balurghat College, West Bengal amitabha.bhttchr@gmail.com DoI:10.23862/kiit-parikalpana/2020/v16/i1-2/204564

Abstract

The present empirical study looks at the role of primary agricultural credit societies (PACS) towards empowerment of the Scheduled Castes and Scheduled Tribes. The investigation based on data from 2012-13 to 2017-18 on selected regions reveals the poor role of PACS. The result on aspects like number of PACS, growth in membership and borrowers, rise in the membership and borrowers from the SC and ST community shows the passive role of PACS. During the study period, there is a decline in performance in majority of the regions. However, there is a growth in respect of average borrowings per head. The overall findings show a lot more can be done by these institutions.

Keywords: PACS, SC, ST, Membership, Borrowers, Growth

1. Introduction

The backbone of our Indian economy is agriculture as even today almost 70 percent of the rural population is directly or indirectly dependent upon agriculture for the livelihood (Census, 2011). This unorganized sector also provides employment directly or indirectly to a huge populace of the country. As per the last census, of the total worker strength of 490 million engaged in different sectors, almost 90% is engaged in the unorganized sector with the agricultural sector bearing the highest share. The employment in agriculture stood at 58.2 percent of the total employment in India as per the Census Report, 2011. Of the share in rural employment, agriculture takes the burden of 64.1 percent (Chand et al., 2017). It is true that the role of agriculture towards the remarkable development, growth and employment in the country cannot be denied. However, the sectoral contribution to the country's GDP shows a steady decline over the years. But, at the same time the contribution to the GDP is declining as it was 14.1 percent in 2011-12.

In India, the agricultural sector is considered as the biggest private enterprise. The households which are engaged in agriculture feel the dearth of funds even though the banking sector has been playing a key role in supporting the farmers of the country by providing agricultural loans. The farmers feel the need for more financial support that can be used for making investment in the purchase of seeds, fertilizers, agricultural equipments, implementing modern irrigation methods, employing latest technologies etc. to improve the productivity and output levels. The agriculturists face a lot of hurdles in their farming activities due to the insufficient supply of funds from the banking sector. This is where the role of the lowest tier institution in the cooperative sector viz. the Primary Agricultural Credit Societies (PACS) comes into play. These rural-based institutions have been playing a key role in promoting the agricultural activities in increasingly and financially more inclusive growth through agricultural activities. They fulfill the needs of the farming households by offering loans at a low rate of interest from the deposit fund that is created by them.

If one glances through the cooperative structure, it will be observed that the cooperative sector has been playing a crucial role in the overall development of the rural economy. The cooperative credit structure in the country has a three-tier structure with the State Cooperative Banks (SCB) at the apex level in each state, the District Central Cooperative Banks (DCCB) at the middle level (or district level) and Primary Agriculture Credit Societies (PACS) at the lower level. Each of these institutions has different areas of focus with different functions. The State Cooperative bankstake control over the three tier co-operative credit structure in the state where the bank operates and provides funds to the DCCBs in each state. This apex bank plays a key-position because the financial assistance from the RBI and National Bank for Agriculture and Rural Development are invariably routed through them to flow down to the lower tiers. The District Co-operative Banks (DCCB) which operate at the middle level of the co-operative credit structure generally provide the normal banking activities in the District headquarter and also provide funds and other technical guidance and administrative support to the PACS. The formation of DCCBs actually meets the mutual help between DCCBs and PACS. The Primary Agricultural Credit Societies (PACS), which is the focal point of this study work at the lowest level of the cooperative credit structure and thereby lays the foundation to the cooperative structure of the country. They are mainly organized to provide the shortterm and medium-term credit facilities among the rural people according to their needs at very cheap and easy terms and also provide funds to the rural farmers for agricultural purpose. Thus,

the role of these institutions towards the development of the rural economy is very significant in the Indian context as it produces 95 percent of the total agricultural produce of the country and not surprisingly contributes 35.3% of the non farm output and almost 50 percent of the non-farm employment (Chand et al., 2017). The importance of PACS for the rural economy is rightly pointed in the study by Yogarani & Padhmanaban (2019).

In respect of the functioning of PACS, it is seen that the share capital of PACS is contributed by the members and the main source of fund is the members' deposits. Apart from these two, the borrowings from the district level banks form an important element of working capital of PACS from where it issues loans to its members as per their requirements and credit worthiness. Thus, it is evident that these credit institutions have been playing a crucial role to ensure the prosperity of rural India which is considered to be the driver of India's economic growth.

2. Review of previous studies

The researchers look into the previous literatures that help to understand the areas already explored and also highlight the research gap. There are several contributions on different institutions of the cooperative sector (Jain, 2001; Basak, 2009; Babu & Selkhar, 2012; Soni & Saluja, 2013).The overall problems of the rural credit structure are pointed in the academic study by Bansal and Thakkar (2012). A summary

of the previous literatures on PACS as well as cooperative banks is discussed below. There are studies that look into the performance, financial viability and efficiency of the cooperative banks which gives an idea about the position of liquidity, operations, productivity and profitability. The studies point to less than desirable performance which calls for the need to tackle the mismanagement of funds and improve recovery performance (Asher 2007; Basak 2009; Chander & Chandel 2010; Das 2013; Dutta & Basak 2008; Rachana, 2011; Singh & Sukhmani, 2011). There are other set of studies that assess the performance of these institutions using various ratios under the heads of liquidity, productivity, profitability, working capital, total outstanding loans, business turnover, overdues, net worth and loans to weaker sections. The studies reveal the need to improve the performance of PACS in respect of owned funds, deposit mobilization, deployment of funds and diversification of lending, management information system and marketing arrangements (Chalam & Prasad, 2007; Kulandaiswamy & Murugesan, 2004; Mukherjee, 2011; Shah, 2007; Selvaraj, 2013; Thirupathi, 2013; Varkey, 2014). The performance analysis from the viewpoint of viability of PACS is seen in the contribution of Shah (2007). Bhaskaran and Josh (2000) study the recovery performance of PACS. Some of the contributions during the present decade also hover around the issues of management of non-performing assets and performance assessment

of the cooperative banking arena. The explorative studies point to the need for providing adequate and timely disbursement of finance and sound recovery of loans in order to reduce the need for creating provisions in the income statements for the impaired (Rakshit & Chakrabarti, assets 2012; Ratna & Nimbalkar, 2011). The identification of problems with regard to the performance is several studies. (Rachana, 2011; Agrawal & Solanke, 2012)

Research gap

Based on the understanding of the previous contributions, it is evident that the extent of focus on PACS in general is very low despite several research papers contributed in the area of cooperative banking. Moreover, there is least focus to understand how the PACS have been playing an important role for the upliftment of the tribal community. Hence, this empirical research aims to plug this gap by focusing on the role of PACS in empowering the economically and socially backward community (scheduled castes and schedule tribes). The present study is based on the region-wise analysis of the role of PACS in the empowerment of SCs and STs in India by looking at how these credit institutions have been supporting these backward communities in the Indian context.

Objectives of the study:

(a) To identify the growth rate of PACS in different regions of India.

(b) To identify the relative growth in participation of SC and ST groups in PACS as members and borrowers.

3. Research design

The success and correctness of results in line with the objectives depends on the appropriateness of the research design. The study uses secondary data for the period 2012-13 to 2017-18 which is collected from the reports published by the National Federation of State Cooperative Banks Ltd.

in different years. The researchers consider zonal data to see how much growth has taken place in the different zones. It is pertinent to mention that data is not collected for two regions, Central and Eastern due to incorrectness of the data.

For the computation of growth rate, the dependent variable is log-transformed in order to fulfill the normality criterion. Then, the growth rate is computed using the following semi-log method is applied:

$\ln\left(\mathbf{Y}_{t}\right) = \mathbf{a} + \mathbf{b}.\mathbf{t},$

where, Y_t is the variable of interest, a is constant, b is the coefficient which represents the growth rate and t represents time (t = 1 to 6).

4. Analysis of the study:

The present study is analyzed with the help of trend analysis. The researchers determine the growth rate for different heads using the semi-log growth equation.

4.1 Growth rate in the number of PACS

The following table gives the growth in the number of these lowest-tier institutions in four zones of the country.

Table 1 : Growth rate in number of PACS

Degion	Total PACS			
Region	Growth	t-stat		
NEZ	- 0.31%	1.016		
NZ	4.49%	4.066**		
SZ	-0.541%	1.541		
WZ	-0.197%	1.131		
All India	0.514%	2.355*		

Source: Computed by the researchers

*** 1% significance level, ** 5% significance level, *10% significance level.

Note: NEZ - North-Eastern Zone; NZ - Northern Zone; SZ - Southern Zone; WZ - Western Zone.

The growth in the number of PACS in different regions across the country

shows that except in the North Zone (with 4.49% growth), all the other zones experience a negative growth. The all-India performance shows a positive growth of a minimal 0.514% during the study period. Thus, the performance in the country is not at a commendable level. In fact, it is really disappointing.

4.2 Growth rate of membership in PACS

The aspect of membership is a key to success in the case of the cooperative sector. This is because members contribute certain amount and make deposits which thereby improve the financial stability and liquidity position of the institutions. Since, the focus of the study is not just on PACS but more particularly on the tribal community, the growth across regions is computed for total membership and also for scheduled castes and scheduled tribes.

Design	Total mer	nbership	SC membership		ST membership	
Region	Growth	t-stat	Growth	t-stat	Growth	t-stat
NEZ	2.32%	1.011	4.41%	1.592	-3.99%	1.079
NZ	3.53%	1.509	-20.77%	5.286	-11.05%	3.721
SZ	-0.452%	0.334	-5.41%	2.572	-3.69%	0.774
WZ	-0.241%	0.389	-1.21%	1.601	2.55%	5.218
All India	0.557%	0.750	-5.63%	5.644	-1.39%	1.324

Table 2 : Region wise Growth Rate of Membership in PACS in India

Source: Computed by the researchers

From the above table 2, it is apparent that the importance of PACS at the country level seems to be declining due to which the membership strength of these institutions is growing at a minimal rate of 0.557% which is even less than one percent. The Northern and North-Eastern zones witness a growth rate of 3.53% and 2.32% respectively, whereas the membership growth in the Southern and Western zones show a decline as per the records with NAFSCOB. Out of the total membership, the growth rate in SC membership is highest in the North-Eastern Zone (at 4.41%) and the rest of the regions of the country and the country as a whole experience a negative growth rate. In the case of ST membership, all the regions excepting Western Zone (2.55%) show negative growth rate. At the all-India level also, the ST membership de-growth stands at 1.39%.

4.3 Growth rate of borrowers & borrowings

The rise in the number of borrowers and borrowings is an important aspect for PACS also as for banks.

Desien	Total borrowings		Total borrowers		Avg. borrowings	
Region	Growth	t-stat	Growth	t-stat	Growth	t-stat
NEZ	-0.681%	0.166	-4.63%	3.93	3.95%	1.167
NZ	17.02%	8.215***	-11.12%	4.153	28.14%	11.506***
SZ	5.93%	4.585***	7.26%	3.452	-1.33%	0.452
WZ	6.20%	4.357**	-28.03%	3.782	34.24%	3.922**
All India	7.15%	9.017***	0.787%	0.760	6.36%	5.563***

Table 3 : Region wise growth rate of Borrowers & Borrowings in PACS in India

Source: Computed by the researchers

*** 1% significance level, ** 5% significance level, *10% significance level.

The above table (no. 3) reveals that the growth in total borrowings in different regions across the country except North-Eastern Zone (-0.681%) is positive which is also true at the country level. The Northern Zone that has the agricultural states of Punjab, Haryana and Uttar Pradesh show the maximum growth of 17.02% which exceeds that of the other regions with Southern (5.93%) and Western (6.20%) being distant followers. This is a trend that shows the contribution of PACS to the agricultural farmers of these states which has resulted in a substantial rise in the borrowings. However, an interesting point that we

observe from the table is that though borrowings is on the rise in a few cases, the number of borrowers is on the decline. The table shows that in terms of borrowers, the negative growth is quite high in the case of Western region (minus 28.03%) followed by the Northern zone (minus 11.12%). The comparison of the column for total borrowings and total borrowers show that per head amount of borrowings is on the rise which may be because of the rising cost of agricultural production or less willingness on the part of the banks because of loan defaults by this section of borrowers. The overall growth in respect of borrowings is at a satisfactory level of 7.15%. In case of average borrowings, the highest growth rate is experienced in the Western Zone (34.24%) followed by Northern Zone (28.14%) which surpasses the overall average borrowings growth rate of 6.36% that is seen at the all-India level.

4.4 Growth rate in SC and ST Borrowers in PACS

The following table makes an important discussion on the number of borrowers from the economically and socially backward groups, viz. the scheduled castes and the scheduled tribes who access these lowest-tier institutions for meeting their financing meets.

Decien	SC borro	wers	ST borrowers		
Region	Growth	t-stat	Growth	t-stat	
NEZ	-1.76%	0.362	-4.50%	0.799	
NZ	-43.85%	7.661***	-36.35%	2.881	
SZ	4.62%	1.437	5.32%	8.17	
WZ	-5.07%	6.395***	-4.05%	1.484	
All India	-6.43%	3.529**	-2.84%	2.568*	

Table 4 : Region wise growth rate in SC and ST Borrowers in PACS in India

Source: Computed by the researchers

*** 1% significance level, ** 5% significance level, *10% significance level.

From the immediately earlier table, it is seen that the total number of borrowers has seen a decline excepting in the Southern Zone in which borrower strength grew at the rate of 7.26%. At the all-India level also, the growth rate in number of borrowers stands at 0.787% which is a very low rate. In order to see whether the members from the SC and ST groups also show the same trend, the researchers look at the overall trend in the rise in loanees from these two groups. The participation of the two economically backward groups in respect of number of borrowers also shows an unsatisfactory growth. In the case of SC borrowers, except in the Southern Zone (where growth is 4.62%), all the others including all the regions combined show a negative growth rate at minus 6.43%. The ST borrowers also reveal a similar trend with a decline in all regions except the Southern Zone which shows a growth of 5.32%. At the all-India level, the number of ST borrowers shows a declining rate of 2.84%.

5. Conclusions

The sustainability of the cooperative sector depends on all the three tiers of the pyramidal structure which has the state cooperative banks at the top level, district cooperative banks in the middle and primary agricultural credit societies in the lowest tier. The strength

of the sector depends on the action and performance of all the three levels which, though have different roles to play have a vital responsibility in the growth of the rural belt of the country, especially the agricultural sector. The present empirical study looks at the contribution of the sector in terms of empowering the people from the SC and ST communities by looking at their participation in the activities of PACS as members and borrowers. Though, the government realizes the importance of these institutions, in terms of growth in their number in different regions of the country, the picture looks far from satisfactory. Of the four regions covered in the study, three of them show a decline in number; only the northern zone shows a rise. Consequently, the picture at the country level looks bleak. The appraisal in terms of growth in membership also shows disappointing results except in a few zones like the North and North-Eastern Zone. The highlight of the paper is to see the role of PACS in empowering the people from the socially and economically community that includes the SCs and STs. With respect to the growth in SC and ST membership, the picture is equally dark as three of the four zones show a decline in membership. In respect of SC and ST category, the rise is seen in the north-eastern and western zone respectively. Thus, it implies that there are barriers in the financial system that does not facilitate the movement of these community members to join PACS as members. The other

important angle looked at in the study is the rise in SC and ST borrowers as it gives an idea about their willingness and the supportive mechanism in the system that support their joining as members. It is seen that though the amount of borrowings show a rise in all but one region, the number of borrowers have come down with the maximum in the western zone. A possible reason is the more active role of the commercial banks in this part of the country and also the drought conditions that have been affecting the state of Maharashtra over the years that affect the capability of farmers to resort to funding during these times of crisis. The per head amount of borrowings shows an increase is on the rise which may be because of the rising cost of agricultural production or less willingness on the part of the banks because of loan defaults by this section of borrowers.

The overall growth in respect of borrowings is at a satisfactory level of 7.15%. In case of average borrowings, the highest growth rate is experienced Western Zone (34.24%) the in followed by Northern Zone (28.14%) which surpasses the overall average borrowings growth rate of 6.36% that is seen at the all-India level. Since the focus is on the SC and ST community, the investigators assess the status of number of borrowers from the community. It finds that the extent of participation of this section in the 'borrowers' category is missing as evident from the huge decline in the

number of loanees. The empirical investigation on this aspect of the study shows that the extent of empowerment of the scheduled castes and tribes is not a satisfactory one. With the government offering several schemes for the upliftment of this section, it is expected that these lowest-tier institutions should be playing a more important role for improving their status, both socially and economically. So far, the performance of PACS is not at a commendable level and thus these institutions should play a more proactive and efficient role that will facilitate the improvement of the condition of SCs and STs in the country.

6. Limitations of the study and scope for further study

The key limitation of the study is improper data support the that the researchers received even after collecting the annual reports of NAFSCOB which are published in various years. The data inadequacy limited the researchers to restrict to this analysis. The inability to include all the six regions due to data incompleteness and incorrect data acts as a limitation. Thus, in the future efforts in this line of study, it is necessary to cover all the six regions and work on new dimensions like employment scope for SCs and STs, income rise through PACS, repayment aspects, non-performing loans and the like.

References

Agrawal, S.R. & Solanke S.S. (2012). Problems faced by co-operative banks and perspectives in the Indian Economy. *International Journal of Commerce, Business and Management, 1*(2), October, 53-54.

Asher M.G. (2007). Reforming Governance and Regulation of Urban Cooperative Banks in India. *Journal of Financial Regulation and Compliance*, 15(1), 20-29.

Babu K.V.S.N J. & Selkhar B.M. (2012). The Emerging Urban Co-Operative Banks (Ucbs) In India: Problems and Prospects. *IOSR Journal of Business and Management*, 2(5), July-Aug., 1-5

Bansal S. N. & Thakkar G. (2012). Rural credit cooperatives in India: Responses to Reforms. *Journal of Business Management and Research*, 2(1), September, 26-38.

Basak A. (2009). Performance Appraisal of Urban Cooperative Banks: A Case Study. *TheIUP Journal of Accounting Research and Audit Practices, VIII* (1), 31-44.

Bhaskaran R. & Josh P. (2000). Non Performing Assets in Co-operative Rural Financial System: A major challenge to rural development. *Bird's Eye View (Dec)*.

Chalam, G.V. & Prasad, A. (2007). An Evaluation of Financial Performance of Cooperative Societies in Andhra Pradesh (A Study of Selected PACS in West Godavari District). *Indian Cooperative Review*, 45(1), 42-58.

Chand, R., Srivastava, S.K. & Singh, J. (2017). Changing Structure of Rural Economy of India Implications for Employment and Growth. Discussion Paper, National Institution for Transforming India NITI Aayog, November. doi: 10.13140/ RG.2.2.17270.09280

Chander R. & Chandel J.K. (2010). Financial Viability and Performance Evaluation of Cooperative Credit Institutions in Haryana (India). International Journal of Computing and Business Research, 1(1), 1-22.

T. (2013). An Evaluation of Das Performance of the West Bengal State Cooperative Bank Ltd..International Journal of Research in Commerce & Management, 4(2), February, 131-136.

Dutta U. & Basak A. (2008). Appraisal of Financial Performance of Urban Cooperative Banks- A Case Study. The Management Accountant, 43(3), 170-174.

Jain (2001). Comparative study of performance of District Central Cooperative Banks (DCCBs) of Western India i.e. Maharashtra, Gujarat & Rajasthan for the year 1999-2000 from the point of view of net profit/loss. NAFSCOB Bulletin, April-June.

Kulandaiswamy, V. & Murugesan, P (2004). Performance of PACS - An Empirical Evaluation. Indian Cooperative Review, 42(2), 122-30.

Mukherjee S. (2011). Microfinance Through Cooperatives: Performance and Prospects. International Journal of Research in Commerce, Economics & Management, 1(7), November, 102-106.

Rachana, T. (2011). Financial Inclusion andPerformance of Rural Co-operative Banks in Gujarat. Research Journal of Finance and Accounting, 2(6), 40-50.

Rakshit D. & Chakrabarti, S. (2012). NPA Management of Rural Cooperative Banks of West Bengal: An Overview. Business Spectrum, I(3), January -- June.

Ratna &.Nimbalkar, K. (2011). A Study of NPA's -Reference To Urban Co-operative Bank. Golden Research Thoughts, 1(VI), December.

Selvaraj, A. (2013). Cooperative Bank's Performance in Tamil Nadu. Asia Pacific Journal of Marketing & Management *Review*, 2(6), June, 95-101.

Shah, D. (2007). Evaluating Financial Health of Credit Cooperatives in Maharashtra State of India. University Library of Munich, Germany, MPRA Paper-3949 (July).

Singh G. & Sukhmani (2011). An Analytical Study of Productivity and Profitability of District Central Cooperative Banks in Punjab. Journal on Banking Financial services and Insurance Research, 1(3), June, 128-142.

Soni A.K. & Singh S. H. (2013). Role of Cooperative Bank in Agricultural Credit: A study Based on Chhattisgarh. Abhinav, 1(10), 106-113.

Thirupathi, T. (2013). An Analysis of Financial performance of Select Primary Agricultural Cooperative Credit Societies in Mettur Taluk, Salem District. Research Front, 1(1), 19-24.

Varkey, J. (2014). Performance of Primary Agriculture Credit Societies (PACS): A Decadal Analysis. Cognitive Discourses International Multidisciplinary Journal, 2(1), 94-99. Retrieved from: http:// cdimj. naspublishers.com

Yogarani M. & Padhmanaban K.(2019). A Study on the Working Performance of Primary Agricultural Co-Operative Societies in India. Journal of the Gujarat Research Society. 21 (5), 157-165.

Reports

Annual Reports of NAFSCOB, 2013 to 2018

Data Base Issues in Indian Cooperative Credit System--- Bhima Subramanyam, Managing Director, NAFSCOB (March, 2013).

Government of India (2001). Report of the Joint Committee on Revitalisation Support to Cooperative Credit Structure. Ministry of Finance, Chairman, Balasaheb Vikhe Patil. Government of India (2004). Task Force on Revival of Cooperative credit Institutions. Chairman, A Vaidyanatahn.

Report of the expert committee headed by Dr. Prakash Bakshi to examine Three Tier Short term Co-operative Credit Structure (STCCS) Dated 24-01-2013,

Reserve Bank of India (2000). Report of the Task Force to Study the Cooperative Credit System and Suggest Measures for its Strengthening. Jagdish Kapoor.

Annexure

Table 1 : Growth rate in number of PACS

Region	Total PACS			
	Growth	t-stat		
NEZ	- 0.31%	1.016		
NZ	4.49%	4.066**		
SZ	-0.541%	1.541		
WZ	-0.197%	1.131		
All India	0.514%	2.355*		

Source: Computed by the researchers

*** 1% significance level, ** 5% significance level, *10% significance level.

Table 2 : Region wise	Growth Rate	of Membership	in PACS in India

Region	Total membership		SC membership		ST membership	
	Growth	t-stat	Growth	t-stat	Growth	t-stat
NEZ	2.32%	1.011	4.41%	1.592	-3.99%	1.079
NZ	3.53%	1.509	-20.77%	5.286	-11.05%	3.721
SZ	-0.452%	0.334	-5.41%	2.572	-3.69%	0.774
WZ	-0.241%	0.389	-1.21%	1.601	2.55%	5.218
All India	0.557%	0.750	-5.63%	5.644	-1.39%	1.324

Source: Computed by the researchers

Dester	Total bor	rowings	Total borrowers		Avg. borrowings	
Region	Growth	t-stat	Growth	t-stat	Growth	t-stat
NEZ	-0.681%	0.166	-4.63%	3.93	3.95%	1.167
NZ	17.02%	8.215***	-11.12%	4.153	28.14%	11.506***
SZ	5.93%	4.585***	7.26%	3.452	-1.33%	0.452
WZ	6.20%	4.357**	-28.03%	3.782	34.24%	3.922**
All India	7.15%	9.017***	0.787%	0.760	6.36%	5.563***

Table 3 : Region wise growth rate of Borrowers & Borrowings in PACS in India

Source: Computed by the researchers

*** 1% significance level, ** 5% significance level, *10% significance level.

Region	SC borrowers		ST borrowers	
	Growth	t-stat	Growth	t-stat
NEZ	-1.76%	0.362	-4.50%	0.799
NZ	-43.85%	7.661***	-36.35%	2.881
SZ	4.62%	1.437	5.32%	8.17
WZ	-5.07%	6.395***	-4.05%	1.484
All India	-6.43%	3.529**	-2.84%	2.568*

Source: Computed by the researchers

*** 1% significance level, ** 5% significance level, *10% significance level.

Manufacturing Excellence Model To Solve Operational Risks Due To Product Demand Variations

Rohit Kenge*& Zafar Khan

Sandip University, Nashik, India rohit.kenge@gmail.com

DoI:10.23862/kiit-parikalpana/2020/v16/i1-2/204565

Abstract

The dynamic product demand impacts the manufacturing supply cycle by creating some operational risks like high inventories, excess manpower, and underutilization of machines, etc. Business firms or companies get impacted financially due to the dynamic product demand with issues like rising finish goods, raw material, and in-process stocks or inventories, inefficient usage of resources like machines, water, and people, and excess or less manpower or job cuts.

We studied the lean manufacturing principle in a literature survey to understand the concept of the manufacturing excellence at the product manufacturing and its deployment to solve the above-listed issues due to product demand variations. Further, in research methodology, we considered the independent variable as dynamic product demand and the dependent variable as operational risks like high inventories, excess manpower, and underutilization of machines. We plotted the value stream map for the selected product manufacturing with daily demand 25 and 40 numbers to understand the operation risks that occur after changing the demands.

We proposed consolidated manufacturing excellence models for solving the operational risks and after deployment of them; we again plotted the value stream map for the selected product manufacturing with daily demand 25 and 40 numbers. We got gain of in the case of the daily 25 demand, total lead time reduced from 14.6 to 7.82 days that is 46.44% for in-house product manufacturing and in the case of the daily 40 demand, total lead time reduced from 26.18 to 15.18 days that is 42.01%. Total lead time in both cases is reduced by +40% that helped product manufacturing.

We conclude this research study as our manufacturing excellence models are successful in delivering the expected results at our selected product manufacturing.

Keywords: - VSM, Lean, Manufacturing Excellence Model, Inventory, Operational Risks.

Introduction

Background

The dynamic product demand impacts the manufacturing supply cycle by creating some operational risks like high inventories, excess manpower, and underutilization of machines, Business firms or companies etc. get impacted financially due to the dynamic product demand with issues like rising finish goods, raw material, and in-process stocks or inventories, inefficient usage of resources like machines, water, and people, and excess or less manpower or job cuts (Kenge, Rohit. & Khan, Zafar, 2020). We are addressing this statement of the problem by finding a consolidated business development model for manufacturing operation scope and standardizing it.

Definition

An actual manufacturing process consists of four parts that are man, machine, material, and method. Lean manufacturing is focused on detecting, preventing, or reducing, and eliminating waste in the process. The standard lean tools application at the manufacturing process involves five steps that are,

- a. Defining customer value or requirement.
- b. Value stream mapping for the defined value by considering all

the steps, further identify and eliminate the non-value-added process in it.

- c. Designing the value stream by eliminating all the waste in the process which will reduce the overall lead time (James P Womack and Daniel T Jones. March 1, 2003).
- d. Customer Pull deployment in the complete value stream.
- e. Standardize all the improvements done in the process.

Six Sigma, Lean manufacturing, and TQM that is total quality management are some of the tools used to manage manufacturing operations (D. Rizzardo and R. Brooks, 2003); (Hoyle, David, 2007). While each tool has a distinct set of actions, they all try to remove the wastage from the manufacturing process by optimizing the resources availed (Kokemuller, Neil, 2020).

Objective

To analyse the different operational risks caused by the product demand variations and provide a consolidated business excellence model for manufacturing to reduce it.

Literature Review

The framework of the customer to customer manufacturing operation

A framework of the customer to customer manufacturing operation is explained in figure 1 as below,



Figure 1: Manufacturing Operation Cycle (Industry forum, 2020)

Lean Manufacturing implementation

Lean manufacturing implementation involves key techniques namely Waste Elimination in the complete value chain (Merrill Douglas, June 2013), Continuous improvement i.e. Kaizen, Human respect, Production levelling i.e. Heijunka, Just in Time i.e. JIT, Single piece flow, Built-in quality, Mistake proofing i.e. Poka-Yoke, and Detecting defects through automation i.e. Jidoka (Page, Julian, 2003). . Let us discuss the nine Lean manufacturing tools in detail as below,

Waste Elimination

Lean can be termed as "with as little waste". Common Waste in the product manufacturing process is high inventory, not required resources, big size workstations, as it requires higher travel time between the workstations, Bottleneck operations, Excess manpower is deployed at a limited task, and process automation lacking (Christine Wheeler, Feb 17, 2014). The workflow is tracked from station to station and each work station is analyzed to reduce the above-mentioned types of wastage. process waste elimination Total is difficult in one go, however continuous improvement can be deployed to eliminate most of it (Tanya, February 12, 2019).

Kaizen that is Continuous Improvement

The process improvement first step is tracking and documenting the complete station to station of the production process. We need to identify wastage, gaps, and

inefficiency in our documented production and processes continuously improve it. Hence, continuous improvement and waste elimination work together (Rever team, January 29, 2019). An employee who is working at the analyzed station tells problems and possible improvement solutions for continuous improvement (Mika, Geoffrey L, 1999).

Human respect

The third lean technique is human respect that ensures a provision of the best work experience to employees for getting a consistent performance. Some examples of best practice provision are No overwork allocation to any of the employee, proper work training to all employees, allocation of the work targets aligned with their work purpose, targets review should be practiced for accountability, target achievements and gaps in it need to be found out with probable causes, also communicate individually to each employee for the closing of the gap with fewer disputes and to perform their work easily, further allocate challenge in their allocated work by rotating them to have variety in work. If we give our employees respect, they will give the best quality work output.

Heijunka that is Production Levelling

Production levelling states that every day our output will be the same. Based on our regular order booking status, every day we need to produce

80% the same output of the total booked order plan. On a day if excess quantity produced over the levelling plan, it can be moved to "fluctuation stocks", and on a day if we produce lesser quantity, we can utilize this fluctuation stock (Villanovau, Feb 6, 2018). Stock is considered as waste in the lean principle, but "fluctuation stock" reduces the in-process WIP by a big amount. The production rate must balance the dispatch rate to prevent the high FG inventory. Heijunka that is production levelling is applied to the products having a longer lead time of production and delivery or complex in sizes, also for the make-to-stock products. In make to stock case our "fluctuation stock" allow us to cater to the sudden booked orders (Jamie R. Friddle, 2020).

JIT that is Just in Time

JIT means no excess production. The final goal of JIT is minimum raw material inventory, WIP, and FG inventory. Production managers must plan a strategy to fight with sudden problems namely machine breakdown, absenteeism of manpower, and late raw material supply (Martin Murray, October 12, 2020). Make to order product suites to JIT than production levelling, as "fluctuation stock" in levelling immediate consumption is not predictable (Cleartax, Jun 05, 2020).

Single Piece Flow

Single piece flow is an action to reduce the in-process WIP and bottlenecks

in the production. As a single piece flow itself is one WIP at a time that eliminates the in-process WIP and improves the product quality as the focus is increasingly on a single piece (Ottomotors, Aug 24, 2017). Travel time gets reduced between stations to the station as the distance is zero (Ben Mulholland, January 5, 2018).

Built-in Quality:

The process must be capable of producing defects less and builtin quality products. Process defect types are manual error, machine breakdown, or wrong product supplied on an assembly line (Kanbanize, 2020). These defects may be prevented or eliminated by either Poka-Yoke or Jidoka that is automatic detection of defects on the line.

Poka-Yoke that is error proofing

Error proofing is the prevention of errors in three systematic ways (RNA Automation, 2020) at source error identification, prevention, and elimination.

Jidoka that is the automatic detection of defects on the line

The machine is checking the product to detect or prevent the occurrence or passing of the defect to the next station without a manual check. After detecting the error machine alarms the worker who is working at that machine, further, he gets to know that some error has happened.

Methodology

An Empirical Hypothesis statement three

The dynamic product demand impacts the manufacturing supply cycle by creating some operational risks like high inventories, excess manpower, and underutilization of machines, etc. We assumed the above condition in the following way,

• Independent Variable: Dynamic Product Demand

• Dependent Variable: Operational risks like high inventories, excess manpower, and underutilization of machines, etc.

Primary Data Collection

We are going to plot the Value stream map (Manos, Tony, June 2006) for the complete product manufacturing cycle for the sample original electrical products manufactured at the Nasik District to understand the different operational risks caused by the dynamic product demand. We plotted a value stream map for in-house Product manufacturing with the daily demand of 25 Numbers as shown below in Figure2,

Next, we plotted a value stream map for complete Customer to Customer Product delivery with the daily demand of 40 Numbers with as shown below in Figure3,


Figure2: Value Stream Map for Product with the daily demand of 25 Numbers



Figure3: Value Stream Map for Product with the daily demand of 40 Numbers

Analysis of the collected Primary VSM data

We analysed the following key operational risks from the above two Value Stream Mapping data for the same product with daily demand 25 and 40 numbers,

- 1. Inventory level increases for the lower daily demand for the same product manufacturing.
- 2. Total lead time increases as the inventory between station to station increases in days.
- 3. Higher inventory's results in higher space consumption, it may

further lead to safety issues for the operator's working at the work stations within reduced space than earlier.

- 4. Raw Material quality may degrade as waiting time is higher in case of the lower daily demand.
- 5. Manpower excess issue occurs for lower daily demand if demand changes suddenly.
- 6. Machines utilization or overall equipment efficiency for lower demand is not good.

The solution to answer the above operational risks due to changing demand

1. Industry 4.0 improves employee work-life, their productivity, and reduces the operation cost in mass manufacturing processes (Padovano et al, January 1, 2018). Industry 4.0 may be a boon in the CORONA pandemic by the deployment of its key principles like digitization, networking, and internet use. It also tries to deploy automation that communicates in real-time (Kenge, Rohit. & Khan, Zafar, 2020).

SCM 4.0 is the consolidation of 2. big data, IoT, and AI by deploying internet networks, sensors, and data analysing tools at the process for consumer satisfaction (Mckinsey, October 27, 2016). The Supply chain overall efficiency improves by eliminating digital waste in the process. SCM 4.0 try's a granular, and faster, efficient, flexible, digitized manufacturing process. The SCM 4.0 principles create a change in manufacturing agility, capital cost, and service (Kenge, Rohit. & Khan, Zafar, 2020).

From the above data, we proposed the following model number 1 and model number 2 for deployment at the product manufacturing to answer the operational risks we listed,

Market Support- Customized Business	Objective-Reduction of response time @15% in 1st attempt
	Key focus area Identified-FMS Implementation
	Flexible Manufacturing system application strategy
	Develop customer response system (IT solution)
	Implementation of FMS to improve response Time
$\overline{\Box}$	
Product Quality	Objective-Quality defect reduction
	Analysis of Existing process
	Identifying the actions for each Workstation improvement and Plan for Implementation of action defined

Organization post Go-live (Responsibilities/escalation)	
Six Sigma deployment	
\bigcup	
Objective-Lean Six Sigma deployment at internal stakeholders	
Selection of stakeholder	
Study and make a proposal	
Workshop for Implementation	
Lean platform-Preparation of Knowledge database	
Lean Platform database ready online	
Ţ	
VSM	
Flow Levelling	
Standardization	
and SCM 4.0 Standardization	
Define Team	
Group strategy on SRM tool	
Finalization of potential vendors from the purchase side	
Group SRM functionality availability & assessment	
Alternate at the local level to be explored	

Table1: Manufacturing excellence model1



Figure4: Manufacturing excellence model2

We deployed both these manufacturing excellence models at our product manufacturing as per the sequence proposed and redrawn the value stream map for our selected product manufacturing for comparing the results with earlier VSM plotted.

Results

We are going to plot the Value stream map for the in-house and the complete

product manufacturing cycle for the sample original electrical products manufactured at the Nasik District to understand the different operational risks caused by the dynamic product demand.

We plotted a value stream map for inhouse product manufacturing with the daily demand of 25 Numbers as shown below in Figure5,



Figure6: Value Stream Map for Product with the daily demand of 25 Numbers after improvements

Next, we plotted a value stream map for complete Customer to Customer Product delivery with the daily demand of 40 Numbers with as shown below in Figure7,

After deployment of both the manufacturing excellence models, we quantified the gains from the above value stream mapping as below,

- In the case of the daily 25 demand, total lead time reduced from 14.6 to 7.82 days that is 46.44% for inhouse product manufacturing.
- 2. In the case of the daily 40 demand, the total lead time reduced from 26.18 to 15.18 days that is 42.01%.

Total lead time in both cases is reduced by +40% that helped the product manufacturing by following ways,



Figure7: Value Stream Map for Product with the daily demand of 40 Numbers after improvements

- 1. Inventory level between stations to the station is reduced drastically.
- 2. Total lead time was reduced by half.
- 3. Space consumption is reduced, which may prevent the probable safety issues for the operator's working at the workstations within reduced space than earlier.
- 4. Raw Material quality rises as the shelf life of inventory on the shop floor is reduced.

Conclusion

The dynamic product demand impacts the manufacturing supply cycle by creating some operational risks like high inventories, excess manpower, and underutilization of machines, etc. Business firms or companies get impacted financially due to the dynamic product demand with issues like rising finish goods, raw material, and in-process stocks or inventories, inefficient usage of resources like machines, water, and people, and excess or less manpower or job cuts. We addressed this statement of the problem by finding two consolidated business development models for manufacturing operation excellence. After deployment of these two models at selected product manufacturing, we got gain of in the case of the daily 25 demand, total lead time reduced from 14.6 to 7.82 days that is 46.44% for inhouse product manufacturing and in the case of the daily 40 demand, total lead time reduced from 26.18 to 15.18 days that is 42.01%. Total lead time in both cases is reduced by +40% that helped product manufacturing.

We conclude this research study as our manufacturing excellence models are successful in delivering the expected results at our selected product manufacturing.

REFERENCES

D. Rizzardo and R. Brooks. (2003). *Understanding Lean Manufacturing*, Maryland Technology Enterprise Institute.

Hoyle, David (2007), *Quality Management Essentials*, Oxford, United Kingdom: Butterworth-Heinemann, p. 200, ISBN 9780750667869.

Industry forum, (2020). Manufacturing Operations is where people, and produce goods for sale. Retrieved from, https://www.industryforum.co.uk/ consultancy/manufacturing-operation s/#:~:text=ManufacturingOperationsis wherepeople,andproducegoodsforsale.

Jamie R. Friddle. (2020). *Heijunka the art of levelling production*. Retrieved from https://www.isixsigma.com/ methodology/lean-methodology/ heijunka-the-art-of-levelingproduction/.

Kanbanize. (2020). *The built in quality management of continuous improvement*. Retrieved from https://kanbanize.com/lean-management/improvement/continuous-quality-improvement.

Kenge, Rohit. & Khan, Zafar. (2020). THE RECESSION, ITS IMPACT AND INDIA'S RESPONSE. *World Affairs*. 24(3). 98-109.

Kenge, Rohit & Khan, Zafar. (2020). A CONCEPTUAL STUDY OF THE SUPPLY CHAIN MANAGEMENT 4.0 IMPLEMENTATION PROCESS. *GSTF Journal of Engineering Technology*. 10(2). 12-16. 10.46360/cosmos. Mika, Geoffrey L. (1999). *Kaizen Event Implementation Manual.*

Neil Kokemuller, (2020). Manufacturing operations management. Retrieved from, https://smallbusiness.chron. com/manufacturing-operationsmanagement-69293.html.

Padovano, Antonio; Longo, Francesco; Nicoletti, Letizia; Mirabelli, Giovanni (January 1, 2018). "A Digital Twin based Service Oriented Application for a 4.0 Knowledge Navigation in the Smart Factory". *IFAC-PapersOnLine*. 16th IFAC Symposium on Information Control Problems in Manufacturing INCOM 2018. 51 (11): PP 631–636.

Page, Julian. (2003). *Implementing Lean Manufacturing Techniques*.

RNA Automation. (2020). *Poka-Yoke in Manufacturing*. Retrieved from https://www.rnaautomation.com/blog/poka-yoke-in-manufacturing/.

James P Womack and Daniel T Jones. (March 1, 2003) *Lean Thinking*, 2nd Edition, ISBN 978-0-7432-4927-0.

Manos, Tony (June 2006). "Value Stream Mapping-an Introduction" (PDF). *Quality Progress*. American Society for Quality. p. 64.

Merrill Douglas (June 2013). "The Lean Supply Chain: Watch Your Waste Line". Inbound logistics.

Christine Wheeler. (Feb 17, 2014). *Eliminating 7 types of waste with 5s methodology*. Retrieved from https://www.newcastlesys.com/blog/ bid/336185/eliminating-7-types-ofwaste-with-5s-methodology.

Mckinsey. (October 27, 2016). Supply chain 4.0-the next generation digital supply chain. Retrieved from https:// www.mckinsey.com/businessfunctions/operations/our-insights/ supply-chain-40--the-next-generationdigital-supply-chain.

Ottomotors. (Aug 24, 2017). Advantages of one piece flow manufacturing. Retrieved from https://ottomotors. com/blog/advantages-of-one-pieceflow-manufacturing.

Ben Mulholland. (January 5, 2018). *How one piece flow can reduce your operation time by 96%?* Retrieved from https://www.process.st/one-piece-flow/.

Villanovau. (Feb 6, 2018). *Heijunka*. Retrieved from https://www. villanovau.com/resources/six-sigma/ heijunka/. Rever team. (January 29, 2019). *What is kaizen definition*? Retrieved from https://reverscore.com/what-is-kaizen-definition/.

Tanya. (February 12, 2019). *Lean systems and waste elimination*. Retrieved from https://www. setpointusa.com/blog/lean-systems-waste-elimination/#:~:text=Waste%20 elimination%20is%200ne%200f,is%20 and%20where%20it%20exists.

Cleartax. (Jun 05, 2020). Just in time jit inventory management. Retrieved from https://cleartax.in/s/just-in-time-jitinventory-management.

Martin Murray. (October12, 2020). *What is just in time supply chain*? Retrieved from https://www.thebalancesmb. com/just-in-time-jit-2221262.

Kenge, Rohit. & Khan, Zafar. (2020). A case study of industry 4.0 implementation in manufacturing industry. *The Clarion- International Multidisciplinary Journal.* 9(2). 6-11. 10.5958/2277-937X.2020.00010.6.

Opportunities for Tribal Entrepreneurship Development in Jharkhand to Combat Post COVID -19 Challenges

Vinamrta

Senior Research Fellow University Department of Sociology, Ranchi University, Ranchi, Jharkhand vinamrta123@gmail.com

Utpal Kumar Chakraborty

Assistant Professor, Department of Sociology, Abdul Bari Memorial College, Jamshedpur, Jharkhand chakraborty.uoo7@gmail.com

DoI:10.23862/kiit-parikalpana/2020/v16/i1-2/204563

Abstract

The COVID -19 pandemic affected almost all the dimensions of our ecosystem and the worst affected one is the economical aspect. The complete shutdown of many economic activities forced the migrant laborers to be back to their home state/town/village and look for the local livelihood options. The present article with a help of primary and secondary sources is an attempt to analyze the situation of entrepreneurship development among the tribals of Jharkhand. The paper present the case studies to show that entrepreneurial education and focused area approach with proper government policy is the need of the hour for more and more local job creation for the tribal community of Jharkhand.

Keywords: Tribal Entrepreneurship, Entrepreneurial Development, Tribals of Jharkhand

1. INTRODUCTION

The pandemic 2020 of COVID -19 has severely impacted the world economy. For reducing the spread of disease Government of India has also opted for 'lockdown' to maintain the distance between people. This lockdown process which started with closing of non – essential economic activities has badly impacted the Indian economy (The Economic Times, 2020). The migrant workers, daily wage earners and labor force of unorganized sectors are the worst affected ones. This also started the return migration within India. If one side it resulted into the shortage of labor for industries and agricultural activities and impacted the production process on another side it became a crucial concern for government to provide livelihood options to the people specially the retuned migrants. The state of Jharkhand is among one of those states in India who witnessed the heavy inflow of returned migrants. It is important to note that Jharkhand state government was the first in the country who took initiative to bring migrants. On 1st May 2020 first train from Telangana came to Jharkhand with migrant workers also Jharkhand government was the first to take initiative of airlifting the migrants from Ladakh region (Barik, 2020; Indian Railways, 2020).

The state of Jharkhand formed in the year 2000. The state is known for its rich flora-fauna and mineral resources and at the same time it is also one of the EAG (Empowered Action Group) state. On one side 40% of Indian mineral resources are found in Iharkhand and another side 39.1% of Jharkhand population is living below the poverty line (UNDP, 2011). According to census 2011, Jharkhand has a total 8,645,042 ST (Scheduled Tribe) population which is approximately 26% of the Jharkhand total population and 8.29% of Indian total tribal population. There are total 32 Scheduled Tribes in Jharkhand out of these 9 are Particularly Vulnerable Tribal Groups (PVTGs). However more than 90% of tribal population resides in rural areas in Jharkhand where 24.05% of Jharkhand total population lives in cities and rest 75.95% in rural area as per census 2011. The RBI (Reserve Bank of India) Handbook of Statistics on Indian Economy and Economic

Survey of India 2010-11reported that the contribution of Industry to the NSDP (Net State Domestic Product) of Jharkhand in 2009-10 is more than double of agricultural contribution. year 2009-10, the agriculture In contributes 16.68% to the NSDP and industry contributes to the 35.82% while the contribution of service sector is highest with 47.50% (RBI, 2011).Although the state of Jharkhand has such a huge reserve of resources but the situation of employment for labor force is very poor as revealed in the Jharkhand Economic Survey 2016 -17. Report pointed out that the ratio of main workers to total workforce in Jharkhand is 52.05% against the national average of 75.23% in year 2011. This ratio witnessed a sharp decline as in 2001 it was 63.77% in Jharkhand. It is clearly mentioned in the report that the reason behind the sharp decline of more than 10% is related to the availability of employment opportunities in the state. The report further stated that regular employment opportunities are insufficient in Jharkhand and the available workforce is also not capable to grab the available additional employment opportunities in the state (GoJ, 2017). However government of Jharkhand along with the central government launched many schemes for skill enhancement like Model Career Centre, Pradhan Mantri Kaushal Vikas Yojna (PMKVY), Deen Dayal Upadhyay Grameen Kaushalya Yojana (DDU-GKY), Saksham Jharkhand Kaushal Vikas Yoina (SJKVY), Craftsman Training Scheme and Skill Development

Mission. Most of these schemes have creation of wage employment as focus area and in year 2013 there are approximately 93000 MSME (Micro, Small and Medium Enterprises) units in Jharkhand providing employment to more than 3 lakhs people. However 95% of MSME units are concentrated in only 6 sectors. These sectors are Food Processing, Textile/Hosiery, Wood, Mechanical, Glass and Ceramics and Metallurgy. It has been observed that the skill development alone is bringing the regional wide disparity in the state in terms of rural versus urban as well as among districts and blocks. For example approximately 85% of the skill developmentinstitutes are concentrated in 8 districts of the State resulted into disparity in training capacities between districts. Infrastructure related to vocational training is also unevenly spread over in the state. The 92% of training has been directed towards only 3 trades - Electrician, Fitter and Mechanic (Diesel) (NSDC, 2013) Recognizing the significant contribution of MSME business units in employment generation, government of Jharkhand has also started focusing on entrepreneurship development in the state. The vision and action plan 2021 document set the target of establishment of incubation centers across all 24 districts under 'Stand Up India' and 'Start Up India' initiatives. Jharkhand state government has also planned for Entrepreneurship Hub establishment in the state (Gol, It is also remarkable that 2018). Jharkhand jumped from 7th position

in 2017 to 4th position in 2018 on 'Ease of Doing Business Index' prepared by Department of Industrial Policy and Promotion, Government of India and World Bank (GoI, 2018). The importance of MSMEs is also recognized in the 'Atmanirbhar Bharat' mission as it is included in the first phase of the mission (National Portal of India, 2020). The Atmanirbhar Bharat mission is the step taken by Government of India after announcement of un-lockdown phase - I with a vision of making India self - reliant and mitigating the threats posed by COVID-19 pandemic on Indian economy.

2. LITERATURE REVIEW

Economic development is the most desired indicator by any group, or country community, affecting the industrial growth in the region. Entrepreneur is visualizes as one of the key figure and entrepreneurship as an innovative activity ((Schumpeter, 1934), as one of the necessary conditions (Parsons and Smelser , 1956), as dynamic forces (Sayigh, 1952) for desired economic development due to its multitasking role. Entrepreneurs are considered as critical contributors towards the economic growth of a country (Kuratko and Hodgetts, 2004). It is important to note that there is no definition of "entrepreneur" which uniformly universally accepted is among the researchers as well as in the literature (Carlock, 1994; Grant & Perren, 2002). Different perspectives have been adopted by different schools

of thought to define entrepreneurship and entrepreneur (Kruger, 2004). There are two clusters of thought which have been identified on entrepreneurship theoretical framework. One cluster focused the meaning of the entrepreneurship based on characteristics of entrepreneurship like uniqueness, growth and innovation, while other group based their approach on the outcomes of entrepreneurship like the value creation (Sharma and Chrisman, 1999).

Entrepreneurship has been defined by the National Knowledge Commission of India (2008) as the "professional application of knowledge, skills and competencies and/or of monetizing a new idea, by an individual or a set of people by launching an enterprise de novo or diversifying from an existing one (distinct from seeking self employment as in a profession or trade), thus to pursue growth while generating wealth, employment and social good" (Goswami, 2008). However Entrepreneurship definition is always associated with the capability of entrepreneurs to discover, evaluate and exploit the opportunities in order to introduce new goods and services, their ways of organizing, production process and marketing strategies that earlier had not existed in the economic market (Venkataraman, 1997; Shane & Venkataraman, 2000).

The role played by entrepreneur is an important dimension in defining the type of entrepreneurship and the emerging benefit from them. An entrepreneur can be a leader, manager or just a coordinator (Kruger, 2004). The blend of social, cultural, economical, psychological, political as well as environmental characteristics makes the entrepreneurship concept multidisciplinary in nature. The common behaviors and traits expected from entrepreneurs are: Locating business opportunity, able to а accumulate resources. knowledge of marketing products and services, skills for producing the product, leader and managerial quality to build an organisation, and quick in responding to the environment (government and society) (Gartner, 1985). This very nature of entrepreneurship concept opens it to various conceptual framework approaches. Many scholars of various disciplines gave theories to define and categorization of entrepreneurs and entrepreneurship development.

Multiple factors have been responsible for evolution and development of entrepreneurship. It is better to take an integrated or holistic approach analyze the entrepreneurship to a target group specially the for disadvantageous groups like rural societies. tribal Economic areas, backwardness, mass poverty with low literacy, unemployment, inadequate infrastructural administrative and facilities forces the tribal community for having a low level of living standard. Traditional community Tribal is having 03 major occupational sector as agriculture, forestry and handicrafts and similar to barter economy which

must be supported to convert into a market economy with the help of the process of entrepreneurship. The increasing population size, poor skilled population is resulting into disguised employment in agriculture sector. The pressure on available land is increasing day by day, in tribal area limited arable land aggravate this situation. The development of major dams, mining activities are also alienating the tribal community from the land. Hence, it is imperative to think of new income sources and ways of livelihood to reduce the incidence of poverty in tribal dominated regions. Study shows that Canadian Aboriginal communities adopted and successfully implemented strategies of promoting the the forest and their uses along with development entrepreneurship to enhance their socio - economic condition (Anderson and Giberson 2004; Anderson et al. 2005; Wyatt 2008). Self-employment is described as the only feasible way through which people belonging to indigenous tribes and lower caste groups in India can be found jobs. The ownership of small enterprises can effectively empower these marginal people (Harper, 1991). The role of local community is very significant for entrepreneurial environment development (Morky, 1988). For example, close relatives can help in locating and accumulating of resources for entrepreneurs (GnYawali & Fogel, 1994). It has been noted down that projecting the stories of successful tribal entrepreneurs and treating them as role model is very efficacious

in development of entrepreneurial environment in tribal regions. The Factors affecting the establishment, development expansion and of business activities in tribal economy includes 'need for motive', resources entrepreneur's availability, skills. social - political support system 1975). Self-employment (Rao, has proven as a way out to get rid of quasi - permanent state of poverty as well as unemployment situation. Development of self - employment oriented entrepreneurship is the need for achieving the balanced regional sustainable development and for economic power decentralization.

3. **RESEARCH GAP**

Since independence Government of India has launched various schemes for industrial development in the country. On 12th May 2020, Prime Minister Narendra Modi launched the mission of 'Atmanirbhar Bharat' during the announcement of economic package related to Covid -19 pandemic. Various sectors have been identified with special focus on providing job options to returned migrants. In the state of Iharkhand Chief Minister Hemant Soren already announced 03 schemes in the 1st week of May 2020 for reviving rural economy and providing livelihood options to the locals. But will this be sufficient enough in providing employment to the 6 Lakhs returned migrant workers (Till June 2020) of Jharkhand (Mukesh, 2020)? What will happen to the youths of Jharkhand who

are in the queue to get a job? Here private industries can play a role up to some extent in providing job opportunities to the locals. But what are the available options to the tribal youths who want to take a risk to get into a business, who want to be an entrepreneur? What are the opportunities for the tribal youths of Jharkhand in the identified sectors under 'Atmanirbhar Bharat' mission? This paper is an attempt to search for the solution for these unanswered questions of tribal entrepreneurs.

4. **RESEARCH OBJECTIVES**

- To examine the linkage between tribal economy and industrial development in Jharkhand.
- To analyze the available entrepreneurship options for tribal youths in Jharkhand.
- To know the current situation of employment options available to Jharkhand returned migrants in COVID -19 pandemic.
- To explore various sectors for development of tribal entrepreneurship in post COVID -19 era in Jharkhand

5. RESEARCH METHODOLOGY

This paper is developed during COVID -19 pandemic time period by using the primary as well as secondary data sources. Telephonic interview is used for primary data collection and content analysis has been done for analyzing the case study from secondary data sources. Various articles on entrepreneurship, tribal economy, industries of Jharkhand are used to gather the relevant information. Secondary sources also includes reports of different agencies like Indian central ministries and state ministries reports on skill development, their policies related to entrepreneurship, tribal and small scale industries development, articles from reputed national and international journals, web pages etc.

6. ANALYSIS & DISCUSSION

The vision of 'Atmanirbhar Bharat' mission targets the development of o5 major areas known as 'five pillars': Economy, Infrastructure, System, Vibrant Demography and Demand. The developments in these segments are targeted through five phases of Atmanirbhar Bharat. The very first phase started with the focus on 'Businesses including MSMEs'. The second phase has 'Poor, including migrants and farmers' as prime focus and Agriculture in 3rd phase (National Portal of India, 2020). The Women Self - Help Groups (SHGs) are encouraged for economic activities under the Pradhan Mantri Garib Kalyan Package (02) by increasing the limit of collateral free lending to Rs. 20 lakhs from Rs. 10 lakhs (GoI, 2020). This is a very good opportunity for a state like Jharkhand which has a sizeable tribal population of more than 26% as per census 2011. Traditionally forest produce, agriculture and livestock are 03 major economic activities for a tribal household along with some crafting techniques. Various

studies pointed out the impact of forestry on tribal household economy and role of women in it (Yadma & et al. 1997). However the low knowledge level of mainstream economic market system and limited access and control of traditional resources excluded the tribal women and hampered the overall development of tribal community (Panda, 2017). Nowadays with various schemes and policies government and Non - Governmental Organizations (NGOs) are putting effort in developing the small businesses among the tribal women especially with the help of SHGs. Some examples of successful enterprises run by SHGs in Jharkhand are as follows:

Case 1: Lac based Livelihood model of Udyogini:

Many NGOs worked towards the livelihood promotion for non - timber forest products (NTFP) among the tribal women through SHGs. The Lac based project was started by Udyogini in partnership with Poorest Areas Civil Society (PACS) Programme in Gumla district of Jharkhand. The project became very successful due to its inclusive strategy and adopted by many NGOs. It comprises of five components. It starts from introducing scientific practices for lac cultivation to the producers. After supporting the producers with proper technology and training the project also have a separate component which focuses on Lac Business Development Service Providers (LacBDSPs) for training and monitoring of Package of Scientific

Cultivation of Lac (PSCL) applications. The next step includes the Brood Farm promotion and then the crucial part of establishing the Village Level Service Centers (VSLCs). These centers empower women in marketing and work for the capability enhancement of the women. The project last step is to institutionalization of lac production through Cooperatives (Goud, 2016). This model proves that by focusing on a single product with proper training and guidance a hamlet can became a production hub and tribal can get additional income from NTFPs.

The phase - 1 report of Atmanirbhar Bharat already pointed out that due to COVID -19 marketing and liquidity are the major problems for MSMEs. The presentation suggested for the promotion of e-market linkages as trade fairs and exhibitions are completely shut due to COVID situation (Covid-19 Inter ministerial notification). It has also been recommended by researchers that for the diversification of their business government should provide entrepreneurial education to the youths (Khakhalary, 2017).

The agriculture (including livestock farming, horticulture and sericulture) along with forestry and handicraft skills are traditional income sources or livelihood options for tribal community in Jharkhand. Apart from these, dense forest as wild animal's habitat, variety of flora and fauna, mountains, falls, rivers make Jharkhand a rich bio – diversity state. The eco –tourism, healthy organic food production and herbal medicine are some of the sectors associated with Jharkhand historical heritage and traditional knowledge base. These sectors can be good ventures for tribal entrepreneurs with skill enhancement training. The various products based on the usage of Mahua has already proven as a significant livelihood option for the tribal people and forest dwellers in Jharkhand (Kumar & et al 2018).

Case 2: Chandra Mani Kunkal (A Lorry Woman): The owner of Kunkal Enterprises

Chandra Mani Kunkal born in 1967 as a daughter of a crane operator father in Jamshedpur and get a chance to have quality education. After completing her post - graduation she did not get a job as per her qualification. For almost one decade worked she worked as a school teacher and part -time insurance agent. She get associated with an NGO who worked for tribal rights. The group is a strong supporter for the affirmative policies compliance for natural resource dependent sectors like mining. Tata Group has wholeheartedly implemented this and many tribal entrepreneurs became vendor of Tata Group starting from labor supplier in construction work to transportation of coal and other materials. In November 2011, Chandra Mani Kunkal became the transportation vendor of Tata Group and in financial year 2018-19 her company Kunkal Enterprises registered a turnover of 15 crores. She made her way out in a male dominated transportation sector owning more than 50 large trucks and giving

employment to more than 300 persons (Dalit Enterprise, 2019). She is a perfect example where a tribal woman started from scratch and with proper policy support became a successful job giver.

Jharkhand is known for its rich coal and mineral resources. The above mentioned case study can be taken as a role model for upgrading the employment and compensation policy in Jharkhand mining industry. The local tribals should given priority not only into jobs but also in string up the small enterprises associated with the allied sectors of mining industry like transportation and construction works.

Case 3: Didi Café:

Poonam a resident of Kutte village of Nagri Block of Ranchi district owns Didi Café in the Jagganathpur area . The café which had a business of just Rs. 145 at first day, now doing a business of Rs. 15,000 on a daily basis. The Didi café idea was supported by Jharkhand State Livelihood Promotion Society (JSLPS) by giving loan to the SHG. JSLPS make sure to check the market viability for the idea proposed by SHG in their respective business area or villages or panchayats. It reduces the risk for entrepreneurs (Kislaya, 2019).

This case is the role model for the women entrepreneurs and also for the agency looking for successful model for tribal entrepreneurship development in a particular region. It shows that a proper feasibility study of business idea, enterprise location and market situation helps in reducing the level of risk for the entrepreneurs. The capital support and monitoring from government can turn new ventures into successful sustainable enterprises.

A geographical region may become isolated due to poor infrastructure development and it reduces the economic activities opportunities in the area. Studies have shown that tribal dominated area one side having the poor infrastructure and tribal entrepreneurs often failed due to financial challenges like Start-up and working capital problem, difficulty in borrowing fund etc. (Pravesh, 2016).

Case 4: Nirja Nikki: She is the shining example of first generation tribal entrepreneur. She belongs to a very well educated family. Her father was an engineer and mother was a school teacher. She received a high quality education in English medium. She worked for more than 10 years in apparel industry in Delhi and moved back to her roots i.e. in Ranchi. She became an entrepreneur along with her husband and currently owning 'White Blossom Bridal Wear'. She perfectly used her educational qualification and experience of Apparel industry in making her business successful. Apart from full time employees she also outsources many of her work orders (Dalit Enterprise, 2019).

This case study put forward an example of impact of quality education on the empowerment of tribals which enable them to take risk and be a successful entrepreneur.

Case 5: Santosh Hembram:

The founder of 'AMICI Tech Solution', Santosh Hembram is the living example for many tribal entrepreneurs who want to venture into emerging industrial sector. Santosh was born in year 1986 at "Kitajhor" of Jamtara District of Jharkhand. His family was displaced Valley Corporation Damodar for (DVC) project and fortunately his father invested part of the received compensatory amount towards the education of their children. But the saved amount was not sufficient enough to provide quality education to 02 sons of the family. Santosh elder brother sacrificed his higher education for him. He completed his graduation in computer technology but did not get job satisfaction. So he decided to be an entrepreneur, and founded the company 'AMICI Tech Solution' with two other partners. Due to sudden death of one of the partner, the company was unable to complete orders on time and but with support of his wife he able to reestablish the company in the market. His wife is working with United Bank of India and always supported him. (Dalit Enterprise, 2019) The success journey of Santosh shows that with little bit patience and family support a knowledgeable tribal person can be entrepreneur in emerging economic sectors also.

We are living in the era of knowledge society filled up with the modernization thoughts and digital technology. So it is very significant that government should modify and upgrade their policy and programs which will be helpful for tribal entrepreneurs in venturing into the '2E' market i.e. being E- preneur('E' for Electronic platform i.e. e-commerce) and Eco-preneur (Environmental friendly products and services) (Khakhalary, 2017).

Case 6: Doman Tudu:

Taking forward the tribal heritage of knowledge with proper integration of modern techniques and market oriented steps can define only a part of the empire established by Mr. Tudu. Rusicaaa's a well known brand, has been the fruit of Mr. Tudu's hard work after leaving his job as a Quality Control Manager in a big brand company over an quality dispute. He is an alumnus of National Institute of Fashion Technology, Bangalore. Mr. Tudu is also the president at Dalit Indian Chamber of Commerce and Industry. His efforts are appreciated by US ambassador to India as well and many big names have been the partner to his brand. His brand Rusica Trends Pvt. Ltd. started in year 2013 and gets recognized by Govt. of Jharkhand (GoJ) also and special support for infrastructural development has been announced by the GoJ. He is also the mentor for more than 100 entrepreneurs under the start up India mission. (From Primary Sources)

7. **RESEARCH FINDINGS**

The data gathered from the secondary sources shows that MSMEs sector have given positive result from tribal entrepreneurship point of view. The selected case studies represented into the analysis and discussion section strengthen the idea of having a supporting policy developed on considering the tribal knowledge base and regular government monitoring system could be helpful in having more number of tribal entrepreneurs in the state.

The focus of entrepreneurship development should be based on the local available resources. the rich bio-diversity of Jharkhand and on the location benefit. For example in dense forest and hilly area ecotourism should be given priority. For this government can provide training related to hospitality industry to the local youths. Similarly in mining sector MSME of mining allied sector should be promoted by the government as well as by the private companies (Case 2). The entrepreneurial education and capital support is always helpful in risk reduction and motivating the youths to start up their business (Case 1 and Case 3). The knowledge of the selected sector and market linkage is helpful in handling the ups and down in the business and making the enterprises sustainable in long run (Case 4, Case 5 and case 6).

8. CONCLUSION

The COVID -19 pandemic has severely impacted the economy. The more number of job creation especially on local area basis is among the prime priorities area for government. Jharkhand state with a sizeable 26%

of tribal population needs to stimulate the tribal entrepreneurship in the state to have more number of job givers. Researchers have pointed out the problem of poor infrastructure, low level of credit linkage accessibility difficult position of tribal and entrepreneurs due to low exposure to technical knowhow. MSMEs in agriculture (including the horticulture and sericulture), NTFP, mining, ecotourism based allied sectors should be encouraged and supported by the government of Jharkhand. The entrepreneurial education is also one of the most required dimensions for tribal entrepreneurship development in the state.

9. **RECOMMENDATIONS**

- Entrepreneurial educational institutions and skill training institutes should be located in different regions in order to make it accessible for the youths and to motivate them for starting up new businesses. It will also be helpful in reducing the regional disparity in the state.
- Awareness program with the help of successful tribal entrepreneurs as role model should be carried out to reduce the social stigma towards taking up new businesses in the tribal community.
- Capital support and market linkage should be regularly given and monitored by the government.

Agriculture, forestry and mining based allied sectors should be promoted for entrepreneurial activities in order to have optimum utilization of available rich bio - diversity in the state.

10. SCOPE FOR FUTURE RESEARCH

The main focus area of this paper is to analyze the situation of tribal entrepreneurship in the state of Jharkhand. Therefore it further opens up the area to do the similar studies in other states of India. This paper also contribute towards building the basic information platform for various entrepreneurship opportunities available to the tribal youths which can help the other researchers in doing the in-depth study of tribal economy and its changing scenario in the post COVID -19 pandemic period. It also opens up new areas of study related to the employment of returned migrants in Iharkhand.

11. LIMITATIONS

The analysis done in this paper is purely based on the secondary data sources which put a question on the reliability of mentioned data. This limits the effectiveness probability of the given recommendations. The mentioned areas of entrepreneurship development also demand the feasibility study before any action.

12. REFERENCES

Anderson, R.B. and Giberson R.J. (2004). "Aboriginal Entrepreneurship and Economic Development in Canada: Thoughts on Current Theory and Practice", *International Research in the Business Disciplines*, 4: 141-167.

Anderson, R.B., Camp R.D., Dana, L.P., Honig, B. Nkongolo-Bakenda, J.-M. and Peredo, A.M. (2005). "Indigenous land rights in Canada: the foundation for development?",*Int. J. Entrepreneurship and Small Business*, 2(2): 104-133.

Barik, S. (2020). "Coronavirus lockdown | Jharkhand flies its migrant workers back from Leh", *The Hindu*, 29 May, 2020,available at: https:// www.thehindu.com/news/national/ other-states/coronavirus-lockdownjharkhand-flies-its-migrant-workersback-from-leh/article31703779.ece

Carlock, R.S. (1994). The need for organization development in successful entrepreneurial firms. New York: Garland Publishing Inc.

Dalit Enterprise - Tribal World (2019). Vol 1, Issue 12

Gartner, W.B. (1985). A conceptual framework for describing the phenomenon of new venture creation. Academy of management review, vol. 10(4): 696-706

Gnyawali, D.R. & Fogel, D.S. (1994). Environments for Entrepreneurship Development: Key Dimensions and Research Implications, *Entrepreneurship Theory & Practice*, Vol. 8, No.4, pp. 43-62. Goswami A, Dalmia N., & Pradhan M, (2008). Entrepreneurship National Knowledge Commission, Government of India Publication.

Goud, V. V. (2016). Scientific Lac Cultivation for Poverty Alleviation and Environmental Conservation – A PACS-Udyogini Model in Gumla District, Jharkhand. Working Paper 2.

Government of India (GoI) (2018). "Ease of Doing Business Index", Department of Industrial Policy and Promotion and World Bank

Governemnt of India (GoI) (2020). Un-Lockdown Phase 1 presenttaion: Atma Nirbhar Bharat. Part – 1 : Businesses including MSMEs

Government of Jharkhand (GoJ) (2017). "Jharkhand Economic Survey 2016-17", Planning-cum-Finance Department Finance Division

Government of Jharkhand (GoJ) (2018). "Jharkhand Vision and Action Plan 2021", Ranchi

Grant, P. & Perren, L. (2002). Small business and entrepreneurial research: meta- theories, paradigms and prejudices. International small business journal, vol. 20(2): 185-211.

Harper, M. (1991). Enterprise development in poor nations. *Entrepreneurship Theory and Practice*. Summer, pp. 7-11.

Indian Railways (2020). "Shramik Special Trains", Vol. 64, No. 2. New Delhi Khakhalary, B. (2017). Tribal Entrepreneurship: A Case Study On Dhaba Business In Rajapara Locality Of Kamrup District. EPRA International Journal of Economic and Business Review. Vol. 5(8)

Kislaya, K. (2019). Rs 145 to Rs 15,000: How One Org Turned 10 Lakh Jharkhand Women Into Entrepreneurs!.*The Better India*. Retrieved from: https:// www.thebetterindia.com/169067/ jharkhand-women-entrepreneursindia/

Kruger, M.E. (2004). Creativity in the entrepreneurship domain, PhD (Psychology) thesis, University of Pretoria, Pretoria.

Kumar, R., Kumar J. and Siddiqui, M. H. (2018). Studies of marketing and price spread of Mahua (Madhuca latifolia) produce in Jharkhand. *Journal of Pharmacognosy and Phytochemistry*. SP1: 2159-2162

Kuratko, D.F. & Hodgetts, R.M. (2004). *Entrepreneurship.* (6th ed.) Australia: Thomson.

Mukesh (2020). "Jharkhand launches threeruralschemesforjoblessmigrants", *Times of India*, 05 May, 2020.Available at: https://timesofindia.indiatimes. com/city/ranchi/jharkhand-launchesthree-rural-schemes-for-joblessmigrants/articleshow/75541347.cms

Mokry, B.W. (1988). Entrepreneurship and Public Policy: Can government stimulate start ups? New York: Quorum Books. National Portal of India (2020). "Building Atmanirbhar Bharat & Overcoming COVID-19", available at: https://www.india.gov.in/spotlight/ building-atmanirbhar-bharatovercoming-covid-19

NationalSkillDevelopmentCorporation(NSDC)(2013)."Presentation for the state of Jharkhand(2012-17, 2017-22)", New Delhi.

Panda, P.K. (2017). Inclusion and economic empowerment of rural-tribal women in lac value chain and market: a case study of Udyogini. *J. Soc. Econ. Dev.* 19, 25–41 available at: https://doi. org/10.1007/s40847-016-0032-9

Parsons, T. & Smelser, N.J. (1956). *Economy and Society*, The Free Press, New York.

Pravesh, R. (2016). Challenges and Opportunities for Tribal Entrepreneurship Development in India: An Analytical Study. *PARIPEX -Indian Journal of Research*. Vol. 5(10).

Rao, T.V. (1975). 'Development of an Entrepreneur - A Behaviouristic Model', *SEDME*, Vol. I, No.4, March.

Reserve Bank of India (RBI), (2011). "Handbook of Statistics on Indian Economy and Economic Survey of India 2010-11", available at: http://www. rbi.org.in/scripts/AnnualPublications. aspx?head=Handbook%200f%20Statistics%20 on%20Indian%20Economy

Sayigh, Y.A. (1952). Entrepreneurs of Lebanon, The Role of Business Leaders *in* Developing Economy, Cambridge Mass, Harvard University Press.

Shane, S. & Venkataraman, S. (2000). Entrepreneurship as a field of research: The promise of entrepreneurship as a field of research. *Academy of management review*, 26 (1):13-17.

Sharma, P. & Chrisman, J.J. (1999). Toward a reconciliation of the definitio issues in the field of corporate entrepreneurship. *Entrepreneurship theory and practice*, vol. 23(3) Spring: 11-27.

Schumpeter J (1934). *The Theory of Economic Development*, Cambridge, M. A. Harvard University.

The Economic Times (2020). "Lockdown extension to have deep impact on Indian economy: Report", oi June, 2020, available at: https://economictimes.indiatimes. com/news/economy/indicators/ lockdown-extension-to-have-deepimpact-on-indian-economy-report/ articleshow/76132363.cms United Nations Development Programme (UNDP), (2011). "Jharkhand: Economic and Human Development Indicators", available at: https://www.undp.org/content/dam/ india/docs/jharkhand_factsheet.pdf

Venkataraman, S. (1997). *The distinctive domain of entrepreneurship research*. US: JAI Press, Greenwich.

Wyatt, S. (2008). "First Nations, forests lands, and aboriginal forestry in Canada: from exclusion to comanagement and beyong", *Can. J. For. Res.* 38: 171-180.

Yadama, G.N., Pragada, B.R., & Pragada, R.R. (1997). Forest dependent survival strategies of trival women: implications for joint forest management in Andhra Pradesh, India. FAO Rap publication 24. 128

Social Inclusion of older adults During COVID 19 pandemic

Rabi N Subudhi

Professor, School of Management, KIIT University Bhubaneswar India rabisubudhi@gmail.com

SC Das

Associate Professor, School of Management, KIIT University Bhubaneswar India srikant@kiit.ac.in

Sonalimayee Sahu

Research Associate, School of Management, KIIT University Bhubaneswar, India sahu.sonalee@gmail.com

DoI:10.23862/kiit-parikalpana/2020/v16/i1-2/204556

Abstract

Many people, during this COVID – pandemic 'forced lockdowns', are currently restricting themselves in their indoor areas. Though all age groups are affected, elderly people are suffering more severely with this infectious pandemic. As social distancing is the new norm, 'distanced-socially' is a new threat to the seniors or elderly people. When young adults and working professionals remain busy in their daily activities, done mostly through internet, the elderly people in same family feel isolated and distanced.

The present paper examines the social inclusion issues of elderly people, particularly during COVID pandemic, and discusses the role of internet based social applications, in helping social inclusion of elderly people.

Keywords: Social Inclusion, COVID pandemic, mobile applications, digital inclusion

Introduction

The Corona-Virus Infected Disease, 2019 (COVID-19) pandemic is believed to be the worst global health calamity of the century and a great challenge for human civilization. World Health Organisation, WHO, named this respiratory disease, with reported origin from Wuhan (China) as COVID-19. (Chakraborty, I et.al 2020). According to the World Health Organization, as end of May 2020, the COVID-19 outbreak affected over 5.5 million people of 216 countries of the World. There is no report of any clinical approved vaccine for this virus which is effective to cure this COVID-19.1

In response to this COVID-19 pandemic, the Prime Minister of India, Sri Narendra Modi has declared lockdown on 24th March 2020 and forced almost 1.3 billion people to work effectively by using electronic tools and maintaining social distancing to fight with COVID-19. (Lee, K. et.al 2020). Many people are currently restricting themselves in their indoor areas. Though all age groups have been affected, elderly people are suffering more severely with this infectious pandemic. (Baker, S. R et.al 2020). According to UNICEF Report (2020) In Europe, 95 percent of people from among the age group of 80 years and above died due to this COVID-19.2 80 percent of deaths were from the 65 age group in the United States.³ In China, approximately 80 percent of deaths occurred among adults aged 60 years and older.4 In India, 42 percent elderly died due to this disease. This report shows direct as well as indirect challenges for the elderly people.¹

Impact of Social Distancing on elderly:

Social Distancing is a key measure to fight with this COVID-19 outbreak. For this reason, People are restricting themselves in their homes and communicating with their nearest one through different technological tools. This social distance has affected mostly to the elderly people. The elderly people are less comfortable with this virtual solution as compared to adults.⁵ At the same time, physical distance makes elderly socially isolated and this social isolation among the seniors brings depression, stress, anxiety and decreases the anti-immune response. (Lambert, N. M et.al 2013). According to the World Health Organisation (WHO) older adults those in isolation and with cognitive decline became more anxious, angry, stressed and restless.1 The effect of it may further increase the susceptibility to COVID-19. Health care system and physician's advice to maintain social distancing to the elderly people. (Drageset, J, et.al 2011) Social distancing itself can represent

¹ "Coronavirus disease (COVID-19) - World" https://www.who.int/emergencies/diseases/novel-coronavirus-2019. Accessed 17 Jul. 2020.

² The Impact of COVID-19 on older persons - United Nations" https://unsdg.un.org/sites/default/ files/2020-05/Policy-Brief-The-Impact-of-COVID-19-on-Older-Persons.pdf. Accessed 17 Jul. 2020.

³ "CDC: 80 percent of US coronavirus deaths are people 65 and …." 18 Mar. 2020, https://thehill.com/policy/healthcare/public-global-health/488305-cdc-80-percent-of-us-coronavirus-deaths-are-people-65. Accessed 17 Jul. 2020.

⁴ "LitCovid - NCBI - NLM - NIH." https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/research/coronavirus/publication/32214079. Accessed 17 Jul. 2020.

⁵ "The impact of social distancing on older adults during COVID" 23 Apr. 2020, https://news.csu. edu.au/opinion/the-impact-of-social-distancing-on-older-adults-during-covid-19. Accessed 17 Jul. 2020.

a huge hazard for the physical and mental disorder for them. As the elderly people have previous chronic health conditions, it becomes more complex due to this virus. (Fokkema, T. et.al 2017)

Various forms of Social connections are associated with the many well being measures. A study report shows that the social support and intimation (social inclusion) make older people's life meaningful whereas social exclusion and banishment have shown to reduce the insight which makes one's life meaningless. (Hacihasanoğlu. R et.al 2011). The spread of COVID-19, not only increases the loneliness and social isolation feeling but also creates another disease among the elderly people.(Baker, Ö. E.et.al 2011). At the age of 60-80 most of the elderly are physically not abled and using drugs. (Hawkley, L. C. et.al 2010) They are physically not active with various illnesses, loss of close ones, mental illness, lack of income, (Van Deursen, A. J et.al (2015), staying away from their daughter and son, neighbours, low selfrespect, not being comfortable with the living space and being completely dependent on others. (Niehaves, B. et.al 2014). These are the factors, which help to promote or increase the level of stress or tension among the elderly people during this pandemic. This social isolation and loneliness create the feeling of social exclusion as well as physical distance fetch the mental disorder, low self-esteem, sleeplessness and hopeless among the elderly.(Şar, A. H et.al 2012)

Social Inclusion of elderly through Internet during the COVID-19 outbreak:

According to Hawkely and Cacioppo (2010) Social distancing increases social isolation, but it is more rising when we will find the absenteeism of social networks or the Internet. (Joan M Kiel (2005). During this pandemic with having social-physical distancing, (Internet communication and ICT technology) became an Actor. Though elderly persons are not much capable and find it more difficult to use advanced technology in comparison to adults, the elderly people are much interested to learn to use it. (Ryan, T et.al 2011) But during this time, the elderly as well as the other group people are using it continuously to increase social inclusion and decrease the negative thoughts that come into their minds. (Sar, A. H et.al 2012)

Sar Ali Haydar et.al (2012) stated that there are many ways to reduce the feeling of exclusion, but the use of computer and internet is the best way to increase the potential of friendship and interaction and reduce the feeling of exclusion or the negative thoughts. Through the internet they get important and valid information from the internet via e-mail, and from different social network sites, the lives of older people become more efficient. Francies and Jin Jiang (2017). Another study report analyses that older people mostly access social network like Facebook, those who are basically deprived from others and socially isolated. (Ryan and Xenos (2011)

The Internet helps to get cognitive therapies through online which decrease the feeling of loneliness and improve wellbeing. (Cotten, S. R et.al 2013). The internet enhances quality of life and involves elderly in the social activities of those who use it.(Bond et.al (2010). With this Francis and Jinjiang (2015) define that socialisation is the activity of mixing socially with others. Since social participation relates to socialisation, they specifically focus on the ICT media which involves socialisation or participation of the elderly people. The Internet is a unique solution to take care of problems that elderly are facing during lockdown.⁶ (Choi, M.et.al 2012). During this pandemic, older adults are using video chat because of social distancing. Use of video conferencing apps like skype, WhatsApp video call which significantly helps them to reduce the risk of mental and psychological disorder than those who do not use the advanced technology. It helps them to connect with their close family members, daughter and son who specifically staying far away from them and enhances the well-being of older population moving forward (Flip Laneiro and et.al (2016)They also use Google duo, WhatsApp video call to increase their interpersonal communication skills which enhance the social inclusion or social support. Elderly get regular contact, care and companionship over the internet.

(Tsai H,H. et.al 2010) The use of the internet and advanced technology e.g.- telecare or telehealth are helping in maintaining or establishing social contact. The effect of social media, high technology apps like skype, WhatsApp, Snapchat etc help them to increase the social inclusion feeling and reduce social exclusion of elderly. (Chen and Schulz 2016).Because of this advanced technology many elderly people have changed their lives and have more opportunities to use computers in their daily lives by communicating with their old friends through various apps like banking, shopping, health maintenance and seeking leisure activities. (Forsman, L.R (2018). There might be physical distancing, but the internet performs the effective way for the promotion of their health condition and through different internet based applications and also helps to promote social contact. (Dirk Richter et.al (2013). Many literature based studies identified that internet may help to increase the social inclusion feeling among the elderly by becoming a part of social group, and getting cognitive behavioural therapy by different video conferencing by the health care group. (Olga Stavrova et.al 2016)

Although there might be a difference among the elderly to use or to access the advanced technology they mainly use frequently telephone contact to their close family members, friends, and this intercommunication provides

⁶ "LRJJ present at the ICICKM Conference at Hong Kong Polytech." http://www.lrjj.cn/en/news/lrjjicickm-conference-hong-kong-polytech/. Accessed 17 Jul. 2020.

peer support throughout the period of isolation.7 Cacioppo. S et.al (2016) stated that involvement in social media and the internet which provides cognitive behavioural treatment helps to decrease the perceptual changes that go with the sentiment of depression. Lindra Reneland forsman (2018) found that social inclusion can be understood as a self-sufficiency and the part of the society and Community arrangement model which helps to access knowledge to use the internet and it promotes social inclusion among them.Dirk Richter and et.al (2013) study result shows that social inclusion is associated with both internet use and social networking sites. Because of these two reasons, elderly people are more socially included and their mental depression can be converted into positive wellbeing as a part of the society.

Older adults use the internet and communication applications more than adult people and the internet provides better services regarding health and education. It helps to build a social cohesion among the elderly people. However, ICT has potential to increase social interaction and also improve quality of life. It also helps them to access learning activities, gives them

evidence and provides a new way to communicate with friends and family members. (Banskota, S et.al 2020) A survey conducted by Vodafone Spain foundation on "ICT and older peopleconnected to the future" shows that the age group between 57-70 years prefer to use new technologies which implies them to reduce exclusion. (Singh A et.al 2006) Another Study report shows that elderly people are very much acquainted with the Facebook applications. With this, they mostly prefer to use health related applications and also home care, everyday jobrelated apps etc. (Francisco J. et.al 2013).Therefore, mobile technologies and apps can be useful to the elderly people, by fulfilling their needs like contacting their loved one and also have access to meal delivery service, and help them to access the healthcare provider to see their chronic health conditions. Loneliness and isolation can be a risk of depression and factor for cardiovascular disease for the Older adults (OAs).8 Most older adults are using Video-chat including skype and FaceTime apps which help them to decrease their symptoms of depression, stress and unease. Nursing homes and health care systems frequently contact them through this virtual solution.9

⁷ "The Little Data Book on Information and Communication ... - ITU." https://www.itu.int/en/ ITU-D/Statistics/Documents/publications/ldb/LDB_ICT_2013.pdf. Accessed 17 Jul. 2020.

⁸ "Medicare Telemedicine Health Care Provider Fact Sheet - CMS." 17 Mar. 2020, https://www.cms. gov/newsroom/fact-sheets/medicare-telemedicine-health-care-provider-fact-sheet. Accessed 17 Jul. 2020.

⁹ "Blog | Digital Divide in the Time of COVID-19 - United Nations" https://cs.unu.edu/news/ news/digital-divide-covid-19.html. Accessed 17 Jul. 2020.

Conclusion

Digital divide splits its ugly head within the ongoing COVID-19 pandemic. With this situation most of the people are looking for information through internet communication and technology (ICT) to connect uncertainty and work with negligible disturbance. All the companies and institutions are forced to do work by various productivity and conferencing tools. School classes are converted into online classes. More specifically the current situation shows that the change of these extraordinary circumstances is far different from the earlier life. It is significantly difficult for those who have no knowledge to access internet.7

In this perspective, the older people face so much difficulty to access the internet because of their lack of knowledge and unaware about the advanced technology. Due to the agerelated cognitive problem, physical decline and other health issues they may not be comfortable or being complex to use ICT. Those who do not have knowledge to access the internet they frequently use telephone to contact significantly others as well as to their family members.¹⁰ The impact of digital dividebecomes a disadvantage for the older adults than the younger one. Due to this digital divide older adults might be excluded from society, because of quarantine and isolation life.7 According to TechCrunch around 40% older adults do not have the basic knowledge regarding the internet." Due to this COVID-19 pandemic, most of the older adults are to maintain distance from the other people and also from their close friends, relatives. With this perspective, those who are familiar with the internet get advantage from this virtual solution. But those who are not able to access the internet might suffer from depression, anxiousness, and also sorrowfulness over their loss of independence and connection to the family and friends. Due to this it increases the feeling of social exclusion which may result in different types of diseases. (Francisco J et.al 2013)

¹⁰ "Older Adults Perceptions of Technology and Barriers to ... - NCBI." 4 Oct. 2017, https://www.ncbi. nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC5649151/. Accessed 17 Jul. 2020.

ⁿ "COVID-19 Updates | TechCrunch." https://techcrunch.com/pages/covid-19-updates/. Accessed 17 Jul. 2020.

References:

Baker, Ö. E., & Bugay, A. (2011). Mediator and moderator role of loneliness in the relationship between peer victimization and depressive symptoms. Journal of Psychologists and Counsellors in Schools, 21(2), 175-185.

Bond, Burr, Walf and Feldt (2010):The effect of a web- based intervention on psychological wellbeing among adult aged 60 and older with diabetes. PMID: 20375351 DOI: 10.1177/0145721710366758

Bartik.A et.al (2020) How Are Small Businesses Adjusting to COVID-19? Early Evidence From a Survey, Harvard Business School.

Baker, S. R., Farrokhnia, R. A., Meyer, S., Pagel, M., & Yannelis, C. (2020). How does household spending respond to an epidemic? consumption during the 2020 covid-19 pandemic (No. w26949). National Bureau of Economic Research.

Banskota, S., Healy, M., & Goldberg, E. M. (2020). 15 Smartphone Apps for Older Adults to Use While in Isolation During the COVID-19 Pandemic. Western Journal of Emergency Medicine, 21(3), 514. DOI: 10.5811/westjem.2020.4.47372

B. Knowles, V. L. Hanson, Comm. ACM 61, 72 (2018): The Wisdom of Older Technology (Non)Users, COMMUNI-CATIONS OF THE ACM, MARCH 2018, VOL. 61,NO. 3

Chen and Schulz (2016) : The effect of Information communication technology intervention on reducing social isolation in the elderly: A systematic review. 2016 Jan 28;18(1):e18. doi: 10.2196/jmir.4596. Cotten, S. R., Anderson, W. A., & McCullough, B. M. (2013). Impact of internet use on loneliness and contact with others among older adults: cross-sectional analysis. Journal of medical Internet research, 15(2), e39.

Choi, M., Kong, S., & Jung, D. (2012). Computer and internet interventions for loneliness and depression in older adults: a meta-analysis. Healthcare informatics research, 18(3), 191-198.

Chakraborty, I., & Maity, P. (2020). COVID-19 outbreak: Migration, effects on society, global environment and prevention. Science of the Total Environment, 138882.

Drageset.J, Kirkevold. M and Espehaug. B (2011): Loneliness and social support among nursing home residents without cognitive impairment: A questionnaire survey, International journal of nursing studies 48(5):611-9 DOI: 10.1016/j. ijnurstu.2010.09.008

Dirk Richter et.al (2013): Are internet and social Network usage associated with wellbeing and social inclusion of seniors-The 3rd age online survey on digital media use in 3 European countries. DOI:10.1007/978-3-642-39191-0_24 Corpus ID: 30112534

Eastman, J.K and Lyer. R (2014): The elderly's uses and attitude towards the internet. https://doi.org/10.2753/ MTP1069-6679140104

34. Forsman, L.R (2018): Borrowed access- the struggle of older persons for digital participation. https://doi.org/10.1 080/02601370.2018.1473516

Fokkema, T., & Knipscheer, K. (2007). Escape loneliness by going digital: A quantitative and qualitative evaluation of a Dutch experiment in using ECT to overcome loneliness among older adults.

Francisco J. García-Penalvo, Miguel Ángel Conde, and Vicente Matellán-Olivera (2013): Mobile Apps for Older Users – The Development of a Mobile Apps Repository for Older People

Flip Laneiro and et.al (2016): Reducing isolation and loneliness in order to older people a systematic review protocol. DOI: 10.1136/bmjopen-2016-013778

Hacihasanoğlu. R, Yildirim. A (2011): Loneliness in elderly individuals, level of dependence in activities of daily living (ADL) and influential factors, Archives of gerontology and geriatrics 54(1):61-6 DOI:10.1016/j.archger.2011.03.011

Hawkley, L. C., & Cacioppo, J. T. (2010). Loneliness matters: A theoretical and empirical review of consequences and mechanisms. Annals of Behavioral Medicine, 40(2), 218-227.

Jennifer Sills (2020) Social isolation can affect mental health, putting vulnerable people at greater risk, sciencemag.org, VOL 368 ISSUE 6487

Joan M Kiel (2005): The Digital Divide: Internet and E-Mail Use by the Elderly, PMID: 16036627 DOI: 10.1080/14639230500066900

Lee, K., Sahai, H., Baylis, P., & Greenstone, M. (2020). Job Loss and Behavioral Change: The Unprecedented Effects of the India Lockdown in Delhi. University of Chicago, Becker Friedman Institute for Economics Working Paper, (2020-65). Lambert, N. M., Stillman, T. F., Hicks, J. A., Kamble, S., Baumeister, R. F., & Fincham, F. D. (2013). To belong is to matter: Sense of belonging enhances meaning in life. Personality and Social Psychology Bulletin, 39, 1418–1427. doi:10.1177/0146167213499186

Nadav Klein (2020) : Social Distancing Should Not Equal Social Isolation, Preventing one public health crisis should not create another one

Niehaves, B., & Plattfaut, R. (2014). Internet adoption by the elderly: Employing IS technology acceptance theories for understanding the agerelated digital divide. European Journal of Information Systems, 23(6), 708-726.

Olujoke. A, Fakoya, N.K, Mc Corry and Michael Donnelly (2020): Loneliness and social isolation intervention for older adults: a scoping review of reviews. BMC Public Health 20, 129 (2020). https://doi. org/10.1186/s12889-020-8251-6

Olga Stavrova & Maike Luhmann (2016) Social connectedness as a source and consequence of meaning in life, The Journal of Positive Psychology, 11:5, 470-479, DOI: 10.1080/17439760.2015.1117127

Ryan, T., & Xenos, S. (2011). Who uses Facebook? An investigation into the relationship between the Big Five, shyness, narcissism, loneliness, and Facebook usage. Computers in human behavior, 27(5), 1658-1664.

Şar, A. H., Göktürk, G. Y., Tura, G., & Kazaz, N. (2012). Is the Internet use an effective method to cope with elderly loneliness and decrease loneliness symptom?. Procedia-Social and Behavioral Sciences, 55, 1053-1059.

Singh A, Misra N. Loneliness, depression and sociability in old age. Ind Psychiatry J. 2009;18(1):51-55.

Steven W. Cole, John P. Capitanio, Katie Chun, Jesusa M. G. Arevalo, Jeffrey Ma, and John T. Cacioppo(2015): Myeloid differentiation architecture of leukocyte transcriptome dynamics in perceived social isolation, https://doi.org/10.1073/ pnas.1514249112.

Tsai HH, Tsai YF Wang et.al (2010): Video conferencing program enhance social support, loneliness and depressive status of elderly nursing home residents. DOI: 10.1080/13607863.2010.501057

Van Deursen, A. J., & Helsper, E. J. (2015). A nuanced understanding of Internet use and non-use among the elderly. European Journal of Communication, 30(2), 171-187

Victoria Atabakhsh, Joe Todd (2020) Video chats can ease social isolation during corona virus pandemic.

Ziggi Ivan Santini, Paul E Jose, Erin York Cornwell, Ai Koyanagi, Line Nielsen, Carsten Hinrichsen, Charlotte Meilstrup, Katrine R Madsen, Vibeke Koushede (2020): Social disconnectedness, perceived isolation, and symptoms of depression and anxiety among older Americans (NSHAP): a longitudinal mediation analysis

Web resource references:

https://www.who.int/emergencies/ diseases/novel-coronavirus-2019. Accessed 17 Jul. 2020.

https://unsdg.un.org/sites/default/ files/2020-05/Policy-Brief-The-Impactof-COVID-19-on-Older-Persons.pdf. Accessed 17 Jul. 2020.

https://thehill.com/policy/healthcare/ public-global-health/488305-cdc-80percent-of-us-coronavirus-deaths-arepeople-65. Accessed 17 Jul. 2020.

https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/research/ coronavirus/publication/32214079. Accessed 17 Jul. 2020.

https://www.itu.int/en/ITU-D/ Statistics/Documents/publications/ldb/ LDB_ICT_2013.pdf. Accessed 17 Jul. 2020.

https://www.cms.gov/newsroom/factsheets/medicare-telemedicine-healthcare-provider-fact-sheet. Accessed 17 Jul. 2020.

https://cs.unu.edu/news/news/digitaldivide-covid-19.html. Accessed 17 Jul. 2020.

https://techcrunch.com/pages/covid-19updates/. Accessed 17 Jul. 2020.

https://news.csu.edu.au/opinion/theimpact-of-social-distancing-on-olderadults-during-covid-19Accessed 17 Jul. 2020.

http://www.lrjj.cn/en/news/lrjj-icickmconference-hong-kong-polytech/. Accessed 17 Jul. 2020

Note: This article is based on the ICSSR – IMPRESS funded research project of Govt. of India, conducted by the authors.

Women working from home during COVID-19 : An Analysis

Gargi Banerjee

Assistant Professor, KIIT School of Management, Bhubaneswar E-mail: gargi.banerjee@ksom.ac.in

Indrani Pati

Editor, Itisaras (Registered Non-Profit Organization), Delhi E-mail: indranipati@gmail.com

DoI:10.23862/kiit-parikalpana/2020/v16/i1-2/204566

Abstract

Purpose: This paper reviews different media sources to understand the experiences of Indian women working from home between March, 2020 and September, 2020 during the Covid-19 induced lockdown in India.

Methodology: A systematic search was conducted on Google search engine using keywords like Indian working women, work during Covid-19, work from home during pandemic, etc. Relevant data and information from 52 online print media outlets were selected to be included in this review.

Findings: After careful analysis of the selected articles, three main themes emerged and were found to be repeated with gradual development across the seven months (March, 2020 - September, 2020).

Originality/Value: It is hoped that this thematic and chronological analysis will help in giving a clear outlook on the problems women are facing while working from home during the pandemic, and suggest effective measures that can be taken in the coming future to resolve the same. Based on our research, such an online print media based analysis has not been conducted by other studies. This paper tries to reach out to the very core of the chosen topic by looking at online media because actual problems of real women were reported there. It tries to feel the pulse of the Indian society and the challenges that the women are facing everyday during the Covid-19 pandemic.

Keywords: Indian working women, work-life balance, work during Covid-19, work from home during pandemic, working during lockdown

Paper Type: Review Paper

Introduction

Covid-19 was first identified in Wuhan city of China as a respiratory disease in December, 2019. By March, 2020, it was declared as a global pandemic by WHO because it had severely impacted several countries across the world (Sahin et al., 2020). Isolation, quarantining, and social distancing were some of the precautionary measures which these countries followed to avoid the disease (Leonard and Lo, 2020). According to the World Health Organization, these measures were suggested due to the unavailability of specific treatment so as to contain the spread of the virus. Keeping these protocols in mind, organizations and companies started following work from home to ensure the safety of their employees (Zhang et al., 2020). Even though many countries have lifted their lockdowns presently, social distancing and work from home continues globally (Kramer and Kramer, 2020). India Inc. is also following this global practise of isolation, and working from home has become the new norm in the Indian workforce (Grover et al., 2020).

India went in for a complete lockdown on 25th March, 2020 for three weeks which kept getting extended synchronously with the rising number of Covid-19 cases. Many organizations and businesses stepped back a little or stopped functioning in their offices because of orders given by the government, concern for their employees, and unavailability of customers (Lancet, 2020). Social distancing and stayat-home measures resulted in a sharp

decrease in commuting to workplaces, and a considerable increase in working remotely. Some people were able to transition to this work from home mode relatively easily but for many individuals, especially women, performing regular work activities from home was rather stressful, and nearly impossible. Working remotely was a different experience for women in comparison to men (Pulla, 2020). This paper aims to analyse how this work from home concept has panned out for women in India in the past seven months between March, 2020 and September, 2020. It looks at how this pandemic has increased or decreased the gender gap that women have been fighting against for decades now. It further tries to probe into the question as to whether working from home has been easier for them or whether the past seven months have been a strenuous and demanding journey.

At the very beginning of the lockdown, working from home might have been the ideal situation but the scales of domestic responsibility slowly started tipping more and more towards women. Though parents today are simultaneously juggling paid work with care-giving demands, the work involved in child rearing and family care has historically fallen on women (Jungari, 2020). With husband, kids and elders at home, and domestic help being inaccessible due to social distancing, responsibilities outside of office work has been weighing down heavily on women in specific. This added workload apart from their professional life is taking up a lot of time and effort. Along with the uncertainty and fear of living in the pandemic, many women are seeing their performances at work slip, putting their long-term career goals in jeopardy. In many cases, women are being forced to quit work altogether (Gausman and Langer, 2020).

There is seemingly nothing new about working from home and it has been around for a considerable amount of time (Olson and Primps, 1984). It was certainly not the pandemic that made working from home a reality. Many companies and organizations followed it even before the outbreak of Covid-19. Several industries function in a flexible manner wherein people can work remotely from the comfort of their homes and still attend meetings and complete tasks amongst other things (Russell, O'Connell, and McGinnity, 2009). With work from home becoming the need of the hour and the Indian government making rules and regulations in its favour, this pandemic induced necessity might outlive the crisis itself. It could definitely be one of the key takeaways that will shape the upcoming future of working remotely. The question is how differently it will be affecting male and female employees in the time to come.

The Indian society in general has always seen women in a particular role as a mother and a home maker, thereby having certain expectations from them. Women too have obliged without any questions and moulded themselves into these roles (Crump, Logan and Mcllroy, 2007). Prior to the Covid-19 pandemic, there were many women who worked from home to balance both their work lives and familial obligations (Stone and Lovejoy, 2004). However, with the onset of the pandemic, the difference between regular employees and employees who worked from home ceased to exist. With the initiation of the nationwide lockdown. many women who were regular office-goers suddenly faced a shift in their routine. Due to stay at home and work from home orders, and the unavailability of domestic help, they now had to learn to distribute their time between work and family (Power, 2020). This paper tries to look into how these women faired after these protocols were implemented, and how the pressure on them increased because of the same. It is hoped that this paper can bring out the struggles and challenges that women have faced and are continuing to face during the Covid-19 pandemic, and how families and organizations can support them through this journey. During any pandemic or economic crisis, working women have always faced more obstacles than others (Kim and Voos, 2007). Therefore, this study tries to highlight certain issues, and hopes that it will assist organizations in creating favourable policies for women keeping their familial responsibilities in mind. It further aspires to create awareness amongst women and their families and amongst society in general to share domestic responsibilities and support women in their job and career goals.

Methodology

A systematic search of online print media outlets, magazines, news websites, journals, and surveys such as The Times of India, Economic Times, Entrepreneur, The Logical Indian, Mint, Quartz India, etc. was done using a combination of keywords like 'Indian working women'; 'work-life balance'; 'work during Covid-19'; 'work from home during pandemic'; 'working during lockdown,' etc. This search was conducted using the Google search engine and the keywords were used concurrently so that important information and data were not missed out on. Keeping the current circumstances in mind, online media was considered to be the most important source of information for this paper as the pandemic had only accelerated India's path towards digitalization.

A seven month time period from March, 2020 to September, 2020 was taken into consideration so that information and data were relevant and up to date. The search results from Google had to be filtered and refined further by reading each article manually. Finally, a total of 52 articles were chosen which were applicable to this study.

The following criteria were chosen for the articles to be included in this paper:

- They had to deal with women working from home during the Covid-19 pandemic
- 2. They had to deal with working women's experience during the lockdown

3. They had to be published within the chosen time frame of March,2020 to September,2020

This paper has chosen the month of March, 2020 as the starting point because that is when the nationwide lockdown was announced in India and working from home norms became stricter in Indian organizations.

Literature Review: Facts and Analysis

After reviewing and analysing the selected articles, several themes emerged with respect to women working from home during the pandemic. All these themes were not discussed consistently across the chosen time period from March, 2020 to September, 2020. However, after meticulous scrutiny, three main themes relevant to the three criteria were found to be covered repeatedly across the time frame of seven months. The three themes are as follows:

- 1. Work from home and work at home
- 2. First to be laid off
- 3. Violence and Harassment

A detailed analysis of all three themes is given below:

Theme 1: Work from home and work at home

This theme includes articles that discuss how women had to juggle both job and home related responsibilities simultaneously. With work from home becoming the new normal, the fine line between personal and professional space got blurred. Women often found their office work overlapping with their home responsibilities.

March, 2020

According to *shethepeople* (23 March, 2020), the lockdown was expected to affect women in a disproportionate manner as women are primarily seen as caregivers, and now they were having to shoulder double the responsibilities owing to work from home norms. As per an article in *Scroll* (27 March, 2020), the pandemic came with a gender dimension because there was an unequal distribution of work between male and female members at home due to which women were facing extra mental and physical exertion.

April, 2020

As per a survey in Entrepreneur (21 April, 2020), Indian women felt that a majority of care giving responsibility was falling on them. This survey also says that 27 per cent of working mothers felt like their employers failed to understand this additional burden. Further, an article in The Diplomat (27April, 2020) revealed that women in India perform unpaid work for nearly 6 hours in comparison to men who do the same for 52 minutes only (Organization of Economic Cooperation and Development). Scroll (1 April, 2020) says that regardless of whether a woman is employed or not, she is expected to look after the domestic chores.

May, 2020

As per *The Wire* (2 May, 2020), *The Indian Express* (17 May, 2020), and *Femi-* nism India (5 May, 2020), the ongoing pandemic has severely affected the household dynamics. In the absence of house-help, responsibilities like cooking and cleaning have fallen on women. With closure of schools and increased care needs of elderly members at home, the amount of work for women has ballooned disproportionately. Further, juggling demands for both work and home is very taxing, and it is difficult to take paid leave as people are already working from home with pay cuts.

June, 2020

According to the New York Times (9) June, 2020), The Covid-19 lockdown in India has only increased the hurdles that women face on a day to day basis. The amount of work that women do is about three times that of the global average. The Print (17 June, 2020) and Deccan Chronicle (3 June, 2020) lay further emphasis on these issues by adding that all the progress that women had made so far has been pushed back by years due to the lockdown. Those working from home are on a "double double shift" and their lives look very similar to the lives of their grandmothers, in an earlier age when the movement towards women's equality had not gained the momentum that it has today. The crisis has brought back the traditional gender roles of men as the earning members, thus, pushing women into domestication duties.

July, 2020

For very many years, women have fought for their places in the outside

world and claiming those spaces has been very liberating and important. As per Scroll (17 July, 2020), the ongoing pandemic has snatched that independence away from many women. They now have to meet deadlines at work and demands at home simultaneously. In an article in Economic Times (20 July, 2020), a survey conducted by *Pink* Ladder (July, 2020) revealed that four out of 10 women were facing stress and anxiety due to the new normal of work from home. The survey further found that while 67 per cent of the managers respected work timings, around 33 per cent did not. Women were now falling victims to something called the "double burden syndrome."

August, 2020

As per a survey in The NEWS Minute (14 August, 2020), it was found that 79 per cent of women were cooking at home in comparison to the 55 per cent before lockdown. This article also mentioned about a petition requesting Prime Minister Modi to address men in his next speech, asking them to share household work equally. Global estimates report that if a monetary value were to be assigned to the amount of unpaid work that women do, then it would make up for a number between 10 per cent and 39 per cent of a nation's GDP (Mehta, 2020). This bigger burden due to the combined pressure of 'work from home' and 'work for home' may result in women being forced to drop out of the labour force on account of domestic work being the priority (Mehta, 2020).

September, 2020

According to *Mint* (10 September, 2020) and News 18 (10 September, 2020), about 31 per cent working mothers are providing full-time childcare, in comparison to 17 per cent working fathers, as per the Workforce Confidence Index on LinkedIn (). The findings also show that over 46 per cent of employed mothers report working late into the night to make up for lost time, while 42 per cent are unable to concentrate on their jobs with their kids at home. Also, the lockdown is negatively affecting their mental well-being. Further, as per Quartz India (11 September, 2020), Indian women are facing higher levels of stress in comparison to men due to the ongoing pandemic. This follows from being members of heteronormative households.

Theme 2: First to be laid off

This theme includes articles that discuss how women were the first to be laid off with the onset of the pandemic; how working from home with added responsibilities might put them at risk of being laid off in the near future; and how more women have been laid off in comparison to men so far.

March, 2020

As per *Catalyst* (26 March, 2020), it was predicted that women would lose their jobs at a rapid pace owing to the ongoing crisis, and will be unable to gain back their positions quickly as the economy recovers. According to *Economic Times* (31 March, 2020), "women will end up bearing a big brunt" as the
Covid-19 pandemic might make them lose their jobs, or they might leave it voluntarily owing to family responsibilities. It was further said that this will only slow down the process to achieve gender parity which women have been fighting for, for many years.

April, 2020

As per The Diplomat (15 April, 2020) and Business Insider (8 April,2020), whenever there is a crisis, women face greater financial instability. A report by Bain & Company and Google(2019) had shown that women were predominantly affected by the unemployment crisis going on in India. Prior to the lockdown, the Indian unemployment rate was at 7 per cent, but for women, it was already at 18 per cent. According to The Department of Labour, India (2020), over 701,000 jobs were lost in a time span of two months due to the pandemic. On further analysis by the Institute for Women's Research Policy (April, 2020), it was seen that women experienced 60 per cent of those losses.

May, 2020

The *Indian Express* (17 May, 2020) predicted that the economic fallout due to Covid-19 will result in fewer job opportunities for women. This is because women are usually given smaller or unimportant tasks which are often the first ones to go when firms automate.

As per *Feminism India* (5 May, 2020), work from home and social distancing protocols have had bigger effects on women than men. Almost 70 per cent of women are part of the informal economy, have less job security, and even earn or save less. With unemployment showing a sharp rise, it will be difficult for them to absorb the economic shock. Further, in a survey in an *Outlook* (15 May, 2020) article, women (26.3 per cent) have lost more jobs in comparison to men (23.3 per cent).

June, 2020

According to *The Print* (17 June, 2020), the rising unemployment of women will have a detrimental effect on the economic recession, which is already being called 'She-cession.' Research conducted by Ashoka University (2020) has shown that women's careers have been the bigger casualty of the economic slowdown in India as their fields of profession (retail, hospitality, personal care and day-care services) have taken the hardest hit.

Deccan Chronicle (3 June, 2020) says that even though the economy is declining and having a negative effect on the job market, the actual brunt of job loss and wage-cuts will be faced by women due to the existing disparity in the workplace.

July, 2020

An article in *The Hindu* (4 July, 2020) showed a survey by Azim Premji University (June, 2020) of 5,000 workers which was conducted across 12 States, of whom 52 per cent were female workers. It was found that women were worse off than men. For example, among rural casual workers, 71per cent of women lost their jobs while the figure stood at 59 per cent for men.

As per *Scroll* (11 July, 2020), India's multi-million dollar garment industry, wherein a vast majority of workers are women have been left with no option but to leave their jobs. This has put a lot of women with young babies in a grave situation.

August, 2020

As per *Hindustan Times* (7 August, 2020), a report by McKinsey Global Institute (July 15, 2020) said that the presence of women in the Indian workforce that stood at about 20 per cent, has dropped down by about 17-23 per cent due to the Covid-19 crisis. The Indian society is a patriarchal one which is why men are picked over women for jobs. Women are considered to be unfit for the job roles or they are said to be under-qualified.

As per *Financial Express* (19 August, 2020), Indian women will have to bear blow after blow due to the pandemic as gender inequality, wage gap, and unemployment will happen to them very soon.

September, 2020

The Logical Indian (2 September, 2020) reported that a huge number of female domestic workers from Kancheepuram, Chennai, Tiruvallur and Chengalpattu had assembled together keeping the social distancing protocols in mind and had asked the government to roll out orders for their employers to hire them back. As people were scared of the infection spread due to Covid-19, more and more domestic helpers were being laid off. The female domestic workers who were still working complained that they could not travel to their employers' houses due to lack of transport as many parts of the country were still in lockdown.

India.com (3 September, 2020) says that women are losing their jobs and are unable to provide for themselves and their families - thereby, suffering the most due to the Covid-19 crisis. There are no separate social protection schemes for them either. Further, it is being said that the crisis will dramatically increase the poverty rate for women.

Theme 3: Violence and Harassment

This theme includes articles that discussed the sharp rise in domestic violence cases ever since the country went into a lockdown. There was a noticeable increase in the number of complaints received from women during the pandemic.

March, 2020

According to *The Print* (24 March, 2020), the lockdown brought a new set of challenges for women. In fact, news articles predicted that lockdown and social distancing would act as the perfect excuse for perpetrators to exercise control over their female partners. As per *Time* (18 March, 2020), while the lockdown might protect people from the Novel Corona Virus, it will simultaneously trap women with their abusers in the house.

April, 2020

The *Hindustan Times* (11 April, 2020) reported that 2446 cases falling under

the category of "women" were recorded by the Delhi Police. To state things more clearly, over 2500 women had called the helpline numbers that goes straight to the Emergency Response Support System of the Delhi police. Out of all the calls, around 600 fell into the category of women abuse, 23 fell into the category of rape, and a majority number of 1612 reported cases of domestic violence.

As per *The Diplomat* (25 April, 2020), apart from a surge in domestic violence calls, a new trend was being observed - married women were asking for help for being rescued from parental homes as mothers, fathers, step brothers, and siblings were being accused of Domestic Violence.

May, 2020

As per *The Wire* (7 May, 2020), gender based violence in India doubled due to the pandemic as reported by the National Commission for Women (NCW). The NCW received around 257 calls in the last week of March in comparison to 116 calls during the first week. Not to forget, that the real numbers of these cases are actually much larger than the number being reported. An article in *Mint* say that almost 99 per cent of cases pertaining to sexual assault in India are not reported. Further, it is said that women have a greater chance of being assaulted by their own husbands.

The *South Asia Journal* too showed a sharp increase in the number of cases pertaining to violence against women. Between 23 March, 2020 and 16 April,

2020, a 94 per cent jump was observed by the NCW. Agencies apart from NCW were also reporting the sudden spike in domestic violence cases across the country.

June, 2020

As per *Deccan Chronicle* (8 June, 2020), due to the number of domestic violence cases being doubled, top level meetings were held by the Delhi high court and the government of Delhi to discuss this alarming issue and find a solution to curb the number of domestic violence cases

Further, *BBC News* (13 June, 2020) showed that the lockdown had changed everything with how women experienced domestic abuse. They were scared of being in isolation with their husbands and living in constant fear of what would trigger their moods. On the other hand, the abusers kept feeling frustrated due to the restrictions imposed by the lockdown, which later came out on women - physically, emotionally, or sexually.

July, 2020

As per an article in *The Indian Express* (24 July, 2020), studies conducted by researchers showed that in every district that fell under the red zone (Hotspots with high number of Covid-19 cases), the average number of domestic violence complaints per month was below 1.5 in March, 2020. By May, 2020, this number almost went up to 2. This number hovered around 0.3 in the green zone (areas with zero Covid-19 cases) districts during the lockdown period. According to a UCLA research (2020), it was found that "Domestic abuse" and "domestic violence helpline" were used as search terms on Google and had shown a significant rise in the middle of March. It peaked on 19th April, 2020 and 10th May, 2020 in India. Further, as per *Web Foundation*(14 July, 2020), 52 per cent of women were also facing online harassment. They were receiving unsolicited images and threatening messages.

August, 2020

Northeast Now (25 August, 2020) said that the government helpline number in India had received about 92000 calls on violence and abuse in a time span of 11 days since the country wide lockdown was announced on March 24, 2020. Besides, this number was only expected to rise.

The spike in the number of domestic violence cases in India was noted by Oxfam India (21 August, 2020). The NCW showed an overall reduction in the number of complaints received during the lockdown in comparison to the beginning of 2020 (Complaints received: January: 538, February: 523, March: 501, April: 377). However, the gradual relaxation of the lockdown saw a subsequent surge in the complaints. While 552 complaints were recorded in the month of May, June saw over 730 complaints. While the concern of a rapid increase in the domestic violence cases during the lockdown was valid, the instances were not actively reported.

September, 2020

As per The Times of India (9 September, 2020), an article said that women had to fight the virus outside, and at the same time, also fight against the male abuser at home. The social distancing and lockdown had put them in confinement with their abusive partners who took out their frustration on women, both on a physical and emotional level. This increase in the number of domestic violence cases worldwide was described by the UN as the "shadow pandemic" alongside Covid-19. Further, as per Open Democracy (23 September, 2020), sexual harassment at the workplace has moved online. Male bosses and colleagues were calling at odd hours in the night or sending inappropriate text messages to female employees. These male managers were also found to wear unprofessional clothes during online video meetings and use vulgar language on work related video calls.

Limitations

Though this paper has tried to study the impact of Covid-19 and lockdown on working women, it is not without its limitations. Some of the limitations and scope for future research are as follows:

- 1. This paper looks at Indian working women only, and therefore it does not offer a global view on how the pandemic has affected working women.
- 2. There are not many research papers on how the pandemic has affected

working women which is why this paper resorted to taking information from online print media, journals, newspapers, magazines, and surveys.

- 3. This pandemic has affected urban and rural working women in varied ways. It has also impacted women working in different organizational sectors differently. However, this paper looks at Indian working women as a whole, and this can be considered as a limitation of the study.
- 4. Though several underlying subthemes were found while researching for this paper, the information on them was very scarce, and therefore they could not be developed further and presented in this study. Hence, this paper has focused on the three main themes only.

If future research considers the above limitations, then a more extensive and richer literature can be created, and the discussion on this topic can be taken further. However, keeping the above constraints in mind, this study tries its best to portray a clear and concise picture of the various hardships that women are having to shoulder during the Covid-19 induced lockdown in India.

Discussion and Conclusion:

The ongoing pandemic has brought about a dramatic change in remote working which will become the new normal in many Indian workplaces even after the pandemic is over. Organisations have now been cornered into looking at their workers and employees not just as professionals, but as 'individuals' who have a personal life apart from their jobs. The world is going through a test and towards the end of it, it will be left to be seen how organisations and society cooperated and adapted in these crisis times.

This paper has taken information from online sources due to paucity of research papers and relevant literature on the topic. The Indian media has done a fair coverage of the trials and tribulations facing the working women and hence this paper has reviewed the same to present the case of women working from home during the Covid-19 pandemic in India. Using a combination of relevant keywords, a total of 52 online print media articles were selected and sorted into three distinct themes as these themes were found to have a strong presence through the different months that this review covers.

The first theme talks about women being overworked because of the fact that they are both working from home and working at home. With the implementation of work from home norms in most organisations of India, it can be seen that women and men are doing the same amount of work with respect to their jobs, but when it comes to household responsibilities and childcare, a major chunk of the work falls on women. This review showcases that neither organizations nor families are sensitive to this issue and expect women to fulfil all her domestic responsibilities even if she is working from home, just like her spouse is. Women have been fighting to achieve gender equality for many years, but the current pandemic has pushed back the momentum gained in this movement, thereby drastically slowing down their progress. Recovering from this setback will take a long time and needs both society as well as organisations to become sensitive and support working women who are simultaneously managing both work and household responsibilities.

The second theme highlights that women are losing their jobs at a rate much higher than men, during the layovers induced by the Covid-19 pandemic in India. Historically too, women have always been the first to lose their jobs whenever a crisis situation has come up, across all nations and more so, in India. This is because women are seen as expendable resources in an organization. This thought process follows from beliefs and expectations that society has about working women. This psychological bias ingrained in the mindset of our society fails to see women in roles beyond the one that involves domestic responsibilities. In fact, some women themselves agree with these beliefs and consider 'working' to be a luxury for women but a necessity for men. If a husband loses his job, it becomes a matter of shame, but if a woman loses her job, it is just another day. It is due to this biased psychological mindset that organizations would rather take up women's jobs than men's during any situation of crisis or layover, like the one the current pandemic has brought about. This very mindset ingrained deep in the societies, its individuals, and ultimately its organizations, needs to change. Women are as much entitled to having jobs as men are and both women and men need to be aware and educated of this fact. Only then can true change be brought about and women's job during any crisis, now or in the future, be protected.

The third theme brings to the forefront the case of increased domestic violence and online harassment that Indian women are facing. Even though this problem is not exclusive to working women or stay at home women, this paper highlights this theme as irrespective of their station in life whether they are working women or not, women are being mentally and physically tortured by their spouses, partners, in-laws and even their managers during this lockdown. Ever since the lockdown was initiated, a lot of women have been confined with their abusers who too have nowhere else to go. The frustration caused by the pandemic, loss of jobs, loss of recreation, etc, is all being taken out on women - physically, emotionally, and sexually. Women who are working from home are also facing online harassment in the form of improper messages, uninvited images, and calls at odd hours from their male colleagues and bosses. Women are going through an arduous time during the pandemic and their emotional and physical well-being is taking a toll.

For change to be seen and felt, organizations, families, and society need to see things in a different light. They need to change the mindset that women are meant for working inside their homes and they are being given a privilege when they are 'allowed' by their families to work outside their homes. As per society, woman's first priority is supposed to be her family and children while career comes second at best, if it comes at all. This biasness is the root cause of a lot of the problems women face on a daily basis - and especially the ones they are facing during the pandemic. Women who do not conform to these pressures and expectations are considered to not follow societal norms. As women are considered, weak, inferior and expendable, they are the first to be asked to leave the organization and the first to be harassed physically and sexually when a crisis hits the fabric of daily life.

Even though women are facing such challenging times, there are no extensive reports on it. There is limited literature that highlights their grievances and the news articles that this paper quotes are the few places where their problems are being talked about. Because the world is going through a severely challenging time, the issues faced by working women are being brushed under the carpet and ignored. However, when these trying times are over, it will come to light as to how organisations and families have treated their women members. This paper looks into these gaping wounds of the Indian society and shows the bare reality facing women who are working from home in the current scenario. This paper addresses the gap that very little studies are looking into so that organisations and individuals can be aware of the problems that female employees are facing on a daily basis. It is hoped that such awareness would help organisations create a family friendly workspace in the virtual world, wherein the women's familial responsibilities can be kept in mind when work is allotted to her and deadlines are given. Similarly, it is hoped that such a review can create a change in the mindset of family members and society in general, so that they share domestic responsibilities and support women in the perusal of their jobs and careers. Finally, women need to realise that their jobs are as important as their husbands', and they should continue to fight the battle that they have been fighting for all these years. Pandemic or no pandemic, this is not the time to give up but rather, put the issues and problems they are facing out in the open see so that necessary measures can be taken to resolve the same. This paper hopes to help women in taking this journey forward.

REFERENCES

Research Articles:

Bartik, A. W., Cullen, Z. B., Glaeser, E. L., Luca, M., & Stanton, C. T. (2020). What jobs are being done at home during the COVID-19 crisis? Evidence from firmlevel surveys (No. w27422). National Bureau of Economic Research.

Crump, B. J., Logan, K. A., & Mcllroy, A. (2007). Does gender still matter? A study of the views of women in the ICT industry in New Zealand. Gender, Work & Organization, 14(4), 349-370.

Gausman, J., & Langer, A. (2020). Sex and gender disparities in the COVID-19 pandemic. Journal of Women's Health, 29(4), 465-466.

Grover, S., Sahoo, S., Mehra, A., Avasthi, A., Tripathi, A., Subramanyan, A., ...& Chakraborty, K. (2020). Psychological impact of COVID-19 lockdown: An online survey from India. Indian Journal of Psychiatry, 62(4), 354.

Jungari, S. (2020). Maternal mental health in India during COVID-19. Public Health, 185, 97.

Kim, H., & Voos, P. B. (2007). The Korean economic crisis and working women. Journal of Contemporary Asia, 37(2), 190-208.

Kramer, A., & Kramer, K. Z. (2020). The potential impact of the Covid-19 pandemic on occupational status, work from home, and occupational mobility.

Lancet, T. (2020). India under COVID-19 lockdown. Lancet (London, England), 395(10233), 1315. Lewnard, J. A., & Lo, N. C. (2020). Scientific and ethical basis for social-distancing interventions against COVID-19. The Lancet. Infectious diseases, 20(6), 631.

Olson, M. H., & Primps, S. B. (1984). Working at home with computers: Work and nonwork issues. Journal of Social Issues, 40(3), 97-112.

Power, K. (2020). The COVID-19 pandemic has increased the care burden of women and families. Sustainability: Science, Practice and Policy, 16(1), 67-73.

Pulla, P. (2020). Covid-19: India imposes lockdown for 21 days and cases rise.

Russell, H., O'Connell, P. J., & McGinnity, F. (2009). The impact of flexible working arrangements on work–life conflict and work pressure in Ireland. Gender, Work & Organization, 16(1), 73-97.

Sahin, A. R., Erdogan, A., Agaoglu, P. M., Dineri, Y., Cakirci, A. Y., Senel, M. E., ...& Tasdogan, A. M. (2020). 2019 novel coronavirus (COVID-19) outbreak: a review of the current literature. EJMO, 4(1), 1-7.

Stone, P., & Lovejoy, M. (2004). Fast-track women and the "choice" to stay home. The Annals of the American Academy of Political and Social Science, 596(1), 62-83

Zhang, J., Xie, C., Wang, J., Morrison, A. M., & Coca-Stefaniak, J. A. (2020). Responding to a major global crisis: The effects of hotel safety leadership on employee safety behavior during COVID-19. International Journal of Contemporary Hospitality Management.

Website Articles:

Arora, K. and Kumar, S. (2020, August 03). Locked-down: Domestic Violence Reporting in India during COVID-19. Retrieved from https://www.oxfamindia. org/blog/locked-down-domestic-violence-reporting-india-during-covid-19

Beniwal, V. (2020, June 26). The Virus Has Made India's Devastating Gender Gap Even Worse. Retrieved from https://www.bloomberg.com/news/ features/2020-06-25/india-coronavirus-lockdown-hits-women-hard-worsening-gender-gap

Bhattacharya, R. and Vijayraghavan, K. (2020, October 07). For most women, it's WFH and work at home; companies sensitising male employees to pitch in and help. Retrieved from

https://economictimes.indiatimes.com/ magazines/panache/for-most-womenits-wfh-and-work-at-home-companiessensitising-male-employees-to-pitchin-and-help/articleshow/78528672. cms?utm_source=contentofinterest&utm_medium=text&utm_campaign=cppst

Butalia, U. (2020, July 17). How has the pandemic changed work and life for women in publishing (and for feminist publishers)? Retrieved from https:// scroll.in/article/967706/how-has-thepandemic-changed-work-and-life-forwomen-in-publishing-and-for-feministpublishers

Charatan, D.H. (2020, August 26). Will The WFH Revolution Leave Female Leaders Behind? Retrieved from https:// chiefexecutive.net/will-the-wfh-revolution-leave-female-leaders-behind/ Corona impact: Gender pay gap likely to get worse as more women get laid off, take time off work. (2020, March 21). Retrieved from https://economictimes. indiatimes.com/magazines/panache/ corona-impact-gender-pay-gap-likely-to-get-worse-as-more-women-getlaid-off-take-time-off-work/articleshow/74910140.cms

Coronavirus Layoffs Could Erase Many of Women's Workplace Gains. (2020, March 26). Retrieved from https://www.catalyst.org/2020/03/26/coronavirus-layoffscould-erase-many-of-womens-workplace-gains/

Coronavirus Pandemic Will Push 47 Million More Women, Girls into Extreme Poverty by 2021: UN. (2020, September 3).Retrieved from https://www.india. com/news/world/coronavirus-pandemic-will-push-47-million-more-women-girls-into-extreme-poverty-by-2021un-4129938/

Covid-19: Why Are Women More Vulnerable To Mental Health Issues? (2020, May 5). Retrieved from https://feminisminindia.com/2020/05/05/covid-19-women-vulnerable-mental-health-issues/

Covid-19: Women are likely to experience greater loss of employment than men. (2020, August 18).Retrieved from https:// www.financialexpress.com/opinion/ covid-19-women-are-likely-to-experience-greater-loss-of-employment-thanmen/2057954/

Das, M. (2020, August 25). Domestic Abuse and Covid-19: The Rising Cases of Women Fighting Multiple Battles. Retrieved from https://nenow.in/opinion/ domestic-abuse-and-covid-19-the-rising-cases-of-women-fighting-multiplebattles-2.html

Das, S. (2020, September 2). Domestic Workers Protest In Chennai Over Job Loss, Ignorance During Pandemic. Retrieved from https://thelogicalindian. com/protestandinjustice/domesticworkers-protest-in-chennai-over-jobloss-ignorance-during-pandemic-23471

Despande, A. (2020, April 1). How India's lockdown has put women at a greater disadvantage. Retrieved from https://scroll. in/article/957787/how-indias-lockdownhas-put-women-in-middle-class-homesat-a-greater-disadvantage

Dutta, S. (2020, September 22). WFH fashion: Three women in their 20s share what they are wearing to work these days. Retrieved from https://indianexpress. com/article/lifestyle/fashion/wfh-fashion-three-women-in-their-20s-sharewhy-dressing-up-comfortably-for-workis-the-norm-these-days-6566737/

Godin, M. (2020, March 18). As Cities Around the World Go on Lockdown, Victims of Domestic Violence Look for a Way Out. Retrieved from https://time. com/5803887/coronavirus-domestic-violence-victims/

Kakodkar, P. (2020, June 6). Women's employment hit harder by lockdown'. Re-trieved from

http://timesofindia.indiatimes.com/ articleshow/76227528.cms?from=mdr&utm_source=contentofinterest&utm_medium=text&utm_campaign=cppst

Kamdar, B. (2020, April 27). India's COVID-19 Gender Blind Spot. Retrieved

from https://thediplomat.com/2020/04/ indias-covid-19-gender-blind-spot/

Kapur, M.(2020, September 11).Work from home in India is disproportionately stressing out mothers. Retrieved from https://qz.com/india/1902092/covid-19work-from-home-more-stressful-for-indian-women-than-men/

Kasarla, H. (2020, May 2). India's Lockdown Is Blind to the Woes of Its Women. Retrieved from https://thewire.in/women/indias-lockdown-is-blind-to-thewoes-of-its-women

Kumar, K.B. (2020, June 12). Is work from home feasible in the long run? Retrieved from https://www.thehindu.com/opinion/op-ed/is-work-from-home-feasiblein-the-long-run/article31807666.ece

Kumar, S. and Rana, M. (2020, June 3). Lockdown reinforced gender roles, more women abused. Retrieved from https:// www.deccanchronicle.com/opinion/columnists/030620/lockdown-reinforcedgender-roles-more-women-abused.html

Lal, N. (2020, April 17). India's 'Shadow Pandemic'. Retrieved from https:// thediplomat.com/2020/04/indias-shadow-pandemic/

Mantri,G.(2020, August 14).The pandemic has set back women's progress in the workplace. Retrieved from https://www. thenewsminute.com/article/pandemichas-set-back-women-s-progress-workplace-130731

Mathur, N. (2020, September 10). Nearly 50percent of India's working women more stressed due to pandemic: LinkedIn. Retrieved from https://www.livemint.com/ companies/news/nearly-50-of-india-sworking-women-more-stressed-due-topandemic-linkedin-11599722943378.html

Mehrotra, K. (2020, July 24).More domestic violence complaints in red zones during lockdown: study. Retrieved from https://indianexpress.com/article/ india/more-domestic-violence-complaints-in-red-zones-during-lockdownstudy-6520868/

Mehta, R. (2020, September 18). What prompted #ActAgainstAbuse: Domestic violence has swelled into a shadow pandemic alongside Covid-19. Retrieved from https://timesofindia.indiatimes. com/blogs/toi-edit-page/what-prompted-actagainstabuse-domestic-violence-has-swelled-into-a-shadow-pandemic-alongside-covid-19/

Mehta, S.K.(2020, August). Impact of Covid-19 on Working Women. Retrived from https://indianwomennetwork.in/ wp-content/uploads/2020/08/Impactof-COVID-19-on-Working-Women_August-2020.pdf

Mukundan, S.R. (2020, July 21). Care Work in the Time of COVID-19: Women's Unpaid Care Burden in Four Charts. Retrieved from https://www.my.undp. org/content/malaysia/en/home/ blog/2020/care-work-in-the-time-ofcovid-19--womens-unpaid-care-burdenin-o.html

Nagaraj,A.(2020,July 5). In India, women garment workers are being forced to leave their jobs because of this one reason. Retrieved from https://scroll. in/article/966203/in-india-womengarment-workers-are-being-forced-toleave-their-jobs-because-of-this-onereason News 18. (2020, August 26). WFH is Destroying Work-life Balance and Affecting Mental Health amid Pandemic. Retrieved from https://www.news18.com/ news/buzz/wfh-is-destroying-work-lifebalance-and-affecting-mental-healthamid-pandemic-2821601.html

Nigam, S. (2020, May 14). Covid-19: India's Response to Domestic Violence Needs Rethinking. Retrieved from http:// southasiajournal.net/covid-19-indias-response-to-domestic-violence-needs-rethinking/

Norris, S. and Torrisi, C. (2020, September 23). COVID-19 hasn't killed sexual harassment at work – it's just moved online. Retrieved from https://www.opendemocracy.net/en/5050/covid19-sexual-harassment-work-online/

Perret, C. (2020, April 8). Nearly 60per cent of people who have lost their jobs due to the coronavirus pandemic are women, according to report. Retrieved from https:// www.businessinsider.in/policy/economy/ news/nearly-60-of-people-who-havelost-their-jobs-due-to-the-coronaviruspandemic-are-women-according-to-report/articleshow/75053922.cms

Prakash, S. (2020, June 17). Covid pushed women back decades. India can't be 'atmanirbhar' without bailing them out. Retrieved from https://theprint.in/opinion/india-cant-be-atmanirbhar-without-bailing-women-out/442894/

Punit, I.S. (2020, March 27). Social distancing from house help is exposing the sexism in Indian families. Retrieved from https://scroll.in/article/957299/socialdistancing-from-house-help-is-exposing-the-sexism-in-indian-families Ratnam, D. (2020, April 26). Domestic violence during Covid-19 lockdown emerges asseriousconcern. Retrieved from https:// www.hindustantimes.com/india-news/ domestic-violence-during-covid-19-lockdown-emerges-as-serious-concern/story-mMRq3NnnFvOehgLOOPpe8J.html

Rukmini, S. (2020, June 11). How covid-19 locked out women from jobs. Retrieved from https://www.livemint.com/news/ india/how-covid-19-locked-out-womenfrom-jobs-11591772350206.html

Roy, S. (2020, August 15). Opinion I When will the Indian male be truly 'atmanirbhar' at home? Retrieved from https://www.livemint.com/mint-lounge/ features/opinion-i-when-will-the-indian-male-be-truly-atmanirbhar-athome-11597388330317.html

Sahoo, P. (2020, August 04). Lockdown hit more workers from lower castes, reveals study by university in Haryana. Retrieved from https://www.hindustantimes.com/mumbai-news/lockdownhit-more-workers-from-lower-castes-reveals-study-by-university-in-haryana/ story-wkIfltjnSCQv8povEoiXAP.html

Sarkar, B. (2020, July 20). Five in ten women facing motivational challenges in work-from-home scenario: Survey. Retrieved from https://economictimes. indiatimes.com/jobs/five-in-ten-women-facing-motivational-challenges-inwork-from-home-scenario-survey/articleshow/77060437.cms

Schomer, S. (2020, April 21). Male and Female Workers Are Experiencing COVID-19 Very Differently. Retrieved fromhttps://www.entrepreneur.com/article/349534 Schultz, K. and Raj, S. (2020, June 9). For Indian Women, the Coronavirus Economy Is a Devastating Setback. Retrieved from https://www.nytimes. com/2020/06/09/world/asia/india-coronavirus-women-economy.html

Shah, K. (2020, May 17). How COVID-19 is amplifying gender inequality in India. Retrieved from https://indianexpress. com/article/opinion/coronavirus-gender-inequality-india-6414659/

Srivastava, A. (2020, March 23). Women Might Get More Affected By COVID-19, Economically & Medically. Retrieved from https://www.shethepeople.tv/blog/ women-affected-covid-19-economically-medically/

Survey Finds One in 2 Working Women in India Suffering From Covid-19 Related Stress. (2020, September 10). Retrieved from https://www.news18.com/news/ india/survey-finds-one-in-2-workingwomen-in-india-suffering-from-covid-19-related-stress-2865213.html

Swaminathan, M. (2020, July 04). Reset rural job policies, recognise women's work. Retrieved from https:// www.thehindu.com/opinion/lead/reset-rural-job-policies-recognise-womens-work/article31984168.ece

The New Indian Express. (2020, June 01). COVID-19 lockdown: Working women complain of 'online' sexual harassment, say experts. Retrieved from https://www.newindianexpress.com/ nation/2020/jun/01/covid-19-lockdownworking-women-complain-of-onlinesexual-harassment-say-experts-2150824. html The Wire. (2020, March 30). Coronavirus Pandemic: The Policies We Need to Be Ready for the Long Haul. Retrieved from https://thewire.in/government/coronavirus-long-haul-comprehensive-relief-policy-framework

Web Foundation. (2020, July 14). There's a pandemic of online violence against women and girls. Retrieved from https:// webfoundation.org/2020/07/theres-apandemic-of-online-violence-againstwomen-and-girls/

Westmarland, N. and Bellini, R. (March 24, 2020). Coronavirus lockdown is a danger for victims of domestic violence. Here's what to do. Retrieved from https://theprint.in/features/coronavirus-lock-down-is-a-danger-for-victims-of-domestic-violence-heres-what-to-do/386864/

What India's lockdown did to domestic abuse victims. (2020, June 2). Retrived from https://www.bbc.com/news/worldasia-india-52846304

Women, people in semi-urban areas bear the brunt of job losses. (2020, May 16). Retrieved from https://www.outlookindia.com/newsscroll/women-people-insemiurban-areas-bear-the-brunt-of-joblosses/1836606

Survey Reports:

Azim Premji University. (2020, June). Retrieved from https://cse.azimpremjiuniversity.edu.in/wp-content/uploads/2020/06/Kesar_et_al_Pandemic_ Informality_Vulnerability.pdf

Bain and Company and Google. (2019). Retrieved from https://www.bain.com/ contentassets/dd3604b612d84aa48aob-120f0b589532/report_powering_the_ economy_with_her_-_women_entrepreneurship_in-india.pdf

Linkedin. (2020, September 3). Retrieved from https://www.linkedin.com/pulse/ whos-feeling-confident-jarring-gapnow-divides-us-men-george-anders/

Mckinsey Global Institute. (2020, July 15). Retrieved from https://www.mckinsey. com/featured-insights/future-of-work/ covid-19-and-gender-equality-countering-the-regressive-effects

Pink Ladder. (2020, July). Retrieved from http://pink-ladder.com/wp-content/ uploads/2020/07/Remote-working-impact-on-women-report_final.pdf

Luskin School of Public Affairs. (2020, August 4). Retrieved from https://luskin. ucla.edu/spotlight-on-shahs-researchon-domestic-violence-in-india

CASE SECTION

Boardroom Battle at Otsuka Kagu: The Shareholder's Dilemma

Debapratim Purkayastha

Professor and Director ICFAI Business School Hyderabad (a constituent of ICFAI Foundation for Higher Education, a deemed-to-be-university, under Section 3 of the UGC Act, 1956), Telangana, India debapratim@ibsindia.org **DoI: 10.23862/kiit-parikalpana/2020/v16/i1-2/204553**

Abstract

Japan's oldest furniture retail chain, Otsuka Kagu Ltd. witnessed significant turmoil in 2015 with the company's founder and Chairman Katsuhisa Otsuka (Katsuhisa) and his daughter and President of the company, Kumiko Otsuka (Kumiko), fighting for boardroom control. Both of them differed over the strategy of the company with Katsuhisa favouring the business model developed by him, catering to the affluent customer base in Japan. But Kumiko contended that the business model was not in tune with the times and was leading to losses for the company. She pushed for the discontinuation of the old membership-based business model and opened small and cheaper outlets to boost the sales. The fight for boardroom control between the father and the daughter had spilt over to the public domain, with both blaming the other for the company's misfortune. In a shareholder meeting, both of them prepared contrasting strategies for the company and presented them before the shareholders. The shareholders now had the onerous task of deciding who should be given control of the troubled company. The case provides an ideal opportunity to the participants for evaluating the two strategic approaches threadbare with the Suitability, Acceptability and Feasibility criteria or using criteria like internal consistency, external consistency and dynamic consistency, as part of a Strategic Management curriculum.

Introduction

"Old man, your daughter is pretty smart. I think she really cares about the company... I would put an ad in the paper, with the two of you shaking hands and saying you're sorry, and promise to sell furniture for the best price," 12 said a frustrated shareholder of Otsuka Kagu Ltd., to Katsuhisa Otsuka (Katsuhisa), Founder and Chairman of Japan's oldest furniture retail chain. It was March 27, 2015, and around 200 disappointed shareholders were in the assembly hall. The meeting witnessed a face-off between Katsuhisa (71) and his daughter and President of the company, Kumiko Otsuka (Kumiko, 47), as they differed over the strategic direction that the company should take. The shareholders assembled at the meeting to decide who should be given the control of the troubled company.

Otsuka Kagu and the Japanese Furniture Market

Otsuka Kagu was founded by Katsuhisain 1969 in Tokyo and since then it had established itself in the market for luxury furniture. Otsuka Kagu operated large-scale retail stores primarily in urban areas through 'membership system' unique а introduced by Katsuhisa in 1993. In that system, when the customer entered the showroom, they were required to fill an information form and sign a membership form at the desk. Then, an attendant who had rich

product knowledge, was assigned to each group of the customers to escort them throughout the showroom. The attendant while communicating with the customer determined their needs, introduced the items, and provided advice regarding the purchase of furniture. All the products at the stores were labelled with two prices, member's price and non-member's price - the member's price was guaranteed to be the lowest and competitive price in Japan. The membership card was valid for lifetime and customers could avail heavy discount only if they purchased through card. The rationale behind the membership system was that people bought furniture once in a lifetime. In Japan, when two people get married, the family of bride buys all the furniture. Otsuka Kagu's business model helped the couples to manage their purchase. Due to the membership system approach the company witnessed rapid growth in 1990s. Katsuhisa, firmly believed, that without the membership system the company would be just another store which would not appeal to the affluent consumers.

But as soon as recession hit Japan, the disposable income of youth became unstable; they started looking for other cheaper options. As a result, Otsuka Kagu's business was affected (See Exhibit 1 Key Financials of Otsuka Kagu and Exhibit 2 for the Key Statistics Related to its Stores). The interior retail market in Japan

¹² "Daughter Bests Father in Feud at Japan Shareholder's Meeting," www.reuters.com, March 27, 2015.

dropped to ¥3 trillion in 2011 from ¥4.5 trillion in 2001.13 In 1973, the figure of new housing starts was 1.94 million units which declined steeply but was above 1.0 million units in the 1990s. But in 2009, because of the change in the Japan's population structure and global recession the new housing starts figure fell below 1.0 million units.14 Traditionally, during a marriage, bride's family purchased three-piece furniture set which consists of a wardrobe, a Japanese-style chest of drawers and a dressing table. Due to the shortage of housing space for newlyweds, the demand for the furniture decreased. Simultaneously, the apartment houses started to be developed with closets that could be used for storage purposes. There was also a continuous decline in the marriages in Japan from 798,000 in 2000 to 668,000 in 2012.15

Moreover, the customers' needs were catered by other furniture retail chains which were in their growth phase like IKEA, Nitori Holdings Ltd, and Mujirushi Ryohin (Muji)(*See Exhibit 3 for Otsuga Vs. Key Rivals in the Japanese Market*). These stores offered all the products made specifically according to the modern

integrated in-house style. IKEA reentered Japan's furniture market in 2002 and opened its first showroom in 2006. It targeted the young customers with less disposable income and increased desire of self-expressions. By 2015, it had eight stores in Japan and by 2020 it planned to open six more stores in the country. According to Minoru Fuduka of Roland Berger Strategy Consultant, consumers now preferred to buy the simple furniture which was appropriate for their lifestyle. Fuduka added, "When you look at IKEA, they don't just display their products, they show IKEA's uniqueness through the displays, so it interests consumers."⁶ Nitori established its furniture store in 1967 and by 1972 it founded two Nitori wholesale furniture stores. As of 2014, it operated 313 stores in Japan. In comparison to 2009, Nitori generated an increase of 17.3% sales and 39.6% income in 2010, with ¥ 286 billion and ¥47 billion respectively.17 Muji was founded in Japan in 1980. It believed in 'no brand' strategy.¹⁸ It believed in the simple shopping experience and 'anti brand movement' therefore spent a little amount on the advertising and totally relied on the word-of-mouth.

¹³ Philip Brasor and Masako Tsubuku, "Outdated Otsuka Kagu Business Model is at the Root of Family Feud," www.japantimes.co.jp, April 11, 2015

¹⁴ www.asean.or.jp/ja/trade/lookfor/top/market/pdf/Japans%20Market%20for%20Interior%20Furnishing%20Products.pdf/at_download/file (Accessed on December 2016)

¹⁵ "Handbook of Health and Welfare Statistics 2013," www.mhlw.go.jp.

¹⁶ Kazuaki Nagata, "Otsuka Kagu Familial Feud Nears Climax," www.japantimes.co.jp, March 25, 2015.

¹⁷ http://www.nitori-intl.com.

¹⁸ http://www.muji.eu.

Trouble at Otsuka Kagu

Katsuhisahad handed over the position of President to his daughter Kumiko in 2000, while he remained the Chairman of Otsuka Kagu. By 2011, Kumiko renovated the stores and cut the prices of the products. She moved the reception desk to the back and launched a line of stores offering lowerpriced products.¹⁹ She implemented strategies to deal with competition aroused by IKEA, Nitori and Muji. She then simplified the expensive policy of the company of appointing sales staff for every customer and dropped the mailed advertising. For cheaper offerings, she opened small shops which specialised in Scandinavian furniture. Some industry observers credited Kumiko with restoring the image and profit of the company by shifting from the high-end business strategy of her father. To compete with its rivals, she emphasized on the need to broaden the customer base, selecting more middle class customers. She further believed that the business strategy 'membership her model'. which sales father introduced, was no longer applicable in the changed economic environment. She wanted Otsuka Kagu to be more

store like experience rather a more casual business style. She stressed to make Otsuka showrooms handy to the general public without memberships and until and unless customer asks for a staff for help, no staff would be trailing them.²⁰

But as she launched the new business model, in July 2014, Katsuhisa dismissed her from the post and appointed himself as Chairman and President of the company as he felt that Otsuka Kagu was struggling under Kumiko. He reintroduced his business model, brought back the membership forms, and reinstalled the big service counters at the stores and closed the low-priced stores. According to Kumiko, her father was also not comfortable with her push for adding independent directors to the Otsuka Kagu board. "We often had a clash of opinions and I saw that clearly in early 2013 when we were welcoming three directors from outside,"21 she recalled.

Katsuhisa insisted that Otsuka Kagu returned its focus to the high-end customer service and membership structure. He considered the discounted prices as the mistake by his daughter.²² Katsuhisa said, *"Employees*

¹⁹ http://www.wsj.com/articles/family-feud-splits-japanese-furniture-chain-otsuka-kagu-1426715809

²⁰ Philip Brasor and Masako Tsubuku, "Outdated Otsuka Kagu Business Model is at the Root of Family Feud," www.japantimes.co.jp, April 11, 2015

²¹ Atsuko Fukase, "Kumiko Otsuka Says Corporate Governance at Heart of Dispute With father," http://blogs.wsj.com/japanrealtime, March 19, 2015.

²² http://www.wsj.com/articles/family-feud-splits-japanese-furniture-chain-otsu-ka-kagu-1426715809

came to me. They think that only I can revive the company."²³ Bearing in mind his old business model, he said, "It's extremely important that our employees with deep knowledge of such products and customers' purchase history offer proper consulting to our customers."²⁴ He contended that the business strategy of IKEA or Nitori was different from the business they were doing and therefore to follow them would be a mistake

In December 2014, Otsuka Kagu witnessed the loss for the first time in four years. Sales declined from \$56.23 billion in 2013 to \$55.50 billion in 2014.²⁵ Looking at the sales figures, in a meeting of Board of Directors in January 2015, the majority of the members decided to re-appoint Kumiko as the President of the company.

What Next?

The fight for boardroom control transformed into a public spat between the father and the daughter as they blamed each other for the company's problems. In March 2015, the sales of Otsuka Kagu dropped by 37.8% compared to the March 2014.²⁶ Otsuka Kagu's shareholders believed that people would be less inclined to buy furniture, which is usually associated with a happy occasion, from a company a father and daughter were fighting over. They expressed anger and dismay over the situation and suggested that the father and daughter work together. In the general shareholders meeting, both Kumiko and Katsuhisapresented their contrasting proposals to the 200 shareholders, as all efforts at reconciliation went in vain (See Exhibit 4 for the Strategy and Forecast by Katsuhisa and Kumiko). The dilemma before the shareholders was who should be given the reigns of the company.

²³ Kazuaki Nagata, "Otsuka Kagu President Prevails in Bitter Family Feud," www.japantimes.co.jp, March 27, 2015.

²⁴ http://www.wsj.com/articles/family-feud-splits-japanese-furniture-chain-otsu-ka-kagu-1426715809

²⁵ http://www.corporateinformation.com.

²⁶ Philip Brasor and Masako Tsubuku, "Outdated Otsuka Kagu Business Model is at the Root of Family Feud," www.japantimes.co.jp, April 11, 2015

(In ¥ Million)	2005	2010	2011	2012	2013	2014
Net sales	69,649	56,912	54,366	54,520	56,230	55,501
Gross profit	38,591	31,064	30,551	30,848	31,069	30,598
SG&A expenses	33,240	31,197	29,401	29,664	30,226	31,000
Transportation	1,648	1,636	1,537	1,478	1,521	1,550
Advertising	5,649	3,524	3,036	3,138	3,417	3,860
Personnel	9,551	10,243	10,150	10,402	10,686	11,009
Rents	11,997	11,743	10,735	10,492	10,175	10,161
Operating income	5,350	132	1,150	1,183	843	402
Net income	3,649	255	203	640	856	473
Current assets	29,403	23,867	25,393	25,334	26,595	30,312
Fixed assets	29,079	18,846	16,358	16,390	21,062	16,398
Total assets	58,483	42,714	41,751	41,725	47,657	46,710
Current liabilities	11,399	7,982	8,069	7,849	8,433	9,518
Long-term liabilities	3,960	711	1,015	1,076	2,973	2,527
Net assets	43,123	34,019	32,666	32,799	36,250	34,665
Total number of shares issued and outstanding [1,000 shares]	21,600	19,400	19,400	19,400	19,400	19,400

Exhibit 1

Key Financials of Otsuka Kagu Ltd. (2005-2014)

Adapted from Trends in Business performance,

http://www.idc-otsuka.jp/company/e-ir/e-zaimu.html.

Exhibit 2

Key Statistics Related to the Otsuka Kagu Stores (2005 - 2014)

	2005	2010	2011	2012	2013	2014
Number of employees	1,611	1,678	1,673	1,673	1,749	1,749
Floor Space [m ²]	2,07,060	1,77,590	1,56,796	1,53,751	1,53,751	1,54,055
Number of Showrooms	16	17	16	15	15	16

Adapted from Trends in Business performance,

http://www.idc-otsuka.jp/company/e-ir/e-zaimu.html.

Exhibit 3

Otsuga Vs. Key Rivals in the Japanese Market (FY 2011)

Name	Sales (In ¥ Million)
Nitori	331,016
Nafuko	220,247
Shimachu	158,982
IKEA	67,500
Otsuka Kagu	54,376

Adapted from Global Strategies in Retailing: Asian and European Experiences, 2014

Exhibit 4

The Strategy and Forecast by Katsuhisa and Kumiko

	Katsuhisa	Kumiko
Sales (¥ million)	66,000	59,400
Operating profit (¥million)	2,640	1,900
Strategy	 * High value added marketing with premium products * Promoting consulting service while shopping * Having a wide variety of furniture at large stores * More advertising 	* Marketing more mid-priced products * Strengthening B-to-B * Large stores and shops designed to sell specific categories of furniture * Making stores more inviting for customers

*The forecast was for 2017

Adapted from Kazuaki Nagata, "Otsuka Kagu President Prevails in Bitter Family Feud," http://www. japantimes.co.jp, March 27, 2015

Narrative Research In Entrepreneurship: Khirod Parida of Access Odisha

Brajaballav Kar

Associate Professor, School of Management, KIIT Bhubaneswar, India braja.kar@ksom.ac.in

DoI:10.23862/kiit-parikalpana/2020/v16/i1-2/204562

Abstract

Each entrepreneurial journey is unique. The intention and context of starting any organisation varies widely. This case study documents an entrepreneurial journey, which started at a later stage of career.

A narrative research methodology was used to deconstruct the events and relate it to the existing theory of entrepreneurship. Often, the lived experience of the entrepreneur, resource reconfiguration and challenges to intention is best captured through narrative research because of huge diversity.

In this particular case, a possible combination of existing customer base, relationships, and a professionally difficult situation were the motivations. These motivations were amply supported by prior personal qualities of teamwork, commitment to quality, and empathy.

The attempt in this article is to inspire, educate and call upon students and researchers of entrepreneurship to use similar methodologies.

This study is also a tribute to the entrepreneur who succumbed to Covid19 during October 2020.

Keywords: Entrepreneurship, Uninterrupted Power Supply (UPS), Odisha

Introduction

India's energy need is galloping to match with requirements for development. The electric energy is beset with challenges like insufficient fuel availability for power generation, lack of transmission and distribution infrastructure and losses, as well as market inefficiencies. Though, the government claimed 100 percent availability of electricity to rural households, electrified areas do have frequent power outages (*International* -*U.S. Energy Information Administration (EIA)*). The Indian Government has been trying different policy reforms over a period of time to ensure the availability of electricity and growth of the sector

(Kanitkar et al., 2020). The need to reduce CO and cloro-fluro-carbon (CFC) emissions have necessitated the substitution of fossil fuel based generation with the regenerative and renewable sources (Kumar et al., 2020). Overall, the Indian electricity sector is improving in the energy security and sustainability dimensions (Sarangi et al., 2019). Given the importance of this subsector, a detailed study indicated the energy storage roadmap for India and emphasized the importance of such technologies (Energy Storage System- Roadmap for India: 2019-2032, 2019).

Even with the gradual improvements, the electricity availability has remained a concern. The peak power supply and demand indicated a deficit of 0.7 in the year 2019 (*Power Sector at a Glance: All India,* 2020). At one end of the spectrum, un-electrified consumers feel high monthly cost of electricity as a barrier (Tripathi & Jain, 2017). On the other hand, even the small organisations are ready to pay twenty percent more for uninterrupted power supply (Ghosh et al., 2017).

The following section discusses the role of uninterrupted power supply (UPS) and related technologies in India and its market.

UPS industry in India

Inevitably, the electricity deficit remains the raison d'etre for UPS technologies and companies. In addition to providing uninterrupted power supply, the UPS gives safety

protections equipment. The to growth of information technology (IT) and IT enabled services (ITES) sector, banking financial services and insurance (BFSI) and manufacturing sector has driven the demand for UPS. Similarly, the growth in the usage of electronic gadgets and equipment also has fuelled additional demand (July, 2020). UPS is also required in case of solar energy storage and subsequent transformation. A report from Research on Global Markets, expects the Indian UPS market to be 99.83 billion INR by 2023, with a compounded annual growth rate of 11.97 per cent (July, 2020).

Indian UPS market is price sensitive and fragmented. Though there are about 800 UPS companies in India, they do not possess right technology. As a result, most of the components are imported from China or Taiwan. The market is segmented by product capacity, technology and industry usage. The online double conversion, line-interactive and offline (usually called battery backup) are the three major types of configuration of UPS systems. These configurations define how power transfers through the unit.

The aforementioned discussion indicates that the UPS market is technology intensive and competitive. A new entrant or an entrepreneur needs substantial experience to cater to diverse industry segment. Following section discusses the methodology and the case study in light of the context discussed above.

Methodology

The interview was conducted on 26th May 2018 at Vignapan's office (an organisation which develops industrial directory of Odisha). Additional information from secondary sources were collected on the industry. A purposive literature review is presented for the case study discussion. The objective of the narrative study is to appreciate the role of the context to trigger entrepreneurial intention.

Literature Review

There are several factors responsible for the entrepreneurial intentions (Kar et al., 2014, 2017; Kar & Tripathy, 2016). Often, these factors interact with each other in a complex manner to result in a go or no-go decision for entrepreneurship. In this narrative research, we limit our literature review to the perceived job loss as a motivation to take up entrepreneurship.

Entrepreneurial intention continues be researched upon for its to significance to the field (Bird, 2015; Fayolle & Liñán, 2014). Shapero and Sokol's entrepreneurial events theory (Shapero & Sokol, 1982) indicated that social variables. social and cultural environment shape an entrepreneurial event. The entrepreneurial event includes initiative, resource consolidation, and risk-taking. The event also includes situational, social, and individual variables associated with the event. The entrepreneurial action depends upon the desirability, and feasibility.

Involuntary job loss is one of the important entrepreneurial events. In such cases, individuals evaluate the social status and institutional climate to take up entrepreneurship (Abebe & Alvarado, 2018). The event influence changes in personality traits, particularly openness and is driven by level of education (Anger et al., 2017).

On the other hand, the threat rigidity theory indicates that the threat of job loss impairs the innovativeness of an employee through increased irritation and decreased concentration (Van Hootegem et al., 2019). An impending layoff is also found to adversely affect employees entrepreneurial intention which is mediated by entrepreneurial self-efficacy and gestation action (Mwangi & Rotich, 2019).

However, it is found that the firms formed by such displaced employees from are more viable, although they show modest growth in employment, turnover and operating profit The necessity (Nyström, 2020). entrepreneurship increases in the event of a involuntary job loss or unemployment. Contrary research finding also indicate that firms founded by these entrepreneurs display lower financial and innovative performance compared to firms formed by opportunity entrepreneurs (Conti & Roche, 2019).

The following section is based on the narratives of the entrepreneurs as lived experience, and related to the purposive literature review outlined.

Family Background and Education

Khirod was from Astarang in Puri district, he studied in the village school, completed matriculation in the year 1983. He studied in the Buxi Jagabandhu Bidyadhar (BJB) College, Bhubaneswar for +2 and studied for 6 months in Samanta Chandra Sekhar (SCS)college, Puri. During his study in SCScollege, he took initiative to get the hostel renovated. He took initiative to install a submersible water pump for drinking water, provision of fans in each room and purchase of new kitchen utensils. His maternal grandfather Sura Nayak (a veteran political leader), helped in these activities. The hostel inmates took approval from public works department (PWD) and General Administration Department. People remember Khirod's work until today. The hostel administration even offered a permanent room in his name whenever he visits, but Khirod politely refused the offer, and he used to be invited to any get together in the hostel.

Khirod's family is well known in the locality. The family had a grocery shop, a public distribution shop for kerosene/ rice and was quite popular.. The shop was started by his grandfather. Kirod's father was a school teacher and expired in the year 1994 due to a snake bite. Khirod is the eldest and has 2 brothers and a sister. The younger one is a high school teacher and the youngest is in central reserve police force (CRPF). His sister is married and stays in Delhi. Khirod's only daughter completed her post graduate diploma in management (PGDM), a gold medallist from Asian school of Business Management, and working in In2IT in human resource (HR) department. His wife is a home maker.

Early career

Khirod completed electrical engineering in the year 1993 from Associate Member of Institution of Engineers (AMIE) and joined in Public Health Engineering Department. He quit that contractual job after about a year. He switched to private sector companies. The first one was Numeric, the second one was Fiscass (a French company), and the third one was Aplab. All these companies were uninterrupted power supply (UPS) companies. In all these companies, the place of posting was Bhubaneswar. Khirod worked for Aplab for 17 long years from 1997.

Entrepreneurship

Aplab had industrial products, chemical industry products such as measuring instrument, educational equipment, fuel dispensers for petrol pumps. Khirod rose up the ladder in Aplab and by the time he left he was responsible for the overall business for Odisha. The company manufactured good quality products and it was the market leader in Odisha. The problem started after the chairman became little old and the management was taken over by his son.

Khirod thought of starting his own organisation. It was a proprietorship organization in his wife's name. He quit around the year 2012-13. The organization is a private limited company now. Khirod was in a very senior position in Aplab and could have switched to another good company. But, he decided to build his own organisation. He says "Actually, to get into a senior position, one has to leave his home state, and go out. Also, one has to leave the customer base created with lot of effort. I had a great network here."

Over the years people knew Khirod for UPS and the company (Access Odisha) stuck to that line of business. In the first year the company put around 400 UPS. There was a relationship base from the earlier experience. This was Khirod's customer base.

Over the years, the company has put more than 1200 UPS in different parts of Odisha. It sells a varied range of UPS: from high range products for industrial, diagnostic, hospital, education and government offices to small domestic UPS. The capacity varies from 1 to 4900 KVA. The product range also varies for multiple UPS, parallel UPS. The unit can be stand alone, multiple or parallel. Access Odisha also manufactures UPS (up to 10 KVA). The company does not do basic transformer winding. They get the parts and assemble it. The parts are usually procured from Bangalore. There are very few OEMs. Rest all assemble according to the requirement.

Khirod asserts that the company has never cheated, maintains the quality and delivers the actual product specification. The customer spread is good. Khirod proudly claimed "You go through any road in Odisha, you will get our product. Usually banks, hospitals and diagnostic centres have our UPS"

Managing Competition

On the question how could he manage the competition from the earlier company, which was much bigger, he said "The customers were known personally and it was quite a long association. In a service industry, the service is delivered by individuals. Customers knew me individually for my service quality and ability." Access also adopted good service quality features. It gives 24/7 support. There is the customer relationship management software where the service requests are created, service persons are assigned and call closures are monitored. Almost every activity can be monitored. The follow up is quick, easy, and the decision making is fast. There are 13 employees in the organization giving sales and support to the customer. The growth of the organization has happened only with referrals. However, now the company has started looking for marketing resource from UPS and related areas experience. Our workforce already consists of engineers with ITI, Diploma and B.Tech. degree. There are service locations at Berhampur, and Sambalpur. The growth is quite fast in this segment.

The Market

There are about 8 or 10 suppliers in Odisha in the UPS segment. There are

also small players who just put their stickers and sell. Khirod says "We don't want to be in that segment." Access Odisha has executed projects with value ranging from 1 lakh rupees to one crore rupees. Initially the profit was not a major concern. The major concern was to enter into the market and ensure a good presence for publicity as well as customer acceptance. Customers from Bombay and Bangalore have come and asked for Access Odisha's service. Till date there has not been a single case of return, because of the quality of product and service.

Innovation

Many times the customers have specific requirements and we have to give unique solutions. It requires huge creativity. Khirod says "We are all technical persons. We need creativity to differentiate our product and service. We are asked to make sure that machines can work even in case of earthquake."

Exemplary Service

During Phailin cyclone, Mr Parida had given services to the State Bank of India (SBI). He made sure that SBI is able run their machines. It was very satisfying for both the customer and him. Subsequently, SBI awarded the annual maintenance contract (AMC) to Access. "It was great achievement because SBI is a very big organization, for them to give work directly to a small organization is not usually possible," he said with a big smile on his face.

Difficult Times

Khirod narrated three difficulties he faced. The first one was personal. He narrates "When I quit job at Aplab, I did not have savings even of single penny. One of my friends gave me Rs 5000 as loan. I barely survived on that money. My daily diet was a frugal meal of rice, dal and potato (he becomes emotional). Subsequently I got a bank loan of Rs 5 lakhs and gradually the business grew. I maintain honesty and never cheated. I think people have supported me because of that."

The second problem was related to bank merger between the State bank of India with the Bank of Hyderabad. The accounts related issue took some time to be sorted out.

The third challenge he faced was that many times the company was not able to take up or execute problems due to lack of fund. He narrates "We got a solar project worth Rs 2 crores, but could not execute it because of lack of capital. We then started solar household rooftop projects because we realized that most of the suppliers cheat by installing less solar panel capacity for the intended battery and the customers don't get full benefits."

Future Plans

In the future Access wants to produce or manufacture UPS units here to make it more cost effective. The transportation cost is one of the major cost components. The prices are bit premium, but it matches with the service. Access is planning to diversify and work on substation automation. One of Khirod's friends who worked with Schneider came and joined him. The company is working for panel-relay protection equipment and services. But, right now they can only consider being a subcontractor to large players.

The name of the company 'Access Odisha' was given by one of his acquaintances. The UPS business and 'Access Odisha' name is a little different. Many times, the company gets mails intended for the government departments. People mistake the name for a government program.

Access Odisha revenue is growing around 20 percent year on year since inception. The revenue was 2.56 crore in 2017 and rose to Rs 2.86 crore in 2018.

Conclusion

This narrative research brings out the role of self-efficacy, customer relationships, involuntary job loss scenario, commitment to quality, and social network on entrepreneurial intention and growth.

Acknowledgement

We acknowledge the support extended by Mr. Manoj Prusty of Odisha Directory (Vigyanpan) for facilitating the meeting.

Reference

Abebe, M. A., & Alvarado, D. (2018). Blessing in Disguise? Social and Institutional Determinants of Entrepreneurial Intentions following Involuntary Job Loss. *Journal of Small Business Management*, 56(4), 555–572. https://doi.org/10.1111/jsbm.12303

Anger, S., Camehl, G., & Peter, F. (2017). Involuntary job loss and changes in personality traits. *Journal of Economic Psychology*, 60, 71–91. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.joep.2017.01.007

Bird, B. (2015). Entrepreneurial Intentions Research: A Review and Outlook. *International Review of Entrepreneurship*, 13(3), 143–168.

Conti, A., & Roche, M. (2019). When Push Comes to Shove: External Conditions, Necessity Entrepreneurship, and Startup Outcomes. *SSRN Electronic Journal*. https://doi.org/10.2139/ ssrn.3303988

Energy Storage System- Roadmap for India: 2019-2032. (2019). https://niti. gov.in/sites/default/files/2019-11/ISGF. pdf

Fayolle, A., & Liñán, F. (2014). The future of research on entrepreneurial intentions. *Journal of Business Research*, *67*(5), 663–666. https://doi. org/10.1016/J.JBUSRES.2013.11.024

Ghosh, R., Goyal, Y., Rommel, J., & Sagebiel, J. (2017). Are small firms willing to pay for improved power supply? Evidence from a contingent valuation study in India. *Energy Policy*, *109*, 659–665. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. enpol.2017.07.046

International - U.S. Energy Information Administration (EIA). https://www.eia. gov/international/analysis/country/ IND

July, P. (2020, January 2). Factors behind the growth of the Indian UPS system and inverter industry. Electronicsb2b. https://www.electronicsb2b.com/ headlines/factors-behind-the-growthof-the-indian-ups-system-andinverter-industry/

Kanitkar, T., Mahalingam, S., & Srikanth, R. (2020). Electricity (Amendment) Bill, 2020: Inviting a Bigger Crisis . *Economic and Political Weekly*, 55(41), 45–48. https://www. epw.in/journal/2020/41/specialarticles/electricity-amendmentbill-2020.html

Kar, B., Mishra, R., & Mohanty, J. (2014). Revisiting the Factors Influencing Entry and Success of Entrepreneurship. *The International Journal of Management*, 3(3), 34–47. www.theijm.com

Kar, B., Subudhi, R. N., & Padhy, R. (2017). Impact of Self-Efficacy and Contextual Variables on Entrepreneurial Intention. *Pertanika J. Soc. Sci. & Hum*, 25(3), 1121– 1138. http://www.pertanika.upm.edu. my/Pertanika PAPERS/JSSH Vol. 25 (3) Sep. 2017/07 JSSH-1546-2016-4thProof. pdf

Kar, B., & Tripathy, S. R. (2016). What motivates entrepreneur, personal or social gain? *Small Enterprises Development, Management & Extension (Sedme) Journal, 43*(2), 71– 78. http://ojs.nimsme.org/index.php/ Document1/article/view/99 Kumar, S., Bharati, K. K., & Shukla, A. (2020). Upcoming Power Crisis in India—Increasing Electricity Demand (pp. 403-412). Springer, Singapore. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-15-2369-4_34

Mwangi, R. M., & Rotich, A. (2019). The Effect of Threat of Job Loss on Entrepreneurial Intentions and Gestation Actions. *Journal of Small Business Management*, *57*(S2), 598–615. https://doi.org/10.1111/jsbm.12515

Nyström, K. (2020). Entrepreneurship after displacement. *Small Business Economics*, 54(2), 475–494. https://doi. org/10.1007/S11187-018-0045-1

Power Sector at a Glance: All India. (2020). Ministry of Power, Government of Indi. https://powermin.nic.in/en/content/power-sector-glance-all-india

Sarangi, G. K., Mishra, A., Chang, Y., & Taghizadeh-Hesary, F. (2019). Indian electricity sector, energy security and sustainability:Anempiricalassessment. *Energy Policy*, *135*, 110964. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.enpol.2019.110964

Shapero, A., & Sokol, L. (1982). *The Social Dimensions of Entrepreneurship.*

Tripathi, S., & Jain, A. (2017). 24x7 Power for All in Odisha Strategies for on-ground action based on ACCESS 2015.

Van Hootegem, A., Niesen, W., & De Witte, H. (2019). Does job insecurity hinder innovative work behaviour? A threat rigidity perspective. *Creativity and Innovation Management*, *28*(1), 19– 29. https://doi.org/10.1111/caim.12271

Notes to Contributors

The journal will include thematic and empirical research papers in the field of Business Management and allied areas, with emphasis on pragmatic orientation.

Before submitting the paper for publication, please ensure that this paper has not been sent for publication or published elsewhere, until you receive a communication from our side. Once a manuscript is submitted for publication, it will be screened by the editorial board to check:1.fitness of the paper for publication in the journal, & 2.originality/ plagiarism (through software).

After the preliminary screening it will then be blind-reviewed by two independent national/international reviewers, for the scientific merit, readability and interest. Unaccepted manuscript will not be returned; however, you will be communicated accordingly.

Accepted authors will be given one hard-copy of the journal and one soft-copy.

The manuscript should be neatly typed in double space on an A-4 sheet with 1 inch space on all sides in 12 Times Roman size font. The manuscript should be of maximum up to 5500 words, or 20 pages.

The references, as illustrated below, should be in American Psychological Association (APA) format, 5th Edition:

Reference from Journal:

Alkaike, H. (1987). Factor analysis and AIC. Psychometrica, 52, 317-332.

Reference from Edited book:

Browne, M. W. & Cudeck, R. (1999). Effects of Organizational Climate and Citizenship Behavior on Organizational Effectiveness. In K.A. Bollen & J.S. Long (Eds.) Human Resource Management (pp. 136-147). Newsbury Park, CA: Sage.

Reference from Book:

Luthans, F. (2002). Organisational Behaviour. New Delhi: McGraw-Hill International. Booth, W. C., Colomb, G. G., & Williams, J. M. (1995). The craft of research. Chicago: University of Chicago Press.

Reference from online resources:

Hacker, D. (1997). Research and documentation in the electronic age. Boston: Bedford Books. Retrieved October 6, 1998, from http://www.bedfordbooks.com/ index.html Morse, S. S. (1995). Factors in the emergence of infectious diseases. Emerging Infectious Diseases, 1(1). Retrieved October 10, 1998, from http://www. cdc.gov/ncidod/EID/ eid.htm

Smith, E. E. (2001). Internet term paper mills: The case for mandatory expulsion [Electronic version]. Journal of Crime and Punishment, 6, 123–139.

Newspaper Article

Goleman, D. (1991, October 24). Battle of insurers vs. therapists: Cost control pitted against proper care. New York Times, pp. D1, D9.

Newspaper Article (Online)

Markoff, J. (1996, June 5). Voluntary rules proposed to help insure privacy for Internet users. New York Times. Retrieved April 1, 1996, from http://www.nytimes. com/library/ cyber/week/yo5dat.html

Newspaper Article (No Author)

Undisclosed settlement reached out of court in Michigan Biodyne civil suit. (1992, March 1). Psychiatric Times, p. 16.

Conference Paper (Published):

Kuroda, S. Y. (1988). Whether we agree or not: A comparative syntax of English and Japanese. In W. J. Poser (Ed.), Papers from the second international workshop on Japanese syntax (pp. 103–143). Stanford, CA: CSLI.

Dissertation:

Downey, D. B. (1992). Family structure, parental resources, and educational outcomes. Ph.D. dissertation, Department of Sociology, Indiana University, Bloomington, IN.

Checklists to be adhered to:

- 1. Cover Letter with a note on Title of paper, with contributor(s)' complete address.
- 2. Abstract of 100-120 words, with title of paper (in Separate Sheet/ page)
- 3. Full-text of article (with title of paper, but not with authors name/ affiliation)
- 4. Tables and figures/ graphs should be given in the end.

Manuscript Submission:

Please email all manuscripts only in MS-word/ RTF format to: editor@ksom.ac.in

Inquiries for current and back issues:

The queries can be addressed to:

Editor, *Parikalpana* (KIIT Journal of Management), School of Management, KIIT University, Bhubaneswar – 751024 ODISHA, India Or, email the soft copies to: editor@ksom.ac.in

How to Subscribe KIIT Journal of Management ?

The journal can be subscribed by sending the filled in form with appropriate demand draft of any nationalized bank drawn in favor of KIIT University, Bhubaneswar, payable at Bhubaneswar. Please add Rs. 50 for outstation cheques. The subscription fee includes mailing charges.

The Subscription should be sent to:

The Editor, Parikalpana - KIIT Journal of Management,

KIIT School of Management,

KIIT University, Bhubaneswar – 751024 Odisha, India. Email : editor@ksom.ac.in

Subscription Rates (revised)	In India, Nepal	& Bhutan (INRs) `	Other Countries (US \$)	
	1 Year(2 issues)	5 Years	1 Year	5 Years
For Individuals	Rs. 800	Rs. 3000	80	300
For Institutions	Rs. 1000	Rs. 4000	100	500

SUBSCRIPTION FORM

1.	Name of the Subscriber:					
2.	Designation:					
3.	Organization/Institution:					
4.	Postal Address:					
	Pin Code: Tel/Fax with STD Code					
	E-mail:					
5.	Cheque/Demand Draft No.:	Ar	nount:			
	Bank drawn on:	Date:				
6.	Subscription: Please Tick:	One Year	Five years			

Signature & Seal

Parikalpana

ISSN 0974-2808 | ISSN (E) - 2582-4821

KIIT Journal of Management

www.parikalpana.in

This peer-reviewed journal is indexed with reputed directories, like: EBSCO, ProQuest, Cabell's, Ulrich's, I-Scholar, J-Gate, IndianJournal.com



This journal follows standard ethical best practices and is a member of COPE: Committee on Publication Ethics.





About the School:

Institution Ranking

32nd all India and 5th in Eastern India, as per National Institution Ranking Framework MHRD, Government of India, Times B-School Rankings 4th in Eastern India, 27th All India – Times of India B-School Ranking, 2018. 6th in Eastern India, 39th All India – Times B School Ranking 2017, Times of India 4th in Eastern India, 40th All India – MINT-MBA Universe.com B-School Ranking 2017-18 5th in Eastern India, 42nd All India – The Week-Hansa Research Survey 2017-18

2nd in Eastern India, 41st All India (Private) – Career 360 B School Ranking 2017

5th in Eastern India, 48th All India – Outlook B School Ranking 2017

6th in Eastern India, 55th All India – Business Today B School Ranking 2017

1st in Eastern India, 14th All India – Outlook Money Best MBA Finance Ranking 2016

6th in Eastern India, 38th All India – NHRDN People Matters B School Ranking 2016

Infrastructure

- 35 acre world-class campus one of the largest amongst private B-schools
- 500-seater auditorium in the school campus.
 1500-seater auditorium in the University.
- 4-storied library with all major online database subscriptions
- Fully wi-fi campus with multi-media enabled classrooms
- Separate hostels for all boy and girl students
- Modern ICT facilities with state of the art networking utilizing technologies such as VoIP, video conferencing and video streaming
- 24x7 medical facility through 1500 bedded multi-specialty hospital KIMS
- Multiple gyms, swimming pools, tennis courts, playgrounds along with an indoor stadium as part of the University

Deemed SCH

KALINGA INSTITUTE OF INDUSTRIAL TECHNOLOGY Deemed to be University U/S 3 of the UGC Act, 1956 SCHOOL OF MANAGEMENT

Campus-7, Bhubaneswar-751024, Odisha, India, Tel: 0674 - 6012504, Tel (Fax): 0674 - 2725 278 Email: editor@ksom.ac.in, Website: www.ksom.ac.in